Court File No. CV-25-00099658-0000

ONTARIO SUPERIOR COURT OF JUSTICE

BETWEEN:

IZABELLE JUSTICE and MARK JUSTICE

Plaintiffs/Moving Party

- and -

OTTAWA POLICE SERVICES BOARD, STEVEN DESJOURDY, MELBURN WHITE, CHRISTOPHER TESSIER, CEDRIC NIZMAN, HIS MAJESTY THE KING IN RIGHT OF ONTARIO, AND ATTORNEY GENERAL OF ONTARIO

Defendants/Responding Party

MOTION RECORD OF THE MOVING PARTY, IZABELLE JUSTICE AND MARK JUSTICE

Motion for Leave to Proceed – Section 17(2) of the *Crown Liability and Proceedings Act*, 2019, S.O. 2019, c. 7, Sched. 17

Returnable on December 11, 2025, at 10:00 AM, at 161 Elgin Street, Ottawa, Ontario.

Dated: May 8, 2025 | Updated: November 26, 2025

Mark Justice
Izabelle Justice
104–2706 Alta Vista Dr.
Ottawa, ON, K1V 7T4
justice@maliciousprosecution.ca
T: 613-293-3204
Acting in Person

TO: MINISTRY OF THE ATTORNEY GENERAL

Crown Law Office - Civil 720 Bay Street, 8th Floor Toronto, ON M7A 2S9

Hailey Ji, LSO # 90091F

<u>hailey.ji@ontario.ca</u>
T: 437-881-1958

Counsel for the Defendants/Responding Party, His Majesty the King in right of Ontario and the Attorney General of Ontario

AND TO: BORDEN LADNER GERVAIS LLP

100 Queen Street, Suite 1300 Ottawa ON K1P 1J9 T: 613-237-5160

F: 613-230-8842

Michelle Doody LSO # 66612L

mdoody@blg.com

T: 613-787-3510

Sam Campbell (82411F)

 $\underline{scampbell@blg.com}$

T: 613-369-4776

Counsel for the Defendants, Ottawa Police Services Board, Steven Desjourdy, Melburn White, Christopher Tessier and Cedric Nizman

CONTENTS

AMENDED NOTICE OF MOTION	2
NOTICE OF MOTION	7
SUPPLEMENTARY JOINT AFFIDAVIT OF MARK JUSTICE AND IZABELLE JUSTIC	CE 11
EXHIBIT A – STATEMENT OF DEFENCE (ONTARIO)	15
EXHIBIT B – STATEMENT OF DEFENCE AND CROSSCLAIM (OPS)	32
EXHIBIT C – ENDORSEMENT OF JUSTICE SMITH (JULY 21, 2025)	52
EXHIBIT D – SUBMISSION OF THE PLAINTIFFS (RULE 2.1)	56
EXHIBIT E – SUBMISSION OF THE DEFENDANTS, OPS (RULE 2.1)	68
EXHIBIT F – ENDORSEMENTS OF JUSTICE SMITH (SEPTEMBER 22 & 26, 202	5) 80
JOINT AFFIDAVIT OF MARK JUSTICE AND IZABELLE JUSTICE	86
EXHIBIT A – STATEMENT OF CLAIM (ISSUED APRIL 29, 2025)	90
JOINT AFFIDAVIT OF DOCUMENTS	329
FACTUM OF THE PLAINTIFFS	353
TABLE OF AUTHORITIES	373
CERTIFICATE OF AUTHENTICITY OF AUTHORITIES	374
SCHEDULE A – RELEVANT LEGISLATIVE PROVISIONS	376
SCHEDULE B – RELEVANT PLEADINGS FROM THE STATEMENT OF CLAIM	380
SCHEDULE C – PUBLIC INTEREST AND SYSTEMIC IMPORTANCE SUMMARY	382
DRAFT ORDER	383
AFFIDAVITS OF SERVICE	386
MOTION RECORD.	386
AMENDED NOTICE OF MOTION	392
UPDATED MOTION RECORD	398

Court File No. CV-25-000-99658-0000

ONTARIO SUPERIOR COURT OF JUSTICE

ВΕ	Т	W	Ε	Ε	Ν	:

IZABELLE JUSTICE and MARK JUSTICE

Plaintiffs

- and -

OTTAWA POLICE SERVICES BOARD, STEVEN DESJOURDY, MELBURN WHITE, CHRISTOPHER TESSIER, CEDRIC NIZMAN, HIS MAJESTY THE KING IN RIGHT OF ONTARIO, AND ATTORNEY GENERAL OF ONTARIO

Defendants

AMENDED NOTICE OF MOTION

Motion for Leave to Proceed – Section 17(2) of the *Crown Liability and Proceedings Act*, 2019, S.O. 2019, c. 7, Sched. 17

THE PLAINTIFFS, Mark Justice and Izabelle Justice, will make a motion to a judge of the Superior Court of Justice at 161 Elgin Street, Ottawa, Ontario, on December 11, 2025, at 10:00 a.m., or as soon after that date as the motion may be heard.

PROPOSED METHOD OF HEARING:

The	motion is to be heard:
	in writing under Rule 37.12.1;
	in person;
\square	by video conference;
	by teleconference.

THE MOTION IS FOR:

- 1. An Order pursuant to section 17(2) of the *Crown Liability and Proceedings Act*, 2019, S.O. 2019, c. 7, Sched. 17 (the "*CLPA*"), granting the Plaintiffs leave to proceed with their claim for damages against His Majesty the King in Right of Ontario and the Attorney General of Ontario, arising from the conduct of individuals who exercised the powers and duties of Crown attorneys in the course of criminal proceedings, as pleaded in the Statement of Claim;
- 2. Such further and other relief as this Honourable Court may deem just.

THE GROUNDS FOR THE MOTION ARE:

- (a) the Plaintiffs have commenced a civil action advancing claims for malicious prosecution, misfeasance in public office, and a proposed new tort of abuse of process (prosecutorial), arising from the conduct of individuals who exercised the functions of Crown prosecutors in the course of criminal proceedings initiated and maintained against the Plaintiffs;
- (b) pursuant to section 17(2) of the *CLPA*, leave is required to proceed with a claim for damages arising from prosecutorial conduct in the course of a criminal proceeding;
- (c) the Attorney General of Ontario is named pursuant to sections 8(1) and 8(2) of the *Ministry of the Attorney General Act*, R.S.O. 1990, c. M.17, for the purpose of assuming statutory liability on behalf of the individuals who exercised the functions of Crown prosecutors;
- (d) the Statement of Claim discloses reasonable causes of action, supported by extensive and specific factual allegations, and satisfies the threshold for leave under section 17(2) of the *CLPA*, applying principles articulated in *Henry v. British Columbia (Attorney General)*, 2015 SCC 24, and further interpreted under the *CLPA* in *His Majesty the King in Right of Ontario v. Dell*, 2024 ONSC 613, and *Poorkid Investments Inc. v. Ontario (Solicitor General)*, 2023 ONCA 172;

Court File No./N° du dossier du greffe : CV-25-00099658-0000

Electronically filed / Déposé par voie électronique : 28-Nov-2025 Ottawa Superior Court of Justice / Cour supérieure de justice

(e) the Plaintiffs' pleadings are advanced in good faith, raise serious allegations of public

importance with systemic implications, and demonstrate a reasonable possibility of

success;

(f) this motion is supported by a sworn affidavit, an accompanying factum, the issued

Statement of Claim, and additional supporting materials, in accordance with the Rules of

Civil Procedure ("Rules");

(g) Rules 21, 25, 37, and 38 of the *Rules*; and

(h) such further and other grounds as this Honourable Court may permit.

THE FOLLOWING DOCUMENTARY EVIDENCE will be used at the hearing of the

motion:

1. The affidavit of Mark Justice and Izabelle Justice, sworn May 2, 2025, with the issued

Statement of Claim dated April 29, 2025, attached as an exhibit;

2. The Factum of the Plaintiffs;

3. The issued Statement of Claim, including all attached schedules, factual pleadings, and

relief sought; and

4. Any further materials required or permitted under the *Rules* or as this Honourable Court

may allow.

DATED at Ottawa, Ontario this 8th day of May, 2025.

DATED at Ottawa, Ontario this 18th day of November, 2025.



Mark Justice 104–2706 Alta Vista Dr. Ottawa, ON K1V 7T4

justice@maliciousprosecution.ca

Tel: 613-293-3204 Self-Represented



Izabelle Justice 104–2706 Alta Vista Dr. Ottawa, ON K1V 7T4

justice@maliciousprosecution.ca

Tel: 613-293-3204 Self-Represented

TO: HIS MAJESTY THE KING IN RIGHT OF ONTARIO

Crown Law Office – Civil McMurtry-Scott Building 720 Bay Street, 8th Floor Toronto, Ontario M7A 2S9

P. 416-326-4008 F. 416-326-4007

cloc.reception@ontario.ca

AND TO: ATTORNEY GENERAL OF ONTARIO

c/o Deputy Attorney General of Ontario

Office of the Deputy Attorney General of Ontario

McMurtry-Scott Building 720 Bay Street, 11th Floor Toronto, Ontario M7A 2S9

P. 416-326-2220 F: 416-326-4007

attorneygeneral@ontario.ca

JUSTICE ET AL AN
JUSTICE ET AL AND OTTAWA POLICE SERVICES BOARD ET AL
Court File No.

ONTARIO SUPERIOR COURT OF JUSTICE

PROCEEDING COMMENCED AT OTTAWA

AMENDED NOTICE OF MOTION —CLPA s. 17(2)

Mark Justice
104-2706 Alta Vista Dr.
Ottawa, ON, K1V 7T4
justice@maliciousprosecution.ca
Tel: (613) 293-3204
Acting in Person

Izabelle Justice 104-2706 Alta Vista Dr. Ottawa, ON, K1V 7T4 justice@maliciousprosecution.ca Tel: (613) 293-3204

Acting in Person

Court File No. CV-25-00099658-0000

ONTARIO SUPERIOR COURT OF JUSTICE

ΒE	Т	W	Ε	Ε	Ν	:

IZABELLE JUSTICE and MARK JUSTICE

Plaintiffs

- and -

OTTAWA POLICE SERVICES BOARD, STEVEN DESJOURDY, MELBURN WHITE, CHRISTOPHER TESSIER, CEDRIC NIZMAN, HIS MAJESTY THE KING IN RIGHT OF ONTARIO, AND ATTORNEY GENERAL OF ONTARIO

Defendants

NOTICE OF MOTION

Motion for Leave to Proceed – Section 17(2) of the *Crown Liability and Proceedings Act*, 2019, S.O. 2019, c. 7, Sched. 17

THE PLAINTIFFS, Mark Justice and Izabelle Justice, will make a motion to a judge of the Superior Court of Justice at 161 Elgin Street, Ottawa, Ontario, on December 11, 2025, at 10:00 a.m., or as soon after that date as the motion may be heard.

PROPOSED METHOD OF HEARING:

The	motion is to be heard:
	in writing under Rule 37.12.1;
	in person;
\square	by video conference;
	by teleconference.

THE MOTION IS FOR:

- 1. An Order pursuant to section 17(2) of the *Crown Liability and Proceedings Act*, 2019, S.O. 2019, c. 7, Sched. 17 (the "*CLPA*"), granting the Plaintiffs leave to proceed with their claim for damages against His Majesty the King in Right of Ontario, arising from the conduct of individuals who exercised the powers and duties of Crown attorneys in the course of criminal proceedings, as pleaded in the Statement of Claim;
- 2. Such further and other relief as this Honourable Court may deem just.

THE GROUNDS FOR THE MOTION ARE:

- (a) the Plaintiffs have commenced a civil action advancing claims for malicious prosecution, misfeasance in public office, and a proposed new tort of abuse of process (prosecutorial), arising from the conduct of individuals who exercised the functions of Crown prosecutors in the course of criminal proceedings initiated and maintained against the Plaintiffs;
- (b) pursuant to section 17(2) of the *CLPA*, leave is required to proceed with a claim for damages arising from prosecutorial conduct in the course of a criminal proceeding;
- (c) the Attorney General of Ontario is named pursuant to sections 8(1) and 8(2) of the *Ministry of the Attorney General Act*, R.S.O. 1990, c. M.17, for the purpose of assuming statutory liability on behalf of the individuals who exercised the functions of Crown prosecutors;
- (d) the Statement of Claim discloses reasonable causes of action, supported by extensive and specific factual allegations, and satisfies the threshold for leave under section 17(2) of the *CLPA*, applying principles articulated in *Henry v. British Columbia (Attorney General)*, 2015 SCC 24, and further interpreted under the *CLPA* in *His Majesty the King in Right of Ontario v. Dell*, 2024 ONSC 613, and *Poorkid Investments Inc. v. Ontario (Solicitor General)*, 2023 ONCA 172;

Electronically filed / Déposé par voie électronique : 28-Nov-2025 Ottawa Superior Court of Justice / Cour supérieure de justice

(e) the Plaintiffs' pleadings are advanced in good faith, raise serious allegations of public

importance with systemic implications, and demonstrate a reasonable possibility of

success;

(f) this motion is supported by a sworn affidavit, an accompanying factum, the issued

Statement of Claim, and additional supporting materials, in accordance with the Rules of

Civil Procedure ("Rules");

(g) Rules 21, 25, 37, and 38 of the *Rules*; and

(h) such further and other grounds as this Honourable Court may permit.

THE FOLLOWING DOCUMENTARY EVIDENCE will be used at the hearing of the

motion:

1. The affidavit of Mark Justice and Izabelle Justice, sworn May 2, 2025, with the issued

Statement of Claim dated April 29, 2025, attached as an exhibit;

2. The Factum of the Plaintiffs;

3. The issued Statement of Claim, including all attached schedules, factual pleadings, and

relief sought; and

4. Any further materials required or permitted under the *Rules* or as this Honourable Court

may allow.

DATED at Ottawa, Ontario this 8th day of May, 2025.

Mark Justice

104-2706 Alta Vista Dr.

Ottawa, ON K1V 7T4

justice@maliciousprosecution.ca

Tel: 613-293-3204

Self-Represented



Izabelle Justice 104–2706 Alta Vista Dr. Ottawa, ON K1V 7T4 justice@maliciousprosecution.ca

Tel: 613-293-3204 Self-Represented

TO: HIS MAJESTY THE KING IN RIGHT OF ONTARIO

Crown Law Office – Civil McMurtry-Scott Building 720 Bay Street, 8th Floor Toronto, Ontario M7A 2S9

P. 416-326-4008 F. 416-326-4007

cloc.reception@ontario.ca

AND TO: ATTORNEY GENERAL OF ONTARIO

c/o Deputy Attorney General of Ontario

Office of the Deputy Attorney General of Ontario

McMurtry-Scott Building 720 Bay Street, 11th Floor Toronto, Ontario M7A 2S9

P. 416-326-2220 F: 416-326-4007

attorneygeneral@ontario.ca

Court File No. CV-25-00099658-0000

ONTARIO SUPERIOR COURT OF JUSTICE

BETWEEN:

IZABELLE JUSTICE and MARK JUSTICE

Plaintiffs

- and -

OTTAWA POLICE SERVICES BOARD, STEVEN DESJOURDY, MELBURN WHITE, CHRISTOPHER TESSIER, CEDRIC NIZMAN, HIS MAJESTY THE KING IN RIGHT OF ONTARIO, AND ATTORNEY GENERAL OF ONTARIO

Defendants

SUPPLEMENTARY JOINT AFFIDAVIT OF MARK JUSTICE AND IZABELLE JUSTICE

In Support of Motion for Leave to Proceed under s. 17(2) of the *Crown Liability* and *Proceedings Act*, 2019, S.O. 2019, c. 7, Sched. 17

We, Mark Justice and Izabelle Justice, both of the City of Ottawa in the Province of Ontario, MAKE OATH AND SAY AS FOLLOWS:

- 1. We are the Plaintiffs in this proceeding and have personal knowledge of the matters herein deposed to, except where stated to be based on information and belief, in which case we verily believe them to be true.
- 2. This affidavit is sworn in supplement to our Joint Affidavit sworn May 2, 2025, and is to be read together with that affidavit as a continuing record of material developments and documents relevant to our motion for leave to proceed under section 17(2) of the *Crown Liability* and *Proceedings Act*, 2019, S.O. 2019, c. 7, Sched. 17.

- 3. We state that our Joint Affidavit sworn May 2, 2025 inadvertently omitted express reference to the 236-page Statement of Claim attached as an exhibit. We confirm that a true copy of the Statement of Claim issued April 29, 2025 is attached to that affidavit and marked as Exhibit "A".
- 4. The defendants, His Majesty the King in Right of Ontario (the "Crown") and the Attorney General of Ontario (collectively, "Ontario"), delivered a joint Statement of Defence dated June 13, 2025. A true copy of that pleading, as served on us, is attached to this affidavit and marked as "Exhibit A".
- 5. We believe that Ontario's Statement of Defence demonstrates that this proceeding raises genuine and contested issues of fact and law; that Ontario accepts the proper framing of the parties and issues; and that its reliance on factual denials, alternative positions, and affirmative defences confirms a real and triable dispute appropriate for discovery and trial.
- 6. The defendants Ottawa Police Services Board, Steven Desjourdy, Melburn White, Christopher Tessier, and Cedric Nizman (collectively, the "OPS Defendants") delivered a joint Statement of Defence and Crossclaim dated June 16, 2025. A true copy of that pleading, as served on us, is attached to this affidavit and marked as "Exhibit B".
- 7. We believe that the Crossclaim advanced by the OPS Defendants demonstrates that this action is grounded in credible and triable issues. By seeking full indemnity, contribution, and other relief over from Ontario in connection with the same events, the OPS Defendants have acknowledged that the allegations raise genuine questions of shared liability among public actors. In our belief, this further supports that the claims advanced against Ontario warrant determination on a full evidentiary record, and that they also present a reasonable possibility of being resolved in our favour.
- 8. On June 11, 2025, the OPS Defendants requisitioned for an order dismissing the Statement of Claim pursuant to rule 2.1.01 of the *Rules of Civil Procedure*.
- 9. On July 21, 2025, Justice Smith issued an Endorsement inviting us and the OPS Defendants to provide written submissions to the Court within a specified timeframe in response

to the rule 2.1.01 Requisition. A true copy of that Endorsement is attached to this affidavit and marked as "Exhibit C".

- 10. Pursuant to Justice Smith's July 21, 2025 Endorsement, written submissions were delivered by us and by the OPS Defendants in accordance with the Court's direction.
- 11. We delivered our Submission dated July 28, 2025. A true copy of that document, as served and filed, is attached to this affidavit and marked as "Exhibit D".
- 12. The OPS Defendants likewise delivered their Submission dated September 3, 2025. A true copy of that document, as served and filed, is attached to this affidavit and marked as "Exhibit E".
- 13. Although Ontario did not participate in the adjudication of the Requisition, the OPS Defendants sought dismissal of the entire proceeding. In disposing of the Requisition, the Court considered the claims advanced against all defendants including those against Ontario within the analytical framework of rule 2.1.01.
- 14. Justice Smith dismissed the OPS Defendants' Requisition twice. By Endorsement dated September 22, 2025, the Court dismissed the Requisition following its review of the record and the Plaintiffs' written submissions, which at that time stood uncontested. By a further Endorsement dated September 26, 2025, after the OPS Defendants' Submission was brought to the Court's attention following an administrative error, Justice Smith confirmed that the Court had considered those materials and again dismissed the Requisition. True copies of both Endorsements are attached to this affidavit and marked collectively as "Exhibit F".
- 15. Justice Smith found our arguments for dismissing the Requisition and permitting the proceeding to continue to be compelling. The OPS Defendants' submissions in support of summary dismissal did not persuade the Court that the exceptional procedure for relief under rule 2.1.01 was warranted.
- 16. The OPS Defendants submitted that much of the action is statute-barred by the *Limitations Act*, 2002, S.O. 2002, c. 24, Sched. B; however, Justice Smith held that any

assessment of limitation issues will have to be advanced on a more fulsome evidentiary record to determine which claims, if any, are in fact statute-barred.

- 17. We believe that the Endorsements of Justice Smith affirm the substantive and credible nature of this proceeding. The Court's findings reflect that the claims advanced raise genuine issues of law and fact requiring adjudication on a full evidentiary record, and confirm that the matters in dispute are neither speculative nor insubstantial. We believe these rulings collectively support that the claims including those advanced against Ontario have demonstrable merit and a reasonable possibility of ultimately being resolved in our favour.
- 18. We swear this supplementary affidavit in support of our motion for leave to proceed under section 17(2) of the *Crown Liability and Proceedings Act, 2019*, and affirm that it is made in good faith and for no improper purpose.

SWORN by Mark Justice and Izabelle Justice, stated as being currently located in the City of Ottawa, in the Province of Ontario, before me at Carstairs, AB in accordance with O.REG 431/20, administering Oath or Declaration remotely on this 26, day of November, 2025.

A Commissioner for Taking Affidavits

Nitasha Malik

LSO# P14355

Mark Justice

Izabelle Justice



This is "Exhibit A", as stated in the Affidavit of Mark Justice and Izabelle Justice, sworn remotely before me on November 26, 2025

A Commissioner for Taking Affidavits Nitasha Malik LSO# P14355



Court File No. CV-25-00099658-0000

ONTARIO SUPERIOR COURT OF JUSTICE

BETWEEN:

IZABELLE JUSTICE and MARK JUSTICE

Plaintiffs

- and -

OTTAWA POLICE SERVICES BOARD, STEVEN DESJOURDY, MELBURN WHITE, CHRISTOPHER TESSIER, CEDRIC NIZMAN, HIS MAJESTY THE KING IN RIGHT OF ONTARIO, AND ATTORNEY GENERAL OF ONTARIO

Defendants

STATEMENT OF DEFENCE OF HIS MAJESTY THE KING IN RIGHT OF ONTARIO AND THE ATTORNEY GENERAL OF ONTARIO

- 1. The Defendants, His Majesty the King in right of Ontario (the "Crown") and the Attorney General of Ontario (collectively, "Ontario") admit that the plaintiffs were charged with the offences listed in paragraphs 74, 151 and 240 of the plaintiff's Statement of Claim.
- 2. Ontario denies all other allegations in the plaintiffs' Statement of Claim, except as expressly pleaded herein, and puts the plaintiffs to the strict proof thereof, and specifically denies that the plaintiffs are entitled to the relief claimed against Ontario, or to any relief at all.
- 3. This Statement of Defence is delivered without prejudice to Ontario's position that the action is stayed pursuant to s. 17(2) of the *Crown Liability and Proceedings Act, 2019* ("CLPA"). The Statement of Defence is delivered to avoid any proceedings that may be undertaken by

the plaintiffs to note Ontario in default. The delivery of this Statement of Defence does not constitute a waiver of the leave requirement in s. 17(2) of the CLPA.

THE PARTIES

- 4. The Crown is vicariously liable for liabilities in tort which it would be liable if it were a person in respect of a tort committed by an officer, employee or agent of the Crown pursuant to s. 8 of the CLPA.
- 5. The Attorney General is the proper defendant in an action for damages alleging prosecutorial misconduct if there is an action that can properly be brought against a Crown Attorney, a Deputy Crown Attorney or an Assistant Crown Attorney pursuant to s. 8 of the *Ministry of the Attorney General Act*, 1990.
- 6. Before their change of name, the plaintiffs Mark Justice (hereinafter "Mark") and Izabelle Justice (hereinafter "Izabelle") were known as Mark Cunningham and Izabelle Cunningham respectively.
- 7. On July 24, 2024, the plaintiffs served a Notice of Claim on Ontario alleging that Assistant Crown Attorneys Farrell, Holmes, Rodgers, and Deputy Crown Attorney Karimjee had carriage of improperly motivated criminal prosecutions that were instituted without reasonable and probable cause. The Notice of Claim does not allege any improper conduct against Assistant Crown Attorney Malcolm Savage.

FACTS OF THE CASE

- 8. The plaintiffs rented a house from Chineyere Ukabam (the "Landlord") from 2008-2018. The Landlord applied to the Landlord Tenant Board (LTB) to terminate the tenancy and evict the plaintiffs for failure to pay rent over several months.
- 9. In March 2019, the LTB dismissed the application after the plaintiffs produced Interac etransfer confirmation emails that showed monthly payments to the Landlord.
- 10. The Landlord then complained to the Ottawa Police Service about the veracity of the Interac e-transfer confirmation emails. Ottawa Police Service investigated the matter and

determined that the Interac e-transfer confirmation emails filed by the plaintiffs at the LTB hearing were fraudulent.

11. In July 2019, the LTB held a further hearing, but the plaintiffs failed to attend. The LTB heard evidence from Melburn White of Ottawa Police, and considered an affidavit from Erica Currie, manager of fraud programs at Interac Corp, produced by the Landlord. According to Ms Currie, no monthly transfers in the amount of the monthly rent had been made by the plaintiffs to the Landlord via email for the alleged period. Based on the new evidence, the LTB concluded that its previous order was based on a serious error of fact. The LTB reversed its original decision, deciding the matter in favour of the Landlord.

POA Charge- Mark Justice

- 12. Mark was charged in May 2019 for making a false statement under the *Residential Tenancies Act*. The matter proceeded at Provincial Offences Court (POA Court) and was prosecuted by a Provincial Prosecutor. The POA Court shut down on March 17, 2020, due to COVID-19.
- 13. Eventually a trial was set for October 3, 2022. The Landlord, who lives in Regina, Saskatchewan, did not attend the trial and the Provincial Prosecutor Mr. Oliveira stayed the charge.

Criminal Charges before the OCJ

- 14. The plaintiffs were jointly charged on February 23, 2021, for the *Criminal Code* offences of (i) Possess stolen property over \$5000, (ii) Fraud over \$5000, and (iii) Laundering proceeds of Crime.
- 15. Due to the summary conviction limitations period, the Crown was required to proceed by indictment. Mark's matter was screened for a suspended sentence and 2 years of probation. Izabelle's matter was screened for the same sentence, but the sentence was later reduced to a conditional discharge on the condition that Mark pled guilty and paid the restitution upfront.

- 16. Emilie Farrell, Assistant Crown Attorney was initially assigned to the matter. Mark Holmes, who was a Deputy Crown Attorney at the time, dealt with the majority of the judicial pretrials (JPT).
- 17. The plaintiffs were self-represented. Though for the vast majority of matters in the Ontario Court of Justice (OCJ) only one JPT is held, six judicial pre-trial were held in the matter, and this occasioned delay.
- 18. At the second OCJ JPT on June 29, 2021, the plaintiffs alleged that the presiding judge, Justice Webber, was biased and objected to him continuing the pre-trial. At the fourth OCJ JPT on September 3, 2021, the plaintiffs claimed that the presiding Justice Wadden's conduct was "corrupt and unconstitutional".
- 19. In September 2021, the Crown Attorney's Office withdrew the three initial counts and instead proceeded on two charges of "attempting to obstruct justice" and "uttering a forged document" to focus the matter.
- 20. At the sixth OCJ JPT on October 10, 2021, the plaintiffs refused to elect their mode of trial. Pursuant to s. 536(4.12) of the *Criminal Code*, the presiding JPT judge deemed the plaintiffs to have elected trial by judge and jury and the matter went to Superior Court of Justice (SCJ).

Criminal Charges before the SCJ

- 21. Two JPTs were held in the fall of 2021 before the SCJ, and a judge and jury trial was set to begin on January 3, 2023, and was scheduled over 9 days. Assistant Crown Attorney Julian Daller was assigned to conduct the trial.
- 22. A third SCJ JPT was held on November 14, 2022. The plaintiffs complained that the presiding Justice Parfett is a "horrible justice". Assistant Crown Attorney Mr. Daller offered to withdraw the charges if restitution was paid to the Landlord, but this offer was rejected. The dates for pretrial motions were set for December 2022.
- 23. The plaintiffs brought an application to stay the proceedings and for declarations, pursuant to sections 9, 10(a), 10(c), 11(d), 11(h), and 12 of the *Charter of Rights and Freedoms*

- ("Charter"). At that time, Mr. Daller was on an unexpected leave, and Assistant Crown Attorney John Ramsay argued the pretrial motions. Justice Gomery, the trial judge, dismissed the applications on December 20, 2022.
- 24. The judge and jury trial proceeded on January 3, 2023, and a jury was selected. Assistant Crown Attorney David Rodgers was assigned as the trial Crown.
- 25. The Crown called the Landlord, Ms. Schoneveld from Interac, and David Lyman, the Landlord's lawyer before the LTB, amongst its witnesses. Ms Schoneveld testified that the Interac e-transfer confirmation emails produced by the plaintiffs at the LTB were fake. She also testified that Interac did not have a record of the transactions depicted in the emails. The Crown also filed the plaintiffs' bank records, which did not match up with the transactions set out in the emails. David Lyman testified on what happened at the LTB. The Crown closed its case on January 5, 2023. As no defence witnesses were available at that time, the trial was adjourned for the day.
- 26. On January 6, 2023, Justice Gomery raised an issue about the jury selection. The trial was adjourned to the next date to address this issue.
- 27. On January 9, 2023, the plaintiffs attended remotely over Zoom. As Izabelle stated she was sick, the trial was adjourned to the next day. On January 10, the plaintiffs claimed they were sick, and Mr. Rodgers raised an issue about whether the illness was legitimate, as the plaintiffs had sent correspondence over the weekend. The matter was again adjourned, and Justice Gomery requested the plaintiffs to produce any medical records of their illness and ordered them to appear personally on January 16, 2023.
- 28. A case conference was held on January 12, 2023. The plaintiffs claimed they were still sick.
- 29. The trial resumed on January 16, 2023, and Izabelle attended remotely whilst Mark was absent. Justice Gomery decided that two letters filed by the plaintiffs from a doctor were insufficient to that show that they were too ill to attend the trial. She ordered the plaintiffs to provide evidence of their illness on the same day. A juror was also discharged on that date as her husband had to undergo an unexpected surgery, reducing the jury to eleven members. The parties reconvened at 2 p.m. on that day, but Mark was still absent.

- 30. The plaintiffs attended the trial in person on January 17, 2023, and a *voir dire* was held on the jury selection issue. Justice Gomery dismissed the application for a mistrial and the trial was adjourned to allow Mark to attend hospital.
- 31. The plaintiffs did not attend court on January 18, 2023. Izabelle informed the court by email that the plaintiffs were attending hospital.
- 32. On January 20, 2023, Izabelle attended the trial, but Mark did not. A second juror was discharged, bringing the jury down to the minimum number of 10. The plaintiffs filed medical documents that showed they had tested positive for COVID-19. The trial was adjourned to January 30, 2023, for them to recover. Izabelle stated that there was going to be a "massive human rights investigation into what took place" and that a civil claim will be filed against Justice Gomery, the Crown, court staff and police.
- 33. On January 30, 2023, Izabelle attended remotely. Mark did not attend but produced an affidavit saying he was still symptomatic for COVID. Justice Gomery declared a mistrial, as she held it would be difficult to maintain the appearance of fairness in the trial if she was to conclude that Mark's affidavit was not genuine.
- 34. Subsequently, there were three subsequent scheduling appearances in February and March 2023, to select new dates. Mark did not attend these scheduling appearances, claiming he was too ill to attend over Zoom.
- 35. On the third scheduling appearance on March 3, 2023, Mark emailed an affidavit along with a doctor's note. Assistant Crown Attorney Moiz Karimjee attended for the Crown.
- 36. Ottawa Police Services investigated into the affidavit and medical note and determined they were fraudulent. The plaintiffs were arrested in May 2023 for charges of attempt to obstruct justice, and utter forged document. Mark was also charged with perjury. They were brought into custody. After a bail hearing, they were released with a \$50K bond. Assistant Crown Attorney Malcolm Savage was the assigned Crown.
- 37. The new trial dates were eventually selected for September 2023. David Rodgers was assigned to continue with the motions, and Assistant Crown Attorney Malcolm Savage was

assigned carriage of the trial.

- 38. In July 2023, the plaintiffs and Mr. Rodgers argued a section 11(b) Charter application, an application to re-litigate Justice Gomery's Charter rulings, and an application to quash subpoenas for members of the Crown's office. All three motions were dismissed by Justice Labrosse, the new trial judge.
- 39. The plaintiffs did not attend for the first scheduled day of their jury trial on September 5, 2023, and Justice Labrosse issued bench warrants against them pursuant to s. 597 of the *Criminal Code*. Further, pursuant to s. 598 of the *Criminal Code*, Justice Labrosse ruled that the plaintiffs were no longer entitled to a jury trial. Eventually the plaintiffs appeared virtually, and the warrant was rescinded.
- 40. The plaintiffs filed a Charter application on September 5, 2023, alleging that their safety was at risk by attending the courthouse. They further alleged an abuse of process on the basis that the criminal charges against them constituted an attempt to steal their intellectual property. Assistant Crown Attorney Malcolm Savage sought to have this application summarily dismissed but was unsuccessful.
- 41. Between September 5, 2023, and May 28, 2024, the plaintiffs brought numerous other motions and attempted to have Crown Attorneys, Judges and defence counsel subpoenaed for these motions. They further sought to have Justice Labrosse recused from the case and to appoint an out-of-town prosecutor. The various motions were adjourned numerous times at the plaintiffs' request. The plaintiffs' application to subpoena Assistant Crown Attorneys and Judges was denied on November 16, 2023. The motion involving the recusal of Justice Labrosse was argued, but no judgment was rendered before May 28, 2024, when the charges were stayed.
- 42. On May 28, 2024, the Crown stayed all charges against the plaintiffs, and made the following statement:

Today the Crown will be staying proceedings pursuant to s. 579 of the Criminal Code. Before I direct that stay, however, I have some comments to make.

The Crown is obliged to always assess the reasonable prospect of conviction in any given case and in this case, the Crown is of the view that there continues to be a reasonable prospect of conviction. The allegations, that the Cunninghams submitted forged Interac receipts to the Landlord Tenant Tribunal, are provable on the evidence. We continue to assert that the charges laid are appropriate and that the officers of the Ottawa Police Service have, and continue to conduct themselves to highest standards of professionalism.

The Cunninghams, in their filed material, have made a number of concerning allegations against the Crown and the Police. They have hinted at the threat of civil litigation. We deny each and every one of their allegations. They are unsupported on the evidence and in the Crown's view have no prospect of success.

Notwithstanding this assessment, however, the Crown is of the view that this prosecution is no longer in the public interest. Included in that assessment is that we are experiencing difficulty in securing trial time for serious matters in the Superior Court, including homicide trials. Given these realities the Crown cannot justify devoting continued resources to this file.

We regret that we cannot continue with the prosecution, but we see no other option in order to ensure that other more serious matters receive the required court time and resources they deserve.

Having said that, the Crown directs a stay of proceedings on this Indictment pursuant to s. 579 of the Criminal Code.

Perjury Charges

- 43. The plaintiffs appeared before the OCJ in respect of the charges of attempt to obstruct justice, utter forged document, and perjury. A JPT was held on August 24, 2023, where the plaintiffs refused to elect the mode of trial and a judge and jury trial was deemed to be their election. The matter proceeded to the SCJ, and dates were set in the SCJ for pre-trial motions and a trial.
- 44. On May 22, 2024, the charges were stayed by the Crown. The following was read out in

court by Mr. Savage:

Today the Crown will be staying proceedings pursuant to s. 579 of the Criminal Code. Before

I direct that stay, however, I have some comments to make.

The Crown is obliged to always assess the reasonable prospect of conviction in any given case and in this case, the Crown is of the view that there continues to be a reasonable prospect of conviction. The allegations, that the Cunninghams submitted forged Interac receipts to the Landlord Tenant Tribunal, are provable on the evidence. We continue to assert that the charges laid are appropriate and that the officers of the Ottawa Police Service have, and continue to conduct themselves to highest standards of professionalism.

The Cunninghams, in their filed material, have made a number of concerning allegations against the Crown and the Police. They have hinted at the threat of civil litigation. We deny each and every one of their allegations. They are unsupported on the evidence and in the crown's view have no prospect of success.

Notwithstanding this assessment, however, the Crown is of the view that this prosecution is no longer in the public interest. Included in that assessment is that We are experiencing difficulty in securing trial time for serious matters in the Superior Court, including homicide trials. Given these realities the Crown cannot justify devoting continued resources to this file.

We regret that we cannot continue with the prosecution, but we see no other option in order to ensure that other more serious matters receive the required court time and resources they deserve.

Having said that, the Crown directs a stay of proceedings on this Indictment pursuant to s. 579 of the Criminal Code.

LIMITATIONS ACT

45. Ontario pleads that at the time Crown Attorney Farell had carriage of the matter, there were

- three charges against the plaintiffs (i) Possess stolen property over \$5000, (ii) Fraud over \$5000, and (iii) Laundering proceeds of crime.
- 46. Ms Farell left the file in August 2021, and the three charges were withdrawn in September 2021. The Crown thereafter proceeded on new charges of "attempting to obstruct justice" and "uttering a forged document",
- 47. The Statement of Claim was not issued until April 29, 2025, nearly four (4) years after the withdrawal of the charges.
- 48. Ontario pleads that the allegations against Ms Farell are estopped by expiry of the limitation period, and relies upon the provisions of the *Limitations Act*, 2002, SO 2002 c. 24 Sched B. (the "*Limitations Act*")
- 49. The plaintiffs' allegations against Assistant Crown Attorney Farell, are out of time and should be struck on that basis with costs on a substantial indemnity basis.

MALICIOUS PROSECUTION

- 50. Ontario explicitly denies any and all allegations of malicious prosecution.
- 51. Ontario denies that the Assistant Crown Attorneys named in the claim carried out the prosecution without reasonable and probable cause. The Landlord came forward to Ottawa Police Service and made allegations against the plaintiffs in respect of the fraudulent Interac e-transfer confirmation emails. The evidence gathered during the investigation supported the Landlord's allegations. At all material times any and all Crown prosecutors with carriage of the plaintiffs' proceedings believed and were entitled to believe based on the available evidence that there was a reasonable prospect of conviction.
- 52. Regarding the charges of attempt to obstruct justice, utter forged document, and perjury, Ottawa Police Services investigated into the affidavit and medical note submitted by the plaintiffs on March 3, 2023, and determined they were fraudulent. At all material times any and all Crown prosecutors with carriage of the plaintiffs' proceedings believed and were entitled to believe based on the available evidence that there was a reasonable prospect of conviction.

- 53. Ontario denies that any Crown prosecutor was actuated by malice or had any improper purpose or motive, or that the legal process was initiated for the purpose of furthering some indirect, collateral and improper objective against the plaintiffs.
- 54. Any and all Crown prosecutors conducted themselves in good faith and in accordance with all statutory and common law duties at all material times and had no purpose other than carrying the law into effect.

PROSECUTORIAL IMMUNITY

- 55. Crown prosecutors have immunity from suit subject to the exceptions of the tort of malicious prosecution and wrongful non-disclosure. This principle seeks to protect the public office of prosecutor by preventing undue interference in the discharge of prosecutorial functions.
- 56. Ontario pleads that the Crown prosecutors named in the Statement of Claim are immune for all the claims except that for the allegations of malicious prosecution, which are denied.

MISFEASANCE IN PUBLIC OFFICE, ABUSE OF PROCESS, ABUSE OF PROCESS (PROSECUTORIAL), INTIMIDATION, AND UNLAWFUL MEANS CONSPIRACY.

- 57. Ontario explicitly denies any and all allegations of misfeasance in public office, abuse of process, abuse of process (prosecutorial), intimidation, unlawful means conspiracy, and intentional infliction of emotional distress.
- 58. Ontario denies that the Crown prosecutors engaged in any unlawful conduct in the exercise of their public functions or that their conduct caused injuries to the plaintiffs.
- 59. Ontario asserts that the necessary elements for these claims are not pleaded or are insufficiently pleaded and further asserts that no or insufficient facts or details are pleaded. Ontario pleads that no new cause of action should be recognized.
- 60. At all times the Crown prosecutors conducted themselves in good faith and in accordance with their statutory and common law duties. For instance, in November 2022, Assistant Crown Attorney Daller offered to withdraw the charges if restitution was paid to the

Landlord, but this offer was rejected. Furthermore, the Crown successfully opposed the plaintiffs' Charter applications.

FALSE IMPRISONMENT, FALSE ARREST, INTRUSION UPON SECLUSION, INTENTIONAL INFLICTION OF EMOTIONAL DISTRESS, AND TRESPASS TO CHATTELS

- 61. Ontario explicitly denies any and all allegations of false imprisonment, false arrest, intrusion upon seclusion, intentional infliction of emotional distress, and trespass to chattels.
- 62. Ontario asserts that the necessary elements for these claims are not pleaded or are insufficiently pleaded and further asserts that no or insufficient facts or details are pleaded.
- 63. Ontario asserts that the plaintiffs have failed to plead that the false imprisonment, false arrest, intrusion upon seclusion, intentional infliction of emotional distress, trespass to chattels allegations were caused directly by a Crown officer, employee, or agent.

NEGLIGENCE

- 64. Ontario explicitly denies any and all allegations of negligence.
- 65. Ontario asserts that the necessary elements of a claim for negligence are not pleaded or are insufficiently pleaded and further asserts that no or insufficient facts or details are pleaded that would give rise to a claim in negligence.
- 66. Ontario asserts that the plaintiffs have failed to plead that any Crown officer, employee, or agent owed the plaintiffs a duty of care or that the plaintiff's injuries were the proximate cause of the Crown employee, agent or servant's negligence.

CHARTER OF RIGHTS AND FREEDOMS

- 67. Ontario explicitly denies any and all allegations of breaches or violations of the Charter.
- 68. In their criminal trial, the plaintiffs brought a number of Charter applications. On December 20, 2022, Justice Gomery, the trial judge, dismissed the plaintiffs' Charter applications under sections 9, 10(a), 10(c), 11(d), 11(h), and 12. In July 2023, the plaintiffs brought a section

- 11(b) Charter application, and an application to re-argue Justice Gomery's ruling. Justice Labrosse dismissed these applications. Ontario pleads that the Charter issues raised by the plaintiffs in the claim are res judicata.
- 69. The claim does not plead the necessary elements and any or sufficient facts or details which give rise to a breach of the Charter.

LIABILITY AND DAMAGES

- 70. Ontario expressly denies any and all allegations of malicious prosecution, misfeasance in public office, abuse of process, abuse of process (prosecutorial), intimidation, unlawful means conspiracy, negligent investigation, negligence, intrusion upon seclusion, intentional infliction of emotional distress, false arrest, false imprisonment, trespass to chattels, and breaches of sections 2, 7, 8, 9, 10, 11, 12, and 15 of the Charter.
- 71. Ontario also denies that the plaintiffs suffered damages as claimed in the Statement of Claim and puts the plaintiffs to strict proof thereof. Ontario denies that the plaintiffs are entitled to punitive, or aggravated or exemplary damages.
- 72. In the alternative, Ontario states that the plaintiffs' claims for damages are exaggerated, excessive, remote, not causally connected in any way to the acts complained of and not recoverable at law. Ontario pleads that the plaintiffs have failed to mitigate their damages, if any.
- 73. If the plaintiffs have suffered any losses and/or damages, which is denied, Ontario denies such losses and/or damages were caused by or are in any way the result of any act undertaken, or omission, by Ontario, and were instead caused by the plaintiffs' own acts or omissions.
- 74. At all materials times, all Crown officers, employees or agents acted in compliance with their statutory and common law duties and in accordance with the practices, policies and procedures which were in effect.

NOTICE REQUIREMENTS

75. Under s. 18(1) of the CLPA, no proceeding that includes a claim for damages may be brought

- against the Crown unless, at least 60 days before the commencement of the proceeding, the claimant serves on the Crown, notice of the claim containing sufficient particulars to identify the occasion out of which the claim arose in accordance with s. 15 of the CLPA.
- 76. Proper notice is a necessary pre-condition to a claim in damages against the Crown, which cannot be waived or abridged.
- 77. The notice served by the plaintiffs on Ontario does not contain any particulars of the allegations against Assistant Crown Attorney Malcolm Savage. Ontario pleads that the claim against Ontario in respect of the alleged acts and doings of Mr. Savage are a nullity.

STATUTES PLEADED

- 78. Ontario pleads and relies upon the following statutes, and the regulations promulgated thereunder, as amended:
 - (a) Limitations Act, 2002, SO 2002, c. 24, Sched. B;
 - (b) Ministry of the Attorney General Act, RSO 1990, c. M.17;
 - (c) Crown Attorneys Act, RSO 1990, c. C.49;
 - (d) Criminal Code, RSC 1985, c. C-46;
 - (e) Negligence Act, RSO 1990, c. N.1;
 - (f) Courts of Justice Act, RSO 1990, c. C.43;
 - (g) Crown Proceedings and Liability Act, SO 2019, c. 7, Sched. 17.; and
 - (h) Such further and other legislation and applicable regulations thereto as counsel may advise and this Honourable Court may permit.
- 79. Ontario asks that this action be dismissed with costs payable on a substantial indemnity basis.

June 13, 2025

MINISTY OF THE ATTORNEY GENERAL

Crown Law Office – Civil 720 Bay Street, 8th Floor Toronto, ON M7A 2S9

Ram Rammaya (LSO No. 81555N)

Email: ram.rammaya@ontario.ca Tel: (416)

574-4352

Counsel for the Ontario defendants

TO: MARK AND IZABELLE JUSTICE

104–2706 Alta Vista Dr. Ottawa, ON K1V 7T4

justice@maliciousprosecution.ca

Tel: 613-293-3204 Self-Represented

AND TO: OTTAWA POLICE SERVICES BOARD

STEVEN DESJOURDY MELBURN WHITE

CHRISTOPHER TESSIER

CEDRIC NIZMAN

BORDEN LADNER GERVAIS LLP

100 Queen Street, Suite 1300 Ottawa ON K1P 1J9

15

T: 613.237.5160 F: 613.230.8842

Michelle Doody (66612L)

mdoody@blg.com T: 613.787.3510

Sam Campbell (82411F) scampbell@blg.com

T: 613.369.4776

	Izabelle Justice Mark Justice -and- Plaintiffs	
ONTARIO SUPERIOR COURT OF JUSTICE	Ottawa Police Service Board et al. Defendants	

ONTARIO RIGHT OF ONTARIO & THE ATTORNEY GENERAL OF STATEMENT OF DEFENCE OF HIS MAJESTY THE KING IN

Proceeding commenced in OTTAWA

Crown Law Office - Civil ATTORNEY GENERAL OF ONTARIO

416-326-4008 Toronto, ON M7A 2S9 720 Bay Street, 8th Floor

Ram Rammaya (LSO No: 81555N)

Email: Ram.rammaya@ontario.ca

and Attorney General of Ontario Counsel for the Defendants, His Majesty the King in right of Ontario

familyxcanada@gmail.com; mdoody@blg.com; scampbell@blg.com Emails for the parties served: justice@maliciousprosecution.ca; This is "Exhibit B", as stated in the Affidavit of Mark Justice and Izabelle Justice, sworn remotely before me on November 26, 2025

A Commissioner for Taking Affidavits

Nitasha Malik LSO# P14355



Court File No. CV-25-00099658-0000

ONTARIO SUPERIOR COURT OF JUSTICE

BETWEEN:

IZABELLE JUSTICE and MARK JUSTICE

Plaintiffs

- and-

OTTAWA POLICE SERVICES BOARD, STEVEN DESJOURDY, MELBURN WHITE, CHRISTOPHER TESSIER, CEDRIC NIZMAN, HIS MAJESTY THE KING IN RIGHT OF ONTARIO, AND ATTORNEY GENERAL OF ONTARIO

Defendants

STATEMENT OF DEFENCE AND CROSSCLAIM OF THE DEFENDANTS, OTTAWA POLICE SERVICES BOARD, STEVEN DESJOURDY, MELBURN WHITE, CHRISTOPHER TESSIER, AND CEDRIC NIZMAN

- 1. Except as otherwise admitted herein, the defendants, Ottawa Police Service Board ("OPSB"), Steven Desjourdy, Melburn White, Christopher Tessier and Cedric Nizman (collectively "the OPS Defendants"), deny each and every allegation contained in the Statement of Claim, and put the plaintiffs, Izabelle Justice and Mark Justice (formerly known as Izabelle and Mark Cunningham, and collectively referred to herein as the "Plaintiffs") to the strict proof thereof.
- 2. The OPS Defendants specifically deny that the Plaintiffs are entitled to the relief claimed in paragraph 1 of the Statement of Claim.
- 3. The OPS Defendants plead that the Plaintiffs have failed to commence this action within two years from the date of the incidents giving rise to the claim, and as such, this action is statute

Court File No./N° du dossier du greffe : CV-25-00099658-0000

Electronically filed / Déposé par voie électronique : 28-Nov-2025 Ottawa Superior Court of Justice / Cour supérieure de justice

-_-

barred. The OPS Defendants plead and rely upon section 4 of the *Limitations Act*, 2002, S.O. 2022, c. 24, sch. B., as amended.

- 4. Further, and in the alternative, the OPS Defendants state that the allegations in the Statement of Claim are improper, disclose no reasonable cause of action and ought to be struck from the Statement of Claim as they are scandalous, frivolous, vexatious, or otherwise an abuse of process of the court. The OPS Defendants deliver this pleading to avoid any noting in default and reserve all rights to seek to strike such paragraphs notwithstanding the delivery of this Statement of Defence.
- 5. Concerning the allegations made in paragraph 37 of the Statement of Claim the OPS Defendants admit that the OPSB is a police services board that has the duties as set out in section 37 of the *Community Safety and Policing Act* (the "Act") and section 31 of the predecessor legislation in effect at the time of some of the Plaintiffs' allegations, the *Police Service Act* ("PSA"). The OPS Defendants plead that the allegations made directly against the Ottawa Police Services Board establish no reasonable cause of action as the allegations concern operational matters in respect of which the Ottawa Police Services Board has no jurisdiction or, alternatively, seek damages in respect of policy decisions which are unreviewable at law.
- 6. The OPS Defendants further plead that pursuant to section 47 of the Act, and section 50 of the PSA, the OPSB is only liable for acts or omissions of police officers committed in the course of their employment. The OPS Defendants deny that any such acts or omissions were committed by any individual Ottawa Police Service ("OPS") police officers, including but not limited to Staff Sergeant ("S/Sgt.") Steven Desjourdy, Detective Melburn White, Constable Christopher Tessier

-5-

and Constable Cedric Nizman in the circumstances alleged in the Statement of Claim, or at all, that would give rise to liability.

7. Concerning the allegations in paragraph 26, 28, 31, and 34, the OPS Defendants plead that S/Sgt. Desjourdy, Detective White, Constable Tessier and Constable Nizman were at all material times duly sworn police officers with the OPS who were acting in the course of their duties pursuant to section 82 of the Act and section 42 of the PSA.

8. The OPS Defendants plead that if the Plaintiffs sustained any injuries or damages as alleged in the Statement of Claim, or at all, which is not admitted but expressly denied, then the same were not caused by any fault, neglect, negligence, breach of statute, or breach of duty on the part of the OPS Defendants or on the part of anyone for whom the OPS Defendants may be in law responsible.

FACTS

Residential Tenancy Act Charges

- 9. In or around March 6, 2019, the OPS received a complaint from the Plaintiffs' former landlord (the "Landlord"). The Landlord alleged that the Plaintiffs had provided falsified Interact e-transfer documents to the Landlord and Tenant Board ("LTB") as part of a proceeding before the LTB between the Plaintiffs and the Landlord, in which the Landlord had applied to the LTB for eviction of the Plaintiffs on the grounds of non-payment of rent (the "LTD Proceeding").
- 10. The Plaintiffs had rented a property from the Landlord since January 2008, for which the Plaintiffs paid the Landlord a monthly rent of \$1,800 by way of Interact e-transfer.

-4-

- 11. During the LTB Proceeding, Mr. Justice presented Interact e-transfer confirmation emails between the Plaintiffs and the Landlord from January 2018 to January 2019 inclusive, which were the subject of the Landlord's complaint to the OPS.
- 12. Detective White of the OPS Organized Fraud Section was assigned as the lead investigator to the Landlord's allegations.
- 13. On or about May 9, 2019, Detective White contacted a member of the Interact Corporation Fraud Section (the "Member") and provided them with the Interact e-transfer confirmation emails from between August 2018 to January 2019 that had been provided to the LTB by Mr. Justice.
- 14. The Member was requested to review the confirmation emails to ascertain if any Interact cash transfers had taken place associated with the confirmation emails.
- 15. On or about May 10, 2019, the Member reported that no record of Interact cash e-transfers existed from the Plaintiffs to the Landlord between August 2018 and January 2019 as claimed by Mr. Justice. In addition, it was determined that the Interact e-transfer emails continued to bear the name of Acxsys after September 2018, although the corporate name had been changed in September 2018 from Acxsys Corporation to Interact Corporation, and thereafter, all corporate documents displayed the new name of Interact Corporation.
- 16. As a result, Detective White had reasonable and probable grounds to believe Mr. Justice had falsified the Interact e-transfer confirmations between August 2018 and January 2019, which Mr. Justice had provided to the LTB.
- 17. Mr. Justice was charged with making a false statement contrary to section 234(v) of the *Residential Tenancy Act*, 2006, S.O. 2006, c. 17 (the "RTA Charge").

-J.

- 18. On or about May 28, 2019, a Provincial Offenses Summons (the "Summons") was issued by a Justice of the Peace for the RTA Charge, with a court date set for July 12, 2019.
- 19. On or about May 28, 2019, Detective White attempted to serve Mr. Justice with the Summons at his last known address but was unsuccessful. Thereafter, Detective White advised Mr. Justice via voicemail message and/or email that Mr. Justice was required to attend at the OPS station where full disclosure would be provided of the pending charges.
- 20. Mr. Justice did not attend at the OPS station.
- 21. On June 21, 2019, OPS officers, including Constable Tessier, attended at Mr. Justice's new residence located at 2589 Mitchell Street in an attempt to serve Mr. Justice with the Summons.
- 22. OPS officers were unable to serve Mr. Justice with the Summons. However, the OPS officers spoke with Mrs. Justice and advised that a new investigator had been assigned to the matter and the new investigator would be in touch.
- 23. On or about June 24, 2019, S/Sgt. Desjourdy, the new investigator on the matter, attended at 2589 Mitchell Street to attempt to serve Mr. Justice with the Summons.
- 24. S/Sgt. Desjourdy was unable to serve Mr. Justice, but spoke with Mrs. Justice, who identified herself to S/Sgt. Desjourdy, and advised that she would take the Summons and a Notice of Intent to give to Mr. Justice.
- 25. The RTA Charge was ultimately stayed on or about October 3, 2022.

The Fraud Charges

-u·

- 26. Upon learning that the Plaintiffs had a new residence at 2589 Mitchell Street, the OPS investigated further and determined that the Plaintiffs had purchased the property on October 18, 2018.
- 27. On or about October 16 and 17, 2018, an amount of just under \$200,000 was deposited or transferred into the Plaintiffs' back account with Scotiabank.
- 28. On or about November 1, 2019, the OPS completed a Production Order, requesting that Scotiabank release the Plaintiffs' bank documents from August 1, 2018 until July 1, 2019. The Production Order was granted by a Justice of the Peace that same day.
- 29. The OPS also determined that on October 17, 2018, the Plaintiffs obtained a \$200,345.81 draft and thereafter began making monthly mortgage payments to the Bank of Montreal.
- 30. On the basis of the foregoing, and the totality of the circumstances, the OPS Defendants had reasonable and probable grounds to believe that the Plaintiffs had committed the offence of Fraud Over \$5,000, as they had deprived the Landlord of her rental funds between August 2018 and July 2019, and they had made false statement in the LTB Proceeding by providing falsified documents.
- 31. Further, the OPS Defendants had reasonable and probable grounds to believe that the Plaintiffs had committed the offence of Possession of Proceeds of Crime, as they had withheld the rental funds in various bank accounts between August 2018 and July 2019.
- 32. Finally, the OPS Defendants also had reasonable and probable grounds to believe that the Plaintiffs had committed the offence of Laundering of Canadian Proceeds of Crime, as they had moved the rental funds into a new asset, being the new residence at 2589 Mitchell Street.

- / -

- 33. In or around January 2021, the Plaintiffs were charged with Fraud Over \$5,000 contrary to section 380(1)(a) of the *Criminal Code*, Possession of Proceeds of Crime contrary to section 354(1) of the *Criminal Code* and Laundering of Canadian Proceeds of Crime contrary to section 462.31(1)(a) of the *Criminal Code* (collectively, the "Fraud Charges").
- 34. On or about January 15, 2021, OPS officers, including Constable Tessier, attended 2589 Mitchell Street to locate and speak with the Plaintiffs regarding the Fraud Charges.
- 35. OPS officers spoke with Mrs. Justice and advised of the Fraud Charges. OPS officers confirmed that Mr. Justice was at the residence, but he did not speak to OPS officers.
- 36. On January 18, 2021, S/Sgt. Desjourdy advised the Plaintiffs via email that he had reasonable grounds to charge them both with the Fraud Charges. S/Sgt. Desjourdy asked what time and date would be convenient for officers to serve the Plaintiffs with the undertaking documents.
- 37. On or about January 20, 2021, an OPS officer attended at 2589 Mitchell Street to advise Mr. and Mrs. Justice of an arrest advisory related to the Fraud Charges, but the OPS officer was unable to speak with either Mr. or Mrs. Justice.
- 38. On or about January 25, 2021, OPS officers, including Constables Nizman and Tessier, attended at 6045 Bank Street, where Mr. Justice had been located. At that time, reasonable and probable grounds existed for Mr. Justice's arrest on the Fraud Charges. Constable Tessier confirmed the charges with the investigating officer, S/Sgt. Desjourdy.
- 39. After confirming Mr. Justice's identify, Constable Tessier advised that his intent was to release Mr. Justice via an undertaking and to provide Mr. Justice with a notice of intent.

-0-

- 40. Mr. Justice was acting erratically.
- 41. Mr. Justice informed the OPS officers that he was a diabetic, and an ambulance was called.
- 42. Mr. Justice was subsequently removed from his vehicle and placed under arrest at approximately 15:15. He was then taken to the ambulance for medical attention. His vehicle was searched incident to arrest.
- 43. At approximately 15:30, Mr. Justice was released via an undertaking, and he was served with a notice of intent.
- 44. Mr. Justice was advised that Mrs. Justice had to be served with the same documents, and Mr. Justice agreed to facilitate the process.
- 45. On January 30, 2021, at approximately 19:15, Constable Tessier met with Mrs. Justice at 2589 Mitchell Street and served her with an undertaking and notice of intent in relation to the Fraud Charges.
- 46. On or about August 19, 2021, the Plaintiffs failed to appear in Court for proceedings related to the Fraud Charges. Bench warrants were issued for their arrest.
- 47. As such, on or about August 27, 2021, OPS officers attended at 2589 Mitchell Street. However, OPS officers were unable to make contact with the Plaintiffs.
- 48. On or about September 8, 2021, following further investigation, two additional charges were added for both Mr. and Mrs. Justice, being one count of Obstructing Justice contrary to section 129(2) of the *Criminal Code* and Uttering Forged Documents contrary to section 368(1)(a) of the Criminal Code, related to the LTB proceeding.

-7-

- 49. On the same day, the bench warrants for the Plaintiffs' arrest were rescinded.
- 50. The Fraud Charges were ultimately withdrawn by the Crown in September 2021, and the Crown instead proceeded on the two charges of attempting to Obstruct Justice and Uttering a Forged Document.
- 51. On May 28, 2024, the Crown stayed all charges against the Plaintiffs resulting from the LTB Proceedings.

The Perjury Charges

- 52. In January 2023, the Plaintiffs represented themselves for a judge and jury trial on the charges of Obstructing Justice and Uttering Forged Documents.
- 53. On or about January 30, 2023, Justice Gomery, who was presiding over the trial, declared a mistrial, following a sudden and on-going illness of Mr. Justice.
- 54. On February 7, 2023, the Plaintiffs were to attend a hearing before Justice Ryan Bell, where new trial dates were offered to the parties.
- 55. However, as Mr. Justice was not present for the hearing, allegedly due to illness, the matter was adjourned to February 17, 2023.
- 56. On or about February 17, 2023, Mr. Justice indicated that he was too unwell to attend court.

 Mrs. Justice attended the hearing virtually.
- 57. Justice Ryan Bell once again adjourned the matter to March 3, 2023, and held that trial and pre-trial dates would be set on that date. Justice Ryan Bell ordered that if Mr. Justice could not

-10-

attend, Mr. Justice's request must be in writing, and supported by affidavit, with evidence from a medical practitioner.

- 58. On or about March 3, 2023, Mrs. Justice appeared virtually before Justice Parfett. Mr. Justice was not in attendance, as Mrs. Justice alleged he was isolating in their home and too ill to attend.
- 59. Mr. Justice had provided the Court with a sworn affidavit with a supporting letter from a medical practitioner at approximately 9:07 A.M. via email.
- 60. Further investigation by S/Sgt. Desjourdy on March 20, 2023 revealed that the letter from the medical practitioner attached to the affidavit provided by Mr. Justice was a forgery.
- 61. Further investigation also revealed that both Plaintiffs appeared together virtually to commission the affidavit with a commissioner of oath on March 3, 2023 at approximately 8:00 a.m.
- As a result, and given the totality of the circumstances, reasonable and probable grounds existed to charge Mr. Justice with one court of Perjury contrary to section 132 of the *Criminal Code*, and to charge both Mr. and Mrs. Justice with one count each of Obstruction of Justice contrary to section 139(2) of the *Criminal Code* and one count each of Use, Trafficking or Possession of Forged Document contrary to section 368(1)(a) of the *Criminal Code* (collectively, the "Perjury Charges"), for reasons including, but not limited to:
 - (a) Mr. Justice committed perjury with intent to mislead justice by submitting an affidavit with a false medical letter; and

-11-

- (b) Both Mr. and Ms. Justice acted in concert and obstructed justice by working together to prepare and/or submit an affidavit with a forged medical note to the Court.
- 63. On March 22, 2023, S/Sgt. Desjourdy emailed the Plaintiffs to advise that he had reasonable and probable grounds to charge them with the Perjury Charges and requested that they attend at the OPS Station located at 474 Elgin Street, on March 26, 2023 to be arrested and held for show cause court the following morning.
- 64. In response, Mrs. Justice sent multiple harassing and inappropriate email to S/Sgt. Desjourdy, with copies and/or blind copies to a number of members of the Ministry of the Attorney General and police services.
- 65. Neither plaintiff attended the OPS Station on March 26, 2023.
- 66. On or about March 27, 2023, the Plaintiffs and Crown attorney attended a hearing before Justice Parfett, where trial dates were set for the trial of the Fraud Charges.
- 67. On or about March 29, 2023, S/Sgt. Desjourdy sent Mrs. Justice an email requesting that she stop sending the unwarranted threatening emails, and advised her that she could face possible criminal charges. S/Sgt. Desjourdy advised Mrs. Justice that if she had a complaint, she should contact the Office of the Independent Police Review Director (now known as the Law Enforcement and Complaint Agency).
- 68. On or about April 7, 2023, S/Sgt. Desjourdy once again sent the Plaintiffs an email requesting that they turn themselves in at the OPS Station located at 474 Elgin Street on April 12,

-14-

2023. S/Sgt. Desjourdy explained the pending criminal charges and his intention to have both Plaintiffs attend a show cause hearing.

- 69. No response was received from either plaintiff, nor did the Plaintiffs attend at the OPS Station on April 12, 2023.
- 70. On or about April 18, 2023, Justice Breton authorized a warrant for the arrest of the Plaintiffs. S/Sgt. Desjourdy provided the Plaintiffs with a copy of the warrant at approximately 17:00, and requested that they turn themselves in on April 20, 2023 at 7:00am.
- 71. The Plaintiffs failed to attend the OPS Station on April 20, 2023.
- 72. On or about May 10, 2023, Mr. Justice was placed under arrest by OPS officers at approximately 15:40, on the Perjury Charges. Mr. Justice was read his right to counsel, cautioned and read his section 524 arrest warning. He was searched incident to arrest and transported to the OPS central cell block at approximately 16:37.
- 73. At approximately 17:00 on May 10, 2023, S/Sgt. Desjourdy contacted Mrs. Justice via email to inform her that Mr. Justice has been arrested and seeking her surrender. Mrs. Justice confirmed she would comply with the arrest warrant and would surrender herself to police.
- As such, OPS officers executed the warrant for Mrs. Justice's arrest at 2589 Mitchell Street. Mrs. Justice was placed under arrest at approximately 21:45 and searched incident to arrest. She was read her right to counsel, cautioned and read her section 524 arrest warning. She was then transported to OPS central cell block at approximately 20:54.

The Plaintiffs' Failure to Appear

-13-

75. On or about September 5, 2023, the Plaintiffs were scheduled for a judge and jury trial at the courthouse located at 161 Elgin Street, Ottawa, Ontario. The Plaintiffs failed to appear and as a result, they were charged with Failing to Appear.

76. On September 5, 2023, an OPS officer attended at 2589 Mitchell Street in relation to an arrest advisory for the Plaintiffs, which was based on a bench warrant issued by Justice Labrosse. The OPS officer was unable to make contact with the Plaintiffs.

77. On or about October 2, 2023, the bench warrants were rescinded by Justice Labrosse.

78. On or about May 22, 2024, the Perjury Charges were stayed by the Crown.

NO LIABILITY

The OPS Defendants plead that at all material times, any members of the OPS involved in this matter, including but not limited to S/Sgt. Desjourdy, Detective White, Constable Tessier and Constable Nizman, acted in a professional, competent, and reasonable fashion without negligence, malice or any other improper purpose, and in compliance with their common law and statutory duties and obligations and training as police officers pursuant to the provisions of the Act and PSA and they put the Plaintiffs to the strict proof otherwise. The OPS Defendants plead and rely on section 82 of the Act and section 42 of the PSA.

80. The OPS Defendants specifically deny the Plaintiffs' allegations of negligent investigation, negligence, malicious prosecution, misfeasance in public office, abuse of process, conspiracy, intimidation, intentional infliction of emotional distress, intrusion upon seclusion, false arrest and false imprisonment, trespass to chattels, and put the Plaintiffs to the strict proof thereof.

-14-

- 81. The OPS Defendants plead that, at all material times, given the available information, there were reasonable and probable grounds to arrest and charge the Plaintiffs. The OPS Defendants put the Plaintiffs to the strict proof otherwise.
- 82. The OPS Defendants plead that once charges were laid, all decisions in respect of the prosecution of the Plaintiffs were the responsibility and entirely within the discretion of the Crown whose decisions are independent of the OPS Defendants and for which the OPS Defendants cannot be held responsible.
- 83. The OPS Defendants deny that the Plaintiffs' rights under sections 2(b), 7, 8, 9, 10, 11, and/or 12 of the *Canadian Charter of Rights and Freedoms* ("*Charter*") were breached and put the Plaintiffs to the strict proof thereof. Further, and in the alternative, the OPS Defendants plead that in the event any of the Plaintiffs' *Charter* rights were breached, the same were reasonable limits on the right pursuant to section 1 of the *Charter*.
- 84. The OPS Defendants specifically deny that the Plaintiffs were discriminated against contrary to section 15 of the *Charter*, or at all, and put the Plaintiffs to the strict proof thereof.
- 85. In the alternative, the OPS Defendants plead that, to the extent that the Plaintiffs' *Charter* rights were infringed, such infringement was not deliberate or a result of any *mala fides* on the part of the OPS Defendants, occurred only as a result of the OPS Defendants' good faith execution of their statutory and common law duties, and was reasonable and justifiable pursuant to section 1 of the *Charter*. The OPS Defendants further plead that in any event, damages would not be an appropriate remedy for any *Charter* breach that the Plaintiffs could establish in the circumstances of this action.

-13-

- 86. The OPS Defendants plead that at all material times, the OPS Defendants acted without malice or any other improper purpose, in compliance with their duties as police officers pursuant to the provision of the Act and PSA as amended.
- 87. The OPS Defendants deny that any of their public functions relevant to the circumstances alleged in the Statement of Claim were performed in bad faith, that they had any awareness or were reckless to the fact that any of their conduct was unlawful or likely to injure the Plaintiffs. The OPS Defendants plead that any and all claims of malicious prosecution, misfeasance in public office or abuse of public office made against the OPS Defendants are without merit.
- 88. The OPS Defendants plead that if the Plaintiffs sustained any injuries or damages as alleged in the Statement of Claim, or at all, which is not admitted but expressly denied, then the same were caused by the fault of the Plaintiffs themselves, the particulars of which will be provided prior to trial.
- 89. The OPS Defendants deny that the Plaintiffs sustained any injuries or damages as alleged in the Statement of Claim, or at all, and put the Plaintiffs to the strict proof thereof. The OPS Defendants further plead that the damages claimed by the Plaintiffs are excessive, too remote, and not recoverable at law and have not been mitigated by the Plaintiffs.
- 90. The OPS Defendants specifically deny that the Plaintiffs are entitled to any punitive, aggravated or exemplary damages and put the Plaintiffs to the strict proof thereof.
- 91. The OPS Defendants plead and rely upon the following statutes, as amended from time to time, including but not limited to:
 - (a) Courts of Justice Act, R.S.O. 1990, c. C.43, as amended;

-10-

- (b) Police Services Act, R.S.O. 1990, c. P 15, as amended
- (c) Community Safety and Policing Act, 2019, S.O. 2019, c. 1, Sched. 1, as amended;
- (d) Negligence Act, R.S.O. 1990, c. N. 1, as amended,
- (e) Criminal Code, R.S.C., 1985, c. C-46, as amended, and
- (f) all pertinent Regulations to those *Acts*.
- 92. The OPS Defendants therefore ask that this action be dismissed as against them with costs.

CROSSCLAIM

- 93. In the event that this Honourable Court should find the OPS Defendants liable to the Plaintiffs for any damages, interest, or costs, then the OPS Defendants claim from the codefendants, His Majesty the King in Right of Ontario and Attorney General of Ontario:
 - (a) Full indemnity, contribution and other relief over;
 - (b) costs of defending the main action;
 - (c) costs of bringing this crossclaim; and
 - (d) such further and other relief as this Honourable Court may deem just.
- 94. The OPS Defendants plead and rely upon the provisions of the *Negligence Act*, R.S.O. 1990, c. N. 1.
- 95. The OPS Defendants repeat and rely on their Statement of Defence herein.

-1/-

96. The OPS Defendants state that this Crossclaim ought to be tried at the same time or immediately following the trial of the main action.

June 16, 2025

BORDEN LADNER GERVAIS LLP

100 Queen Street, Suite 1300 Ottawa ON K1P 1J9

T: 613.237.5160 F: 613.230.8842

Michelle Doody (66612L)

mdoody@blg.com T: 613.787.3510

Sam Campbell (82411F) scampbell@blg.com T: 613.369.4776

Lawyers for the Defendants, Ottawa Police Services Board, Steven Desjourdy, Melburn White, Christopher Tessier and Cedric Nizman

TO: **IZABELLE JUSTICE**

104-2706 Alta Vista Dr. Ottawa, ON K1V 7T4

justice@maliciousprosecution.ca

T: 613.293.3204 F: 613.702.4639

Self-Represented Plaintiff

AND TO: MARK JUSTICE

104-2706 Alta Vista Dr. Ottawa, ON K1V 7T4

justice@maliciousprosecution.ca

T: 613.293.3204 F: 613.702.4639

Self-Represented Plaintiff

-10-

AND TO: MINISTY OF THE ATTORNEY GENERAL

Crown Law Office – Civil 720 Bay Street, 8th Floor Toronto, ON M7A 2S9

Ram Rammaya (LSO No. 81555N)

T: 416.574.4352

E: ram.rammaya@ontario.ca

Counsel for the defendants, His Majesty The King in Right of Ontario, and Attorney General of Ontario

RCP-E 18B (July 1, 2007)

aintiffs ABELLE JUSTICE et al. -and-OTTAWA POLICE SERVICES BOARD et al **Defendants**

Court File No. CV-25-00099658-0000

51

SUPERIOR COURT OF JUSTICE *ONTARIO*

Proceeding commenced at Ottawa

STATEMENT OF DEFENCE AND CROSSCLAIM

BORDEN LADNER GERVAIS LLP

100 Queen Street, Suite 1300

Ottawa ON K1P 1J9

Michelle Doody LSO # 66612L

E: mdoody@blg.com

T: 613.787.3510 direct

T: 613.237.5160 main

Sam Campbell LSO #82411F

T: 613.369.4776 direct E: scampbell@blg.com

613.237.5160 main

Lawyers for the Defendants,

Ottawa Police Services Board, Steven Desjourdy, Melburn White, Christopher Tessier and Cedric Nizman

Emails for parties served.

lzabelle Justice: justice@maliciousprosecution.ca

Mark Justice: justice@maliciousprosecution.ca

File Number: 304995/000725

RCP-F 4C (September 1, 2020)

This is "Exhibit C", as stated in the Affidavit of Mark Justice and Izabelle Justice, sworn remotely before me on November 26, 2025

A Commissioner for Taking Affidavits

Nitasha Malik LSO# P14355



COURT FILE NO.: CV-25-99658

DATE: 2025-07-21

SUPERIOR COURT OF JUSTICE - ONTARIO

RE: Izabelle Justice and Mark Justice, Plaintiffs

AND

Ottawa Police Services Board, Steven Desjourdy, Melburn White, Christoper Tessier, Cedric Nizman, His Majesty the King in Right of Ontario, and Attorney

General of Ontario, Defendants

BEFORE: The Honourable Mr. Justice Marc Smith

ENDORSEMENT ON REQUISITION UNDER RULE 2.1.01

M. SMITH J

- [1] On June 11, 2025, the Defendants Ottawa Police Services Board, Steven Desjourdy, Melburn White, Christopher Tessier and Cedric Nizman (collectively the "OPS Defendants") requisitioned for an order dismissing the Plaintiffs' action, pursuant to r. 2.1.01 of the *Rules of Civil Procedure* (the "Rules"). This rule allows the court to dismiss an action if it appears, on its face to be frivolous or vexatious or otherwise an abuse of the process of the court.
- [2] In the action, the Plaintiffs seeks damages in the amount of \$17,000,000 for malicious prosecution, misfeasance in public office, abuse of process, abuse of process (prosecutorial), intimidation, unlawful means conspiracy, negligent investigation, negligence, intrusion upon seclusion, intentional infliction of emotional distress, false arrest, false imprisonment, trespass to chattels, and breaches of sections 2, 7, 8, 9, 10, 11, 12 and 15 of the *Canadian Charter of Rights and Freedoms* ("*Charter*"). In addition, the Plaintiffs seek punitive damages in the amount of \$1,000,000, aggravated damages in the amount of \$1,000,000, pecuniary damages in an amount to be particularized before trial, and remedies pursuant to s. 24(1) of the *Charter*.
- [3] The Plaintiffs claim, amongst other things, the following:

1 age. 2

- a. Over a period of five years, the Ottawa Police Services ("OPS") and the Ottawa Crown Attorney's Office ("OCAO") engaged in a sustained and coordinated abuse of power, pursuing three meritless criminal prosecutions designed to intimidate, exhaust, and silence the Plaintiffs.
- b. The individual Defendants knowingly and deliberately engaged in a malicious and unlawful campaign against the Plaintiffs that has inflicted severe and irreparable harm upon them.
- c. The Plaintiffs' prosecution was a deliberate act of retaliation for their efforts to investigate and expose police misconduct.
- d. The prosecutions against the Plaintiffs were devoid of legal or evidentiary foundation and driven by malice, retaliation, and a calculated intent to suppress the Plaintiffs' advocacy and undermine their credibility.
- [4] The Statement of Claim is 493 paragraphs long. It recounts, in considerable detail, the legal proceedings in which the Plaintiffs have been involved with the OPS, the OCAO, and the individual Defendants over several years. The Statement of Claim consists of a lot of argument and evidence, as opposed to allegations of material fact, making it difficult to respond. Also, the Plaintiffs take issue with a previous decision in past legal proceedings in which they have been involved. It appears on the face of the Statement of Claim that this action against the OPS Defendants may be frivolous, vexatious, and an abuse of process of the court. Accordingly, I direct as follows:
 - a. The Registrar shall give the Plaintiffs notice informing them that the court is considering making an order for dismissal. A copy of this Endorsement and a Form 2.1A shall be emailed to them.
 - b. The Plaintiffs shall have 30 days after receiving notice to file responding written submissions by email. These submissions shall be no more than 10 pages in length.

Court File No./N° du dossier du greffe : CV-25-00099658-0000

Electronically filed / Déposé par voie électronique : 28-Nov-2025 Ottawa Superior Court of Justice / Cour supérieure de justice

1 age. J

c. If the Plaintiffs do not file written submissions within the specified time frame, the

court may make an order to dismiss without further notice to them.

d. If the Plaintiffs file written submissions in accordance with this direction, the OPS

Defendants shall then provide their responding submissions, with the same page

restrictions, within 30 days thereafter.

e. After considering any submissions received pursuant to this Endorsement, I shall

determine whether the claim against the OPS Defendants or any of the Defendants

ought to be struck under r. 2.1.01 of the Rules.

[5] The Plaintiffs' action is stayed, pursuant to s. 106 of the Courts of Justice Act, L.R.O. 1990,

c. 43, until this court has made a final decision on the requisition under r. 2.1.01 of the Rules or it

makes another order varying this direction. In the meantime, the Registrar shall not permit any

party to file any procedures or documents except in accordance with this Endorsement, and no

dates for motions shall be scheduled.

M Smith I

Date: July 21, 2025

This is "Exhibit D", as stated in the Affidavit of Mark Justice and Izabelle Justice, sworn remotely before me on November 26, 2025

A Commissioner for Taking Affidavits Nitasha Malik LSO# P14355



Ottawa Superior Court of Justice / Cour supérieure de justice

Court File No. CV-25-00099658-0000

ONTARIO SUPERIOR COURT OF JUSTICE

BETWEEN:

IZABELLE JUSTICE and MARK JUSTICE

Plaintiffs

- and -

OTTAWA POLICE SERVICES BOARD, STEVEN DESJOURDY, MELBURN WHITE, CHRISTOPHER TESSIER, CEDRIC NIZMAN, HIS MAJESTY THE KING IN RIGHT OF ONTARIO, AND ATTORNEY GENERAL OF ONTARIO

Defendants

SUBMISSION OF THE PLAINTIFFS

Rule 2.1.01(8)

I. OVERVIEW AND POINTS IN ISSUE

- 1. This Submission is delivered by the Plaintiffs pursuant to Rule 2.1.01(8) of the Rules of Civil Procedure (the "Rules") and paragraph [4]b of the Endorsement of the Honourable Justice Marc Smith, dated July 21, 2025. It follows the issuance of Form 2.1B by the Registrar, notifying the parties that the Court is considering whether to stay or dismiss this proceeding under Rule 2.1.01.
- This process was initiated by a Requisition dated June 11, 2025, pursuant to Rule 2.1.01(4), by 2. the Defendants Ottawa Police Services Board, Steven Desjourdy, Melburn White, Christopher Tessier, and Cedric Nizman (collectively, the "OPS Defendants"). The Defendants who did not join in the Requisition — His Majesty the King in right of Ontario ("Crown") and the Attorney General of Ontario (together, "Ontario") — took no position on the Requisition at this stage.
- 3. This Submission addresses three discrete issues arising from the initiation and invocation of the Rule 2.1 process: (1) whether this proceeding appears on its face to constitute the clearest of cases warranting summary dismissal under Rule 2.1; (2) whether the procedural initiation of review and temporary stay under Rule 2.1 within a proceeding already stayed by statute — and the imposition of a discretionary stay rather than the automatic stay mandated by Rule 2.1.01(7) — was jurisdictionally impermissible and constituted a procedural misapplication; and (3) whether the record ought to be

regularized, the interim stay lifted, the Rule 2.1 review deferred pending resolution of the preliminary statutory issue, and the Requisition thereafter dismissed on grounds that will render it fully dispositive at that time.

II. ULTRA VIRES ENDORSEMENT AND STAY UNDER RULE 2.1

- 4. The Endorsement issued July 21, 2025 purports to act on a requisition made under the revised regime of Rule 2.1.01, but imposes a stay at paragraph [5] pursuant to section 106 of the Courts of Justice Act, R.S.O. 1990, c. C.43. This is both procedurally irregular and jurisdictionally impermissible. As amended by O. Reg. 322/24, Rule 2.1.01(7) provides that, upon the Court's consideration of a requisition and the issuance of Form 2.1B by the Registrar, a stay arises automatically by operation of law. The superimposition of a discretionary stay under section 106 in such circumstances is legally inapposite, redundant, and ultra vires.
- More fundamentally, however, this entire proceeding including all claims against the OPS 5. Defendants — has already been subject to an automatic statutory stay since April 29, 2025, the date the Statement of Claim was issued. Section 17(2) of the Crown Liability and Proceedings Act, 2019, S.O. 2019, c. 7, Sched. 17 ("CLPA") provides that, where an action includes a claim against the Crown in respect of a tort of misfeasance in public office or a tort based on bad faith, the proceeding is stayed in its entirety by operation of law from the time it is brought, unless and until leave is granted by the Court.
- 6. The CLPA permits the Court to lift the statutory stay only where it is satisfied that: (a) the proceeding is brought in good faith; and (b) there is a reasonable possibility that the claim against the Crown would succeed. Absent such leave, the statutory stay remains in force, and the Court lacks jurisdiction to entertain any aspect of the proceeding. If leave is ultimately denied and the action includes claims against defendants other than the Crown, the claim against the Crown is rendered a nullity, and only at that time is the statutory stay lifted with respect to the remainder of the proceeding.
- 7. This statutory stay operates as a jurisdictional bar. It reflects a deliberate legislative ouster of inherent judicial discretion, and displaces any parallel authority under the Courts of Justice Act to impose discretionary stays. Once engaged, the CLPA stay forecloses the ability of the Court or any party to impose, duplicate, or modify it by procedural means. Any such attempt — including by discretionary judicial stay under section 106, automatic procedural stay under Rule 2.1.01(7), or otherwise — is ultra vires, procedurally invalid, and incompatible with the structure and supremacy of the statute. It also risks undermining the procedural fairness and legal integrity of the proceeding as a whole.

III. LEAVE TO PROCEED — MOTION RETURNABLE DECEMBER 11, 2025

8. A complete motion record seeking leave to proceed under section 17(2) of the CLPA was served concurrently with the Statement of Claim on the Crown on May 8, 2025. In addition to the Claim, which is appended as an exhibit, the record comprises 28 further pages, including the notice of motion, joint affidavit of the Plaintiffs, factum, draft order, book of authorities, schedules, and a public interest and

systemic importance summary. The motion engages directly with the statutory gatekeeping criteria of good faith and arguable merit, which serve a similar preliminary screening function to that contemplated under Rule 2.1. The complete record remains available should this Honourable Court wish to receive a copy.

9. The Court confirmed on July 10, 2025, that the notice of motion was filed, issued, and returnable on December 11, 2025. Counsel for Ontario has engaged with the motion on behalf of the Crown and confirmed that a colleague will attend on the return date. The question of whether the Crown may waive the statutory leave requirement under section 17(11) of the *CLPA*, as raised by the Plaintiffs, has been the subject of ongoing engagement and remains under active consideration as of this Submission.

IV. REFERENCES TO PRIOR POSITIONS AND LEGAL CONTEXT ARE MATERIAL — NOT IMPROPER ARGUMENT OR RELITIGATION

- 10. The references throughout the Statement of Claim to positions taken, arguments advanced, and judicial findings in the underlying criminal proceedings do not constitute improper argument or relitigation. Rather, they form part of the material narrative and legal context necessary to ground the exceptional public law torts pleaded in particular, malicious prosecution and the proposed tort of prosecutorial abuse of process and are strictly required to meet the standard of particularity imposed under the *Rules* and at common law.
- 11. Pursuant to Rule 25.06(8), allegations of malice, breach of trust, and bad faith must be pleaded with full particulars. It is well-established that, in malicious prosecution and related misfeasance-based actions, such particulars often require detailed pleading of police and prosecutorial conduct, the information available to them at each stage, and the legal and factual context in which that conduct was carried out and sustained. Where that conduct unfolded across extensive proceedings including a sustained series of *Charter* challenges spanning multiple years it is not merely permissible but essential to plead the legal positions taken by the Crown and the constitutional challenges advanced by the defence. These are not arguments being re-advanced in a civil forum. They are historical facts fixed and irreversible necessary to demonstrate the state of knowledge, intent, and conduct of the Crown and police officials responsible for the continuation of the prosecution.
- 12. This is especially true in the case at bar, where the underlying proceedings extended over 70 hearing days and generated several hundred hours of transcript amounting to more than \$31,000 in regulated transcription costs. That extensive record, standing on its own, is central to establishing what was known, argued, revealed, and conceded at each stage. In parallel, the volume and progression of permitted *Charter* litigation was exceptional for a case of this nature. Each stage yielded new findings, compounded the evidentiary frailties of the prosecution, and exposed institutional misconduct bearing directly on the pleaded allegations of malice, absence of reasonable and probable grounds, and improper purpose. In this context, the prosecution's conscious decision to proceed despite the cumulative collapse of the case's foundation gave rise to a real-time RPG crisis. The underlying proceedings are not collateral they are structural.

- 13. Similarly, the Statement of Claim proposes an incremental extension of existing jurisprudence through the tort of prosecutorial abuse of process. In accordance with Rule 25.06(2), this necessitates the pleading of authorities and analogous caselaw in a manner not ordinarily required in conventional pleadings. Here again, the references serve a precise and limited function: not to argue law, but to demonstrate that the claim is anchored in recognized principles of incremental legal development.
- 14. Finally, the Discoverability section does not relitigate prior proceedings. It addresses the statutory presumption under the *Limitations Act*, 2002, S.O. 2002, c. 24, Sched. B, and the interpretive principles governing when a claim is "discovered." That section is necessary to rebut the presumption and to demonstrate that all claims including those against the OPS Defendants were timely. It is a pleading requirement in cases of delayed discovery, not an argumentative overreach.
- 15. In all cases, the facts and positions cited are historical and material. They are deployed not to relitigate, but to satisfy exceptional pleading requirements, provide essential legal context, and support the structure of a complex public law tort action. Each reference is precise, anchored, and necessary to advance the claims on their proper legal footing.

V. NO IMPROPER PLEADING OF EVIDENCE

- 16. The Statement of Claim does not plead evidence. It pleads material facts precisely as required under the *Rules*. While certain allegations reference statements, documents, or proceedings from the underlying criminal matter, they are not deployed to invite evidentiary findings or to prove the claim at this stage. Rather, they serve the strictly limited purpose of establishing the factual and legal foundation necessary to particularize the extraordinary form of state misconduct at issue.
- Rule 25.06(7) permits a party to plead the effect of a document or the purport of a conversation where material, and permits the precise words to be pleaded where the words themselves are material. That is precisely the function served by the isolated references in the Statement of Claim to transcript excerpts, correspondence, public statements, or prior testimony. In malicious prosecution and related misfeasance-based actions, such allegations are not only proper they are required. The plaintiff must plead what was said, by whom, what it conveyed or disclosed, or why it was false, misleading, or known to be untenable. These are not matters of evidence. They are matters of fact that give rise to the complex tortious conduct alleged.
- 18. This includes references to specific statements drawn from the underlying record including excerpts from Crown submissions, witness testimony, and procedural exchanges. These references are not advanced as proof, but pleaded to establish what was represented contemporaneously, and how those representations informed or shaped the decisions and conduct of the Crown and police. They go directly to issues of knowledge, intent, malice, and improper purpose elements that must be pleaded with particularity under Rule 25.06(8), and that cannot be set out in the abstract.

- 19. Similarly, the Statement of Claim refers to the public reaction to the viral parking lot video and the widespread viewership it received online. This is not an attempt to plead evidence or to inflame; it is part of the factual matrix. The video formed part of the record in the criminal proceeding and provided critical context for multiple *Charter* applications including an anticipated week-long hearing that was vacated by the stay of proceedings. Its contents, the inconsistency it exposed, and the reputational fallout it generated all contributed to the institutional context in which the prosecution was maintained. These facts go directly to motive, animus, and the Crown's evolving awareness of the case's collapse culminating in a sustained decision to proceed despite the absence of reasonable and probable grounds.
- 20. The same is true of the references to testimony given by third-party witnesses including the landlord, her former lawyer, and the representative of Interac Corp. These statements are not pleaded for the truth of their content, but as part of the factual narrative that shaped the criminal proceeding, informed the Crown's position, and ultimately helps explain how institutional conduct became detached from legal viability. They are pleaded because they formed part of the underlying record and part of the knowledge, decisions, and conduct now at issue.
- 21. Finally, the Statement of Claim refers to certain procedural admissions and omissions made during the course of the criminal proceeding. These, too, are not evidence, but material facts. In a prosecution where the evidentiary foundation was repeatedly undermined and never properly re-established, the Crown's litigation positions including what it conceded, declined to contest, or failed to correct are central to establishing the pleaded elements of bad faith, improper purpose, and absence of reasonable and probable grounds.
- 22. In all such instances, the Claim pleads what the law requires: not evidence, but the material context and particularized facts that give rise to the high-threshold causes of action advanced. No affidavit is incorporated, no exhibits are appended, and no evidentiary standard is presumed. The references serve a narrow and essential function one permitted under Rule 25.06, recognized at common law, and necessary to give fair and sufficient notice of the extraordinary case to be met.

VI. NO COLLATERAL ATTACK OR RES JUDICATA BAR

- 23. The Statement of Claim does not challenge, appeal, or seek to overturn any final decision of the Court because no such decision exists. The underlying criminal matter never reached final adjudication. All rulings made in the course of those proceedings including those arising from *Charter* applications were interlocutory in nature, and were extinguished by operation of law following the termination of the prosecution.
- 24. On May 28, 2024, the Crown directed a stay of proceedings under section 579(1) of the *Criminal Code*, R.S.C. 1985, c. C-46. The prosecution was not recommenced within one year, and as of May 28, 2025, is deemed never to have been commenced, pursuant to section 579(2). As a result, the criminal proceeding ceased to exist in law, and the interlocutory rulings made within it carry no continuing legal effect. The Statement of Claim does not seek to relitigate or impugn any such rulings. They are referenced

solely for what they were: procedural occurrences in a now-extinguished matter, not binding determinations carrying res judicata force.

- 25. The doctrine of res judicata applies only where there has been a final determination on the merits, involving the same parties and the same cause of action. None of those conditions are met here. The criminal proceedings were deemed never to have been commenced; the parties to this civil action differ in both identity and legal capacity; and the causes of action now advanced including malicious prosecution, misfeasance in public office, and intimidation are civil claims that were not, and could not have been, adjudicated in the earlier matter. The limited references to interlocutory rulings or procedural stances adopted during the criminal proceeding are not pleaded to dispute their validity, but to contextualize the conduct and evolving state of knowledge of Crown and police actors over the life of a prosecution that never reached finality.
- 26. These references are not invoked for their legal effect, but for their factual significance. They are necessary to establish the evolving knowledge, conduct, and intent of Crown and police actors throughout a prosecution that deteriorated over time and ultimately collapsed without conclusion. In a claim where bad faith, malice, and the absence of reasonable and probable grounds must be pleaded with particularity, such context is not only relevant it is indispensable. The Statement of Claim sets out how the state's litigation posture shifted as constitutional concerns intensified, evidentiary weaknesses deepened, and institutional safeguards failed. These are not efforts to relitigate past decisions, but to particularize the core elements of complex public law torts that arise from what the prosecution became.
- 27. That trajectory was still unfolding at the time of termination. The Court had expressly permitted a scheduled week-long abuse of process hearing under sections 7 and 11(d) of the *Charter*, in which previously litigated *Charter* issues along with new and distinct constitutional claims were to be re-advanced under a broader constitutional framework. That hearing, the product of sustained judicial case management, was ultimately mooted by the Crown's stay. The very fact that the Court allowed those issues to proceed afresh confirms that they remained alive and subject to further adjudication. This is not merely consistent with the interlocutory nature of the underlying rulings it affirms that the constitutional matters now referenced or implicated in the civil claim were never brought to any form of final resolution.
- 28. In all such instances, the limited procedural references drawn from the underlying criminal matter are strictly tethered to the elements of the torts now pleaded and the heightened requirements of particularity that apply. They do not invite relitigation. They do not challenge prior authority. They function solely to advance a civil claim grounded in independent legal obligations and a distinct legal framework one that arises precisely because the underlying proceeding was never brought to a final or lawful conclusion on the merits.

VII. RULE 2.1 AND THE STRICT FRAMEWORK FOR SUMMARY DISMISSAL

- 29. Rule 2.1 provides a narrow and exceptional mechanism for summarily dismissing a proceeding that appears on its face to be frivolous, vexatious, or otherwise an abuse of the Court's process. Each ground is distinct: a frivolous proceeding is one so clearly devoid of legal merit that it cannot possibly succeed; a vexatious proceeding is brought to harass or for a collateral purpose; and an abuse of process arises where the proceeding distorts the court's functions, squanders judicial resources, or subverts the fair administration of justice.
- 30. The threshold under Rule 2.1 is exacting. The impugned claim must be "so clearly futile, defective, or abusive on its face" that it can be disposed of without formal analysis or adversarial testing. The Rule is not a tool for weighing legal questions, parsing contested facts, or resolving claims that raise novel or complex legal issues. It is not a substitute for motions to strike, summary judgment, or trial nor is it a backdoor to litigate immunity, discoverability, or other substantive defences outside proper channels.
- This action does not remotely approach the threshold contemplated. The Statement of Claim 31. raises serious allegations of misconduct against public actors over a sustained, five-year period. It invokes torts that require, by law, a high degree of sophisticated particularity and pleading precision. It references complex institutional conduct and state decisions made in a shifting constitutional environment. That context cannot be evaluated on the face of the pleading alone. The danger of misusing Rule 2.1 in such circumstances is acute: it risks bypassing ordinary process, chilling legitimate claims, and collapsing legal complexity into premature adjudication.
- 32. The governing question is whether the Statement of Claim is so transparently deficient that no further step is warranted. It is not even arguably so. To the contrary, the pleading meets and exceeds every threshold for proper litigation, and squarely resists any characterization as frivolous, vexatious, or abusive.

VIII. LEGAL SUFFICIENCY AND FACTUAL PARTICULARITY OF THE CLAIM

- 33. The Statement of Claim advances recognized causes of action, grounded in established legal doctrine and properly supported by the pleaded facts. All elements required to sustain each cause of action are specifically and expressly pleaded. The material facts, chronology, and institutional conduct necessary to support those elements are set out with precision. The pleading is tightly framed, legally disciplined, and fully compliant with Rule 25.06 and the heightened standards governing complex public law claims involving bad faith and abuse of authority.
- 34. The pleading sets out a prima facie case. If the pleaded facts are accepted as true — as they must be at this stage — the claim discloses reasonable causes of action on its face. It does not seek to circumvent valid immunity doctrines, nor does it advance any claim unsupported by conduct for which liability may attach in law. The causes of action are not novel in kind, but in context: they arise from an

extraordinary fact pattern and a complex history of institutional conduct, litigation posture, and decision-making spanning five years.

35. The claim spans three institutional defendants, four individual police officers, and five non-party tortfeasors — reflecting both the scale and complexity of the events at issue. Yet the scope of liability is clearly delineated, the legal framework precisely structured, and the role of each defendant specifically pleaded. Its breadth is a function of the underlying misconduct, not a defect in form. Length and intricacy do not convert a serious and particularized claim into an abuse. Where a pleading is disciplined, grounded in law, and anchored in fact, it falls squarely within the bounds of proper litigation.

IX. PRECISION, DISCIPLINE, AND COMPLIANCE IN FORM

The Statement of Claim reflects an uncommon level of technical precision and drafting discipline—aligning not only with the *Rules*, but also with the structural and stylistic guidance set out in the *Canadian Guide to Uniform Legal Citation*, the Supreme Court's overarching directives on clarity, concision, and functional coherence in pleadings, and contemporary scholarship on complex public law litigation. It conforms to the narrative standard required for evolving torts, while preserving classical structure for established causes of action—a distinction rarely observed with such fidelity. Facts are marshalled thematically and temporally with forensic clarity; paragraph sequencing, internal cross-referencing, and defined terms are deployed with textbook discipline; and factual assertions are set out without evidentiary overreach. The pleading anticipates and forestalls common procedural challenges—including overbreadth, prolixity, duplicative pleading, and prejudicial innuendo—while sustaining a high degree of readability across 236 pages. Its form is not merely compliant; it is exemplary.

X. DEFENCES DELIVERED BY ALL DEFENDANTS; PLEADINGS CLOSED

- 37. The July 21 Endorsement refers to difficulty by the OPS Defendants in responding to the Statement of Claim. That concern was neither raised on the record, nor conveyed in correspondence, and was not known to the Plaintiffs until the Endorsement issued. An indulgence was requested five days after service, granted in good faith, and a Statement of Defence and Crossclaim was delivered by the OPS Defendants on the final day of the extension, June 16, 2025. Throughout, counsel were invited to identify any material impediment to timely pleading. None was disclosed.
- 38. Ontario similarly requested additional time and delivered its Statement of Defence on July 24, 2025. The pleadings are now closed. With defences delivered, the litigation is properly joined and the merits are engaged. Rule 2.1, as a preliminary screening device, ought now to be treated as functionally foreclosed. Its invocation at this stage would circumvent proper procedure and disrupt the orderly progression of the proceeding.

XI. CROSSCLAIM UNDERMINES RULE 2.1 POSITION AND APPEARS FRIVOLOUS

39. The OPS Defendants seek summary dismissal under Rule 2.1 while simultaneously advancing a Crossclaim against Ontario for full indemnity, contribution, and costs — a posture that is both contradictory and untenable. The Supreme Court has long held that the Crown is immune from negligence claims arising from prosecutorial discretion, and because contribution presupposes shared fault in tort, police defendants cannot ordinarily recover against the Crown in such circumstances. Even accepting that the Statement of Defence was delivered to avoid default, the decision to assert a Crossclaim was voluntary and affirmative. It joins issue, engages the merits, and invokes the Court's jurisdiction in full. If there is any pleading that "appears on its face" to be frivolous — it is not the main action. It is the Crossclaim.

XII. ONTARIO JOINS ISSUE; DOES NOT CHARACTERIZE CLAIM AS FRIVOLOUS, **VEXATIOUS, OR ABUSIVE**

40. Ontario has not joined the Rule 2.1 Requisition, nor has it taken any position suggesting that the claim is frivolous, vexatious, or an abuse of process. Unlike the OPS Defendants, Ontario's Statement of Defence contains no such characterization, and instead pleads over on the merits. That choice is telling: the pleading responds to a more legally complex set of allegations, yet does so without invoking Rule 2.1 or challenging the claim's justiciability. In these circumstances, Ontario's conduct affirms that this is not the sort of "clear case" for which Rule 2.1 is reserved.

XIII. TIMING AND TACTIC: REQUISITION UNDER RULE 2.1

41. The procedural sequence culminating in the OPS Defendants' Rule 2.1 Requisition invites measured scrutiny. After delivering a Notice of Intent to Defend and receiving an indulgence, they served the Requisition on June 11, 2025 — five days before the deadline — then proceeded to assert a Crossclaim on the final day. A claim that fails on its face should do so immediately, not after a protracted period of deliberation. The timing gives rise to the appearance — if not the inference — that the barrier was not facial invalidity, but difficulty pleading to serious allegations. The Requisition reads not as a genuine threshold objection, but as a tactical manoeuvre — a device to forestall engagement while inviting a cursory screening and the mischaracterization of complexity as defect. That posture undermines the integrity of Rule 2.1, which is not a refuge for indecision or delay, nor a substitute for proper procedural recourse.

XIV. CONCLUSION

42. The Plaintiffs have brought a procedurally rigorous public law action alleging serious institutional torts, grounded in cumulative conduct over time and pleaded with the structure, precision, and particularity required by law. Malicious prosecution, by its nature, demands a contextualized pleading not a momentary act but a sustained trajectory, traceable through decisions, omissions, and institutional posture. That conduct cannot be disentangled from the underlying litigation record in which it was revealed and sustained. The references underpin this necessity: they establish evolving knowledge, progressive erosion of grounds, and the unfolding pattern from which malice and improper motivation may be inferred. To exclude such detail would not merely diminish narrative integrity — it would offend foundational principles of natural justice and impair the pleading's ability to disclose its case.

43. Rule 2.1 is not the proper vehicle for the OPS Defendants' concerns, and cannot operate in the face of the statutory stay imposed by the CLPA. The matter should proceed in its ordinary course, with the CLPA motion heard as scheduled, and any review of the Rule 2.1 Requisition deferred until its disposition — at which point it should be dismissed. The existing Endorsement should be amended to reflect the procedural stay mandated by Rule 2.1.01(7), rather than section 106, in order to preserve the jurisdictional integrity of the record and ensure proper sequencing.

XV. AUTHORITIES

44. The Plaintiffs rely on Rules 2.1.01(6), (7), and (8), and Rules 25.06(2), (7), and (8) of the Rules of Civil Procedure; sections 17(1), (2), (3), (7), (9), (10), and (11) of the Crown Liability and Proceedings Act, 2019, S.O. 2019, c. 7, Sched. 17; section 106 of the Courts of Justice Act, R.S.O. 1990, c. C.43; sections 4 and 5 of the Limitations Act, 2002, S.O. 2002, c. 24, Sched. B; section 579 of the Criminal Code, (R.S.C. 1985, c. C-46); the Canadian Charter of Rights and Freedoms; and the decisions in His Majesty the King in Right of Ontario v. Dell, 2024 ONSC 613, Henry v. British Columbia (Attorney General) 2015 SCC 24; Miazga v. Kvello Estate 2009 SCC 51; Vancouver (City) v. Ward 2010 SCC 27; Hunt v. Carey Canada Inc., [1990] 2 S.C.R. 959.

XVI. RELIEF REQUESTED

45. The Plaintiffs respectfully request that this Honourable Court: (i) amend the Endorsement dated July 21, 2025 to reflect that the stay arises by operation of Rule 2.1.01(7) of the Rules of Civil Procedure; (ii) lift any interim stay and defer consideration of the Rule 2.1 Requisition until the disposition of the statutory stay under section 17 of the Crown Liability and Proceedings Act, 2019, S.O. 2019, c. 7, Sched. 17; (iii) dismiss the Rule 2.1 Requisition upon conclusion of that disposition; (iv) grant the Plaintiffs their costs of this Submission; and (v) such further and other relief as this Honourable Court may deem just.

ALL OF WHICH IS RESPECTFULLY SUBMITTED.

Dated at Ottawa, Ontario, this 28th day of July, 2025.

Mark Justice Izabelle Justice

104-2706 Alta Vista Dr. 104-2706 Alta Vista Dr. Ottawa, ON, K1V 7T4 Ottawa, ON, K1V 7T4

justice@maliciousprosecution.ca justice@maliciousprosecution.ca

Tel: 613-293-3204 Tel: 613-293-3204 Acting in Person Acting in Person

Plaintiffs	JUSTICE ET AL AN
Defendants	JUSTICE ET AL AND OTTAWA POLICE SERVICES BOARD ET AL
CV-25-00099658-0000	Court File No.

SUPERIOR COURT OF JUSTICE ONTARIO

PROCEEDING COMMENCED AT OTTAWA

PLAINTIFFS — Rule 2.1.01(8) **SUBMISSION OF THE**

Acting in Person Mark Justice Tel: (613) 293-3204 Ottawa, ON, K1V 7T4 104-2706 Alta Vista Dr. <u>ustice@maliciousprosecution.ca</u>

Ottawa, ON, K1V 7T4 Tel: (613) 293-3204 ustice@maliciousprosecution.ca 104-2706 Alta Vista Dr. Izabelle Justice

Acting in Person

This is "Exhibit E", as stated in the Affidavit of Mark Justice and Izabelle Justice, sworn remotely before me on November 26, 2025

A Commissioner for Taking Affidavits Nitasha Malik LSO# P14355



Court File No./N° du dossier du greffe : CV-25-00099658-0000

Electronically filed / Déposé par voie électronique : 28-Nov-2025 Ottawa Superior Court of Justice / Cour supérieure de justice

Court File No. CV-25-00099658-0000

ONTARIO SUPERIOR COURT OF JUSTICE

BETWEEN:

IZABELLE JUSTICE and MARK JUSTICE

Plaintiffs

- and-

OTTAWA POLICE SERVICES BOARD, STEVEN DESJOURDY, MELBURN WHITE, CHRISTOPHER TESSIER, CEDRIC NIZMAN, HIS MAJESTY THE KING IN RIGHT OF ONTARIO, AND ATTORNEY GENERAL OF ONTARIO

Defendants

SUBMISSIONS OF THE DEFENDANTS, OTTAWA POLICE SERVICES BOARD, STEVEN DESJOURDY, MELBURN WHITE, CHRISTOPHER TESSIER, AND CEDRIC NIZMAN

- 1. On July 21, 2025, the Honourable Justice Marc Smith issued an endorsement on a request under Rule 2.1.01 (the "Endorsement"), directing that the Registrar give the Plaintiffs, Izabelle and Mark Justice (collectively, the "Plaintiffs") notice informing them that the Court is considering making an order dismissing the within action.
- 2. The Plaintiffs were directed to file written submissions within 30 days of the Endorsement. If the Plaintiffs filed such submissions, the Defendants, Ottawa Police Services Board, Steven Desjourdy, Melburn White, Christopher Tessier and Cedric Nizman (collectively, the "OPS Defendants") were directed to provide responding submissions within 30 days thereafter. All submissions are limited to 10 pages.

∠-

3. The Plaintiffs delivered written submissions on August 5, 2025 (the "Plaintiff Submissions"). The OPS Defendants provide these submissions in response.

A. The Requisition Under Rule 2.1.01 Is Appropriate in the Circumstances

4. In the Plaintiff Submissions, the Plaintiffs submit that the OPS Defendants' request under Rule 2.1.01(4) (the "Request"), and the resulting stay under Rule 2.1.01(7) is improper, as this matter has already been stayed by the automatic statutory stay under section 17(2) of the *Crown Liability and Proceedings Act*, 2019, S.O. 2019, c.7 Schedule 17 ("CLPA") since April 29, 2025, the date the Statement of Claim was issued.

- 5. Section 17 of the CLPA applies to proceedings brought against the Crown or an officer or employee of the Crown that include a claim in respect of a tort of misfeasance in public office or a tort based on bad faith.¹ Proceedings under s. 17 may proceed only with leave of the court and, unless and until leave is granted, is deemed to have been stayed in respect of all claims in that proceeding from the time that it is brought (the "automatic stay").²
- 6. As set out on the Plaintiff Submissions, the Plaintiffs are aware that the automatic stay has applied as of the date the Statement of Claim was issued. Nonetheless, the Plaintiffs demanded that the OPS Defendants, and the co-Defendants, His Majesty the King in right of Ontario (the "Crown") and the Attorney General of Ontario (collectively, "Ontario"), deliver Statements of Defence, otherwise, they would proceed to note the Defendants in default.

¹ CLPA, s. 17(1)

² CLPA, s. 17(2)

71

Electronically filed / Déposé par voie électronique : 28-Nov-2025 Ottawa Superior Court of Justice / Cour supérieure de justice

-5-

7. The Plaintiffs cannot now attempt rely on the automatic stay to shield the Statement of

Claim from judicial scrutiny. In any event, the request under Rule 2.1 ought to proceed at this

stage.

8. The Plaintiffs claim damages against Ontario for misfeasance in public office and allege

bad faith. In its statement of defence, Ontario stated the proceedings are deemed stayed under s.

17(2) of the CLPA.

9. In the Plaintiff Submissions, the Plaintiffs seemingly rely on the decision of *His Majesty*

the King in right of Ontario v Dell, 2024 ONSC 613 [Dell]. In Dell, the Plaintiffs brought an action

against the Crown and other Defendants, alleging bad faith against the Crown. The Plaintiffs

brought a motion for leave, along with motions for an injunction and for the enforcement of an

Order of the Normal Farm Practices Protection Board as against the other Defendants. The other

Defendants in turn brought motions to strike the claim under Rule 21.

10. The matter proceeded to case management, where the case management judge ordered that

both the Plaintiffs' motions and the Defendants' motions to strike were to proceed, and be heard

together.

11. The Crown appealed to the Divisional Court. The Divisional Court held that the definition

of "proceeding" encompasses all actions to which the Rules of Civil Procedure apply, which

includes actions against other parties, and both the claims against the Crown and the claims against

the other Defendants are stayed.³ In allowing the Crown's appeal, the Divisional Court held that

³ *Dell*, paras 43-47.

-

Electronically filed / Déposé par voie électronique : 28-Nov-2025 Ottawa Superior Court of Justice / Cour supérieure de justice

-4-

the stay under section 17 of the CLPA does not exclude motions, and the motions to strike can be heard together after the leave motion is decided.⁴

12. The *Dell* decision is distinguishable. In *Dell* the Divisional Court was concerned with motions being brought by various parties, whereas in this case, the summary process set out in Rule 2.1 has been invoked. Section 17 of the CLPA does not indicate any intention to oust the Court's ability to utilize the summary procedure of Rule 2.1, which may be initiated by the Court itself, or at the request of the parties. The Courts have held on numerous occasions that Rule 2.1 is different from a motion to strike under Rule 21.5

- 13. Section 17 of the CLPA establishes a screening procedure that applies to limited claims against the Crown, i.e. only claims of misfeasance in public office or a tort based on bad faith with respect to anything done "in the exercise or intended exercise of powers, duties, or functions." It allows the court to screen out unmeritorious bad faith claims against the Crown only.
- 14. Rule 2.1.01 on the other hand is broader. It permits the court to weed out at an early stage any litigation that is clearly frivolous, vexatious, or an abuse of process in the exercise of the Court's gatekeeping function.⁸ The rule should be interpreted and applied robustly to enable the Court to effectively exercise this gatekeeping function.⁹ Weeding out cases under rule 2.1.01 ensures that scarce judicial resources are not expended on actions which on their face are frivolous, vexations or abusive.

⁴ Dell, paras 50 and 54

⁵ See *Goa v Ontario*, *WSIB*, 2014 ONSC 6487 at para 12.

⁶ Poorkid Investments Inc. v. Ontario (Solicitor General), 2023 ONCA 172 (Poorkid), para. 8.

⁷ *Poorkid*, para. 27.

⁸ Scaduto v. The Law Society of Upper Canada, 2015 ONCA 733, para. 8 [Scaduto]

⁹ Scaduto, at para 8.

Electronically filed / Déposé par voie électronique : 28-Nov-2025 Ottawa Superior Court of Justice / Cour supérieure de justice

-ر-

15. In short, Rule 2.01.01 is designed to protect the court's process. On the other hand, the

purpose of s. 17(2) of the CLPA is intended to protect the Crown. Indeed, section 17(10) provides

that if leave is <u>not</u> granted, only the claims against the Crown are rendered a nullity, and the stay

is lifted in respect of the remainder of the proceeding. Therefore, to deal with the "remainder of

the proceeding" at this stage would not be in conflict with the purpose of section 17. In fact,

adjudicating the Request at this stage is in the interest of justice, as it could lead to considerable

saving of court resources, by limiting the issues/claims that would need to be contemplated on the

Plaintiffs' motion for leave, which is scheduled to be heard December 11, 2025 (the "Leave

Motion"). 10

16. The Plaintiffs, in a claim against the Crown and other Defendants which is on its face

vexatious, frivolous and abusive, should not be able to rely on s. 17(2) to defeat the purpose of

rule 2.1.01, particularly since section 17 of the CLPA applies only to actions against the Crown.

If the Court were to accept the Plaintiffs' argument that the stay under section 17 of the CLPA

makes the Rule 2.1.01 procedure improper, the Court would be interfering with the OPS

Defendants' rights to rely on section 2.1.01, and would prevent the Court from exercising its

gatekeeping role.

17. In the alternative, if the Court finds that the automatic stay applies to requests under Rule

2.1, the Request should not be dismissed, but rather, it should be stayed pending the decision on

the Leave Motion.

B. The Statement of Claim is on its Face, Frivolous Vexatious and an Abuse of the

Court's Process

¹⁰ Plaintiff Submissions, at para 9.

73

-0-

18. In the Statement of Claim, the Plaintiffs seek \$17,000,000 in damages for an inordinate number of causes of action, thirteen to be exact, in addition to breaches of eight sections of the *Canadian Charter of Rights and Freedoms* ("*Charter*"). They also seek \$2,00,000 in punitive and aggravated damages.

19. The allegations against the OPS Defendants include: negligent investigation; negligence; malicious prosecution; misfeasance in public office; abuse of process; conspiracy; intimidation; intentional infliction of emotional distress; intrusion upon seclusion; false arrest; false imprisonment; trespass to chattels; and violation of section 2(b), 7, 8, 9, 10, 11, 12 and 15 of the *Charter*.

Much of the Action is Stature Barred by the Limitations Act

20. The Statement of Claim was issued April 29, 2025. Much of the 236 page, 493 paragraph Statement of Claim details historical events that occurred well outside of the two-year limitation period prescribed by section 4 of the *Limitations Act*, 2002, S.O. 2002, c.24, Sched B ("*Limitations Act*"). As the Plaintiffs failed to commence the action within two years from the date of the incidents giving rise to their claims against the OPS Defendants, the action is statute barred. It is therefore apparent on the face of the Statement of Claim that it ought to be dismissed.

21. The OPS Defendants concede that the allegations against the OPS Defendants pertaining to the *Criminal Code* charges laid against the Plaintiffs in or around March 2023 (which were subsequently stayed on or about May 22, 2024), and those pertaining to the Plaintiffs' arrest in May 2023, as detailed in paragraphs 201-243 of the Statement of Claim, and paragraphs 52 to 74 of the OPS Defendants' Statement of Defence, are not on their face statute barred by the *Limitations Act*.

- / -

22. However, the remaining allegations contained in the Statement of Claim pertain to incidents/events/acts that arose well before April 29, 2023, being two years before the date of issuance of the Statement of Claim, and therefore, are statute barred.

23. Specifically,

- (a) all allegations pertaining to the investigation and subsequent charges laid by the OPS Defendants against the Plaintiffs in 2019 under the *Residential Tenancy Act*, which were ultimately stayed on or about October 3, 2022, are statute barred;
- (b) all allegations pertaining to the investigation by the OPS Defendants leading to, and including, the laying of charges against the Plaintiffs under sections 380(1)(a), 354(1) and 462.31(1)(a) of the *Criminal Code* in January (identified as the "Fraud Charges" in the OPS Defendants' Statement of Defence), which were withdrawn in September 2021, are statute barred; and
- (c) all allegations pertaining to the Plaintiffs' arrest on or about January 25, 2021 are statute barred.
- 24. Likewise, paragraphs 44 to 50 of the Statement of Claim ought to be struck, as they contain allegations related to events, including that the Ottawa Police issued "retaliatory threats" from November 2011 to May 2019.
- 25. As the action based on these allegations was commenced far beyond the applicable limitation period, they are statute barred by the *Limitations Act*, and therefore, the action has no chance of success and fall within the rubric of cases appropriately dealt with under 2.1.01 as being frivolous, vexatious and/or an abuse of process.¹¹

75

¹¹ Canadian Home, et al. v Rodrigues et al., 2024 ONSC 6014 at para 10.

Electronically filed / Déposé par voie électronique : 28-Nov-2025 Ottawa Superior Court of Justice / Cour supérieure de justice

-0-

The Statement of Claim Bears the Hallmarks of Vexatious Litigants

26. Rule 2.1.01 allows a Court to stay or dismiss a proceeding that appears on its face to be frivolous, or vexatious, or otherwise an abuse of the process of the court.

27. A "frivolous" action is a proceeding that lacks a legal basis or legal merit.¹² A "vexatious" action is a proceeding that was instituted without reasonable ground or brought where it is obvious that the action cannot succeed; or brought for an improper purpose, including through duplicative proceedings.¹³ A proceeding is an abuse of process when it is inconsistent with the objectives of public policy.¹⁴ The doctrine of abuse of process engages the inherent power of the court to prevent the misuse of its procedure, in a way that would be manifestly unfair to a party to the litigation before it or would in some other way bring the administration of justice into disrepute.¹⁵

28. Claims that contain hallmarks of vexatious litigants or querulous litigant behavior can form the basis to support resort to the attenuated process of Rule 2.1.¹⁶ These hallmarks include, but are not limited to:

- (a) Rolling forward grounds and issues from prior proceedings to repeat and supplement them in later proceedings;
- (b) Many, many pages.
- (c) Rambling discourse characterized by repetition and a pedantic failure to clarify.
- (d) Repeated misuse of legal, medical and other technical terms.
- (e) Inappropriately ingratiating statements.¹⁷

¹² Currie v. Halton Regional Police Services Board (2003), 2003 CanLII 7815 (ON CA) (Currie), para. 14

¹³ *Currie*, paras. 11 and 15.

¹⁴ Currie, para. 16.

¹⁵ Canam Enterprises Inc. v. Coles (2000), 2000 CanLII 8514 (ON CA), para. 55.

¹⁶ *Raji v Ladner*, 2015 ONSC 801 at para 9.

¹⁷ Goa v Ontario (Workplace Safety and Insurance Board), 2014 ONSC 6496 at paras 13-15.

-フ-

- 29. Many of the hallmarks are present in the Statement of Claim. The claim is long, over 230 pages. It is often rambling; in particular, section V (Causes of Action and Liability), repeats much of the same allegations, without providing the Defendants with clarity as to the particulars underlining each cause of action. Instead, the Plaintiffs make vague and bald allegations in support of each cause of action. This is especially problematic in this case where, as set out above, much of the Statement of Claim relates to incidents/events for which the limitation period has long since expired.
- 30. The claim repeats and asserts grounds and issues from a number of past proceedings. The Plaintiffs claim that the references to "positions taken, arguments advanced, and judicial findings" in underlying proceedings do not constitute improper argument or re-litigation but rather form part of the narrative and legal context. However, one need look no further than paragraph 171 of the Statement of Claim to shed light on the real motive behind these references, where the Plaintiffs explicitly plead that Justice Gomery erred in law in relation to a *Charter* application brought by the Plaintiffs.
- 31. The Plaintiffs are trying to dress up their attempts at re-litigation as narrative, but that does not change the nature of the pleadings.
- 32. Likewise, the Statement of Claim is replete with legal argument and evidence, which the Plaintiff's have attempted to characterize as "material facts" in the Plaintiff Submissions. However, the semantics does not change the fundamental nature of the pleadings, which are ones of argument and evidence.
- 33. Finally, the Statement of Claim, like the Plaintiff Submissions, contains numerous ingratiating statements regarding the Plaintiffs themselves.

Electronically filed / Déposé par voie électronique : 28-Nov-2025 Ottawa Superior Court of Justice / Cour supérieure de justice

-10-

34. As such, this matter is appropriate for the Court to exercise its gatekeeping powers pursuant

to Rule 2.1.01 For the foregoing reasons, the OPS Defendants respectfully requests that this

Honourable Court grant an Order dismissing the Plaintiffs' Statement of Claim

ALL OF WHICH IS RESPECTFULLY SUBMITTED this 3rd day of September, 2025.

Michelle Doddy / Sam Campbell

BORDEN LADNER GERVAIS LLP

100 Queen Street, Suite 1300 Ottawa ON K1P 1J9

L GM

Michelle Doody LSO # 66612L

E: mdoody@blg.com T: 613.787.3510 direct

Sam Campbell (82411F)

E: scampbell@blg.com

T: 613.369.4776

Lawyers for the OPS Defendants

aintiffs ABELLE JUSTICE et al. -and-OTTAWA POLICE SERVICES BOARD et al Defendants

ONTARIO SUPERIOR COURT OF JUSTICE

Court File No. CV-25-00099658-0000

79

Proceeding commenced at Ottawa

BORDEN LADNER GERVAIS LLP

RULE

2.1 RESPONDING SUBMISSIONS

100 Queen Street, Suite 1300 Ottawa ON K1P 1J9

Michelle Doody LSO # 66612L

E: mdoody@blg.com

T: 613.787.3510 direct

T: 613.237.5160 main

Sam Campbell LSO # 82411F

E: scampbell@blg.com T: 613.369.4776 direct

613.237.5160 main

Lawyers for the Defendants.

Ottawa Police Services Board, Steven Desjourdy, Melburn White, Christopher Tessier and Cedric Nizman

Emails for parties served:
Izabelle Justice: justice@maliciousprosecution.ca
Mark Justice: justice@maliciousprosecution.ca

File Number: 304995/000725

RCP-F 4C (September 1, 2020)

This is "Exhibit F", as stated in the Affidavit of Mark Justice and Izabelle Justice, sworn remotely before me on November 26, 2025

A Commissioner for Taking Affidavits

Nitasha Malik LSO# P14355



COURT FILE NO.: CV-25-99658

DATE: 2025-09-22

SUPERIOR COURT OF JUSTICE - ONTARIO

RE: Izabelle Justice and Mark Justice, Plaintiffs

AND

Ottawa Police Services Board, Steven Desjourdy, Melburn White, Christoper Tessier, Cedric Nizman, His Majesty the King in Right of Ontario, and Attorney General of Ontario, Defendants

BEFORE: The Honourable Mr. Justice Marc Smith

ENDORSEMENT

M. SMITH J

- [1] The Defendants Ottawa Police Services Board, Steven Desjourdy, Melburn White, Christopher Tessier and Cedric Nizman (collectively the "OPS Defendants") requisitioned for an order dismissing the Plaintiffs' action, pursuant to r. 2.1.01 of the *Rules of Civil Procedure* (the "*Rules*").
- [2] On July 21, 2025, I gave the following directions:
 - a. The Registrar shall give the Plaintiffs notice informing them that the court is considering making an order for dismissal. A copy of this Endorsement and a Form 2.1A shall be emailed to them.
 - b. The Plaintiffs shall have 30 days after receiving notice to file responding written submissions by email. These submissions shall be no more than 10 pages in length.
 - c. If the Plaintiffs do not file written submissions within the specified time frame, the court may make an order to dismiss without further notice to them.

1 age. 4

d. If the Plaintiffs file written submissions in accordance with this direction, the OPS

Defendants shall then provide their responding submissions, with the same page

restrictions, within 30 days thereafter.

e. After considering any submissions received pursuant to this Endorsement, I shall

determine whether the claim against the OPS Defendants or any of the Defendants

ought to be struck under r. 2.1.01 of the Rules.

[3] The Plaintiffs filed written submissions. The Defendants did not file any responding

submissions in accordance with my direction.

[4] Rule 2.1 of the *Rules* must be "interpreted and applied robustly so that a motion judge can

effectively exercise his or her gatekeeping function to weed out litigation that is clearly frivolous,

vexatious, or an abuse of process". This rule is meant to be used for the clearest of cases and not

for close calls: Scaduto v. Law Society of Upper Canada, 2015 ONCA 733, at paras. 8 and 9, leave

to appeal refused, [2015] S.C.C.A. No 488.

[5] Having carefully reviewed and considered the Plaintiffs' submissions, I cannot conclude

that the action of the Plaintiffs is one of those clearest of cases referred to by the Ontario Court of

Appeal. While I maintain my initial remarks in my previous Endorsement, the Plaintiffs have made

some compelling arguments, not disputed by the OPS Defendants, and I am now no longer

persuaded that this action should be dismissed under r. 2.1.01 of the *Rules*.

[6] The OPS Defendants' requisition is dismissed.

[7] This Endorsement does not limit the OPS Defendants from using other means under the

Rules to strike or dismiss the action.

[8] Costs to be determined in the cause.

M. Smith J

MfmfaJ

Date: September 22, 2025

COURT FILE NO.: CV-25-99658

DATE: 2025-09-26

SUPERIOR COURT OF JUSTICE - ONTARIO

RE: Izabelle Justice and Mark Justice, Plaintiffs

AND

Ottawa Police Services Board, Steven Desjourdy, Melburn White, Christoper Tessier, Cedric Nizman, His Majesty the King in Right of Ontario, and Attorney

General of Ontario, Defendants

BEFORE: The Honourable Mr. Justice Marc Smith

ENDORSEMENT

M. SMITH J

- [1] Further to my Endorsement dated September 22, 2025, I was provided with a copy of the submissions from the Defendants Ottawa Police Services Board, Steven Desjourdy, Melburn White, Christopher Tessier and Cedric Nizman (collectively the "OPS Defendants").
- [2] Due to an administrative error of the court, the OPS Defendants' submissions were not provided to me. These submissions had been filed with the court in accordance with my direction dated July 21, 2025.
- [3] I have now had an opportunity to consider the submissions of the OPS Defendants.
- [4] I agree with the OPS Defendants that the automatic stay under s. 17(2) of the *Crown Liability and Proceedings Act*, 2019, S.O. 2019, c.7 Schedule 17 does not bar the OPS Defendants of proceeding with a requisition under r. 2.1.01 of the *Rules of Civil Procedure* (the "*Rules*").
- [5] The OPS Defendants submits that much of the Plaintiffs' action is statute barred by the *Limitations Act*, 2002, S.O. 2002, c.24, Sched B. The OPS Defendants concede that some of the allegations would not, on its face, be statute barred. On the limited record before me, I am unable

Electronically filed / Déposé par voie électronique : 28-Nov-2025 Ottawa Superior Court of Justice / Cour supérieure de justice

1 age. 2

to make a determination of which allegations, if any, are in fact statute barred. This argument will have to be advanced on a more fulsome evidentiary record.

- [6] Regarding the balance of the submissions of the OPS Defendants, they have not persuaded me that this is one of those clearest of cases where it is appropriate for the court to exercise its gatekeeping powers pursuant to r. 2.1 of the *Rules*.
- [7] My previous decision stands. The OPS Defendants' requisition is dismissed.

M. Smith J

Date: September 26, 2025

Plaintiffs	JUSTICE ET AL AND O
Defendants	OTTAWA POLICE SERVICES BOARD ET AL
CV-25-00099658-0000	Court File No.

ONTARIO SUPERIOR COURT OF JUSTICE

PROCEEDING COMMENCED AT OTTAWA

SUPPLEMENTARY JOINT AFFIDAVIT OF MARK JUSTICE AND IZABELLE JUSTICE — CLPA s. 17(2)

Mark Justice 104-2706 Alta Vista Dr. Ottawa, ON, K1V 7T4 justice@maliciousprosecution.ca Tel: (613) 293-3204

Acting in Person

Izabelle Justice
104-2706 Alta Vista Dr.
Ottawa, ON, K1V 7T4
justice@maliciousprosecution.ca
Tel: (613) 293-3204

Acting in Person

Court File No.

ONTARIO SUPERIOR COURT OF JUSTICE

BETWEEN:

IZABELLE JUSTICE and MARK JUSTICE

Plaintiffs

- and -

OTTAWA POLICE SERVICES BOARD, STEVEN DESJOURDY, MELBURN WHITE, CHRISTOPHER TESSIER, CEDRIC NIZMAN, HIS MAJESTY THE KING IN RIGHT OF ONTARIO, AND ATTORNEY GENERAL OF ONTARIO

Defendants

JOINT AFFIDAVIT OF MARK JUSTICE AND IZABELLE JUSTICE

In Support of Motion for Leave to Proceed – Section 17(2) of the *Crown Liability* and *Proceedings Act*, 2019, S.O. 2019, c. 7, Sched. 17

We, Mark Justice and Izabelle Justice, both of the City of Ottawa in the Province of Ontario, MAKE OATH AND SAY (or AFFIRM) AS FOLLOWS:

- 1. We are the Plaintiffs in this proceeding and have personal knowledge of the matters herein deposed to, except where stated to be based on information and belief, in which case we verily believe them to be true.
- 2. We jointly swear this affidavit in support of our motion for leave to proceed with our claim for damages against His Majesty the King in Right of Ontario, pursuant to section 17(2) of the *Crown Liability and Proceedings Act*, 2019, S.O. 2019, c. 7, Sched. 17 (the "*CLPA*").

Electronically filed / Déposé par voie électronique : 28-Nov-2025 Ottawa Superior Court of Justice / Cour supérieure de justice

3. The underlying civil action arises from a sustained and multi-year course of conduct by Crown prosecutors, including the initiation, continuation, and strategic manipulation of criminal proceedings against us, carried out without lawful basis and for improper or collateral purposes.

- 4. The Statement of Claim, issued on April 29, 2025, advances multiple causes of action against the Crown, including malicious prosecution, misfeasance in public office, and a proposed new tort of abuse of process (prosecutorial), each arising from the conduct of individuals who exercised the powers and duties of Crown prosecutors in criminal proceedings brought against us.
- 5. The Crown prosecutors whose conduct is at issue—Emilie Farrell, Mark Holmes, David Rodgers, Moiz Karimjee, and Malcolm Savage—were, at all material times, employed by or acting under the authority of the Ontario Ministry of the Attorney General, and exercised the powers and duties of Crown attorneys in the course of the criminal proceedings brought against us.
- 6. Pursuant to sections 8(1) and 8(2) of the *Ministry of the Attorney General Act*, R.S.O. 1990, c. M.17, the Attorney General of Ontario is named as a statutory defendant for the purpose of assuming Crown liability for the acts and omissions of the prosecutors identified above.
- 7. The Statement of Claim pleads detailed and extensive factual particulars demonstrating that the prosecutors breached legal duties owed to us, acted in bad faith, and engaged in conduct that was clearly wrong, thereby satisfying the statutory threshold for leave to proceed under section 17(7) of the *CLPA*.
- 8. Specifically, the Statement of Claim pleads detailed factual particulars demonstrating bad faith and conduct that was clearly wrong, including:
 - (a) that criminal charges were initiated and maintained in the absence of reasonable and probable grounds;
 - (b) that exculpatory evidence was withheld, delayed, or mischaracterized, in breach of the Crown's disclosure obligations;

- (c) that procedural and evidentiary decisions were made for improper purposes, including to undermine our ability to make full answer and defence;
- (d) that prosecutorial discretion was exercised maliciously, and with the intent to punish or silence our protected expression and public criticism of state misconduct;
- (e) that the cumulative misconduct caused prolonged reputational, emotional, and psychological harm, independent of the outcome of the criminal proceedings;
- (f) that the prosecutions were pursued with knowledge—or reckless disregard—of their lack of legal foundation, in breach of the Crown's duty to act as a quasi-judicial officer;
- (g) that the overall course of conduct subverted the integrity of the prosecutorial function and constituted an abuse of the justice system itself; and
- (h) that the misconduct resulted in serious violations of our *Charter* rights, including rights under sections 2, 7, 8, 9, 11, 12, and 15, thereby compounding the harm and underscoring the gravity of the prosecutorial abuses pleaded.
- 9. The allegations described above are pleaded with particularity and grounded in over 100 pages of detailed factual narrative contained in the Statement of Claim, drawing on judicial transcripts, court filings, correspondence, and contemporaneous records that document the course of prosecutorial conduct at issue.
- 10. We believe that this case raises a genuine question for trial as to the Crown's civil liability in tort and under the *Canadian Charter of Rights and Freedoms*, and that the seriousness of the alleged misconduct satisfies the threshold for leave under section 17(7) of the *CLPA*.
- 11. We further believe that the issues raised in this case are of significant public importance and systemic concern, and that it would be contrary to the interests of justice to dispose of the claim at a preliminary stage without permitting a full adjudication on the merits.

12. We swear this affidavit in support of our motion for leave to proceed with our claim for damages against His Majesty the King in Right of Ontario, and affirm that it is made in good faith and for no improper purpose.

SWORN (or AFFIRMED) by Mark Justice and Izabelle Justice, stated as being currently located in the City of Ottawa, in the Province of Ontario, before me at Carstairs, AB in accordance with O.REG 431/20, administering Oath or Declaration remotely on this 2nd day of May, 2025.

Nitasha Malik

A Commissioner for Taking Affidavits Nitasha Malik LSO# P14355 Mark Justice

Mark Justice

Izabelle Justice

Izabelle Justice



This is Exhibit A, as stated in the Affidavit of Mark Justice and Izabelle Justice, sworn remotely before me on May 2, 2025

Nitasha Malik

A Commissioner for Taking Affidavits Nitasha Malik LSO# P14355





Court File No.

ONTARIO SUPERIOR COURT OF JUSTICE

BETWEEN:

IZABELLE JUSTICE and MARK JUSTICE

Plaintiffs

- and -

OTTAWA POLICE SERVICES BOARD, STEVEN DESJOURDY, MELBURN WHITE, CHRISTOPHER TESSIER, CEDRIC NIZMAN, HIS MAJESTY THE KING IN RIGHT OF ONTARIO, AND ATTORNEY GENERAL OF ONTARIO

Defendants

STATEMENT OF CLAIM

TO THE DEFENDANTS

A LEGAL PROCEEDING HAS BEEN COMMENCED AGAINST YOU by the Plaintiffs. The claim made against you is set out in the following pages.

IF YOU WISH TO DEFEND THIS PROCEEDING, you or an Ontario lawyer acting for you must prepare a statement of defence in Form 18A prescribed by the *Rules of Civil Procedure*, serve it on the Plaintiffs' lawyer or, where the Plaintiffs do not have a lawyer, serve it on the Plaintiffs, and file it, with proof of service in this court office, WITHIN TWENTY DAYS after this statement of claim is served on you, if you are served in Ontario.

If you are served in another province or territory of Canada or in the United States of America, the period for serving and filing your statement of defence is forty days. If you are served outside Canada and the United States of America, the period is sixty days.

Instead of serving and filing a statement of defence, you may serve and file a notice of intent to defend in Form 18B prescribed by the *Rules of Civil Procedure*. This will entitle you to ten more days within which to serve and file your statement of defence.

IF YOU FAIL TO DEFEND THIS PROCEEDING, JUDGMENT MAY BE GIVEN AGAINST YOU IN YOUR ABSENCE AND WITHOUT FURTHER NOTICE TO YOU. IF YOU WISH TO DEFEND THIS PROCEEDING BUT ARE UNABLE TO PAY LEGAL FEES, LEGAL AID MAY BE AVAILABLE TO YOU BY CONTACTING A LOCAL LEGAL AID OFFICE.

IF YOU PAY THE PLAINTIFFS' CLAIM, AND \$225,000.00 for costs, within the time for serving and filing your statement of defence you may move to have this proceeding dismissed by the court. If you believe the amount claimed for costs is excessive, you may pay the Plaintiffs' claim and \$225,000.00 for costs and have the costs assessed by the court.

TAKE NOTICE: THIS ACTION WILL AUTOMATICALLY BE DISMISSED if it has not been set down for trial or terminated by any means within five years after the action was commenced unless otherwise ordered by the court.

Date	Issued by
	Local registrar
	Address of
	Court office 161 Elgin Street, 2nd Floor
	Ottawa, ON K2P 2K1

TO: OTTAWA POLICE SERVICES BOARD

110 Laurier Avenue W
Ottawa, ON K1P 1J1
P. 613-560-1270
F. 613-580-2728
randa.benguedria@ottawa.ca
habib.sayah@ottawa.ca

AND TO: STEVEN DESJOURDY

Ottawa Police Legal Services
474 Elgin St
Ottawa, ON K2P 2E6
P. 613-236-1222 ext. 5460
Cadre #1255
desjourdys@ottawapolice.ca
opslegalservices@ottawapolice.ca

211 Huntmar Dr Stittsville, Ontario, K2S 1B9

AND TO: MELBURN WHITE

Ottawa Police Legal Services
474 Elgin St
Ottawa, ON K2P 2E6
P. 613-236-1222
Cadre # 1071
whitem@ottawapolice.ca
opslegalservices@ottawapolice.ca

211 Huntmar Dr Stittsville, Ontario, K2S 1B9

AND TO: CHRISTOPHER TESSIER

Ottawa Police Legal Services
474 Elgin St
Ottawa, ON K2P 2E6
P. 613-236-1222 ext. 5503
Cadre # 1446
tessierc@ottawapolice.ca
opslegalservices@ottawapolice.ca

211 Huntmar Dr Stittsville, Ontario, K2S 1B9

AND TO: CEDRIC NIZMAN

Ottawa Police Legal Services
474 Elgin St
Ottawa, ON K2P 2E6
P. 613-236-1222
Cadre # 1887
nizmanc@ottawapolice.ca
opslegalservices@ottawapolice.ca

211 Huntmar Dr Stittsville, Ontario, K2S 1B9

AND TO: HIS MAJESTY THE KING IN RIGHT OF ONTARIO

Crown Law Office – Civil McMurtry-Scott Building 720 Bay Street, 8th Floor Toronto, Ontario M7A 2S9 P. 416-326-4008 F. 416-326-4007 cloc.reception@ontario.ca

AND TO: ATTORNEY GENERAL OF ONTARIO

c/o Deputy Attorney General of Ontario
Office of the Deputy Attorney General of Ontario
McMurtry-Scott Building
720 Bay Street, 11th Floor
Toronto, Ontario M7A 2S9
P. 416-326-2220

F: 416-326-4007

attorneygeneral@ontario.ca

CLAIM

CONTENTS

I. RELIEF CLAIMED	3
II. NATURE OF THE ACTION	6
III. THE PARTIES	10
Plaintiffs	10
Defendants	11
IV. FACTS SUPPORTING THE CLAIM	15
The Ottawa Police Issue a Retaliatory Threat	15
The Negligent Investigation	18
The First Series of Unfounded Criminal Charges	24
The Arbitrary Detention in a Parking Lot	33
The Crown Pursues Conviction at the Expense of Justice	40
The Second Series of Unfounded Criminal Charges	48
The First <i>Charter</i> Challenge	58
The Mistrial and Health Crisis	64
The Third Series of Unfounded Criminal Charges	74
The Bail Hearings	87
The Second Charter Challenge and Crown Admissions	95
The Third <i>Charter</i> Challenge	105
The Recusal Motion	112
The Proceedings Are Terminated	114
V. CAUSES OF ACTION AND LIABILITY OF DEFENDANTS	117
Negligent Investigation	117
Negligence	132
Malicious Prosecution	138

	Misteasance in Public Office	. 145
	Abuse of Process	.153
	Abuse of Process (Prosecutorial)	. 160
	Unlawful Means Conspiracy	165
	Intimidation	.171
	Intentional Infliction of Emotional Distress	. 177
	Intrusion Upon Seclusion	182
	False Arrest and False Imprisonment	. 186
	Trespass to Chattels	. 192
	Charter Violations and Liability	.198
	Vicarious Liability	. 206
	Statutory Liability	. 208
	Joint and Several Liability	. 209
VI	. DISCOVERABILITY	. 209
VI	I. HARM AND DAMAGES	214
	Non-Pecuniary Damages	. 218
	Pecuniary Damages	222
	Punitive Damages	. 224
	Aggravated Damages	.226
VI	II. OTHER	. 229
ΙX	RELEVANT STATUTES	. 229
Y	PLACE OF TRIAL	230

I. RELIEF CLAIMED

1. The Plaintiffs, Izabelle Justice and Mark Justice, claim against the Defendants,

Ottawa Police Services Board, Steven Desjourdy, Melburn White, Christopher Tessier, Cedric Nizman, His Majesty the King in Right of Ontario, and the Attorney General of Ontario:

- damages for malicious prosecution, misfeasance in public office, abuse of process, abuse of process (prosecutorial), intimidation, unlawful means conspiracy, negligent investigation, negligence, intrusion upon seclusion, intentional infliction of emotional distress, false arrest, false imprisonment, trespass to chattels, and breaches of sections 2, 7, 8, 9, 10, 11, 12, and 15 of the *Canadian Charter of Rights and Freedoms* ("*Charter*"), in the amount of \$17,000,000.00 (seventeen million dollars), or such other amount as this Honourable Court deems just;
- (b) punitive damages in the amount of \$1,000,000.00 (one million dollars), or such other amount as this Honourable Court deems just;
- (c) aggravated damages in the amount of \$1,000,000.00 (one million dollars), or such other amount as this Honourable Court deems just;
- (d) pecuniary damages, including loss of income, loss of earning capacity, lost revenue, medical expenses, and other out-of-pocket costs, in an amount to be particularized and disclosed prior to trial;

- (e) remedies pursuant to section 24(1) of the *Charter* for the infringement of the Plaintiffs' constitutional rights, including an award of damages that is just and appropriate in the circumstances;
- (f) pre-judgment and post-judgment interest on all amounts claimed, excluding punitive damages, pursuant to sections 128 and 129 of the *Courts of Justice Act*, R.S.O. 1990, c. C.43, as amended;
- (g) costs of this action on a full indemnity basis, or in the alternative, on a substantial indemnity basis, together with all applicable taxes; and
- (h) such further and other relief as this Honourable Court deems just.
- 2. As against the Defendant Steven Desjourdy, the Plaintiffs claim:
 - (a) a declaration that Steven Desjourdy knowingly and unlawfully caused criminal proceedings to be initiated against Izabelle Justice and Mark Justice, without reasonable and probable grounds, and for an improper purpose.
- 3. As against Defendants Steven Desjourdy, Christopher Tessier, and Cedric Nizman, the Plaintiff Mark Justice claims:
 - (a) a declaration that Steven Desjourdy, Christopher Tessier, and Cedric Nizman violated Mark Justice's right not to be arbitrarily detained or imprisoned, as guaranteed by section 9 of the *Charter*.

Electronically filed / Déposé par voie électronique : 28-Nov-2025 Ottawa Superior Court of Justice / Cour supérieure de justice

4. As against Defendants His Majesty the King in Right of Ontario and the Attorney General of Ontario, the Plaintiffs claim:

- (a) a declaration that the actions of Mark Holmes, David Rodgers, Moiz Karimjee, and Malcolm Savage, acting in their capacity as Crown prosecutors, constituted a prosecutorial abuse of process giving rise to a distinct and actionable tort at common law; and
- (b) a declaration that prosecutorial abuse of process constitutes a distinct and actionable tort at common law, arising from the deliberate misuse of prosecutorial authority through procedural, strategic, or evidentiary mechanisms for an improper or collateral purpose, and capable of grounding civil liability where the harm flows from the misuse of the legal process itself.
- 5. As against the Defendant His Majesty the King in Right of Ontario, the Plaintiffs claim:
 - (a) an order pursuant to section 17(2) of the *Crown Liability and Proceedings Act*, 2019, S.O. 2019, c. 7, Sched. 17 ("*Crown Liability and Proceedings Act*"), granting leave to proceed with their claim for damages against His Majesty the King in Right of Ontario; and
 - (b) pre-judgment and post-judgment interest on all amounts claimed, excluding punitive damages, pursuant to section 26 of the *Crown Liability and Proceedings*Act, as amended.

Electronically filed / Déposé par voie électronique : 28-Nov-2025 Ottawa Superior Court of Justice / Cour supérieure de justice

II. NATURE OF THE ACTION

6. This action arises from the deliberate and unlawful weaponization of the Canadian

criminal justice system to retaliate against and suppress the Plaintiffs, Mark Justice and Izabelle

Justice (together, the "Justices"). Over a five-year period, members of the Ottawa Police Service

and the Ottawa Crown Attorney's Office ("OCAO") engaged in a sustained and coordinated

abuse of power, pursuing three meritless criminal prosecutions meticulously designed to

intimidate, exhaust, and silence the Justices.

7. Police officers Steven Desjourdy, Melburn White, Christopher Tessier, and Cedric

Nizman acted in concert with Crown prosecutors Emilie Farrell, Mark Holmes, David Rodgers,

Moiz Karimjee, and Malcolm Savage, knowingly and deliberately engaging in a malicious and

unlawful campaign that inflicted severe and irreparable harm on the Justices.

8. The Justices were subjected to a prolonged and baseless prosecution, initiated and

advanced by Officers Desjourdy and White following a grossly negligent investigation, and

sustained through the active complicity of prosecutors from the OCAO. These prosecutions were

devoid of legal or evidentiary foundation and were instead driven by malice, retaliation, and a

calculated intent to suppress the Justices' advocacy and undermine their credibility.

9. The Justices' prosecution was a deliberate act of retaliation for their efforts to investigate

and expose police misconduct. As civilian investigators, they uncovered and documented serious

allegations of corruption, abuse of authority, and systemic misconduct within the Ottawa Police

Service. Their findings, which threatened to bring scrutiny and accountability to the force, made

them targets of a coordinated effort to marginalize and delegitimize them.

Electronically filed / Déposé par voie électronique : 28-Nov-2025 Ottawa Superior Court of Justice / Cour supérieure de justice

10. In response, Officers White and Desjourdy fabricated criminal charges and orchestrated a

false arrest, abusing their authority in a retaliatory effort to silence the Justices for their widely

publicized criticisms of the officers' prior allegations of police misconduct. Crown prosecutor

Emilie Farrell, in wilful dereliction of her duty to conduct proper charge screening, knowingly

advanced meritless charges despite the glaring absence of any legal or evidentiary foundation.

Rather than fulfilling her duty as a minister of justice, she weaponized the prosecution process,

prioritizing personal ambition over fundamental fairness—perverting the justice system to

bolster her conviction record at the expense of justice.

11. Following Farrell's abrupt and suspicious withdrawal from the case, the Justices formally

notified the OCAO and the Attorney General of Ontario of their intent to pursue civil litigation

upon the conclusion of the criminal proceedings. In direct response, OCAO prosecutors

escalated, prolonged, and manipulated the baseless prosecution, weaponizing the criminal

process to obstruct and impair the Justices' ability to seek civil remedies while simultaneously

shielding themselves from both legal and professional accountability.

12. Prosecutors Holmes, Rodgers, Karimjee, and Savage, acting in concert with Officer

Desjourdy, engaged in forum shopping, willfully suppressed exculpatory evidence, and

knowingly presented inadmissible material—all as part of a deliberate and calculated scheme to

manufacture a conviction and shield themselves from scrutiny.

13. Public scrutiny intensified following the release of the viral video *Unlawful Intimidation*,

which captured Officers Tessier and Nizman unlawfully detaining Mark Justice inside his vehicle

for over two hours in a shopping plaza parking lot—without an arrest warrant, lawful authority,

or reasonable suspicion. Acting under the direct orders of Officer Desjourdy, the officers coerced

Electronically filed / Déposé par voie électronique : 28-Nov-2025 Ottawa Superior Court of Justice / Cour supérieure de justice

Justice into signing a police undertaking predicated on fabricated charges—an act of intimidation

deliberately orchestrated to circumvent judicial oversight and initiate baseless legal proceedings.

The video, viewed by millions, ignited national outrage and provoked widespread condemnation

of the officers' misconduct.

14. As the criminal proceedings unfolded, the case against the Justices collapsed under the

weight of evidentiary failures, Charter breaches, and procedural misconduct. After years of

protracted litigation—during which the Justices challenged the prosecution's constitutionality

under sections 7, 8, 9, 10, 11, and 12 of the Charter—Crown prosecutor David Rodgers

ultimately admitted that the police's purported justification for laying charges had never been

disclosed to the Justices. This admission irrefutably confirmed what the Justices had consistently

maintained from the outset: that they had been subjected to a vindictive, unfounded, and

politically motivated prosecution.

15. The turning point came during a pivotal motion heard on May 6 and 7, 2024, in which the

Justices sought the recusal of Crown prosecutor Malcolm Savage and the appointment of an

out-of-town or independent Crown prosecutor. Before the Court could render its decision,

Savage abruptly directed a stay of proceedings following three and a half years of relentless

pursuit by the OCAO, advanced through no fewer than ten of its prosecutors—a decision

explicitly influenced by this pending action, among other factors. This admission exposed the

OCAO's recognition of the Crown's civil exposure, while the timing of the stay—delivered

immediately prior to a judicial determination on prosecutorial misconduct and in anticipation of

an abuse of process application scheduled for a full week of court time—revealed a calculated

effort to evade judicial scrutiny and preempt an adverse ruling.

Electronically filed / Déposé par voie électronique : 28-Nov-2025 Ottawa Superior Court of Justice / Cour supérieure de justice

16. For 1,782 consecutive days, the Justices endured an unrelenting campaign of legal

persecution, orchestrated by state actors who weaponized their authority as a tool of retaliation

and oppression. Stripped of financial resources and unable to retain legal counsel, the Justices

had no choice but to navigate the complexities of the justice system alone, dedicating thousands

of hours to mastering criminal, constitutional, and procedural law—not by choice, but out of

necessity. Their struggle was a grueling, exhausting battle for survival, fought in forced isolation

against authorities intent on crushing them through procedural warfare and state-sanctioned

misconduct.

17. The wrongful prosecution inflicted severe, lasting, and irreparable harm on the Justices.

As highly successful business executives in Ontario's energy sector, they were systematically

stripped of their professional standing, financial stability, and hard-earned reputational integrity.

Their business was obliterated, their livelihoods destroyed, and their personal security

jeopardized—forcing them, as a matter of survival, to legally change their names to escape the

inescapable and enduring consequences of the unlawful acts committed by those entrusted with

upholding the law.

18. The conduct of Ottawa Police Service officers, enabled and actively facilitated by

prosecutors within the OCAO, constitutes a profound breach of public trust and a direct affront

to the administration of justice. The rule of law demands unwavering accountability from those

sworn to uphold it. When police officers and Crown prosecutors weaponize their authority to

persecute innocent individuals through baseless prosecutions, procedural abuses, and the

suppression of exculpatory evidence, they do not merely violate the rights of those directly

harmed—they corrode the very foundations of a free and democratic society.

Electronically filed / Déposé par voie électronique : 28-Nov-2025 Ottawa Superior Court of Justice / Cour supérieure de justice

19. This Honourable Court is now called upon to unequivocally condemn these egregious

abuses, hold the Defendants fully accountable, and reaffirm—without reservation—its

unwavering commitment to the fundamental principles of justice, fairness, and the supreme

imperative of the rule of law.

III. THE PARTIES

Plaintiffs

Mark Justice

20. The Plaintiff Mark Justice ("Mr. Justice") is a 43-year-old resident of the City of Ottawa,

in the Province of Ontario. He is a business owner, civilian investigator, and entrepreneur. At all

material times, Mr. Justice was legally known as Mark Cunningham but was also recognized as

Mark Justice in his capacity as a volunteer civilian investigator. On or about July 17, 2024, he

legally changed his name pursuant to the Change of Name Act, R.S.O. 1990, c. C.7 ("Change of

Name Act").

21. Before the events giving rise to this claim, Mr. Justice enjoyed a thriving and highly

successful career as co-founder, President, and direct shareholder of Canadian Energy Protection

Corp. ("CEPC"). Under his leadership, CEPC became a leading provider of natural gas and

electricity services to residential, commercial, and industrial consumers across Ontario.

22. At all material times, Mr. Justice was co-founder, President, and a direct shareholder of

CEPC.

10

104

Electronically filed / Déposé par voie électronique : 28-Nov-2025 Ottawa Superior Court of Justice / Cour supérieure de justice

Izabelle Justice

23. The Plaintiff Izabelle Justice ("Mrs. Justice") is a 39-year-old resident of the City of

Ottawa, in the Province of Ontario. She has been married to Mr. Justice for 18 years and is a

business owner, civilian investigator, and entrepreneur. At all material times, Mrs. Justice was

legally known as Isabelle Cunningham but was also recognized as Iz Justice in her capacity as a

volunteer civilian investigator. On or about July 17, 2024, she legally changed her name pursuant

to the *Change of Name Act*.

24. Before the events giving rise to this claim, Mrs. Justice enjoyed a thriving and highly

successful career as co-founder, Vice-President, and direct shareholder of CEPC. As a key

executive, she was instrumental in driving CEPC's strategic growth, optimizing its operations,

and expanding its market reach—cementing its position as a leading energy provider.

25. At all material times, Mrs. Justice was co-founder, Vice-President, and a direct

shareholder of CEPC.

Defendants

Staff Sergeant Steven Desjourdy

26. At all material times, the Defendant Staff Sergeant Steven Desjourdy ("S/Sgt.

Desjourdy") was a sworn member of the Ottawa Police Service. He initially held the rank of

Sergeant, was subsequently promoted to Acting Staff Sergeant, and later attained the rank of

Staff Sergeant. In addition to his supervisory roles, he also served as an Investigator.

27. In the course of his duties, S/Sgt. Desjourdy initiated criminal proceedings against the Plaintiffs under the *Criminal Code*, R.S.C., 1985, c. C-46, as amended ("*Criminal Code*"). He also participated in the broader investigation concerning the Plaintiffs.

Detective Melburn White

- 28. At all material times, the Defendant Detective Melburn White ("**Det. White**") was a sworn member of the Ottawa Police Service and held the rank of Detective.
- 29. In the course of his duties, Det. White laid a charge against Mr. Justice under the *Residential Tenancies Act*, 2006, S.O. 2006, c. 17, as amended ("*RTA*"). He also participated in the broader investigation concerning the Plaintiffs.
- 30. To the best of the Plaintiffs' knowledge, Det. White is no longer employed as a police officer with the Ottawa Police Service.

Constable Christopher Tessier

- 31. At all material times, the Defendant Constable Christopher Tessier ("Cst. Tessier") was a sworn member of the Ottawa Police Service and held the rank of Constable.
- 32. In the course of his duties and acting under the direction of S/Sgt. Desjourdy, Cst. Tessier detained Mr. Justice. He also participated in the broader investigation concerning the Plaintiffs.
- 33. To the best of the Plaintiffs' knowledge, Cst. Tessier has since been promoted to Sergeant.

Electronically filed / Déposé par voie électronique : 28-Nov-2025 Ottawa Superior Court of Justice / Cour supérieure de justice

Constable Cedric Nizman

34. At all material times, the Defendant Constable Cedric Nizman ("Cst. Nizman") was a

sworn member of the Ottawa Police Service and held the rank of Constable.

35. In the course of his duties and acting under the direction of S/Sgt. Desjourdy, Cst.

Nizman participated in the detention of Mr. Justice. He also participated in the broader

investigation concerning Mr. Justice.

36. To the best of the Plaintiffs' knowledge, Cst. Nizman ceased employment with the

Ottawa Police Service for a period and has since been rehired.

Ottawa Police Services Board

37. The Defendant Ottawa Police Services Board ("OPSB") is a municipal police services

board constituted pursuant to the Community Safety and Policing Act, 2019, S.O. 2019, c. 1,

Sched. 1, as amended ("Community Safety and Policing Act"). At all material times, OPSB was

responsible for the provision of police services and law enforcement in the City of Ottawa, in the

Province of Ontario.

38. By virtue of section 47(1) of the Community Safety and Policing Act and the principles of

vicarious liability at common law, OPSB is vicariously liable for the acts and omissions of its

police officers committed in the course of their employment.

Attorney General of Ontario

- 39. The Defendant Attorney General of Ontario ("Attorney General") is the Chief Law Officer of the Province of Ontario and bears ultimate responsibility for the administration of justice, including the prosecution of individuals charged with criminal and regulatory offences.
- 40. By virtue of sections 8(1) and 8(2) of the *Ministry of the Attorney General Act*, R.S.O. 1990, c. M.17, as amended ("*Ministry of the Attorney General Act*"), the Attorney General is named as a Defendant to assume statutory liability for the following individuals:
 - (a) Assistant Crown Attorney Emilie Farrell ("A.C.A. Farrell");
 - (b) Deputy Crown Attorney Mark Holmes ("**D.C.A. Holmes**");
 - (c) Assistant Crown Attorney David Rodgers ("A.C.A. Rodgers");
 - (d) Assistant Crown Attorney Moiz Karimjee ("A.C.A. Karimjee"); and
 - (e) Assistant Crown Attorney Malcolm Savage ("A.C.A. Savage").
- 41. At all material times, each of these Crown Attorneys had carriage of a criminal prosecution against the Plaintiffs arising from charges initiated by S/Sgt. Desjourdy. Each of these Crown Attorneys acted within the scope of their prosecutorial functions and is not named as an individual Defendant. Instead, the Attorney General assumes statutory liability for their actions in this proceeding.

Electronically filed / Déposé par voie électronique : 28-Nov-2025 Ottawa Superior Court of Justice / Cour supérieure de justice

His Majesty the King in Right of Ontario

42. The Defendant His Majesty the King in Right of Ontario ("Crown") is named as a

Defendant pursuant to section 8(1) of the Crown Liability and Proceedings Act. By virtue of this

statute, the Crown bears statutory liability for torts committed by its officers, employees, and

agents in the course of their employment. Additionally, the Crown is vicariously liable at

common law for wrongful acts committed within the scope of their duties.

43. The Crown is named as a Defendant in this proceeding on behalf of the Attorney General,

who assumes responsibility for the actions of A.C.A. Farrell, D.C.A. Holmes, A.C.A. Rodgers,

A.C.A. Karimjee, and A.C.A. Savage in accordance with sections 8(1) and 8(2) of the *Ministry*

of the Attorney General Act.

IV. FACTS SUPPORTING THE CLAIM

The Ottawa Police Issue a Retaliatory Threat

44. In or about November 2011, prior to the events giving rise to this claim, the Justices

became aware that individuals engaged in unlawful financial activities had targeted the National

Distribution office for A.E., which they operated in Ottawa. They further discovered that certain

members of their workforce had undisclosed affiliations with these individuals and had engaged

in conduct intended to misappropriate company funds from A.E.'s corporate headquarters in

Burlington through its Ottawa office.

Electronically filed / Déposé par voie électronique : 28-Nov-2025 Ottawa Superior Court of Justice / Cour supérieure de justice

45. Between November 2011 and July 2012, the Justices meticulously monitored these

activities, conducting surveillance and compiling evidence in anticipation of law enforcement

intervention. In doing so, they uncovered indications that the network's influence extended

beyond its known members. Alarmingly, the Justices observed conduct suggesting that certain

respected community figures, including individuals within law enforcement, may have

maintained undisclosed affiliations with those involved in these illicit activities.

46. In or about July 2012, in pursuit of law enforcement intervention, the Justices arranged a

private, after-hours meeting at A.E.'s National Distribution office, then located at 35 Auriga Dr.

in Ottawa. The meeting was attended by two senior officers of the Ottawa Police Service, who

identified themselves as Officers G.L. and M.F. The explicit purpose of the meeting was to

present the evidence the Justices had gathered and formally request an investigation into the

identified misconduct.

47. Rather than acknowledging the Justices' concerns or initiating an inquiry, the officers

issued a direct and unequivocal warning: "You're going to pretend like this never happened."

They further cautioned, "If you try to expose this, you'll be met with serious consequences." The

officers also warned that even acknowledging the meeting's existence would result in

repercussions.

48. The Justices understood these statements as a direct and deliberate act of intimidation

intended to silence them. Given the officers' tone, context, and demeanor—combined with their

senior positions within the Ottawa Police Service—these warnings were not perceived as mere

cautionary statements but as coercive attempts to deter the Justices from pursuing further action.

The Justices further understood the officers' message as a clear indication that any effort to

Electronically filed / Déposé par voie électronique : 28-Nov-2025 Ottawa Superior Court of Justice / Cour supérieure de justice

expose the identified misconduct would be met with retaliation from members of the Ottawa

Police Service. Reinforcing this threat, the officers warned, "We'll tell people you're crazy and

can't be trusted."

49. Despite this overt threat, the Justices remained resolute in their commitment to

investigating and exposing misconduct and corruption, fully aware of the risks involved. The

experience only reinforced their belief that law enforcement misconduct demanded independent

civilian oversight. In response, they founded the Civilian Investigation Group ("CIG"), an

independent, civilian-led organization dedicated to uncovering and publicly exposing serious

misconduct by public office holders, including law enforcement officers. CIG operates as a

whistleblower-driven investigative body, receiving and scrutinizing allegations of wrongdoing to

ensure public accountability.

50. Through CIG, the Justices publicly advocated against what they perceived as systemic

failures within the Ottawa Police Service, particularly the persistent lack of accountability for

police misconduct. From April 2013 until Det. White's first contact with Mrs. Justice in May

2019, the Justices were recognized public critics of how allegations of police misconduct were

addressed. Their advocacy included documented criticism of S/Sgt. Desjourdy's high-profile

criminal case, in which he was acquitted of criminal wrongdoing in 2013 but later found guilty

of discreditable conduct under the Police Services Act, R.S.O. 1990, c. P.15, in 2014. The

Justices also publicly condemned the alleged misconduct of Det. White in a matter involving

other officers, which, although predating 2017, came to their attention that year through publicly

accessible sources.

Electronically filed / Déposé par voie électronique : 28-Nov-2025 Ottawa Superior Court of Justice / Cour supérieure de justice

The Negligent Investigation

51. On May 28, 2019, Det. White was the first of the Defendants to contact Mrs. Justice.

During their conversation, he explicitly stated that he and his supervisor, S/Sgt. Desjourdy, were

using their positions within the Ottawa Police Service to orchestrate a targeted campaign of

retaliation against Mr. Justice. He further admitted that they had improperly exercised their

police discretion by exhausting every possible avenue to fabricate charges under the Criminal

Code but were ultimately unable to do so.

52. Mrs. Justice was stunned when Det. White admitted that he and S/Sgt. Desjourdy had

"been waiting a long time for a reason to investigate [Mr. Justice]." This statement unequivocally

confirmed that they had actively sought a basis to investigate him following his publicly

expressed criticisms of their conduct. It suggested a long-standing intent to scrutinize him and

raised serious concerns about a potential misuse of police authority driven by extraneous

considerations rather than legitimate law enforcement objectives.

53. Det. White then taunted Mrs. Justice, detailing how he and S/Sgt. Desjourdy had

deliberately attempted to formulate Criminal Code charges against Mr. Justice—despite knowing

they lacked reasonable and probable grounds. His admission unveiled a premeditated effort to

weaponize the justice system as a tool of reprisal, demonstrating a reckless disregard for due

process and the rule of law.

54. The specifics of the officers' malicious, unlawful, and retaliatory conduct, as described

by Det. White, include but are not limited to the following:

- (a) the officers conducted a criminal investigation based on allegations made against the Justices by their former landlord, C.U. ("Complainant Landlord");
- (b) the officers claimed to have uncovered evidence suggesting that Mr. Justice had engaged in conduct amounting to a quasi-criminal offence under section 234(v) of the *RTA*;
- (c) the officers actively sought to escalate the matter by pursuing *Criminal Code* charges, despite fully acknowledging that they lacked the necessary legal grounds to justify such escalation; and
- (d) the officers exhausted investigative resources in an attempt to justify laying *Criminal Code* charges against Mr. Justice, admitting that they had "tried everything in the book to pin criminal charges on [Mr. Justice]"—an effort that ultimately failed.
- Desjourdy were "disappointed" that they had been forced to conclude the case did not meet the requisite threshold for *Criminal Code* charges. He then made a direct and unequivocal statement, affirming that further law enforcement action would be taken against Mr. Justice at the first available opportunity, irrespective of legal merit: "Don't worry, we'll find another way to get your husband."
- 56. His tone was overtly hostile—deliberately calculated to intimidate, instill fear, and assert dominance over Mrs. Justice. This statement, made in the context of an admitted lack of

Electronically filed / Déposé par voie électronique : 28-Nov-2025 Ottawa Superior Court of Justice / Cour supérieure de justice

reasonable and probable grounds, demonstrates a deliberate intent to misuse police authority for

retaliatory purposes.

57. In a state of desperation, Mrs. Justice pleaded with Det. White to cease his retaliatory

threats. She disclosed that, after enduring eleven years of infertility, she was finally carrying

what she and Mr. Justice regarded as their miracle child. Her pregnancy had been classified as

high-risk, and she implored him to stop, emphasizing that the extreme stress he was inflicting

could result in devastating complications—or even the loss of her unborn child.

58. Rather than expressing any concern, Det. White exhibited outright indifference,

appearing to take satisfaction in Mrs. Justice's distress and the power he exercised over her and

her family.

59. Det. White's conduct constituted an egregious and unlawful abuse of authority, inflicting

severe emotional and psychological harm on the Justices. His actions caused profound distress,

including intense fear, anxiety, panic, and debilitating depression. Further, his conduct

demonstrated a reckless disregard for fundamental principles of justice and due process.

60. On or about May 28, 2019, Det. White formally laid a charge against Mr. Justice under

section 234(v) of the RTA. This charge was laid through a sworn information under section 23 of

the Provincial Offences Act, R.S.O. 1990, c. P.33 ("POA"), and was set out as follows:

[Mr. Justice]

On or about the 21st day of March in the year 2019, at the City of Ottawa in the East/De L'Est Region, did commit the offence of furnishing false or misleading information in any material filed in any proceeding under the [RTA] or providing false or misleading information to the Board, an employee of the Board, an

official of the Board, an inspector, investigator, the Minister, or a designate of the Minister, contrary to section 234(v) of the [RTA].

- 61. The particulars of the allegations included but were not limited to the following:
 - (a) that in March 2019, during a proceeding before the Landlord and Tenant Board ("LTB"), Mr. Justice knowingly submitted fraudulent Interac e-transfer rent receipts, falsely representing that he had made monthly rent payments of \$1,800 from August 2018 to January 2019;
 - (b) that Mr. Justice intentionally misled the LTB adjudicator by fraudulently creating the false impression that he had made the requisite rent payments when, in fact, no such payments had been made;
 - (c) that in April 2019, based on allegedly fraudulent misrepresentations, the LTB issued an order in favour of the Justices and against the Complainant Landlord concerning purported rent arrears;
 - (d) that Mrs. Justice was present at the March 2019 LTB hearing but did not engage in or contribute to the alleged offence;
 - (e) that the LTB retained full jurisdiction to rectify the matter by rescinding the prior order in favour of the Justices and substituting it with an order in favour of the Complainant Landlord;
 - (f) that, given the LTB's broad jurisdictional authority, the allegations did not meet the requisite threshold for a *Criminal Code* offence and, instead, fell exclusively

Electronically filed / Déposé par voie électronique : 28-Nov-2025 Ottawa Superior Court of Justice / Cour supérieure de justice

under the RTA; accordingly, the case remained within the jurisdiction of

Provincial Prosecutor Heather Woodside, who proceeded with the matter in

Provincial Offences Court; and

(g) that the police investigation had been concluded.

62. The charge laid by Det. White engaged Mr. Justice's rights under section 11 of the

Charter as a person charged with an offence, while any state action affecting his life, liberty, or

security of the person was required to conform to the principles of fundamental justice under

section 7.

63. Det. White's decision not to charge Mrs. Justice also engaged her rights under section 7

of the *Charter*, protecting her against any future state action concerning the same allegations

unless demonstrably justified in accordance with the principles of fundamental justice.

64. The Justices plead that Det. White's investigation was conducted in a manner that

violated the principles of fundamental justice, rendering any evidence obtained inadmissible. In

the alternative, even if reasonable and probable grounds had existed, law enforcement was

legally obligated to uncover new evidence before laying any additional charges.

65. In or about June 2019, following the charge against Mr. Justice, the LTB conducted an

internal review. Relying on Det. White's testimony, the LTB overturned its prior order in favour

of the Justices, issuing a new order that required them to pay the full amount of rent arrears

claimed by the Complainant Landlord and terminated their 11-year tenancy.

Electronically filed / Déposé par voie électronique : 28-Nov-2025 Ottawa Superior Court of Justice / Cour supérieure de justice

66. In June 2019, S/Sgt. Desjourdy and two officers attended the Justices' new residence,

"2589", to serve a summons for Mr. Justice, issued at the direction of Det. White. While present,

they openly remarked on the high value of 2589 and made pointed comments regarding the

Justices' property and financial status. S/Sgt. Desjourdy expressly assured Mrs. Justice that no

further investigation would take place and that no Criminal Code charges would be laid.

67. However, despite these explicit assurances, it later became evident that S/Sgt. Desjourdy

continued an independent investigation into the Justices for approximately 19 additional months.

During this period, he actively sought any conceivable basis—no matter how insubstantial—to

justify laying new Criminal Code charges against them, despite having already determined that

no reasonable and probable grounds existed.

68. For nearly two years, from June 2019 to January 2021, S/Sgt. Desjourdy conducted an

unwarranted and grossly negligent investigation, scrutinizing 2589—the Justices' high-value

residence—in an apparent effort to manufacture a pretext for further allegations.

69. Throughout this period, the Justices meticulously documented multiple instances of

targeted and sustained police surveillance. These included unmarked police vehicles stationed

near their home and business, unexplained law enforcement presence, and repeated encounters

with officers actively monitoring their movements. The consistency and nature of these

interactions strongly indicated an ongoing investigative effort designed to uncover a basis for

further legal action—regardless of evidentiary merit.

70. As a direct result, the Justices endured severe and prolonged psychological

distress—including anxiety, panic, dissociation, and depression—while living under the constant

Electronically filed / Déposé par voie électronique : 28-Nov-2025 Ottawa Superior Court of Justice / Cour supérieure de justice

and unjustified fear that fabricated Criminal Code charges could be laid against them at any

moment.

The First Series of Unfounded Criminal Charges

71. After nearly two years of sustained investigative efforts, S/Sgt. Desjourdy failed to

uncover any evidence that could lawfully justify laying additional charges against the Justices.

Rather than acknowledge the absence of incriminating evidence, he selectively manipulated

aspects of Det. White's investigative record—obscuring fundamental evidentiary deficiencies to

manufacture a pretext for continued prosecution. In a clear abuse of authority, he initiated

criminal proceedings against the Justices, falsely charging them with multiple indictable offences

under the Criminal Code. His actions constituted a deliberate and unlawful misuse of the justice

system, devoid of legal foundation and in direct contravention of the principles of fundamental

justice and due process.

72. In an unjustified escalation, S/Sgt. Desjourdy reintroduced allegations that were already

pending adjudication in Provincial Offences Court under the RTA—now repackaged as Criminal

Code offences. His decision to lay charges disregarded the binding and final jurisdiction of the

LTB, which had already rendered adjudicated rulings and implemented corrective measures

addressing the allegations. Moreover, it failed to account for the ongoing prosecution of Mr.

Justice on materially identical allegations, rendering the initiation of separate criminal

proceedings legally untenable and procedurally unfair.

- 73. By disregarding the totality of the circumstances, S/Sgt. Desjourdy's investigation improperly manufactured an appearance of criminality where none existed—selectively omitting exculpatory evidence and mischaracterizing matters that had already been adjudicated or remained the subject of ongoing legal proceedings as independent criminal offences.
- 74. On or about January 25, 2021, and January 29, 2021, S/Sgt. Desjourdy proceeded with charges, falsely presenting the findings of Det. White's prior investigation as his own. He jointly charged the Justices with multiple indictable offences—collectively referred to as the "First Criminal Information"—contrary to sections 354(1)(a), 380(1)(a), and 462.31(1) of the *Criminal Code*. The charges were as follows:

Count 1 – Possession of Property Obtained by Crime

Between the 1st day of August in the year 2018 and the 31st day of July in the year 2019, did commit the offence of possessing property, namely money exceeding \$5,000, knowing that all or part of the proceeds had been obtained through the commission of an indictable offence, contrary to section 354(1)(a) of the Criminal Code and thereby committing an offence under section 355(a).

Count 2 – Fraud Over \$5,000

Between the 1st day of August in the year 2018 and the 31st day of July in the year 2019, did by deceit, falsehood, or other fraudulent means defraud C.U. of money exceeding \$5,000, contrary to section 380(1)(a) of the Criminal Code.

Count 3 – Laundering Proceeds of Crime

On or about the 17th day of October in the year 2018, did transfer proceeds of property, namely money, with intent to conceal or convert that property, knowing or believing that all or part of the proceeds had been obtained or derived from the commission of a designated offence, namely fraud over \$5,000, contrary to section 462.31(1) of the Criminal Code.

- 75. The Complainant Landlord's allegations and the inculpatory material for these charges mirrored those set out in Det. White's investigation and remained pending adjudication. The duplicative allegations were presented without any material distinction, and no new evidence had been uncovered to lawfully justify their escalation to *Criminal Code* offences. The particulars of the allegations, as reiterated by S/Sgt. Desjourdy, included but were not limited to the following:
 - that in March 2019, during a proceeding before the LTB, Mr. Justice knowingly submitted fraudulent Interac e-transfer rent receipts, falsely representing that he had made monthly rent payments of \$1,800 from August 2018 to January 2019;
 - (b) that Mr. Justice intentionally misled the LTB adjudicator by fraudulently creating the false impression that he had made the requisite rent payments when, in fact, no such payments had been made; and
 - (c) that in April 2019, based on allegedly fraudulent misrepresentations, the LTB issued an order in favour of the Justices and against the Complainant Landlord concerning purported rent arrears.
- 76. Despite the absence of any new lawfully substantiated inculpatory evidence, S/Sgt. Desjourdy departed from Det. White's initial findings and advanced the following additional allegations:
 - (a) that Mrs. Justice knowingly and actively participated in the alleged offence alongside Mr. Justice during the March 2019 LTB hearing;

- (b) that the same allegations previously assessed under the *RTA* were now purported to meet the threshold for a *Criminal Code* offence;
- that by allegedly obtaining the April 2019 LTB order and evading rent payments through fraudulent misrepresentations, the Justices had committed fraud exceeding \$5,000 and possession of property obtained by crime; and
- (d) that through the purchase of their new home, 2589, on October 18, 2018, the Justices had allegedly attempted to transfer and conceal rent arrears purportedly obtained through fraudulent means, thereby committing the offence of laundering proceeds of crime.
- 77. The decision to lay charges under sections 462.31(1) and 354(1)(a) of the *Criminal Code*—namely, Laundering Proceeds of Crime and Possession of Property Obtained by Crime—was not only unsupported by any new or credible evidence but was rendered objectively impossible by the irrefutable chronology of events, which categorically precluded any lawful basis for the charges. Moreover, these charges were not the product of an evolving investigation but were strategically framed to misrepresent pre-existing allegations as materially more severe, artificially fabricating an appearance of aggravation absent any legitimate evidentiary foundation. This deliberate and improper escalation contravened fundamental principles of due process and prosecutorial integrity, distorting the factual record to sustain an otherwise unsupportable prosecution.
- 78. The charge of Laundering Proceeds of Crime failed to satisfy the essential elements of the offence, as it lacked a legal foundation, a factual basis, and any nexus to a designated

offence. The charge was legally unsustainable for reasons including, but not limited to, the following:

(a) Proceeds of Crime Must Be Derived from an Offence

the purchase of the Justices' home, 2589, predated the alleged fraud by five months, making it legally and factually impossible for the funds to have originated from the alleged offence;

(b) Rent Arrears Are a Civil Matter, Not Proceeds of Crime

even if the allegations had been true, the disputed rent payments arose from a contractual dispute under the *RTA*, not a criminal enterprise generating illicit funds;

(c) The Justices Used a Lawful Mortgage to Purchase 2589

the funds used for the down payment were advanced as part of a lawfully authorized mortgage transaction, not from any alleged fraud; and

(d) The Accusation Required a Complete Disregard for the Chronology of Events

the alleged fraudulent conduct had not yet occurred at the time of the home purchase, making it legally and factually impossible for the funds used in the transaction to have been "laundered" from a future event.

- 79. By electing to proceed with charges of Possession of Property Obtained by Crime, Fraud Exceeding \$5,000, and Laundering Proceeds of Crime, S/Sgt. Desjourdy willfully disregarded critical exculpatory evidence, including but not limited to the following:
 - (a) that, under his direct supervision, Det. White had already determined that the Complainant Landlord's identical allegations failed to meet the legal threshold for *Criminal Code* charges;
 - (b) that Mr. Justice was already subject to prosecution in Provincial Offences Court for identical allegations based on the same body of evidence, thereby precluding the initiation of a parallel proceeding under the *Criminal Code*;
 - (c) that Mrs. Justice had not been implicated in the initial prosecution, and no new evidence had emerged to support her alleged involvement that was not already available during Det. White's investigation; and
 - (d) that the Justices had purchased 2589 five months before the alleged fraud, rendering the assertion that they used unlawfully obtained funds for the purchase factually and legally impossible.
- 80. Notwithstanding this exculpatory evidence, available records indicate that, in or about November 2019, S/Sgt. Desjourdy directed his subordinate, Cst. McElravy, to seek judicial authorization for the search and seizure of the Justices' financial records from Scotiabank—despite the absence of any new investigative justification. The records sought were wholly redundant and materially duplicative, as identical financial data had already been

Electronically filed / Déposé par voie électronique : 28-Nov-2025 Ottawa Superior Court of Justice / Cour supérieure de justice

obtained from Interac Corp. and had formed the evidentiary basis for Det. White's original

allegations.

81. No additional inculpatory evidence existed to justify this request, nor was any

aggravating factor identified to warrant further investigative measures. Despite this, S/Sgt.

Desjourdy proceeded with the application, failing to disclose that the requested records had

already been available during Det. White's investigation and that no new evidence had emerged

to justify their re-examination.

82. In or about September 2020, nearly a year after the first judicial authorization, available

records indicate that S/Sgt. Desjourdy directed Cst. McElravy to seek a separate judicial

authorization targeting a \$200,345.81 bank draft tendered by the Justices to the Bank of Montreal

as a down payment on their home on October 18, 2018. This authorization was obtained under a

knowingly false pretense, invoking proceeds of crime allegations despite the objective

impossibility of any nexus to the transaction, which had been legally and financially accounted

for months before the alleged fraud had even occurred. The authorization was therefore

inherently misleading, as it lacked any plausible relevance to the investigation or the alleged

offence.

83. By falsely invoking fraud allegations that postdated the transaction by five months, S/Sgt.

Desjourdy fabricated a non-existent temporal connection to misrepresent the relevance of the

financial records and secure judicial authorization. The application failed to disclose that the

funds had already been legally and financially accounted for at the time of the transaction,

making it factually and legally impossible for them to constitute proceeds of crime. This

omission resulted in a misleading and incomplete evidentiary foundation.

Electronically filed / Déposé par voie électronique : 28-Nov-2025 Ottawa Superior Court of Justice / Cour supérieure de justice

84. By obtaining access to the Justices' private financial records under false pretenses, the authorization unlawfully expanded the investigation beyond any legitimate criminal inquiry. The

misrepresentation transformed an otherwise unwarranted request into an impermissible intrusion

into the Justices' private financial affairs, further compounding the procedural irregularities that

undermined the integrity of the investigation.

85. This judicial authorization—obtained nearly a year after the initial authorization, without

any new investigative grounds or additional inculpatory evidence—constituted an unlawful

privacy violation contrary to section 8 of the Charter. It was improperly secured through

deliberate misrepresentation of its necessity, relying on allegations that S/Sgt. Desjourdy knew or

ought to have known were factually and legally unsupportable based on their own chronology.

By fabricating investigative necessity, the police misrepresented an otherwise impermissible

request as a legitimate inquiry, unlawfully expanding the scope of their financial investigation.

This procedural irregularity further deprived the Justices of fairness and procedural integrity.

86. In his police report, S/Sgt. Desjourdy listed the Justices as still working as the National

Directors for A.E., despite the fact that they had ceased employment with A.E. in 2013. This

detail was particularly significant, as this position was never listed publicly or online and had

been held at a time before the internet evolved to its current state.

87. The Justices plead that this information could only have originated from their private

meeting with Officers G.L. and M.F. in July 2012 at A.E.'s then National Distribution office,

located at 35 Auriga Dr. in Ottawa. They further plead that they had no other interactions with

officers from the Ottawa Police Service during their tenure as National Directors for A.E. in

which this information was disclosed to police.

Electronically filed / Déposé par voie électronique : 28-Nov-2025 Ottawa Superior Court of Justice / Cour supérieure de justice

88. Given the totality of circumstances—particularly the absence of reasonable and probable

grounds, the procedural irregularities, and S/Sgt. Desjourdy's prolonged investigation into their

financial activities, during which he ought to have known their recent employment status—the

Justices understood the inclusion of this outdated information as a calculated message directed at

them, signaling that the charges were pursued as an act of retaliation.

89. The Justices plead that the charges advanced by S/Sgt. Desjourdy were not supported by

legally sufficient evidence, lacked reasonable and probable grounds, and gave rise to legal

proceedings that contravened the principles of procedural fairness and fundamental justice. They

further plead that these proceedings were initiated and sustained, in whole or in part, for an

improper purpose, including retaliation, the suppression of public accountability, and

institutional self-interest. They also plead that his actions inflicted severe emotional,

psychological, and financial harm, depriving them of the stability, security, and professional

standing they had diligently worked to establish.

90. The baseless and unjustified criminal charges had profound and far-reaching

consequences for the Justices. The allegations compelled them to shift their entire focus toward

mounting a defence, severely disrupting both their professional and personal lives.

91. As key figures in a licensed energy provider, the Justices were required to withdraw from

active leadership duties due to industry regulations prohibiting individuals facing ongoing

criminal proceedings from fully performing such roles.

92. What initially appeared to be a manageable legal matter escalated into a protracted

40-month ordeal, subjecting the Justices to relentless stress, reputational harm, and significant

Electronically filed / Déposé par voie électronique : 28-Nov-2025 Ottawa Superior Court of Justice / Cour supérieure de justice

financial strain. They were forced to engage in exhaustive legal research, court proceedings, and

procedural advocacy, all to defend themselves against charges wholly devoid of evidentiary

merit.

The Arbitrary Detention in a Parking Lot

93. Lacking reasonable and probable grounds to apply for or obtain arrest warrants for the

Justices, S/Sgt. Desjourdy circumvented judicial oversight and the formal arrest process. Rather

than adhering to lawful procedures, he directed officers—including Cst. Tessier—to repeatedly

attempt to compel the Justices into signing police undertakings through coercive measures,

thereby depriving them of the procedural safeguards afforded under a formal arrest. This

extrajudicial approach enabled legal proceedings to be initiated against them while evading the

judicial scrutiny required for a lawfully authorized arrest.

94. Between January 14 and 25, 2021, at the direction of S/Sgt. Desjourdy,

officers—including Cst. Tessier—attended the Justices' home at 2589 on four separate occasions

in an effort to compel them to sign police undertakings. The repeated and conspicuous police

presence in the neighborhood created undue pressure on the Justices to comply, despite the

absence of judicial authorization for an arrest. Fully aware of their legal rights, the Justices

consistently refused. Despite their refusals, at no point did officers seek, apply for, or obtain

judicial authorization, nor did they attempt to effect a lawful arrest.

95. During these encounters, the Justices explicitly informed Cst. Tessier and the other

attending officers that they were under no legal obligation to sign the undertakings at their

Electronically filed / Déposé par voie électronique : 28-Nov-2025 Ottawa Superior Court of Justice / Cour supérieure de justice

residence. They further directed the officers to inform S/Sgt. Desjourdy that, should a valid arrest

warrant be issued, they would voluntarily surrender with legal counsel. Despite these

unequivocal assertions, S/Sgt. Desjourdy continued to refrain from seeking judicial

authorization, instead directing Cst. Tessier to persist in securing compliance through

extrajudicial means. This deliberate circumvention of the legal framework governing arrests and

undertakings deprived the Justices of procedural safeguards against arbitrary detention and abuse

of process.

96. On January 25, 2021, Cst. Tessier approached Mr. Justice while he was seated in a parked

vehicle at a shopping plaza located at 6045 Bank Street in Ottawa. Mr. Justice was not operating

the vehicle, and at no point did Cst. Tessier request a driver's licence, vehicle registration, or any

other documentation—confirming that the interaction was neither a lawful traffic stop nor

initiated under any recognized motor vehicle enforcement authority.

97. Speaking through the open driver's side window, Cst. Tessier again attempted to compel

Mr. Justice to sign a police undertaking. Mr. Justice unequivocally refused, stating that he would

not sign under coercive conditions in a public parking lot and without legal counsel, as doing so

would be procedurally improper and inconsistent with his constitutional rights under the *Charter*.

98. Any reasonable officer in Cst. Tessier's position would have recognized the extraordinary

irregularity of repeatedly attempting to impose police undertakings in the absence of an arrest

warrant. This marked departure from standard law enforcement procedure gives rise to a

compelling inference that both S/Sgt. Desjourdy and Cst. Tessier knew or ought to have known

that the case lacked the requisite legal grounds to justify either an arrest or the underlying

charges.

34

Electronically filed / Déposé par voie électronique : 28-Nov-2025 Ottawa Superior Court of Justice / Cour supérieure de justice

99. Following Mr. Justice's refusal, Cst. Tessier escalated the encounter by deliberately

positioning his police cruiser to obstruct Mr. Justice's vehicle. He then initiated a coordinated

show of force by requesting backup, leading to the arrival of four additional police vehicles,

which encircled Mr. Justice's vehicle and prevented him from leaving.

100. One of the responding officers, Cst. Nizman, approached and positioned himself near the

passenger's side, resting his hand near his service firearm—a deliberate display of force that, in

the totality of circumstances, exerted psychological pressure on Mr. Justice and further restricted

his ability to leave without signing the undertaking.

101. Cst. Tessier contacted S/Sgt. Desjourdy, advising that Mr. Justice remained surrounded by

officers but continued to refuse to sign the undertaking. Mr. Justice directly observed this

exchange, and Cst. Tessier's police report later documented the communication. Rather than

ordering his release or seeking judicial authorization, S/Sgt. Desjourdy allowed the detention to

persist—thereby exerting psychological coercion intended to compel compliance under duress.

102. Throughout the encounter, Mr. Justice remained seated inside his vehicle, recording the

interaction in real time on his mobile device. At no point was he informed that he was under

arrest, nor was he issued a lawful command requiring compliance. Instead, officers explicitly

stated that he would not be permitted to leave unless he signed the police undertaking—an

ultimatum that rendered his detention arbitrary, coercive, and unlawful under the *Charter*.

103. Mr. Justice repeatedly asked Cst. Tessier whether he was being detained or arrested and,

if so, on what grounds. Rather than providing any legal justification, Cst. Tessier responded, "I

don't know what the grounds are," "I don't want to put you in handcuffs," and "I don't want to

Electronically filed / Déposé par voie électronique : 28-Nov-2025 Ottawa Superior Court of Justice / Cour supérieure de justice

go to court for this case." These statements confirm that Cst. Tessier had no personal knowledge

of any lawful basis for detaining Mr. Justice, nor did he take any steps to ascertain whether

reasonable and probable grounds existed before escalating the police action.

104. As bystanders—including Mr. Justice's friends and neighbours—gathered at the scene,

several voiced concerns regarding the officers' conduct. The public nature of the detention

further underscored its arbitrary and oppressive character, compounding the violation of Mr.

Justice's constitutional rights under the Charter.

105. After being confined in his vehicle for over an hour, Mr. Justice informed the officers that

he was a type 1 diabetic. He expressly stated that he was not in medical distress but noted that if

the detention continued indefinitely, he might require a glucose tablet from the pharmacy located

within immediate proximity. He further clarified that he did not require immediate medical

intervention and offered to provide money for officers to purchase the tablet on his behalf if

necessary.

106. Mr. Justice clearly advised officers that no medical emergency existed and explicitly

cautioned against misrepresenting his condition as a pretext for intervention. Despite this,

officers proceeded to create the appearance of a crisis, requesting multiple ambulances even after

his unequivocal confirmation that he did not require medical assistance. This escalation—absent

any legitimate medical justification—was disproportionate to the circumstances and functioned

as a tactical maneuver to prolong his detention and facilitate police intervention in the absence of

lawful grounds for arrest.

Electronically filed / Déposé par voie électronique : 28-Nov-2025 Ottawa Superior Court of Justice / Cour supérieure de justice

107. As ambulances arrived, Cst. Tessier and other officers presented Mr. Justice with a

coercive ultimatum: sign the police undertaking and be free to leave immediately, or officers

would proceed with their assertion that he was experiencing a medical emergency requiring

intervention. Mr. Justice unequivocally refused to sign under duress and repeatedly affirmed that

he was not in medical distress. He further reminded officers that video evidence clearly

documented his condition, eliminating any legitimate basis for their claimed medical concerns.

108. After nearly two hours, officers forcibly removed Mr. Justice from his vehicle without

prior warning and without issuing any lawful command to exit. He was given no opportunity to

surrender voluntarily. Instead, officers physically extracted him and forcefully threw him

face-first onto the pavement, inflicting bruising and physical trauma.

109. Officers placed Mr. Justice in handcuffs and transported him to a waiting ambulance.

Once inside, he was informed—for the first time—that he was under arrest but would be

immediately released upon agreeing to the conditions of the police undertaking. The sequence of

events and surrounding circumstances establish that the purported medical emergency functioned

as a pretext to circumvent the legal requirements for a warrantless arrest.

110. Paramedics examined Mr. Justice and promptly confirmed that he was medically stable

and did not require treatment—further undermining the officers' asserted justification for

forcibly removing him from the vehicle.

111. After Mr. Justice was medically cleared, Cst. Tessier advised him that he had been

directed to serve a similar police undertaking on Mrs. Justice but indicated his intent to delay

Electronically filed / Déposé par voie électronique : 28-Nov-2025 Ottawa Superior Court of Justice / Cour supérieure de justice

doing so. Concerned about the potential for further coercive measures, Mr. Justice reluctantly

agreed to facilitate contact between officers and Mrs. Justice.

112. On January 30, 2021, Cst. Tessier attended the Justices' residence to serve the police

undertaking on Mrs. Justice. On this occasion, his demeanor had notably shifted, and he

expressed regret for his involvement. He again attempted to distance himself from the case and

indicated that, had the decision been his, he would not have pursued charges against Mrs. Justice.

Before leaving, he wished the Justices "the best of luck" in challenging the charges—further

implying his awareness of the legal deficiencies underlying the prosecution.

113. Subsequent police reports authored by Cst. Tessier and Cst. Nizman contained material

inconsistencies regarding the justification for Mr. Justice's warrantless arrest. Cst. Nizman's

report asserted—without evidentiary basis—that Mr. Justice posed an immediate danger in the

parking lot, alleging that officers arrested him to prevent a purported risk of him "leading police

on a chase," "ramming them," and striking civilians with his vehicle. In contrast, Cst. Tessier's

report stated that the arrest was unrelated to any immediate safety concern and was instead solely

connected to the charges previously laid by S/Sgt. Desjourdy.

114. These contradictory and irreconcilable accounts indicate a post hoc attempt to justify the

warrantless arrest, further demonstrating that, at the time of Mr. Justice's detention, officers

lacked the lawful grounds required to effect an arrest under section 495 of the Criminal Code.

115. At all times, officers lacked any lawful basis to conclude that Mr. Justice posed a threat.

His demeanor throughout the encounter remained calm and non-confrontational, as later

corroborated by video evidence that emerged following the incident. This evidence—which

Electronically filed / Déposé par voie électronique : 28-Nov-2025 Ottawa Superior Court of Justice / Cour supérieure de justice

subsequently received widespread public attention—directly refuted any asserted justification for

his detention.

116. The officers' actions contravened the requirements of section 495 of the Criminal Code,

which governs warrantless arrests. At no point did they possess reasonable and probable grounds

to lawfully justify proceeding without a warrant. Their conduct further violated section 9 of the

Charter, which guarantees the right to be free from arbitrary detention. Despite Mr. Justice's

repeated assertions that he was under no legal obligation to sign an undertaking, officers—fully

aware of this—improperly invoked section 495 as a pretext to prolong his detention and effect a

forcible arrest. This misuse of legal authority ultimately coerced his compliance with conditions

imposed outside of judicial oversight.

117. Following these events, the Justices documented a sustained pattern of surveillance and

intimidation over the next two years. They recorded multiple instances of conspicuous police

presence near their residence and at locations they regularly frequented. The frequency,

persistence, and targeted nature of these encounters reinforced concerns that they remained

subject to unwarranted law enforcement scrutiny in the absence of any lawful justification.

118. At the time of Mr. Justice's detention, video recordings of the incident were securely

stored in a location where loss or deletion was not possible under normal circumstances.

However, following the detention and during ongoing police surveillance of the Justices'

residence, these original files were discovered to be missing from their secured location. Months

later, a limited number of backup versions—unbeknownst to Mr. Justice at the time—were

recovered from an alternative storage location. Though incomplete, these recovered files directly

Electronically filed / Déposé par voie électronique : 28-Nov-2025 Ottawa Superior Court of Justice / Cour supérieure de justice

contradicted material aspects of the police accounts concerning the detention and warrantless

arrest.

119. The missing recordings were particularly significant, as Cst. Nizman's allegations were

relied upon to justify a warrantless arrest under section 495 of the Criminal Code, despite the

absence of statutory preconditions. The later-recovered video footage directly contradicted those

allegations, establishing that Mr. Justice had not engaged in any conduct that could reasonably

justify police intervention.

120. The coercive extrajudicial measures employed to initiate legal proceedings in the absence

of reasonable and probable grounds—combined with arbitrary detention, the use of force, and

the misuse of medical intervention—caused Mr. Justice to suffer severe emotional and

psychological distress. This culminated in a clinical diagnosis of post-traumatic stress disorder,

panic disorder, and depression in or about July 2021, for which he required prescribed

medication.

121. The Justices plead that the arbitrary detention and warrantless arrest were part of a

broader pattern of intimidation, coercion, and abuse of authority, resulting in severe and lasting

emotional and psychological harm.

The Crown Pursues Conviction at the Expense of Justice

122. Upon assuming conduct of the prosecution, A.C.A. Farrell was urged by the Justices to

undertake a thorough and impartial review of several material issues directly impacting the

evidentiary sufficiency and procedural fairness of the proceedings. As a quasi-minister of justice,

she bore a duty to objectively assess whether the charges were legally and factually sustainable and to ensure that the prosecution aligned with the interests of justice. These issues included, but were not limited to:

(a) Absence of Reasonable and Probable Grounds

that the allegations advanced by S/Sgt. Desjourdy were facially unsubstantiated, devoid of any factual or legal foundation, and initiated in the absence of reasonable and probable grounds, contrary to established investigative and prosecutorial standards;

(b) Impossibility of the Financial Allegations

that the Justices had purchased 2589 five months before the alleged falsification of rent receipts, rendering any assertion that the purchase involved proceeds of crime both legally and factually impossible;

(c) Parallel Prosecution for the Same Matter

that Mr. Justice was simultaneously facing prosecution in Provincial Offences Court based on substantially identical allegations and evidence, raising fundamental concerns regarding procedural fairness, due process, and the prohibition against duplicative prosecution under established legal principles; and

Electronically filed / Déposé par voie électronique : 28-Nov-2025 Ottawa Superior Court of Justice / Cour supérieure de justice

(d) Exculpatory Evidence Within the Crown's Possession

that the Crown was in possession of exculpatory evidence—including the final

LTB order in favour of the Complainant Landlord, the official purchase date of

2589, and the 245-page disclosure package related to the Provincial Offences

Court prosecution—all of which were demonstrably inconsistent with the decision

to proceed with criminal prosecution.

123. Despite these clear deficiencies, A.C.A. Farrell failed to take any corrective action. In an

effort to ensure compliance with charge screening obligations, the Justices formally requested an

Adult Charge Screening Form to confirm that she had conducted a proper evidentiary review in

accordance with her legal duty.

124. Upon reviewing A.C.A. Farrell's completed Adult Charge Screening Form, the Justices

determined that she had made no meaningful effort to assess the case on its legal or factual

merits. Her review demonstrated a fundamental failure to identify critical factual and legal

inconsistencies in S/Sgt. Desjourdy's allegations, including but not limited to:

(a) Misrepresentation of Occupancy Status

falsely asserting that the Justices unlawfully occupied the Complainant Landlord's

property, despite clear and undisputed evidence that they had vacated the premises

two years prior;

(b) Improper Conditioning of Charge Reduction

conditioning a charge reduction on the Justices relinquishing the Complainant Landlord's property, despite the legal impossibility of such a condition, as they had neither legal nor physical possession of the property at the time of the charges; and

(c) Disregard of Exculpatory LTB Rulings

ignoring exculpatory rulings from the LTB that were contained in the Crown's own disclosure, which established that:

- (i) the termination of the Justices' tenancy fell within the exclusive jurisdiction of the LTB and had already been fully adjudicated two years earlier;
- (ii) the alleged rent arrears had already been litigated, and the previous order in the Justices' favour had been set aside two years prior, eliminating any basis for criminal allegations; and
- (iii) the Complainant Landlord had already been awarded arrears and costs, rendering any alleged falsification of rent receipts legally irrelevant, as no fraudulent deprivation of property could be sustained.
- 125. During judicial pre-trial hearings before the Honourable Justice Matthew C. Webber ("Justice Webber") on May 20, 2021, and June 29, 2021, A.C.A. Farrell failed to discharge her

Electronically filed / Déposé par voie électronique : 28-Nov-2025 Ottawa Superior Court of Justice / Cour supérieure de justice

prosecutorial duty to independently and impartially assess the case. Despite her obligation to

ensure the accuracy of the evidentiary record, disclose all relevant exculpatory material, and

prevent misleading representations, she permitted material misstatements of fact to persist and

failed to correct or disclose exculpatory evidence in her possession or that ought to have been

disclosed. These omissions compromised the integrity of the proceedings, deprived the court of

material facts necessary for a fair adjudication, and prejudiced the Justices' fundamental right to

procedural fairness.

126. As a result, Justice Webber proceeded under multiple material misapprehensions,

including: the incorrect belief that S/Sgt. Desjourdy had independently introduced allegations

that had, in fact, already been advanced by Det. White; the failure to recognize that the same

matter was concurrently subject to parallel prosecution; and the mistaken assumption that the

Justices had purchased 2589 only after securing the April 2019 LTB order—when, in reality, they

had acquired the property six months earlier, in October 2018.

127. During these hearings, Justice Webber expressed skepticism regarding both the

plausibility and proportionality of the charges. Although proceeding under certain factual

misapprehensions, His Honour nonetheless questioned whether the allegations had been

exaggerated or lacked legal sustainability. These concerns arose even while operating under the

incorrect assumption that the Justices could have put withheld rent toward the purchase of

2589—an assumption that was factually impossible, as the established chronology of events

irrefutably demonstrated.

128. When confronted with Justice Webber's concerns, A.C.A. Farrell unequivocally conceded that the charge of Laundering Proceeds of Crime lacked both a factual and legal foundation. During the proceedings, Justice Webber remarked:

It struck me that the laundering count really was a bit of a stretch. I mean, you know, it's their money that, yes, rightfully should have been given to somebody else, is the accusation, but whether or not withholding it and using it for legitimate purposes amounts to laundering in law is, intuitively I think that is a bit of a stretch, right?

- 129. Without hesitation, A.C.A. Farrell replied, "Yes, Your Honour." Her immediate admission confirmed that the charge was legally unsustainable and had been overstated by police, yet she had taken no steps to reassess or withdraw it until directly pressed by the Court. This concession came only after repeated requests by the Justices for her to review the evidentiary deficiencies—requests she had previously dismissed.
- 130. During these hearings, the Justices formally alleged that the charges had been pursued with malice and without reasonable and probable grounds. While Justice Webber was not presented with the complete evidentiary record, His Honour nonetheless acknowledged that these concerns may have had merit, expressly noting apparent deficiencies in the evidence before the Court.
- 131. When urged by Justice Webber to consider a resolution, A.C.A. Farrell proposed a guilty plea in exchange for a reduced sentence, contingent upon the Justices paying rent arrears, legal fees, and additional accommodation costs to the Complainant Landlord. Justice Webber rejected this outright, emphasizing that the matter had already been adjudicated by the LTB and affirming that criminal charges could not be used as a means to enforce a civil debt.

Electronically filed / Déposé par voie électronique : 28-Nov-2025 Ottawa Superior Court of Justice / Cour supérieure de justice

132. Despite previously indicating before Justice Webber that the charge of Laundering

Proceeds of Crime would be withdrawn, A.C.A. Farrell took no steps to effect its withdrawal

following the second judicial pre-trial and the subsequent reassignment of the case to a different

judge. Instead, she proceeded to trial on all three charges, including the Laundering Proceeds of

Crime allegation—an offence that was legally unsustainable and, by her own prior

acknowledgment, had been overstated by police.

133. A third judicial pre-trial was scheduled for August 19, 2021. On the preceding day, the

Justices sent a formal email to A.C.A. Farrell, outlining critical concerns they intended to raise

on the record. In their correspondence, they explicitly detailed the severe harm they had

sustained as a direct consequence of the prosecution and asserted that, by continuing to pursue

charges that she knew or ought to have known lacked merit, A.C.A. Farrell had aligned herself

with a prosecution conducted in bad faith and had actively contributed to its continuation.

134. On the morning of the scheduled hearing, after receiving no response from A.C.A.

Farrell, the Justices sent a follow-up email. Unlike the previous day, they received an automatic

out-of-office reply. However, the reply was dated five months earlier—an irregularity that raises

serious questions as to whether it had been retroactively activated in response to the Justices'

inquiries.

135. At the scheduled start time, the Justices attempted to attend the virtual hearing using the

coordinates provided to them, as the courthouse remained on lockdown due to the COVID-19

pandemic, precluding in-person attendance. Despite logging in, they discovered that the session

had not commenced, and repeated efforts to contact A.C.A. Farrell and the OCAO went

unanswered. Recognizing the irregularity of the situation, the Justices documented their attempts

Electronically filed / Déposé par voie électronique : 28-Nov-2025 Ottawa Superior Court of Justice / Cour supérieure de justice

to access the hearing on video. By the end of the scheduled hour, the hearing had not taken place,

and no explanation had been provided. The prolonged silence gave rise to serious concerns that

they were being deliberately placed in a position where they might appear to have failed to

attend.

136. On August 20, 2021, the day after the scheduled hearing, A.C.A. Farrell responded via

email, stating that she was no longer a Crown prosecutor and had no affiliation with the OCAO.

However, court records later confirmed that this statement was inaccurate. In reality, she had

been reassigned to the Guns and Gangs Prosecution Service—a reassignment that, on its face,

obscured her continued involvement in the case and created the appearance of distancing herself

from allegations that she had prosecuted without reasonable and probable grounds.

137. Following A.C.A. Farrell's email, the Justices independently confirmed through the court

that bench warrants had been issued for their arrest. The fact that these warrants were issued on

the very day the scheduled hearing failed to proceed raised serious concerns that they were

issued without proper procedural justification and for improper purposes.

138. By disregarding exculpatory evidence, failing to withdraw a charge that she had

previously acknowledged was overstated by police, and neglecting to inform the Justices that she

would neither be attending the third judicial pre-trial nor remain assigned to their case, A.C.A.

Farrell engaged in conduct that was fundamentally inconsistent with the principles of justice,

further undermining the integrity of the prosecution.

139. The Justices plead that A.C.A. Farrell's conduct was not motivated by an impartial

assessment of the evidence but rather by improper purposes, including prioritizing career

Electronically filed / Déposé par voie électronique : 28-Nov-2025 Ottawa Superior Court of Justice / Cour supérieure de justice

advancement over her duty as a quasi-minister of justice. As a result, the prosecution was

fundamentally unjust and without merit.

The Second Series of Unfounded Criminal Charges

140. Following A.C.A. Farrell's abrupt and highly irregular removal from the case, the

Justices were met with two weeks of complete and unexplained silence from the OCAO. Despite

multiple documented attempts to obtain procedural clarity, the OCAO failed to provide any

response or guidance. As the Crown's inaction persisted without explanation, the Justices

formally escalated their concerns. On August 31, 2021, they submitted a written complaint via

email to senior officials, requesting immediate intervention. This correspondence was directed

to, among others, the Attorney General, the Director of Crown Operations (East Region) Julie

Scott, the Ottawa Regional Crown Attorney Brian Holowka, and D.C.A. Holmes.

141. This email detailed significant procedural irregularities and included supporting

documentation establishing that:

(a) the Justices had fully complied with all procedural requirements by remaining on

hold for approximately one hour on August 19, 2021, in anticipation of their

scheduled hearing;

(b) the Justices had correctly entered the designated meeting ID and password as

provided at the conclusion of the prior hearing;

- upon discovering that the hearing had not commenced, the Justices made multiple documented attempts—both during and after the scheduled time—to contact A.C.A. Farrell and the OCAO for clarification, all of which went unanswered;
- (d) the OCAO failed to provide any response, depriving the Justices of procedural guidance or any means of recourse; and
- (e) the bench warrants issued in the Justices' absence lacked any factual or legal foundation, were procedurally improper, and required immediate rescission.
- 142. The Justices' email provided formal notice of their intent to pursue legal action against the Crown for *malicious prosecution* upon the conclusion of the criminal proceedings. In this correspondence, they identified A.C.A. Farrell's specific role in the continuation of their prosecution and raised concerns that the OCAO's actions may have constituted an unjustified and retaliatory effort to secure their imprisonment following their prior allegations against her. The Justices further noted that A.C.A. Farrell's removal from the case was highly irregular, occurring just one day after they had formally implicated her in wrongdoing.
- 143. The following day, D.C.A. Holmes responded, becoming the fourth Crown prosecutor to assume carriage of the case. In his response, he acknowledged concerns regarding the propriety of the bench warrants and their potential to cause psychological harm. He subsequently took steps to have the warrants rescinded. However, this corrective action was undertaken only after the Justices had already endured prolonged distress and uncertainty.
- 144. To gain a precise understanding of the circumstances surrounding the issuance of the bench warrants, the Justices obtained and reviewed the official court transcript from the hearing.

Electronically filed / Déposé par voie électronique : 28-Nov-2025 Ottawa Superior Court of Justice / Cour supérieure de justice

Their review uncovered significant procedural irregularities. Most notably, the OCAO abruptly

replaced A.C.A. Farrell with a temporary prosecutor, A.C.A. Seifried, who was assigned

exclusively to the Justices' hearing—without prior notice or explanation—before being

immediately reassigned thereafter. The unexplained nature of this substitution raised serious

concerns regarding both the circumstances of A.C.A. Farrell's removal and the prosecutorial

decisions that followed.

145. The transcript further revealed that while the Justices remained on hold using the original

meeting credentials assigned specifically to them and A.C.A. Farrell, A.C.A. Seifried accessed

the courtroom using an undisclosed, newly issued meeting ID and password. Despite having no

prior involvement in the case, A.C.A. Seifried represented to the Court that the Justices had a

history of failing to appear—an assertion that served as the Crown's stated justification for the

issuance of their bench warrants.

146. In light of these cumulative irregularities—when assessed within the broader pattern of

misconduct—the Justices reasonably concluded at the time, and now plead, that the OCAO

deliberately orchestrated their exclusion from the hearing and procured the issuance of bench

warrants as an act of retaliation for their legal complaint. The facts supporting this conclusion

include, but are not limited to, the following:

(a) Failure to Notify of Prosecutorial Change

that the Justices were never advised of A.C.A. Farrell's removal from the case or

notified that a different Crown prosecutor would be handling the hearing;

(b) Suspicious Email Auto-Response

that the Justices' email to A.C.A. Farrell did not receive an automatic reply on the day preceding the hearing. However, on the day following their legal complaint, an outdated auto-response was suddenly enabled on her account, creating the appearance that she had been unavailable on the day of the hearing;

(c) Misrepresentation of Employment Status

that A.C.A. Farrell represented that she was no longer employed as a Crown Attorney with the OCAO when, in reality, she had been reassigned to the Guns and Gangs Prosecution Service;

(d) Foreknowledge and Failure to Provide Notice

that A.C.A. Farrell, in her August 20, 2021, email, stated that she had been absent for the entire week of the hearing, thereby confirming that the OCAO had advance knowledge of her unavailability and ample opportunity to notify the Justices of the prosecutorial change—yet it failed to provide any such notice;

(e) The Hearing Was Specifically Scheduled for A.C.A. Farrell and the Justices that the hearing had been scheduled as a dedicated, one-hour judicial pre-trial to

address significant issues. Given her designated role in the matter, it was entirely reasonable for the Justices to expect timely notification of her removal—yet no such notice was ever provided;

(f) Failure to Forward the Justices' Concerns to the OCAO

that given A.C.A. Farrell's direct involvement, it was reasonable to expect that she would have escalated the Justices' concerns to the appropriate OCAO officials—yet there is no indication that she did so;

(g) Immediate Pursuit of Bench Warrants Without Inquiry

that A.C.A. Seifried made no attempt to contact the Justices before seeking the warrants. No effort was made to determine whether they were experiencing technical difficulties preventing them from accessing the virtual hearing—an issue that was well-documented at the time;

(h) The OCAO's Complete Silence Until Legal Action Was Threatened

that the Justices' repeated emails and phone calls were ignored until they explicitly threatened legal action, further confirming the OCAO's persistent inaction; and

(i) The Bench Warrants Were Rescinded Without Objection

that once challenged, the OCAO promptly withdrew the warrants, thereby conceding that they lacked any legal foundation.

147. Given these facts—when assessed alongside the cumulative irregularities and broader pattern of misconduct—the Justices plead that A.C.A. Farrell's removal and the subsequent prosecutorial decisions were not mere coincidences. Rather, they plead that these decisions were

Electronically filed / Déposé par voie électronique : 28-Nov-2025 Ottawa Superior Court of Justice / Cour supérieure de justice

improperly influenced by considerations intended to shield her involvement from scrutiny,

particularly after they declared their intent to pursue damages for malicious prosecution—claims

for which the Crown enjoys no immunity.

148. Upon assuming conduct of the prosecution, D.C.A. Holmes was directly informed by the

Justices of material concerns regarding evidentiary sufficiency and procedural

fairness—concerns they had previously raised with A.C.A. Farrell. The Justices further advised

D.C.A. Holmes of additional exculpatory evidence indicating that S/Sgt. Desjourdy and Det.

White had initiated and advanced legal proceedings despite procedural irregularities in the

investigative and charging process, further reinforcing their serious concerns regarding improper

motive.

149. Following an independent review, D.C.A. Holmes determined that the charges against the

Justices lacked the reasonable and probable grounds necessary to support prosecution—thus

confirming what the Justices had consistently maintained. In a September 23, 2021, email, he

advised the Justices that the Crown would "abandon" the allegations concerning fraud against

the Complainant Landlord and the purported conversion of rent funds toward the purchase of

2589. He further confirmed that at the upcoming hearing on September 24, 2021, the Crown

would enter stays of proceedings on the charges of Fraud Over \$5,000, Possession of Property

Obtained by Crime, and Laundering Proceeds of Crime.

150. However, rather than withdrawing the case outright—which would have crystallized the

Justices' anticipated claim for malicious prosecution—D.C.A. Holmes proceeded in a manner

that effectively insulated the OCAO and A.C.A. Farrell from further scrutiny while obstructing

the Justices' ability to establish a cause of action. In the same email, he informed the Justices

Information ("Second Criminal Information"), charging the Justices with two additional *Criminal Code* offences despite the absence of new evidence or material developments. The allegations underpinning these new charges were factually indistinguishable from the matter concurrently pending adjudication in Provincial Offences Court under the *RTA*. Moreover, the full disclosure package from the First Criminal Information—already associated with the *RTA* matter—was simply reassigned to the new case without any new evidentiary foundation or legal justification.

151. On September 24, 2021, during a pre-trial hearing before the Honourable Justice Robert Wadden, D.C.A. Holmes directed a stay of proceedings on the charges laid under the First Criminal Information. At the same time, the Crown elected to proceed on the Second Criminal Information, alleging that the Justices had jointly committed the following offences:

Count 4 — Obstructing Justice

Between the 14th day of February in the year 2019 and the 21st day of March in the year 2019 at the City of Ottawa in the East/De L'est Region did intentionally attempt to obstruct, pervert, or defeat the course of justice by influencing the outcome of a [LTB] Tribunal hearing by submitting knowingly false documentation pertaining to their payment of rent, contrary to Section 139, subsection (2) of the Criminal Code of Canada;

Count 5 — Use of Forged Document

Between the 14th day of February in the year 2019 and the 21st day of March in the year 2019 at the City of Ottawa in the East/De L'Est Region did, knowing a document, namely Scotiabank bank statements and Interac Corporation statements, to be forged, use, deal with or act on it as if it were genuine, contrary to Section 368, subsection (1)(a) of the Criminal Code of Canada.

Electronically filed / Déposé par voie électronique : 28-Nov-2025 Ottawa Superior Court of Justice / Cour supérieure de justice

152. Until the introduction of the Second Criminal Information, the Justices had been actively

preparing their defence to the charges set out in the First Criminal Information. However, less

than 24 hours after notifying the Justices of the new charges, D.C.A. Holmes moved to compel

their election for trial, thereby depriving them of a meaningful opportunity to review and respond

to the Crown's revised position. At the pre-trial hearing on September 24, 2021, following a

contentious exchange between the Justices and D.C.A. Holmes, the Court granted the Justices'

request for a four-week adjournment.

153. Throughout November 2021, the Justices repeatedly pressed D.C.A. Holmes via email to

clarify the legal basis upon which the Crown simultaneously pursued two materially identical

prosecutions arising from the same underlying conduct. In response, he stated that he had elected

to proceed by criminal indictment "to promote some focus to the criminal litigation [he expected]

would follow." Although he initially declined to address the procedural duplication, when

directly questioned, he ultimately acknowledged that the two prosecutions substantially

overlapped. Despite this acknowledgment, he took no corrective measures, thereby permitting

both prosecutions to remain concurrently active for 617 days, imposing unnecessary procedural

burdens and causing unjustified delay to the litigation.

154. On November 22, 2021, at approximately 8:56 a.m., the Justices served D.C.A. Holmes

with a pre-trial conference report formally setting out their position that the OCAO and police

had engaged in a coordinated effort to manufacture evidence, suppress exculpatory material, and

knowingly prosecute them without reasonable and probable grounds. Approximately three hours

later, masked individuals appeared outside the Justices' residence in broad daylight, employing

what appeared to be surveillance equipment directed toward them and their property. The

Electronically filed / Déposé par voie électronique : 28-Nov-2025 Ottawa Superior Court of Justice / Cour supérieure de justice

Justices personally observed this incident, which was independently recorded on video by a

neighbouring resident.

155. Upon reviewing the video footage provided by the neighbour and examining recordings

from their own home surveillance system, the Justices discovered that their equipment had

inexplicably failed to capture the incident, despite having been fully operational immediately

beforehand. The cause of this malfunction remains unknown. Approximately 24 hours later, the

neighbour independently recorded additional video footage depicting a second incident involving

similar individuals engaging in comparable conduct. Again, the Justices' surveillance system

inexplicably failed to capture this second incident. Shortly thereafter, the Justices identified

evidence of unauthorized access to their home network. Given the precise timing of these

incidents—mere hours after the Justices served D.C.A. Holmes with formal allegations

concerning the OCAO and police—the Justices plead that these circumstances raise serious

concerns regarding a deliberate attempt to intimidate them and interfere with their pursuit of

justice.

156. On November 26, 2021, during a pre-trial hearing before the Honourable Justice

Catherine D. Aitken of the Superior Court of Justice, the Justices reaffirmed their position that

their prosecution was without reasonable and probable grounds and improperly motivated.

Despite his duty to ensure the accuracy and completeness of the evidentiary record, to disclose

all relevant exculpatory evidence, and to prevent the Court from being misled, D.C.A. Holmes

permitted material misstatements of fact to persist uncorrected. Moreover, notwithstanding his

awareness of simultaneous, materially identical prosecutions arising from the same underlying

conduct, he failed to disclose this procedural duplication to the Court.

56

Electronically filed / Déposé par voie électronique : 28-Nov-2025 Ottawa Superior Court of Justice / Cour supérieure de justice

157. During the hearing, the Justices also raised specific concerns with D.C.A. Holmes

regarding the incidents that took place at their residence on November 22 and 23, 2021, stating

that the surrounding circumstances strongly suggested they had been subjected to covert

surveillance directly in response to the allegations set out in their pre-trial conference report. The

Justices emphasized that no incidents of this nature had occurred previously and that, given the

exact timing, no reasonable alternative explanation existed.

158. Following the hearing, on November 27, 2021, the Justices emailed D.C.A. Holmes,

attaching images of the vehicles involved in the incidents, explicitly raising concerns regarding

their personal safety and requesting clarification as to whether the OCAO had engaged external

agencies to conduct surveillance on them. D.C.A. Holmes did not respond to this

correspondence.

159. By failing to disclose exculpatory evidence, initiating additional charges despite evident

deficiencies in the case, and compelling Mr. Justice to simultaneously defend two prosecutions

founded upon materially identical allegations, evidence, and underlying conduct, D.C.A. Holmes

acted in a manner incompatible with his prosecutorial duties and the fundamental principles of

justice. These actions imposed unjustified procedural burdens, compromised the integrity of the

prosecution, and materially impaired Mr. Justice's ability to meaningfully respond to the charges

against him.

160. The Justices plead that, taken as a whole, the Crown's conduct—including:

(a) excluding them from the anticipated third judicial pre-trial while proceeding in

their absence;

Electronically filed / Déposé par voie électronique : 28-Nov-2025 Ottawa Superior Court of Justice / Cour supérieure de justice

(b) directing the issuance of bench warrants while effectively denying them access to

the hearing;

(c) deliberately pursuing a duplicative prosecution without valid legal justification;

(d) failing to disclose exculpatory evidence that undermined the legal basis for

continued prosecution under the Criminal Code; and

(e) the sudden appearance of masked individuals within hours of their filing formal

allegations against law enforcement and the OCAO—

gives rise to a compelling inference that the prosecution was not undertaken in good faith but

rather for an improper purpose, including suppressing liability or scrutiny, securing a wrongful

conviction or plea, and interfering with their stated intent to seek civil damages against the

Crown.

161. The Justices further plead that the Crown and law enforcement improperly leveraged the

justice system to sustain an otherwise untenable prosecution, thereby causing prolonged

reputational harm, severe psychological distress, and significant financial loss.

The First Charter Challenge

162. Following an extraordinary 1,225-day delay in the prosecution of the charge under the

RTA, Mr. Justice appeared virtually in Provincial Offences Court on October 3, 2022, for a

proceeding scheduled as a trial. Throughout the proceedings, he had consistently maintained his

innocence and sought to introduce exculpatory evidence that was directly relevant to his defence

Electronically filed / Déposé par voie électronique : 28-Nov-2025 Ottawa Superior Court of Justice / Cour supérieure de justice

and integral to his pending Charter challenge under section 11(h). His legal position was that,

upon the conclusion of the trial, the continuation of the criminal prosecution—premised on

materially identical allegations—would constitute double jeopardy and engage a constitutional

bar under section 11(h) of the Charter.

163. At the outset of the hearing, Provincial Prosecutor Vinicius Oliveira ("P.P. Oliveira")

confirmed that the Crown's case was premised on the anticipated testimony of three witnesses:

the Complainant Landlord; D.L., her former legal counsel who had represented her during the

LTB proceedings; and an investigator from Interac Corp., whose evidence was expected to

support the Crown's allegation that Mr. Justice had submitted falsified rent receipts.

164. The Crown's disclosure stated that the anticipated evidence from Interac Corp. was

intended to establish that the rent receipts, dated August 2018 to January 2019, bore the

copyright name "Acxsys Corporation," which ceased to exist following a corporate

reorganization in September 2018. The Crown asserted that this discrepancy indicated

falsification, as, in its view, legitimate Interac receipts issued after the reorganization would have

reflected the updated copyright name, "Interac Corp." The disclosure further indicated that the

Complainant Landlord and her former legal counsel were expected to testify that they had

personally observed Mr. Justice submit these receipts to the LTB adjudicator, representing that he

had made the disputed payments.

165. In his defence, Mr. Justice sought to introduce exculpatory evidence from representatives

of Scotiabank and the Royal Bank of Canada, as well as from former LTB Vice Chair Sylvie

Charron, who had presided over the hearing in which he was accused of submitting falsified

receipts. The anticipated banking evidence was expected to establish that both the Justices and

Electronically filed / Déposé par voie électronique : 28-Nov-2025 Ottawa Superior Court of Justice / Cour supérieure de justice

the Complainant Landlord were likely victims of Interac e-transfer interception fraud, that

financial institutions—not Interac Corp.—program the copyright names displayed on e-transfer

receipts, and that the copyright name "Acxsys Corporation" remained in use on e-transfer

receipts issued by these institutions until February 2019—after the dates on Mr. Justice's rent

receipts—directly refuting the Crown's allegations of falsification. Vice Chair Charron's

anticipated testimony was expected to confirm that Mr. Justice had made legitimate efforts to pay

rent, contradicting the findings of a subsequent adjudicator who relied on Det. White's testimony.

She was further expected to establish that her ruling in favour of the Justices resulted from her

own independent assessment after both parties, at her direction, demonstrated the possibility of

e-transfer interception fraud during the LTB hearing—not from any improper influence by Mr.

Justice.

166. Shortly after the hearing commenced, the Crown advised the Court that the Complainant

Landlord and her former legal counsel had failed to appear despite having been duly served with

subpoenas. As a result, the Crown was unable to adduce the evidence required to establish the

essential elements of the offence and was left with no alternative but to enter a stay of

proceedings.

167. More than a year earlier, in May 2021, the two-year statutory limitation period under

section 239 of the RTA had expired, precluding any further prosecution of the offence under

section 234(v) beyond the scheduled October 3, 2022, trial date as statute-barred. In light of this

procedural bar, Mr. Justice maintained his *Charter* challenge under section 11(h), asserting that

the criminal prosecution was materially indistinguishable from the Provincial Offences Court

proceedings, where the Crown's failure to establish the elements of the offence, at law,

Electronically filed / Déposé par voie électronique : 28-Nov-2025 Ottawa Superior Court of Justice / Cour supérieure de justice

constituted a final determination of the allegations. As reinstatement of the proceedings was

statutorily precluded, he argued that proceeding with a criminal trial for the same conduct was

inconsistent with the principles of fairness, finality, and fundamental justice enshrined in section

11(h) of the Charter.

168. On December 13, 15, and 20, 2022, the Justices advanced multiple *Charter* applications,

with Mr. Justice's section 11(h) challenge as the central issue. He argued that the Crown, having

failed to establish the essential elements of the offence in the first prosecution, was now

impermissibly seeking to subject him to a second trial for the same impugned conduct, thereby

violating his constitutional protection against double jeopardy. He further asserted that the

Crown was not entitled to circumvent section 11(h) by supplementing its case with additional

arguments, introducing new legal theories, or pursuing a second proceeding with heightened

punitive consequences in a criminal court. The Provincial Offences Court hearing—scheduled as

a trial—had commenced and concluded with the effective termination of the proceedings. In

these exceptional circumstances, he maintained that this outcome was tantamount to an acquittal

for the purposes of section 11(h).

169. A.C.A. John Ramsay was specifically assigned to oppose the *Charter* applications and

advocate for their dismissal. In response to Mr. Justice's section 11(h) application, the Crown

argued that double jeopardy protections were not engaged, asserting that Mr. Justice had not been

"finally acquitted" in Provincial Offences Court. The Crown maintained that, because those

proceedings had concluded with a stay rather than a formal acquittal, section 11(h) did not

preclude further prosecution.

Electronically filed / Déposé par voie électronique : 28-Nov-2025 Ottawa Superior Court of Justice / Cour supérieure de justice

170. Mr. Justice refuted this argument, asserting that the stay was, in effect, a withdrawal, as

the prosecution was statute-barred beyond the scheduled trial date, leaving the Crown with no

lawful mechanism for reinstatement. He maintained that the duplicative nature of the criminal

charges, coupled with the nearly two-year period in which both prosecutions had proceeded in

parallel toward trial, required that the stay be recognized as a final determination of the matter.

Any other interpretation, he argued, would facilitate an abuse of process.

171. The Honourable Justice Sally A. Gomery ("Justice Gomery") dismissed Mr. Justice's

section 11(h) Charter application; however, Mr. Justice pleads that Her Honour erred in law by

misapprehending the finality of the prior prosecution. Specifically, Her Honour proceeded under

the mistaken belief that the Crown retained the authority to reinstate the Provincial Offences

Court proceedings within one year, notwithstanding that those proceedings had already been

statute-barred pursuant to section 239 of the RTA. He further pleads that this material legal error

resulted in the misapplication of section 11(h) of the *Charter*, thereby depriving him of

constitutional protection against double jeopardy and permitting the continuation of proceedings

that were legally untenable and jurisdictionally barred.

172. Although the *Charter* applications were dismissed, the proceedings exposed a deliberate

prosecutorial maneuver by the OCAO that would not have otherwise come to light before trial.

On December 20, 2022—just two weeks before the scheduled commencement of the criminal

trial—the Justices discovered that the OCAO had unilaterally altered its witness strategy,

fundamentally shifting the prosecution's case. Until that point, the OCAO had consistently

maintained that the witnesses for the criminal trial were entirely distinct from those in the

Provincial Offences Court proceedings. Relying on these representations, the Justices had

Electronically filed / Déposé par voie électronique : 28-Nov-2025 Ottawa Superior Court of Justice / Cour supérieure de justice

prepared to cross-examine the originally disclosed witnesses: Cst. McElravy, who had obtained

the judicial authorizations for Scotiabank and the Bank of Montreal; S/Sgt. Desjourdy; and Det.

White.

173. However, on December 20, 2022, the Justices learned that the OCAO had, without prior

notice, revised its witness list, omitting previously disclosed witnesses and substituting only the

three witnesses originally expected to testify in the Provincial Offences Court proceedings: the

Complainant Landlord and her former lawyer—both of whom had already failed to appear at the

earlier trial—and the Investigator from Interac Corp., who had been present but was not called

by the Crown. This undisclosed revision not only directly contradicted the Crown's prior

representations but also confirmed that the two cases were legally indistinguishable, reinforcing

the Justices' position that the prosecutions were improperly duplicative and constituted an abuse

of process.

174. The OCAO undermined procedural fairness by securing the Complainant Landlord's

attendance at the criminal trial while failing to take any steps to coordinate with the Provincial

Prosecutor to secure her presence at the scheduled Provincial Offences Court trial three months

earlier. The Justices later discovered that the OCAO had arranged for the Crown to facilitate the

Complainant Landlord's travel from Regina, Saskatchewan, covering her airfare and hotel

accommodations to ensure her testimony at the criminal trial. However, no equivalent steps were

taken to secure her attendance at the Provincial Offences Court trial, where her failure to appear

resulted in the proceedings being terminated before a determination on the merits. This disparate

prosecutorial treatment reflects a deliberate prioritization of securing a criminal conviction over

Electronically filed / Déposé par voie électronique : 28-Nov-2025 Ottawa Superior Court of Justice / Cour supérieure de justice

ensuring procedural fairness, reinforcing the Justices' position that the prosecutions were pursued in bad faith and deliberately engineered to produce an unjust outcome.

175. The Justices plead that these actions constituted a deliberate effort by the OCAO to:

(a) conceal the substantive equivalence of the two proceedings;

(b) withhold material information regarding witness availability;

(c) selectively secure witness attendance only when it advanced the Crown's

prosecutorial objectives; and

(d) manipulate trial proceedings, thereby undermining the fair administration of

justice and violating their right to a fair trial.

The Mistrial and Health Crisis

176. The OCAO engaged in a pattern of systematically rotating prosecutors throughout the

proceedings, reassigning new counsel in a manner that fragmented prosecutorial responsibility

and obscured individual accountability for the conduct of the prosecution. By the time of the

criminal trial, A.C.A. Rodgers became the eighth prosecutor assigned to the case, despite having

had no prior involvement in the matter. The timing and frequency of these

reassignments—particularly at pivotal stages—ensured that no single prosecutor bore ongoing

responsibility for the cumulative prosecutorial decisions.

Electronically filed / Déposé par voie électronique : 28-Nov-2025 Ottawa Superior Court of Justice / Cour supérieure de justice

177. The Justices plead that this deliberate and systematic strategy was employed to obscure

the origins of key prosecutorial decisions, insulate individual prosecutors from scrutiny and

liability, and create an artificial separation between successive Crown counsel while preserving

unbroken continuity in the Crown's overarching strategy. They further plead that despite the

recurrent reassignments, the Crown's prosecutorial objectives and litigation tactics remained

unchanged, reinforcing that these rotations were not merely administrative but a calculated effort

to shield the OCAO from accountability while maintaining control over the prosecution's

direction.

178. On January 3, 2023, a jury trial commenced in the Superior Court of Justice. The OCAO

proceeded with a prosecution that was materially indistinguishable from the Provincial Offences

Court case, which had been effectively abandoned when the Crown failed to adduce any

evidence at the scheduled trial.

179. The Justices plead that this re-prosecution was unlawful and irreconcilable with the

principles of fundamental justice, procedural fairness, and due process.

180. During jury selection on January 3, 2023, significant procedural irregularities arose when

63 of the 93 randomly selected prospective jurors failed to appear when called, with no

immediate explanation provided to the Justices. The cause of their absence was not disclosed

until January 6, 2023—after the Crown had already rested its case. This unexplained and

substantial departure from established jury selection procedures—particularly within the broader

context of procedural anomalies and the prosecution's conduct—raises serious concerns

regarding the integrity of the jury selection process and the potential for improper external

influence over its composition.

- 181. On January 5, 2023, the Crown closed its case after calling only three witnesses: the Complainant Landlord, her former legal counsel, D.L., and an Investigator from Interac Corp. These were the same three witnesses first disclosed only two weeks before trial, all of whom had previously been scheduled to testify in the parallel and duplicative Provincial Offences Court case. No additional witnesses were called to establish the charges.
- 182. The Justices plead that the Crown lacked reasonable and probable grounds to prosecute prior to trial. Alternatively, even if such grounds had initially existed, they were extinguished by the close of the Crown's case, as the evidence failed to establish the essential elements of the alleged offences, as demonstrated by the following facts:

(a) Lack of Identification Evidence

the Complainant Landlord's former legal counsel, D.L., was unable to identify the Justices in court. When asked by A.C.A. Rodgers whether he could confirm their identities, he testified: "I can't—I meet a lot of people. I recognize sort of unusual circumstances often, but the—the two people who are there look somewhat familiar, but I wouldn't swear that they are the individuals who were at the [LTB];"

(b) No Evidence Confirming the Justices' Attendance at the LTB Hearing

the Complainant Landlord could not confirm whether the Justices attended the LTB hearing or whether they had submitted the disputed rent receipts. When asked by A.C.A. Rodgers, "Did [Mr. Justice] attend that hearing?" she testified, "I

don't recall." When further asked whether Mrs. Justice attended, she again replied, "I don't recall;"

(c) Landlord's Admission of No Intent to Recover Alleged Rent Arrears

under cross-examination by Mr. Justice, the Complainant Landlord admitted that she had no interest in collecting the alleged rent arrears, testifying: "I wanted to bless [Mr. Justice] with that money." This admission directly undermined the Crown's position that the alleged misrepresentation had any legal relevance, whether by depriving her of rent, supporting any claim of economic harm, or interfering with the administration of justice; and

(d) Inconsistencies in Interac Corp.'s Evidence

Ms. Joanna Schoneveld, an Investigator from Interac Corp., directly contradicted the Crown's allegations by testifying that two of the six disputed rent receipts had not been falsified. She further confirmed that:

- (i) Interac Corp. conducted a review of the disputed rent receipts at the request of Det. White in May 2019;
- (ii) Interac Corp. did not receive a production order authorizing access to the underlying transaction records;
- (iii) no e-transfer transactions were traced, analyzed, or verified for potential fraud; and

Electronically filed / Déposé par voie électronique : 28-Nov-2025 Ottawa Superior Court of Justice / Cour supérieure de justice

(iv) Interac Corp.'s review relied exclusively on the copyright name

displayed on the receipts provided by Det. White, rather than on

any independent financial analysis.

183. Despite these fundamental evidentiary deficiencies, the Crown proceeded with the

prosecution. The Justices plead that the Crown failed to reassess its case at trial, perpetuating a

prosecution devoid of any evidentiary foundation and subjecting them to prolonged emotional,

financial, and reputational harm.

184. On January 6, 2023, the courtroom filled with supporters gathered to witness the Justices

begin their anticipated defence. Recognizing the evidentiary deficiencies, the Justices intended to

move for a directed verdict, anticipating an outright dismissal. However, before the matter could

proceed, Justice Gomery halted the trial, citing procedural irregularities that had compromised its

integrity.

185. Justice Gomery explained that at the outset of the trial, a flood had rendered the only

courtroom large enough to accommodate the full jury panel unusable, necessitating relocation to

a smaller courtroom. Citing section 22 of the *Juries Act*, R.S.O. 1990, c. J.3, Her Honour ordered

a subdivision of the jury panel. However, this subdivision occurred in the Justices' absence and

without disclosure of the method used. Upon reviewing R. v. Josipovic, 2020 ONSC 5917, which

confirmed that jury subdivision must occur in the presence of the accused, Her Honour expressed

"serious concerns" regarding the trial's legality and tentatively declared a mistrial.

186. Justice Gomery adjourned the case for the weekend to allow A.C.A. Rodgers and the

OCAO time to research and propose potential curative measures. When proceedings resumed

Electronically filed / Déposé par voie électronique : 28-Nov-2025 Ottawa Superior Court of Justice / Cour supérieure de justice

virtually on January 9 and 10, 2023, Mrs. Justice appeared visibly unwell and advised the Court

that she had been prescribed medication for a respiratory infection, prompting Her Honour to

adjourn the trial for an additional week.

187. On January 16, 2023, Mr. Justice filed a sworn affidavit detailing concerns regarding

procedural irregularities in the jury selection process, asserting that these issues compromised the

impartiality of the empaneled jury. He identified multiple jurors with potential conflicts of

interest, including individuals with prior connections to government agencies and organizations

involved in disputes with the Justices. One such juror, employed in the criminal investigations

division of the Canada Revenue Agency, provided written notice to the Court on January 4,

2023—the second day of trial—disclosing her employment role. In response, Justice Gomery

directed her removal from the panel.

188. On January 17, 2023, upon the resumption of proceedings, A.C.A. Rodgers argued that

the curative proviso under section 686(1)(b)(iv) of the Criminal Code would uphold any

conviction despite the procedural irregularities. The Court accepted this argument, and the trial

proceeded. During the proceedings, Mr. Justice became violently ill at the counsel table,

experiencing repeated episodes of uncontrollable vomiting. Despite his evident medical distress,

A.C.A. Rodgers insisted that the Justices immediately commence their defence, arguing that any

further delay would unduly burden key witnesses, including Vice Chair Charron, who had

already appeared multiple times in anticipation of testifying. Justice Gomery granted this request,

directing the Justices to proceed with their first witness immediately after the lunch recess.

189. During the lunch recess, Mr. Justice suffered a medical emergency, losing consciousness,

falling, and sustaining injuries. Upon regaining consciousness, he called 911 from within the

courthouse to request paramedic assistance. Paramedics arrived and, after conducting an assessment, determined that immediate hospitalization was medically necessary. However, at the request of A.C.A. Rodgers and with the approval of Justice Gomery, paramedics were instructed to discontinue treatment. Acting on this directive, six police officers physically intervened, interfering with medical procedures by handling paramedic equipment and preventing further assessment or stabilization, thereby delaying the urgent medical care that paramedics had deemed necessary.

- 190. An attending paramedic, J.I., appeared in court and provided an assessment of Mr. Justice's medical condition, stating that it was severe and required immediate hospitalization. Although not under oath, J.I.'s professional medical evaluation was placed before the Court. Despite this, A.C.A. Rodgers objected to Mr. Justice receiving medical care, asserting that the medical emergency was fabricated. When asked whether the Crown consented to hospitalization in light of the paramedic's professional assessment, A.C.A. Rodgers stated, "Your Honour, no. It's, in my view, a ploy."
- 191. The six attending police officers permitted Mrs. Justice to record video evidence documenting Mr. Justice's deteriorating condition while the paramedic addressed the Court. Mrs. Justice subsequently presented the footage to Justice Gomery in support of an urgent request for Mr. Justice to receive immediate medical attention. Upon considering this evidence in conjunction with the paramedic's professional medical evaluation, Justice Gomery overruled the Crown's objections and authorized Mr. Justice's transport for emergency care.
- 192. Mr. Justice was transported by ambulance to The Ottawa Hospital, where he was admitted and diagnosed with diabetic ketoacidosis and COVID-19. During his hospitalization,

Electronically filed / Déposé par voie électronique : 28-Nov-2025 Ottawa Superior Court of Justice / Cour supérieure de justice

hospital staff took a direct interest in the legal proceedings and questioned both Justices about the

nature of the case and whether they faced any potential personal security risks. Given the

extraordinary nature of these inquiries, the broader circumstances of Mr. Justice's medical

emergency, and the manner in which it unfolded within the courthouse, the Justices understood

these inquiries as an indication that hospital staff harbored concerns that individuals involved in

the prosecution may have endangered Mr. Justice's health, either intentionally or recklessly.

Reinforcing this concern, hospital staff stationed security personnel outside Mr. Justice's room

throughout his admission.

193. Pursuant to submissions from A.C.A. Rodgers, Justice Gomery ordered the disclosure of

the Justices' medical records. These records confirmed that Mr. Justice had suffered a

documented and severe health crisis, directly refuting prior assertions that his condition had been

exaggerated or fabricated. The records further established that both Justices had tested positive

for COVID-19 and were subject to mandatory quarantine measures. In light of these findings, the

trial was adjourned to accommodate their medical needs and ensure compliance with public

health directives.

194. On January 30, 2023, Mr. Justice filed a sworn affidavit alleging a strong appearance of

bias, citing A.C.A. Rodgers' characterization of the medical emergency as a "ploy" and efforts to

obstruct treatment, despite personally witnessing his deteriorating condition and hearing the

paramedic's professional assessment before the Court. He asserted that this conduct recklessly

endangered his health and well-being by delaying immediate emergency treatment, which

hospital physicians later confirmed had been medically necessary.

Electronically filed / Déposé par voie électronique : 28-Nov-2025 Ottawa Superior Court of Justice / Cour supérieure de justice

195. Mr. Justice pleads that A.C.A. Rodgers' deliberate disregard of the medical emergency

and obstruction of access to necessary medical care, despite objective medical evidence

confirming the urgency of hospitalization, constituted a willful and callous disregard for his

health and safety. He further pleads that this conduct was fundamentally incompatible with the

fair administration of justice and gives rise to a compelling inference that the prosecution was

pursued with an improper and oblique motive, prioritizing conviction over fundamental legal and

ethical obligations.

196. In light of Mr. Justice's affidavit and the circumstances surrounding his health crisis,

Justice Gomery ruled that the Court could no longer sustain the appearance of fairness and,

accordingly, declared a mistrial on January 30, 2023—25 days after the Crown had closed its

case. Citing the affidavit and the gravity of the allegations concerning procedural fairness, Her

Honour stated: "I have given [Mr. Justice's] affidavit a great deal of thought, and Mr. Rodgers, I

am considering the possibility at this point of a mistrial."

197. In response, A.C.A. Rodgers urged the Court not to declare a mistrial, arguing that the

Justices had deliberately engineered the circumstances to disrupt the proceedings. He stated:

I mean, really, in my view, this is something that at least is in part or was orchestrated by [Mr. and Mrs. Justice]. ... The Crown's case is in. It's been in for almost a month now since January 5th. I'd urge, Your Honour, in these circumstances not to declare a mistrial. I think there are other avenues that we can take to keep this on the rails. I know where Your Honour's coming from. It's

frustrating, but a mistrial is a remedy of last resort, and I say we're not there yet.

198. However, Justice Gomery rejected this argument and proceeded to declare a mistrial,

stating:

... whatever my views about the affidavit that [Mr. Justice] has presented, we are still in the middle of a health crisis. ... I think that if I were to conclude that it is not genuine, contrary to what he says in his affidavit, there would be a difficulty in me continuing to preside over this trial and maintain the appearance of fairness. So, having heard what you have to say, and sharing your sense of frustration, I am nonetheless going to declare a mistrial.

- 199. In response, A.C.A. Rodgers informed the Court that the Crown intended to proceed with a retrial, thereby continuing the prosecution without re-evaluating its legal or evidentiary foundation.
- 200. The Justices plead that, taken as a whole, the Crown's conduct—including:
 - (a) the deliberate and tactical fragmentation of prosecutorial responsibility through repeated reassignments of prosecutors;
 - (b) the prosecution of the same underlying allegations and evidence from the parallel Provincial Offences Court case under the *Criminal Code*, circumventing statutory jurisdiction and procedural safeguards;
 - (c) the suppression, mischaracterization, and distortion of material evidence to sustain a prosecution devoid of an evidentiary foundation;
 - (d) the insistence on proceeding despite the Court's discovery of serious procedural irregularities in jury selection, which fundamentally compromised the fairness of the proceedings;

Electronically filed / Déposé par voie électronique : 28-Nov-2025 Ottawa Superior Court of Justice / Cour supérieure de justice

(e) the failure to re-evaluate the viability of the prosecution at trial, despite clear

evidentiary deficiencies and Crown witnesses' inability to establish the essential

elements of the alleged offences; and

(f) the deliberate disregard for and obstruction of urgent medical treatment for Mr.

Justice, despite objective medical evidence confirming the urgency of his

deteriorating condition—

gives rise to a compelling inference that the prosecution was knowingly maintained in the

absence of reasonable and probable grounds, and was pursued for an improper and ulterior

purpose rather than being guided by the interests of justice.

The Third Series of Unfounded Criminal Charges

201. In February and March 2023, the matter was referred to assignment court, during which

A.C.A. Karimjee replaced A.C.A. Rodgers, becoming the ninth prosecutor assigned to the case

by the OCAO. From the outset of his involvement, the Justices meticulously documented A.C.A.

Karimjee's conduct and demeanor. In light of the prosecution's history—defined by the OCAO's

prior handling of the case and its persistent, yet unsuccessful, efforts to secure convictions—his

approach gave rise to a reasonable apprehension of bias.

202. Following his discharge from the hospital, Mr. Justice was diagnosed with post-acute

sequelae of COVID-19 (long-haul COVID-19), resulting in a medical incapacity that rendered

him unable to attend court proceedings. Based on substantial medical evidence presented during

the trial, the Honourable Justice Robyn M. Ryan Bell, presiding in assignment court, granted Mr.

74

Justice an exemption from attendance for the scheduled appearances on February 7, February 17, and March 3, 2023, requiring only Mrs. Justice to be present.

203. Her Honour deferred the scheduling of a new trial until Mr. Justice was medically fit to proceed. Despite this judicial determination—supported by accepted medical findings—A.C.A. Karimjee objected to any adjournment and insisted that trial dates be scheduled immediately. When the Court declined to set trial dates in Mr. Justice's absence, A.C.A. Karimjee directly contacted Mr. Justice's physician, Dr. A.S., and, by his own admission, sought to challenge the medical assessment upon which the Court had relied. In open court, A.C.A. Karimjee explicitly stated that his purpose in contacting the physician was to ask, "Why can't [Mr. Justice] participate in a virtual appearance?" and further asserted, "There's absolutely no reason why he cannot attend virtually to set trial dates." This assertion directly conflicted with the Court's prior acceptance of medical evidence confirming incapacitation.

204. On March 3, 2023, A.C.A. Karimjee placed a call to the medical clinic where Dr. A.S. practiced. Upon reaching the clinic's receptionist, N.W., he was advised that Dr. A.S. was unavailable. Without lawful authority under the *Personal Health Information Protection Act*, 2004, S.O. 2004, c. 3, Sched. A ("*PHIPA*"), A.C.A. Karimjee requested that the receptionist disclose confidential medical information regarding Mr. Justice's past appointments, including their nature and timing. This request was made absent a warrant, court order, statutory authorization, or any other lawful basis, constituting a clear contravention of *PHIPA* and violating established privacy protections.

205. Mr. Justice pleads that these actions amounted to an intentional and unjustifiable intrusion upon his reasonable expectation of privacy. He further pleads that the unauthorized

request for personal health information constituted a direct statutory breach of *PHIPA*, reinforcing the deliberate and unlawful nature of the conduct.

206. However, in the absence of a warrant or court order, the receptionist later acknowledged to the Justices that she had limited the disclosure of medical information, declining to provide A.C.A. Karimjee with full access to Mr. Justice's medical file. Specifically, she either withheld or had not yet received details regarding Mr. Justice's most recent check-up on March 2, 2023, as documented in his March 3, 2023, affidavit.

207. Later that same day, on March 3, 2023, after cross-referencing the physician's schedule with Mr. Justice's reported appointment history, A.C.A. Karimjee asserted before the Court that a discrepancy existed, implying that the physician had been absent from the clinic at the relevant time. However, the appointment had occurred through the clinic's virtual care system rather than in person, rendering his assertion factually inaccurate and materially incomplete.

208. Upon identifying what he purported to be a discrepancy between Dr. A.S.'s schedule and Mr. Justice's reported appointment history, A.C.A. Karimjee, in coordination with S/Sgt. Desjourdy, initiated efforts to advance a third set of criminal charges. On or about March 20, 2023, S/Sgt. Desjourdy contacted Dr. A.S., alleging that Mr. Justice had forged a medical document in his name.

209. After the proceedings concluded, Dr. A.S. explicitly informed Mrs. Justice on January 28, 2025, that he had neither consented to nor supported the laying of any charges, stating: "I did not agree to charge you or [Mr. Justice]."

Electronically filed / Déposé par voie électronique : 28-Nov-2025 Ottawa Superior Court of Justice / Cour supérieure de justice

210. Despite Dr. A.S.'s explicit refusal, available documentary records indicate—and Dr. A.S.

later confirmed to Mrs. Justice—that S/Sgt. Desjourdy repeatedly contacted him, asserting that

he had a professional obligation to support the initiation of charges against Mr. Justice.

Additional records further indicate that S/Sgt. Desjourdy relied on an email response allegedly

authored by Dr. A.S., dated March 22, 2023, as justification for advancing additional charges.

211. However, on January 28, 2025, Dr. A.S. unequivocally denied having authored, sent, or

endorsed any such correspondence. He further confirmed that he had never authorized any

charges against Mr. Justice and, in direct conversation, stated: "I didn't do anything. There's no

signature from me saying I agreed to charge someone—show me where."

212. Dr. A.S. further confirmed that while he was aware police were investigating Mr. Justice,

he had no knowledge that Mrs. Justice was also under investigation, that police intended to file

joint charges against her, or that she had any connection to the alleged incident. He stated that

S/Sgt. Desjourdy explicitly informed him that the investigation pertained solely to Mr. Justice. In

direct conversation with Mrs. Justice, Dr. A.S. reaffirmed this understanding, stating, "You didn't

allegedly do anything to me, so police should not have charged you for anything."

213. Nevertheless, on or about March 22, 2023, S/Sgt. Desjourdy unilaterally caused joint

charges to be pursued against both Justices, despite the absence of any evidence implicating Mrs.

Justice or establishing any connection between her and the allegations.

214. On March 22, 2023, S/Sgt. Desjourdy emailed the Justices, advising that additional

charges of perjury, obstruction of justice, and use of a forged document were being pursued

against them. The following day, on March 23, 2023, Mrs. Justice responded via email, disputing

Electronically filed / Déposé par voie électronique : 28-Nov-2025 Ottawa Superior Court of Justice / Cour supérieure de justice

the legitimacy of these charges and asserting that S/Sgt. Desjourdy had improperly fabricated

evidence against Mr. Justice as a pretext for initiating legal action against her. She stated that she

had no involvement with the medical document in question, had made no representations to the

Court regarding its contents, and that no factual or legal basis existed to link her to the

allegations.

215. Mrs. Justice further stated that the decision to charge her, despite the absence of any

evidence implicating her, constituted an unjustified expansion of the prosecution. In her email,

she asserted that this escalation reflected a broader pattern of conduct by S/Sgt. Desjourdy, in

which legal processes were weaponized as a means of reprisal following the initiation of the

original criminal charges.

216. Concerned by the escalating legal threats against her, Mrs. Justice took proactive steps to

seek accountability. Between March 23 and March 27, 2023, she disseminated an email to

thousands of key stakeholders within the justice system, including law enforcement agencies and

Crown Attorney's offices across Ontario. In her correspondence, she formally requested an

inquiry into the legal and procedural basis for S/Sgt. Desjourdy's pursuit of additional charges

against her. To support her request, she attached the complete email chain with S/Sgt.

Desjourdy—previously copied to Superintendents Lisa McDermott-Bryant and François

D'Aoust of the Ottawa Police Service—detailing his stated intent to pursue new charges.

217. Mrs. Justice specifically highlighted that S/Sgt. Desjourdy had asserted his intention to

charge her with perjury, despite the sworn affidavit in question having been executed solely by

Mr. Justice. She referenced her written inquiry to S/Sgt. Desjourdy regarding this discrepancy, to

which he responded, "Your name appears at the top of the document." In reply, Mrs. Justice

clarified that the line to which he referred was merely the title of the proceeding and that, directly below it, the document explicitly identified Mr. Justice as the affiant. She further emphasized that she neither authored nor swore the affidavit, made no representations regarding its contents, and had no legal or factual connection to the document in question.

218. On March 27, 2023, Professional Standards Coordinator Megan Herasimenko of the Ottawa Police Service Professional Standards Unit responded to Mrs. Justice's inquiries concerning S/Sgt. Desjourdy. In her reply, the Professional Standards Coordinator confirmed the Unit's awareness of the matter and issued an express advisory to file a complaint and request an investigation, thereby constituting an institutional acknowledgment of Mrs. Justice's concerns regarding S/Sgt. Desjourdy's conduct. She wrote:

Please note that our office has been made aware of this incident, and we would suggest you make a formal complaint and request an investigation with respect to this police officer's conduct.

- 219. On March 27, 2023, Mr. Justice attended assignment court as scheduled, where dates were set for the Justices to proceed with a second series of *Charter* applications. The assignment court judge, the Honourable Julianne A. Parfett, upheld the Justices' right to bring these applications over the objections of A.C.A. Karimjee, who opposed granting them another opportunity to advance constitutional challenges. The objections raised by A.C.A. Karimjee reflected the OCAO's position that the matter should proceed to retrial without further delay, despite the Justices' assertion of their *Charter* rights.
- 220. Following their court appearance, the Justices exercised their procedural rights on April 8, 2023, by requesting subpoenas from the Criminal Administration Office of the Ministry of the

Electronically filed / Déposé par voie électronique : 28-Nov-2025 Ottawa Superior Court of Justice / Cour supérieure de justice

Attorney General's Court Services Division, located on the second floor of the Ottawa

Courthouse. These subpoenas were issued to compel the attendance of key individuals at the

upcoming *Charter* application hearings, including S/Sgt. Desjourdy, Det. White, Cst. Tessier,

Cst. Nizman, A.C.A. Farrell, and P.P. Oliveira.

221. In April 2023, Mr. Justice made a critical discovery: fragments of the deleted footage

from his detention in the parking lot had been inadvertently backed up to an external hard drive.

Although not all video clips were recovered, the available footage was sufficient to reconstruct a

detailed and compelling account of the incident, depicting conduct inconsistent with lawful

policing standards. Determined to ensure that this evidence was properly preserved and subjected

to appropriate scrutiny, Mr. Justice meticulously compiled and edited the recovered footage into

Unlawful Intimidation, a documentary-style video that materially contradicted key assertions

contained in the officers' official reports.

222. The documentary captured Cst. Tessier, Cst. Nizman, and other officers positioning their

police vehicles to form a physical barricade around Mr. Justice's vehicle, preventing him from

leaving while he remained seated in the driver's seat. It further recorded officers attempting to

compel Mr. Justice to sign an undertaking imposed by S/Sgt. Desjourdy—absent lawful

authority, judicial order, or any valid legal basis. The video footage also captured the precise

moment when officers, without prior warning or apparent lawful justification, suddenly

converged on Mr. Justice, escalating the encounter through direct and unwarranted physical

intervention.

Electronically filed / Déposé par voie électronique : 28-Nov-2025 Ottawa Superior Court of Justice / Cour supérieure de justice

223. Additionally, Unlawful Intimidation incorporated excerpts from the official reports of

Cst. Tessier and Cst. Nizman, juxtaposing their documented written statements against the video

footage to demonstrate material inconsistencies between their accounts and the objectively

recorded events.

224. Upon its release by Mr. Justice across multiple social media platforms, Unlawful

Intimidation garnered widespread attention, rapidly going viral and amassing over 6.8 million

views. The public response was immediate and overwhelming, generating extensive documented

concern regarding the officers' apparent departure from lawful authority and fueling calls for

accountability, independent investigation, and systemic reform.

225. On or about April 18, 2023, S/Sgt. Desjourdy applied for a Feeney warrant before Justice

of the Peace Nathalie Breton, sitting in Haileybury, Temiskaming Shores, Ontario, seeking

judicial authorization to forcibly enter the Justices' home to arrest and detain them. Her Worship

denied the application and instead issued first-instance arrest warrants, explicitly endorsed for

their release. On or about the same date, S/Sgt. Desjourdy emailed copies of the arrest warrants

to the Justices but omitted the endorsement pages, thereby concealing that their release had been

judicially ordered.

226. On May 10, 2023, tactical officers Cst. Sabourin and Cst. Kuyi apprehended Mr. Justice

while he was en route to the bank. He surrendered peacefully, and the arrest occurred without

incident. Despite this, acting without any statutory or common law authority, S/Sgt. Desjourdy

directed the tactical officers to seize Mr. Justice's mobile device without a warrant, judicial

authorization, or any lawful basis under the Criminal Code or the Charter. While awaiting

Electronically filed / Déposé par voie électronique : 28-Nov-2025 Ottawa Superior Court of Justice / Cour supérieure de justice

transport to the police station, the officers remarked to Mr. Justice, "[S/Sgt. Desjourdy] only

pursued these charges because you weren't dealing with his charges from 2021."

227. S/Sgt. Desjourdy attempted to justify the warrantless and unlawful seizure of Mr.

Justice's mobile device by alleging that it had been used to send a text message encouraging

G.L., a Paralegal and Notary Public regularly contracted by the Justices, to file a formal

complaint regarding his conduct. In his police report, S/Sgt. Desjourdy stated: "I believe his cell

phone number '9669' was used to participate in an offence related to impersonation (s. 403

Criminal Code) and public mischief (s. 140(1) Criminal Code)." However, the number he

identified as allegedly sending the message—and the one he claimed to have seized—belonged

exclusively to Mrs. Justice. In reality, S/Sgt. Desjourdy did not seize that device. Instead, he

unlawfully seized Mr. Justice's mobile device, which bore a distinct number ending in 6996.

228. Mr. Justice pleads that this was neither an oversight nor a mistake but a deliberate and

calculated act, as S/Sgt. Desjourdy's extensive involvement in the Justices' legal proceedings

meant he knew—or ought to have known—the distinction between their respective mobile

numbers.

229. Moreover, Mr. Justice pleads that the warrantless seizure of his device was neither

incidental nor legally justified but was instead intentional, strategic, and unlawful, deliberately

impeding the Justices' ability to sustain themselves amid their ongoing legal battle. Through his

continuous involvement in the proceedings, S/Sgt. Desjourdy knew—or ought to have

known—that Mr. Justice relied on his mobile device to operate his business, which contained

security credentials and highly sensitive operational data essential to its function.

Electronically filed / Déposé par voie électronique : 28-Nov-2025 Ottawa Superior Court of Justice / Cour supérieure de justice

230. The Justices plead that S/Sgt. Desjourdy knew—or ought to have known—that the

message in question originated from Mrs. Justice's device, not Mr. Justice's, and that she had

merely responded to a direct request from G.L., who had independently sought guidance on

filing a formal complaint regarding his conduct.

231. In or about April 2023, G.L. approached Mrs. Justice, expressing grave concerns that

S/Sgt. Desjourdy was "harassing [her]" and that she was "certain he filed a malicious and

baseless complaint with the Law Society of Ontario to have [her] professionally silenced in

retaliation for declining to provide information to police that [she] had no legal obligation to

disclose." G.L. further cautioned Mrs. Justice to remain vigilant, warning: "Watch out and stay

safe. [S/Sgt. Desjourdy] is coming after you and is out for vengeance."

232. With Mr. Justice in custody, S/Sgt. Desjourdy turned his attention to Mrs. Justice. He

asserted that he was in possession of a Feeney warrant and warned that he would forcibly enter

the Justices' home if she did not immediately comply and surrender herself into custody. Relying

on this claimed legal authority, Mrs. Justice believed she had no lawful alternative and felt

compelled to surrender. Only later did she discover the material fact that no Feeney warrant had

been issued and that she had been misled as to its existence.

233. Mrs. Justice pleads that this misrepresentation constituted an unlawful exercise of

authority, deliberately employed to compel her compliance, restrict her liberty, and prevent her

from taking immediate action to facilitate Mr. Justice's release.

234. S/Sgt. Desjourdy informed Mrs. Justice that he intended to come to the Justices' home

and take her into custody, a statement that caused her to fear for her safety. Concerned about the

Electronically filed / Déposé par voie électronique : 28-Nov-2025 Ottawa Superior Court of Justice / Cour supérieure de justice

potential for conflict, Mrs. Justice urgently contacted both the Professional Standards Unit and

the executive branch of the Ottawa Police Service via phone and email, seeking immediate

intervention.

235. In an email dated May 10, 2023, sent to Professional Standards Coordinator Megan

Herasimenko, Supt. D'Aoust, and other senior officials, Mrs. Justice expressed grave concerns

that S/Sgt. Desjourdy might mischaracterize her conduct and fabricate allegations of aggression

as justification for the use of extreme force. She further requested safeguards against the risk of

serious harm or threats to her safety posed by an officer exercising unchecked authority.

236. As a result of Mrs. Justice's urgent appeal, responsibility for executing her arrest was

reassigned to off-duty officers Cst. Chase and Cst. Lee, effectively removing S/Sgt. Desjourdy

from direct involvement in her apprehension.

237. In response, under circumstances giving rise to a strong inference of retaliation, S/Sgt.

Desjourdy attempted to direct the off-duty officers and child protection worker, L.B., to place the

Justices' daughter into protective custody, despite having no lawful basis or justification. He

knew or ought to have known that arrangements had already been made for her care with Mrs.

Justice's mother. This attempt was ultimately thwarted when Mrs. Justice's mother arrived as the

directive was being issued. Upon assessing the situation, the off-duty officers and child

protection worker refused to comply, affirming that there was no lawful or factual basis for

removing the child from the family.

238. During the two hours preceding Mrs. Justice's transport to the police station, the off-duty

officers toured the Justices' property and engaged in candid discussions with her regarding the

Electronically filed / Déposé par voie électronique : 28-Nov-2025 Ottawa Superior Court of Justice / Cour supérieure de justice

circumstances leading to her arrest, her role with CIG, and broader systemic failures within the

justice system. They openly expressed concerns about S/Sgt. Desjourdy's conduct, characterizing

his actions toward the Justices as improper and legally questionable. They also viewed Unlawful

Intimidation, the widely circulated video, and remarked on the apparent breaches of professional

and legal standards depicted therein. Additionally, they encouraged Mrs. Justice to pursue formal

action against S/Sgt. Desjourdy, underscoring that accountability was fundamental to restoring

public confidence in law enforcement.

239. The off-duty officers' conduct implicitly acknowledged that S/Sgt. Desjourdy's actions

were highly irregular and legally questionable. Their refusal to execute the unwarranted child

protection directive, their deliberate delay of Mrs. Justice's arrest and transport for two hours to

engage in candid discussions and review Unlawful Intimidation, and their encouragement of

Mrs. Justice's pursuit of redress collectively underscored a critical reality: even within the

Ottawa Police Service, there was acknowledgment of the gravity and impropriety of S/Sgt.

Desjourdy's conduct.

240. On or about May 10, 2023, S/Sgt. Desjourdy caused joint charges to be laid against the

Justices under section 139(2) and section 368(1)(a) of the Criminal Code, along with a separate

charge against Mr. Justice alone under section 131 of the Criminal Code. The specific charges

were as follows:

Perjury - [Mr. Justice]

Between the 2nd day of March in the year 2023 and the 3rd day of March in the year 2023 at the City of Ottawa in the East/De L'Est Region did, with intent to mislead, make before a person authorized by law to permit it to be made, namely G.L, a Notary Public, a false statement by affidavit which contained a false

medical note dated March 2, 2023, knowing the statement to be false, contrary to Section 131 of the Criminal Code of Canada.

Obstructing Justice - [Mr. Justice and Mrs. Justice]

Between the 2nd day of March in the year 2023 and the 3rd day of March in the year 2023 at the City of Ottawa in the East/De L'Est Region did intentionally attempt to obstruct, pervert, or defeat the course of justice by submitting an affidavit to The Ottawa Court, containing a false medical note dated March 2, 2023, contrary to Section 139, subsection (2) of the Criminal Code of Canada.

Use of Forged Document - [Mr. Justice and Mrs. Justice]

Between the 2nd day of March in the year 2023 and the 3rd day of March in the year 2023 at the City of Ottawa in the East/De L'Est Region did, knowing a document, namely an affidavit submitted to The Ottawa Court containing a false medical note dated March 2, 2023, to be forged, use, deal with or act on it as if it were genuine, contrary to Section 368, subsection (1)(a) of the Criminal Code of Canada.

241. The Justices plead that these charges were entirely without merit, initiated in bad faith, and formed part of a broader pattern of targeted law enforcement and prosecutorial misconduct. In the alternative, they plead that even if reasonable and probable grounds existed to charge Mr. Justice, those same grounds were improperly and unlawfully extended to Mrs. Justice, further demonstrating that the charges against both were pursued in bad faith as part of a sustained and coordinated abuse of process. In any event, Mrs. Justice pleads that the charges against her were wholly unfounded, pursued in bad faith, and a direct extension of the improper and unlawful misuse of law enforcement and prosecutorial authority against both Justices.

Electronically filed / Déposé par voie électronique : 28-Nov-2025 Ottawa Superior Court of Justice / Cour supérieure de justice

242. Despite previously asserting his intent to proceed with a joint perjury charge against the

Justices, S/Sgt. Desjourdy ultimately did not pursue the charge against Mrs. Justice. She pleads

that this decision was driven by mounting pressure from individuals who became aware of her

widely disseminated email—sent to thousands of key stakeholders in the justice

system—exposing the fundamental implausibility of the allegation, as it was predicated on a

sworn document that explicitly identified Mr. Justice as the sole deponent, rendering any charge

against her legally untenable.

243. Upon their separate arrivals at the Ottawa Police Service Central Station following their

arrests on May 10, 2023, both Justices personally observed officers involved in their arrests and

processing explicitly advising station officers that, despite their arrest warrants being expressly

endorsed for release, S/Sgt. Desjourdy had specifically directed that they be detained overnight

for a bail hearing the following day. This directive, issued in direct contravention of the Court's

explicit order for their release, unlawfully circumvented judicial authority, resulting in their

arbitrary and unlawful detention, thereby depriving them of their right to liberty absent any legal

justification.

The Bail Hearings

244. The conduct of S/Sgt. Desjourdy and the OCAO in relation to the Justices' prosecutions

came under significant scrutiny during their bail hearings. The proceedings exposed serious

procedural irregularities that raised material concerns regarding the Crown's motives and its

adherence to procedural fairness. In an extraordinary and legally untenable submission, A.C.A.

Electronically filed / Déposé par voie électronique : 28-Nov-2025 Ottawa Superior Court of Justice / Cour supérieure de justice

Karimjee sought to revoke the Justices' release on all three bail grounds—primary, secondary,

and tertiary—even though they had never been subject to bail conditions in the first instance.

245. The Justices plead that this approach constituted a fundamental and unjustifiable

departure from established legal principles, violating procedural fairness and subverting the

proper administration of justice.

246. The bail hearings were presided over by the Honourable Justice Daniel F. Moore

("Justice Moore"), of the Toronto region. Justice Moore conducted a detailed review of the

Crown's submissions and identified multiple deficiencies. His Honour scrutinized A.C.A.

Karimjee's argument for detention, raising concerns about whether the necessary legal

foundation had been properly established. His Honour's analysis focused on whether the

procedural safeguards governing pre-trial detention had been strictly observed.

247. During the bail hearing on May 11, 2023, A.C.A. Karimjee argued that the Justices

should remain in custody based, in part, on an allegedly forged medical note. Justice Moore

scrutinized the legal foundation for this position, inquiring: "You're seeking to detain them for

filing a, a false medical letter?" Attempting to justify the Crown's position, A.C.A. Karimjee

later stated:

grounds is that it's a unique sort of formulation of the primary grounds from the Crown's perspective and, and, and from the Crown's perspective, the primary grounds is not so much that they'll elope and, and, and, you know, bye, good-bye,

... I think that the only thing that I would like to sort of explain about the primary

but more in terms of not attending to the matter to its conclusion, like come up

with, with false excuses, et cetera, et cetera.

Electronically filed / Déposé par voie électronique : 28-Nov-2025 Ottawa Superior Court of Justice / Cour supérieure de justice

248. On May 12, 2023, A.C.A. Savage replaced A.C.A. Karimjee as the assigned prosecutor,

becoming the tenth Crown attorney assigned to the case. During the proceedings, A.C.A. Savage

disputed the Justices' reported medical concerns from the previous day. The Justices informed

the Court that a judicial order requiring their medical assessment at the Ottawa-Carleton

Detention Centre had not been enforced. Consequently, Mr. Justice was denied access to his

prescribed insulin, and Mrs. Justice was denied access to a breast pump, resulting in severe pain

and medical complications due to her inability to breastfeed while incarcerated. In response,

A.C.A. Savage stated: "So, I would just say that just for the record, the Crown is not accepting as

truthful the claims made by [the Justices] today."

249. Justice Moore inquired into the Crown's position on detention, asking, "And it's, it's the

Crown's position that they should be detained?" A.C.A. Savage responded, "Yes." Seeking

further clarity, Justice Moore asked, "Both of them?" A.C.A. Savage confirmed, "Yes." Justice

Moore then questioned whether this position aligned with the fact that Mrs. Justice had no prior

criminal record and had initially been released on an undertaking, stating, "Even though [Mrs.

Justice] has no criminal record and was put on the original release on an undertaking, and the

Crown had offered non-custodial resolutions if restitution was paid on the original charges?"

250. The issue of financial security in relation to bail was then addressed. Justice Moore

inquired whether the Justices had equity in their home that could satisfy any financial obligation

with respect to bail, stating, "It appears that they do at least have some equity in the home that's

still in their name that they could satisfy a financial obligation with respect to bail?"

- 251. In response, A.C.A. Savage invoked the allegation of fraud and money laundering, despite it having been withdrawn nearly two years prior to the bail hearings. He stated, "Yeah. The allegation is that money is fraudulently obtained, but, yes."
- 252. Justice Moore observed that even if that allegation were assumed to be true, it did not account for the substantial value of the Justices' property, stating, "Well, no, but it's—the, the nonpayment of rent for six months wouldn't amount to the \$200,000 down payment that they made. So it would appear there's substantial funds available for the financial obligation."
- 253. Despite the existence of a court-ordered, 32-page medical report—provided to the Crown as disclosure—which set out objective clinical findings, conclusive diagnostic results, and an unequivocal medical assessment confirming that Mr. Justice had suffered a severe medical episode, A.C.A. Savage nonetheless asserted that detention was necessary, in part, on the premise that Mr. Justice had feigned illness to obstruct the proceedings, arguing:
 - So, I make submissions on why detention is necessary and again, what we have here, as I said before, is a concerted and sustained effort to avoid a trial on the merits. It is an available inference and, in fact, my submission is a strong inference that the sickness claimed by [Mr. Justice] is fake and not true and that it, it was used to derail the trial in January 2023.
- 254. A.C.A. Savage advanced additional submissions concerning the Justices' conduct, explicitly referencing their allegations against prosecutors and characterizing them as having a "highly contentious attitude." He continued, "The bail concern is that these disrespectful antics or strategies will continue. It's my submission, this Court should have no confidence that this won't continue if they are released—" before being interrupted by Justice Moore, who stated, "Well, being disrespectful is not a crime unless it's punished by—unless the Superior Court

chooses to punish them for contempt, which they certainly have that power, and they've restrained themselves to date."

255. When A.C.A. Savage concluded the Crown's submissions, Justice Moore indicated that the Court was prepared to grant bail without requiring submissions from the Justices. Before delivering his ruling, His Honour provided the Crown with an opportunity to reconsider its position on detention in light of concerns regarding procedural fairness. His Honour reiterated the principle that pre-trial detention is a measure of last resort, stating:

I mean look, I release people all the time that have committed numerous violent offences ... I mean, the release is by far the most common, and detention is reserved for those cases in which no other means can prevent the commission of further offences or interference with the administration of justice.

- 256. His Honour then sought confirmation from the Crown, asking, "They started at an undertaking and aren't they—shouldn't they be given some other step on the ladder before going to detention?"
- 257. Despite the Court's clear indication that bail would be granted and its implicit suggestion that the Crown's position was inconsistent with procedural fairness, A.C.A. Savage refused to reconsider his position, stating, "I've made my submissions on that, Your Honour. I don't think I have anything else to add."
- 258. On May 12, 2023, after the Justices had spent three days in custody, Justice Moore ordered their release on bail—without requiring them to present any submissions in their defence—stating, "So [Mr. and Mrs. Justice], I am going to release you on a release order, without surety or deposit, but with a financial obligation in the amount of \$50,000 each."

Electronically filed / Déposé par voie électronique : 28-Nov-2025 Ottawa Superior Court of Justice / Cour supérieure de justice

259. His Honour's ruling underscored the Crown's failure to establish any lawful or justifiable

basis for detention. Moreover, the Court's observations throughout the bail hearings gave rise to

a compelling inference that the Crown's position was inconsistent with the proper administration

of justice and the principles of procedural fairness, and further raised serious concerns that its

stance had been advanced for punitive or otherwise improper purposes.

260. Following the ruling, Justice Moore raised the issue of whether, given the history of

interactions between S/Sgt. Desjourdy and the Justices, it would be appropriate to reassign the

file to another officer. His Honour inquired, "I just wanted to—it hasn't been a pleasant

relationship in the past. Would it make sense to have them contact someone else?"

261. Despite the Court's acknowledgment of past conflict, A.C.A. Savage objected to the

request and refused to consent to reassigning the file to a different officer, even though the

Justices agreed with the Court's suggestion. He stated, "I don't think we'd be making an order

here for the Ottawa Police to assign a new officer. I don't think the Ottawa Police Service would

accede to that request."

262. The Justices plead that, taken as a whole, the conduct of the police and

Crown—including but not limited to:

(a) obtaining Mr. Justice's private medical records without a warrant, court order, or

any lawful justification, in direct contravention of established constitutional and

statutory protections;

- (b) proceeding with charges despite Dr. A.S.'s explicit refusal to support or authorize any charges, thereby demonstrating a lack of objective investigative independence;
- (c) pursuing charges against Mrs. Justice despite clear and exculpatory evidence establishing her lack of involvement, thereby rendering the prosecution manifestly unreasonable;
- (d) engaging in the warrantless and unlawful seizure of Mr. Justice's mobile device without any legal justification or statutory authority, thereby constituting an unreasonable search and seizure contrary to constitutional guarantees;
- (e) deliberately omitting the endorsement pages from the Justices' first-instance warrants—which explicitly ordered their immediate release after a *Feeney* warrant had been applied for and denied—thereby materially altering the effect of judicial orders through deception;
- (f) falsely asserting that police were in possession of a *Feeney* warrant to coerce surrender, when in reality, the *Feeney* warrant application had been denied and no such warrant existed, thereby misleading Mrs. Justice and improperly interfering with due process;
- (g) directing officers to override the Court's explicit endorsement for the Justices' release and instead detaining them for a bail hearing, thereby unlawfully disregarding judicial authority; and

Electronically filed / Déposé par voie électronique : 28-Nov-2025 Ottawa Superior Court of Justice / Cour supérieure de justice

(h) seeking punitive bail revocation without a proper legal basis, circumventing

established bail principles, and thereby improperly weaponizing the process as a

form of extrajudicial punishment—

gives rise to an inescapable inference that the prosecution was pursued in bad faith, for a punitive

and improper purpose, and as part of a broader pattern of misconduct.

263. The Justices further plead that this conduct was deliberately intended to arbitrarily detain

them, exert control over them, impede their ability to effectively represent themselves, and

obstruct their ability to examine key witnesses under oath—including S/Sgt. Desjourdy, Det.

White, Cst. Tessier, Cst. Nizman, A.C.A. Farrell, and P.P. Oliveira—who were scheduled to

testify less than two weeks after the bail hearings, on May 23, 2023.

264. The Justices further and additionally plead that this conduct was not only intended to

shield the police and Crown from scrutiny arising from prior misconduct but also to suppress the

continued exposure of the widely circulated video Unlawful Intimidation, which had amassed 6.8

million views and remained under their direct control. They further plead that the timing and

nature of their arrest and detention—occurring while the video continued to gain widespread

public traction—give rise to a compelling inference that the police and Crown sought to

neutralize their ability to further amplify, manage, or disseminate the content. This conduct, they

plead, constituted a retaliatory and unlawful abuse of state power, employing incarceration as a

means of extrajudicial punishment, coercive intimidation, and retribution for their continued

exposure of institutional misconduct.

Electronically filed / Déposé par voie électronique : 28-Nov-2025 Ottawa Superior Court of Justice / Cour supérieure de justice

The Second *Charter* Challenge and Crown Admissions

265. Following the adjournment of previously scheduled hearing dates, the Justices each

argued separate *Charter* applications on July 4, 5, and 7, 2023, alleging breaches of their right to

be tried within a reasonable time under Section 11(b). The prosecution was reassigned to A.C.A.

Rodgers, and the Honourable Justice Marc R. Labrosse ("Justice Labrosse") was assigned as the

presiding trial judge.

266. The preparation of the Section 11(b) Charter applications imposed an overwhelming and

unsustainable burden on Mr. Justice, necessitating sustained legal research, the drafting of

complex filings, and the articulation of intricate constitutional arguments—all under relentless

pressure, while self-represented, and without meaningful respite. This burden was further

compounded by the adverse effects of his three-day incarceration, which materially

compromised his health and directly disrupted CEPC's operations.

267. During this period, Mr. Justice's mobile device—serving as the exclusive security key to

CEPC's operational infrastructure—was unlawfully seized. In addition to causing ongoing and

substantial financial and operational harm, the seizure directly impaired his ability to advance

Charter litigation. His section 11(b) application, stored on the device and nearing completion,

was rendered inaccessible and had to be reconstructed from memory, resulting in further delay,

procedural prejudice, and significant personal strain.

268. On or about June 5, 2023, the cumulative effects of prolonged stress and physical

exhaustion culminated in an incident in which Mr. Justice, while seated upright and engaged in

the preparation of his section 11(b) *Charter* application, involuntarily fell asleep. Upon abruptly

Electronically filed / Déposé par voie électronique : 28-Nov-2025 Ottawa Superior Court of Justice / Cour supérieure de justice

awakening, he was startled, lost his balance, and fell from his chair, sustaining an injury later

diagnosed as a fracture to his right, dominant wrist.

269. Having previously been subjected to heightened security measures and questioning at the

hospital in connection with perceived personal security risks—an experience that gave rise to a

well-founded apprehension for his safety in both medical settings and public spaces—Mr. Justice

elected not to seek immediate medical attention. It was not until March 2025 that an X-ray

revealed evidence of prior trauma to his right wrist, for which no earlier medical documentation

existed.

270. The untreated fracture resulted in prolonged and debilitating pain, as well as significant

physical limitations, compelling Mr. Justice to rely on his non-dominant hand for essential tasks

while preparing complex legal submissions under extreme duress. He continues to suffer from

functional impairment and chronic discomfort, and is anticipated to require additional medical

intervention, including diagnostic imaging, rehabilitative therapy, and potentially surgical repair.

271. Mr. Justice pleads that his injury was a direct and reasonably foreseeable consequence of

the extraordinary and coercive demands imposed upon him in the course of advancing a

constitutional challenge to what he alleges was an unjust and unlawful prosecution—a challenge

rendered uniquely burdensome by his status as a self-represented litigant, requiring him to

independently acquire, interpret, and apply complex legal principles without the assistance of

legal counsel. He further pleads that the psychological distress arising from the broader pattern

of law enforcement and prosecutorial misconduct—when considered in conjunction with

ongoing procedural irregularities and personal security concerns identified by hospital

96

Electronically filed / Déposé par voie électronique : 28-Nov-2025 Ottawa Superior Court of Justice / Cour supérieure de justice

staff—was a substantial and operative cause of his decision to forgo timely medical treatment for

a serious and debilitating physical injury.

272. On July 6, 2023, Mr. Justice was approached by E.B., a representative of K.S.V.A., the

court-appointed firm designated to administer the sale of P.E.O.—a longstanding competitor of

CEPC—pursuant to court-supervised insolvency proceedings under the authority of the relevant

receivership order. By order of the Superior Court of Justice dated June 8, 2023, K.S.V.A. had

been formally appointed as interim receiver pursuant to section 243 of the Bankruptcy and

Insolvency Act R.S.C., 1985, c. B-3. By a subsequent order dated July 4, 2023, the court

authorized the commencement of a sale process following P.E.O.'s placement into receivership.

273. Mr. Justice was recognized by the court-appointed receiver as a qualified and credible

prospective purchaser and, following preliminary discussions with E.B., formally commenced

due diligence with the intention of submitting an acquisition offer. Despite sustained and bona

fide efforts to advance the process, Mr. Justice was ultimately unable to secure lender financing

within the court-prescribed timeline, resulting in P.E.O.'s assignment into bankruptcy on

September 28, 2023. No other purchaser submitted an accepted offer, and, as of that date, no

other entity possessed the requisite operational infrastructure, regulatory licencing, or

industry-specific expertise necessary to assume control of P.E.O.'s portfolio of natural gas and

electricity supply contracts and to integrate them effectively into an existing commercial

platform.

274. The Justices plead that, but for the unlawful and unjustified continuation of criminal

proceedings against Mr. Justice, he would have had the requisite time, resources, and strategic

flexibility to secure financing for CEPC's acquisition of P.E.O. As a direct, foreseeable, and

proximate consequence, CEPC was deprived of a substantial and irreplaceable business opportunity. The Justices further plead that this demonstrable and quantifiable economic loss was the result of the state's wrongful conduct and constituted an unlawful and unjustified interference with Mr. Justice's right to engage in lawful commercial enterprise.

- 275. As part of their section 11(b) *Charter* applications, the Justices were required to obtain official court transcripts from all prior proceedings. To ensure accuracy and reliability, they retained V.T.R.S., a highly respected and long-established transcription and court reporting firm with decades of professional experience. However, the process took a concerning turn when V.T.R.S. staff reported that Justice Gomery had issued directives mandating extensive and substantive revisions to the transcripts, including the removal of critical portions of the record.
- 276. The Justices plead that these directives—if implemented as reported—would have resulted in the improper alteration of the official judicial record, thereby undermining procedural fairness and giving rise to serious concerns regarding the integrity of the administration of justice.
- 277. Troubled by these directives, on May 14, 2023, K.F., the owner of V.T.R.S., contacted Mrs. Justice to convey her concern. She stated: "Many of us are deeply uncomfortable with the revisions Justice Gomery is directing us to make. It has profoundly unsettled my team, and we are genuinely concerned about your case. We would readily respond to any questions under subpoena. This situation is unlike anything we have ever encountered."
- 278. On June 2, 2023, J.C., Appeals and Project Manager for V.T.R.S., also contacted Mrs. Justice to underscore the gravity of the situation, stating as follows: "Justice Gomery has directed

Electronically filed / Déposé par voie électronique : 28-Nov-2025 Ottawa Superior Court of Justice / Cour supérieure de justice

us to revise content that is unrelated to grammar or spelling. In all our years of professional

experience in this field, we have never encountered anything of this nature, nor have we ever

been instructed to make alterations of this kind. We are being directed to remove entire sections

of material from the record—content which, in our professional judgment, raises serious and

legitimate concerns. What we are being asked to do is, at a minimum, ethically questionable and

may well be unlawful."

279. The Justices plead that these reports—when considered in conjunction with the personal

security concerns previously raised by hospital staff—give rise to a reasonable apprehension that

Mr. Justice's safety within the courthouse on January 17, 2023, may have been compromised by

conduct that was deliberate, reckless, or otherwise incompatible with the proper administration

of justice. The Justices further plead that, insofar as Justice Gomery was aware of these concerns,

Her Honour was under a legal and ethical obligation to address them through appropriate judicial

channels. They further plead that any material alteration of the court record under such

circumstances gives rise to serious and legitimate concerns regarding the preservation of judicial

impartiality, institutional accountability, and the foundational principles of fundamental justice.

280. On or about May 23, 2023, A.C.A. Rodgers brought a motion to quash the subpoenas

issued to A.C.A. Farrell and P.P. Oliveira. However, on June 20, 2023, in an effort to obviate the

need for further judicial scrutiny, A.C.A. Rodgers expressly agreed to place on the record the

essential facts the Justices intended to establish through P.P. Oliveira's testimony, in exchange for

the withdrawal of his subpoena. In doing so, he unequivocally acknowledged that no substantive

distinction existed between the POA proceeding initiated by Det. White and the criminal

prosecution initiated by S/Sgt. Desjourdy. This concession was formally entered on the record as follows:

... we're not contesting that there's this overlap between the *POA* charge and the criminal charges that are on the indictment. ... from what I can tell from Mr. Oliveira's evidence, that seems to be what [Mr. and Mrs. Justice] want from him—that the contents of the *POA* charges rely on the same witnesses, it's the same body of evidence, and that's not something I'm disputing.

- 281. The Justices plead that this admission gives rise to a compelling inference that prosecutors from the OCAO, at all material times prior, knowingly maintained a legally unfounded distinction between the two proceedings as part of a sustained and deliberate abuse of process. The Justices further plead that this artificial separation was intentionally preserved for the improper purpose of obstructing their ability to mount a full and fair defence, misleading the Court, and manufacturing a pretext to justify the continuation of a prosecution lacking any lawful foundation.
- 282. In his final submissions on July 7, 2023, in relation to the Justices' section 11(b) *Charter* applications, A.C.A. Rodgers advanced a preemptive abuse of process defence under section 7 of the *Charter*—an issue that had not been raised by the Justices, had not been properly placed before the Court, and therefore fell outside the permissible scope of the proceedings.
- 283. The Justices plead that this submission was procedurally improper, speculative in nature, and advanced without any legal foundation. They further plead that, by introducing a section 7 argument in the absence of formal notice or application, A.C.A. Rodgers improperly broadened the scope of the proceedings and created a misleading impression concerning the legal and factual basis upon which the charges had been initiated. They also plead that the argument was

calculated to insulate state actors from scrutiny and to reframe the prosecution's theory of the case in a manner that concealed material facts. The Justices plead that the following statements exemplify how the prosecution advanced a position that was misleading and incompatible with its duty to proceed with fairness, objectivity, and candour in all proceedings:

In terms of, like, an abuse of process, like, I would have called evidence if this was before the Court about why the criminal charges were laid when they were, but what Your Honour can at least remember is there were these three charges, right? So there was a fraud over, there was a laundering proceeds of crime, and there was a possess stolen property of crime, right?

... And as well, there's a laundering charge, so there would have to be evidence about how this stolen money we say is cleaned or laundered, and evidence enough to give the police reasonable and probable grounds. And again, that's not in the disclosure package either.

I don't know if it's the court's role to scrutinize the police laying charges when they do. Again, absent an allegation of misfeasance or abuse of process, and, and we don't have that here, but I will just say that it's not as if the police just decided to lay criminal charges for some—I'm struggling on the word here, but some—I'm sorry, negligent reason I guess could be a word.

These investigations take time. Evidence comes out when it does and, you know, if it was before the Court, we would have led evidence on that. And it's not. And so at the end of the day, we say section 7 is not engaged.

284. The Justices plead that A.C.A. Rodgers' statements give rise to an inescapable inference that, at all material times, the OCAO was aware of its inability to substantiate reasonable and probable grounds for the initial criminal charges—charges that had, in fact, been abandoned nearly two years earlier. The Justices further plead that by asserting the existence of reasonable and probable grounds while simultaneously withholding disclosure and evidentiary

substantiation, the Crown breached its constitutional disclosure obligations and contravened the principles of fundamental justice.

285. The Crown's continued refusal to disclose this information deprived the Justices of a meaningful opportunity to challenge the lawfulness of the charges and to assess whether the exercise of prosecutorial discretion was properly grounded in legal principle and supported by a sufficient evidentiary foundation. This omission further impaired the Court's ability to exercise effective judicial oversight as to whether the initial charges had been laid in good faith, and gave rise to an elevated need for rigorous scrutiny of the remaining charges then pending before the Court.

286. The Justices plead that no such evidence could have existed, as the laundering charge was legally and factually untenable from the outset. They further plead that A.C.A. Rodgers' statements gave rise to a materially misleading representation that additional inculpatory evidence existed to support the initial charges, despite the Crown's failure to disclose any such material. The Justices also plead that this misrepresentation compounded pre-existing deficiencies in the prosecution's case, further undermining its legitimacy and reinforcing the inference that the proceedings were instituted and maintained without any lawful foundation.

287. By the time of A.C.A. Rodgers' final submission, the only charges remaining before the Court—obstructing justice and use of a forged document—had arisen from a subsequent charging decision made by D.C.A. Holmes, in collaboration with S/Sgt. Desjourdy, following the stay of the initial charges. Nevertheless, A.C.A. Rodgers omitted any reference to these charges from the Crown's preemptive abuse of process defence, thereby failing to address the actual foundation of the prosecution then before the Court.

Electronically filed / Déposé par voie électronique : 28-Nov-2025 Ottawa Superior Court of Justice / Cour supérieure de justice

288. By framing his submissions around charges that had been abandoned and no longer bore

legal relevance—rather than addressing the subsequent charging decision that formed the

foundation of the prosecution then before the Court—A.C.A. Rodgers diverted judicial attention

away from the procedural irregularities that fundamentally underpinned the remaining charges.

This omission materially compromised the Court's capacity to evaluate whether the continuation

of the prosecution warranted scrutiny within the established framework governing abuse of

process.

289. The Justices plead that, by omitting any reference to the subsequent charging

decision—the only decision directly bearing on the prosecution then before the Court—A.C.A.

Rodgers materially misrepresented the procedural history of the case, thereby impairing the

Court's ability to meaningfully assess the legitimacy of the proceedings and properly discharge

its oversight function in accordance with established legal principles.

290. The Justices' section 11(b) Charter applications asserted that, in light of the Crown's

express concession that the proceedings initiated by Det. White and those subsequently

commenced by S/Sgt. Desjourdy were factually and evidentiary indistinguishable, the period of

delay ought properly to be calculated from May 28, 2019—the date on which Det. White first

elected to proceed against Mr. Justice—rather than from January 2021, when S/Sgt. Desjourdy

formally laid criminal charges. Mrs. Justice separately submitted that pre-charge delay was

applicable in her case, while Mr. Justice advanced that the Provincial Offences Court proceeding

and the subsequent criminal prosecution formed a single, uninterrupted continuum of state

conduct, giving rise to one continuous period of delay.

103

Electronically filed / Déposé par voie électronique : 28-Nov-2025 Ottawa Superior Court of Justice / Cour supérieure de justice

of delay applicable to both Mr. and Mrs. Justice should be calculated as commencing on May 28, 2019—the date on which Det. White initiated proceedings against Mr. Justice—even though Mrs. Justice was not formally charged until January 2021, nearly two years later, by S/Sgt.

In His Honour's ruling, Justice Labrosse agreed with the Justices and held that the period

Desjourdy. However, in an outcome that ultimately defeated the Justices' section 11(b) claims,

Justice Labrosse concurrently accepted the Crown's reliance on an evolving body of

jurisprudence recognizing delays arising from the COVID-19 pandemic as discrete exceptional

circumstances within the meaning of the Jordan framework. Invoking that

jurisprudence—together with deductions for delay attributed to Mr. Justice's illness—A.C.A.

Rodgers ultimately persuaded the Court that the total delay should be reduced from 1,571 days to

857 days, thereby narrowly avoiding the 912-day ceiling for a presumptive stay under section

11(b).

291.

292. Justice Labrosse's ruling further acknowledged that the Supreme Court of Canada has articulated a binding legal framework permitting circumstances such as those faced by the Justices to be challenged as an abuse of process under sections 7 and 11(d) of the *Charter*—an argument that, at that stage of the proceedings, had not yet been formally advanced. Upon receiving the written ruling on August 10, 2023—less than one month before the scheduled retrial on September 5, 2023—the Justices promptly declared their intention to bring an abuse of process application. Acting with diligence and urgency, they delivered formal notice on August 22, 2023, to both the OCAO and A.C.A. Savage—who had assumed carriage of the retrial

following A.C.A. Rodgers' withdrawal at the conclusion of the *Charter* litigation—advising of

their intent to bring the application prior to the retrial's commencement.

The Third *Charter* Challenge

293. On the morning their retrial was scheduled to commence—September 5, 2023—the Justices filed an abuse of process application pursuant to sections 7 and 11(d) of the *Charter*, together with a motion to adjourn the retrial. A.C.A. Savage opposed the adjournment, submitting that the retrial ought to proceed as scheduled and that the application should not take precedence. The Court convened a series of trial management appearances to address procedural sequencing, with arguments heard on September 11 and 15, 2023. On September 20, 2023, Justice Labrosse ruled that the abuse of process application must be adjudicated in advance of the retrial, finding that its determination was necessary to preserve the integrity of the proceedings and safeguard the broader interests of justice. Consequently, the retrial was adjourned pending the Court's ruling on the application.

294. Between September 2023 and May 2024, over the course of sixteen case management appearances, the Justices and A.C.A. Savage engaged in sustained procedural coordination with the Court to finalize the framework governing the scheduled hearing of the abuse of process application, set to proceed from August 26 to 30, 2024. As a result of these proceedings, the Court formally endorsed the following hearing structure:

- (a) the allocation of twenty-five (25) hours of court time for the hearing of the application;
- (b) a structured division of that time, apportioning seventeen and a half (17.5) hours to the Justices for the presentation of their case, and seven and a half (7.5) hours to the Crown for its response; and

- (c) the scheduled examination of up to sixteen (16) defence witnesses, including, but not limited to, S/Sgt. Desjourdy, Det. White, Cst. Tessier, Cst. Nizman, D.C.A. Holmes, Dr. C.G., Dr. A.S., and an expert in police investigative procedures.
- 295. The Justices plead that their abuse of process application was brought to adjudicate core factual and legal issues central to this action—issues which, owing to the termination of the criminal proceedings prior to any determination on the merits, remain unresolved. They further plead that the outcome of that application would have constituted a material and determinative factor in their decision to pursue damages against the Defendants named herein, as it would have yielded judicial findings directly relevant and material to the claims now advanced.
- 296. As reflected in the application record and corresponding court transcripts, the abuse of process application was brought to establish, among other matters:
 - (a) that the conduct of S/Sgt. Desjourdy, Det. White, Cst. Tessier, and Cst. Nizman fell below the standard of care required of law enforcement officers in the lawful execution of investigations, detentions, and arrests, as mandated by their statutory duties and the governing principles of constitutional law;
 - (b) that the investigative measures undertaken by S/Sgt. Desjourdy, Det. White, Cst. Tessier, and Cst. Nizman were materially deficient, carried out negligently and in bad faith, and were thus incapable of sustaining any lawful claim of reasonable mistake or due diligence in the discharge of their statutory and constitutional duties;

- (c) that Cst. Tessier and Cst. Nizman, acting under the direction and supervision of S/Sgt. Desjourdy, unlawfully detained Mr. Justice in his vehicle and thereafter effected a warrantless arrest in contravention of section 495 of the *Criminal Code*, in the absence of reasonable grounds or exigent circumstances capable of lawfully justifying either the detention or the arrest;
- (d) that the Crown's acknowledged decision to re-prosecute the same factual allegations and evidentiary record—previously advanced before the Provincial Offences Court—under the *Criminal Code* contravened principles of procedural fairness and due process, constituted an abuse of process, and violated the principles of fundamental justice through the impermissible duplication of proceedings; and
- (e) that the criminal charges were initiated and pursued absent reasonable and probable grounds, and were motivated by improper, extraneous, and abusive law enforcement and prosecutorial considerations, thereby infringing the Justices' rights under the *Charter*.
- 297. On or about November 17, 2023, subpoenas were served on S/Sgt. Desjourdy and Det. White, compelling their testimony concerning their respective investigative conduct, including S/Sgt. Desjourdy's role in directing Cst. Tessier and Cst. Nizman to detain and arrest Mr. Justice without a warrant or judicial authorization. Subpoenas were likewise served on Cst. Tessier and Cst. Nizman, requiring their testimony concerning their direct involvement in Mr. Justice's detention and warrantless arrest on January 25, 2021. In addition, Cst. Tessier was required to

testify regarding his efforts to locate the Justices, undertaken at the direction of S/Sgt. Desjourdy in the course of the underlying investigation.

298. On May 6, 2024, in advance of the scheduled abuse of process hearing, Justice Labrosse directed the Crown to confirm whether the Ottawa Police Service objected to the anticipated testimony of S/Sgt. Desjourdy, Det. White, Cst. Tessier, and Cst. Nizman, or whether it intended to bring a motion to quash any of the subpoenas. Each of the four officers had previously been subpoenaed in multiple *Charter* proceedings dating back to December 2022; however, none had ever been called to give evidence. On May 7, 2024, A.C.A. Savage advised the Court that the Ottawa Police Service raised no objection to their testimony or to the enforcement of the subpoenas.

- 299. The Justices plead that the Ottawa Police Service's decision not to bring a motion to quash the subpoenas—despite having been afforded a clear and timely opportunity to do so—gives rise to a logical inference that the subpoenaed officers possess information directly relevant to the alleged breaches of the Justices' *Charter* rights.
- 300. During the courthouse appearances in December 2022 and May 2023—at which the subpoenaed officers, including Cst. Tessier, were present—Mr. Justice engaged in brief and civil discussions with Cst. Tessier in the public hallway. During one such exchange, Cst. Tessier voluntarily disclosed that he had been transferred to a different department following the incident in which Mr. Justice had been detained in the parking lot.
- 301. While observing Cst. Tessier in the hallway, Mr. Justice noted that he was closely accompanied by another uniformed officer who remained at his side throughout the courthouse

appearances. The arrangement bore the distinct characteristics of a police handler, consistent with Mr. Justice's experience observing escort protocols involving officers linked to sensitive or high-profile matters. Mr. Justice reasonably inferred that the presence of the accompanying officer was connected to the Justices' case, particularly in light of Cst. Tessier's subpoena and recent departmental transfer following the parking lot detention incident.

- 302. Mr. Justice also observed Cst. Tessier engaged in an informal hallway conversation with A.C.A. Ramsay. Cst. Tessier spoke candidly and audibly about the Justices' case, including remarks about the internal response within the Ottawa Police Service. Mr. Justice overheard Cst. Tessier state that S/Sgt. Desjourdy had initially considered the matter to be a "good file," but that this perception shifted significantly after the Justices publicly raised allegations of police misconduct.
- 303. While motioning with his head and directing his body language toward Mr. Justice, Cst. Tessier stated in a serious and concerned tone that "the police need damage control." Based on the content, tone, and accompanying non-verbal cues, Mr. Justice reasonably understood the remark to reflect an internal effort within the Ottawa Police Service to manage reputational fallout and shape its institutional response to the Justices' allegations of misconduct.
- 304. These observations and statements give rise to a compelling inference that Cst. Tessier knew or ought reasonably to have known that the criminal proceedings lacked reasonable and probable grounds and were being pursued, in whole or in part, for an improper or collateral purpose inconsistent with the proper administration of justice. His conduct, proximity, and disclosures during this period indicate that he possesses material information directly relevant to the alleged breaches of the Justices' *Charter* rights.

Electronically filed / Déposé par voie électronique : 28-Nov-2025 Ottawa Superior Court of Justice / Cour supérieure de justice

305. The abuse of process application also advanced evidence that medical professionals who

treated Mr. Justice in the emergency department on January 17, 18, and 19, 2023, documented

clinical concerns indicating that individuals involved in the prosecution may have endangered his

health, either deliberately or through reckless disregard—concerns that Mr. Justice reasonably

perceived as constituting a direct and credible threat to his well-being. On or about January 11,

2024, Dr. C.G. was served with a subpoena compelling her to provide sworn testimony

concerning her medical observations, clinical findings, and the results of diagnostic testing

conducted during Mr. Justice's hospital admission.

306. Additionally, the abuse of process application advanced evidence substantiating concerns

raised by V.T.R.S. that judicially directed transcript revisions constituted procedural irregularities

bearing directly on the accuracy and integrity of the official court record. If ultimately

established, such irregularities could materially compromise the fairness of related proceedings

and diminish public confidence in the administration of justice. On or about November 29, 2023,

K.F., the owner of V.T.R.S., was served with a subpoena compelling her attendance to provide

sworn testimony concerning V.T.R.S.'s documented observations and concerns arising from the

judicially directed revisions.

307. On April 22, 2024, the Justices received an email from an unidentified source containing

a link to an audio recording that appeared to capture Justice Gomery's oral ruling delivered on

January 30, 2023, in which Her Honour declared a mistrial. Upon comparing the recording to the

official transcript, the Justices identified a material discrepancy. Specifically, Justice Gomery's

original statement—"Whatever my views about the affidavit that [Mr. Justice] has presented, we

are still in the middle of a health crisis"—had been transcribed as "COVID crisis." This

substitution materially altered the contextual meaning of the Court's remarks—particularly in light of the surrounding reference to Mr. Justice's prolonged illness and Her Honour's stated concern as to whether the Court could maintain the appearance of fairness—thereby raising serious concerns as to whether the transcript accurately reflected the official judicial record.

308. On May 6, 2024, the Justices introduced the audio recording into the court record and formally requested the issuance of a subpoena for Justice Gomery, submitting that the identified discrepancy—particularly in light of the anticipated testimony of K.F.—warranted further judicial inquiry. They argued that the alteration appeared to amount to a substantive modification of the record, inconsistent with the substance of Her Honour's original oral ruling. Justice Labrosse directed that the authenticity of the recording be examined as part of the ongoing proceedings and, upon independently confirming the discrepancy, reserved determination as to whether a subpoena for Justice Gomery would issue.

309. On May 7, 2024, Justice Labrosse invited the Justices to submit a proposed allocation of the twenty-five (25) hours of scheduled court time for the hearing of the abuse of process application. On May 9, 2024, the Justices filed their proposal, which allocated time for the examination of sixteen (16) anticipated witnesses—including Justice Gomery, whose testimony was expected to address the identified transcript discrepancy. On May 14, 2024, both Justice Labrosse and the Crown acknowledged receipt of the proposal and expressly confirmed that they did not object to any aspect of the proposed time allocations.

310. The Justices plead that the Court's confirmation of a discrepancy between the original phrase, "health crisis," and the transcribed phrase, "COVID crisis," constitutes a material inconsistency indicative of a retrospective effort to reframe the stated basis for the mistrial on

Electronically filed / Déposé par voie électronique : 28-Nov-2025 Ottawa Superior Court of Justice / Cour supérieure de justice

grounds unrelated to Mr. Justice's medical condition. They further plead that, to the extent the

revision was effected pursuant to a directive, it gives rise to serious legal and procedural

concerns as to whether Mr. Justice's health and fair trial rights were improperly

disregarded—whether through intent, recklessness, or negligence—during the proceedings of

January 17, 2023. Accordingly, they plead that the matter warrants judicial scrutiny.

The Recusal Motion

311. On May 6 and 7, 2024, the Justices argued a motion seeking the recusal of A.C.A.

Savage and all prior prosecutors from the OCAO, asserting that their continued involvement

gave rise to a reasonable apprehension of bias, as well as actual and perceived conflicts of

interest. They submitted that, to preserve the fairness and integrity of the proceedings,

prosecutorial impartiality necessitated the appointment of an independent Crown prosecutor from

outside the Ottawa region.

312. The Justices submitted that the abuse of process application—already scheduled for

hearing in August 2024—would directly scrutinize the prosecutorial conduct of the OCAO over

the preceding three and a half years, during which the case had been handled by no fewer than

ten Crown prosecutors from within that same office. They argued that permitting the OCAO to

retain carriage of an application in which its own conduct was subject to judicial review would

give rise to an appearance of institutional bias, compromise the fairness of the proceedings, and

diminish public confidence in the administration of justice. They further maintained that any

adjudication rendered under such circumstances would be procedurally untenable.

Electronically filed / Déposé par voie électronique : 28-Nov-2025 Ottawa Superior Court of Justice / Cour supérieure de justice

313. The Justices further contended that the OCAO's unprecedented pattern of prosecutorial

reassignments reinforced a reasonable apprehension of institutional self-interest, as it reflected an

effort to shield individual prosecutors from scrutiny while preserving systemic control over the

case. They argued that any objective observer would reasonably question the OCAO's ability to

impartially assess allegations concerning its own conduct, and that the appointment of an

independent Crown prosecutor from outside the region was therefore essential to restore public

confidence in the integrity of the proceedings.

314. Relying on binding jurisprudence, the Justices invoked well-established legal principles

affirming that prosecutorial independence is fundamental to the integrity of the justice system

and must be safeguarded from even the appearance of improper influence. They submitted that

where a prosecutorial office holds a direct or institutional interest in the outcome of legal

proceedings—particularly where those proceedings call into question the office's own

conduct—recusal is not merely advisable but legally required to protect procedural fairness,

ensure impartiality, and preserve public confidence in the administration of justice and the rule of

law.

315. The Justices further submitted that the risk of a miscarriage of justice was particularly

acute, given the potential consequences of an unsuccessful abuse of process application. They

argued that, if the application were dismissed and the matter proceeded to retrial, any resulting

conviction would be vulnerable to appellate intervention on the basis that the prosecution had

been conducted by a Crown attorney whose impartiality was reasonably in doubt. Such

circumstances, they contended, would invite heightened appellate scrutiny, undermine judicial

economy, and imperil the finality of the proceedings.

Electronically filed / Déposé par voie électronique : 28-Nov-2025 Ottawa Superior Court of Justice / Cour supérieure de justice

316. At the conclusion of argument, Justice Labrosse reserved decision, advising that a written

ruling would be delivered within approximately two months, with a tentative release expected by

the end of June 2024.

317. The Justices plead that, in light of the strength of their submissions and the compelling

legal and factual foundation underlying their recusal motion, A.C.A. Savage and the OCAO

prosecutors knew or ought to have known that they could no longer properly sustain carriage of

the prosecution. The Justices further plead that the OCAO prosecutors knew or ought to have

known that reassignment to an independent Crown would necessitate an impartial reassessment

of the evidentiary record—one that would inevitably disclose the case's foundational deficiencies

and render its continuation legally indefensible.

The Proceedings Are Terminated

318. Following the recusal motion hearings, the Crown directed a stay of proceedings on all

outstanding criminal charges. On May 22, 2024—two weeks after the conclusion of those

hearings and prior to the issuance of any ruling by Justice Labrosse—A.C.A. Savage formally

confirmed that the Crown had elected to discontinue the remaining prosecutions.

319. On May 22, 2024, the Crown directed a stay of proceedings in respect of the charges of

perjury, obstructing justice, and use of a forged document, which had been laid in 2023 in

connection with allegations involving a forged medical note. Six days later, on May 28, 2024, the

Crown likewise directed a stay of proceedings in respect of the charges of obstructing justice and

use of a forged document, which had been laid in 2021 in relation to the Second Criminal Information.

- 320. A.C.A. Savage identified multiple factors underlying the Crown's decision to terminate the prosecutions, including:
 - (a) the OCAO's escalating concern arising from the Justices' stated intention to commence legal proceedings against the Crown;
 - (b) the determination that continued prosecution no longer served the public interest; and
 - (c) the need to reallocate prosecutorial resources to matters of greater severity or urgency.
- 321. The Justices plead that the OCAO's decision to stay the charges—only after the recusal motion had been fully argued and judicial determination reserved, and notwithstanding extensive preparations for a complex, high-stakes abuse of process application—gives rise to an inescapable inference that the stay was, at least in part, a strategic manoeuvre calculated to preempt an adverse ruling and to foreclose independent judicial scrutiny.
- 322. Had the recusal motion been granted, thereby necessitating the reassignment of the file to an independent Crown prosecutor from outside the Ottawa region, the Justices plead that such a reassessment would have inevitably disclosed:

Electronically filed / Déposé par voie électronique : 28-Nov-2025 Ottawa Superior Court of Justice / Cour supérieure de justice

- (a) the unjustified continuation of prosecutions in the absence of reasonable and probable grounds;
- (b) the systemic and unwarranted expenditure of public resources on proceedings devoid of any legal or factual foundation; and
- (c) a broader pattern of misconduct permeating both the investigative and prosecutorial handling of the case.
- 323. The Justices further plead that the abrupt termination of the proceedings—following years of protracted litigation, in anticipation of meticulously coordinated abuse of process hearings, and immediately prior to a pending judicial determination on recusal—gives rise to an inescapable inference that the prosecution was knowingly maintained in the absence of reasonable and probable grounds, and was pursued for an extraneous and improper purpose: namely, to forestall its inevitable termination in their favour.
- 324. At the conclusion of the case on May 28, 2024, Justice Labrosse made an unsolicited statement expressly acknowledging the exceptional legal proficiency the Justices had exhibited throughout the litigation. His Honour remarked: "I don't hesitate in saying that if either of you intend on making an application to law school in the next little while, I'm sure Mr. Savage and I would be good references for your law school applications, because you've worked very hard in self-representing yourselves."
- 325. The Justices plead that this rare and unequivocal judicial acknowledgment underscores both the exceptional complexity and gravity of the legal proceedings they were compelled to endure. They further plead that the Court's express recognition gives rise to a compelling

Electronically filed / Déposé par voie électronique : 28-Nov-2025 Ottawa Superior Court of Justice / Cour supérieure de justice

inference that they were required to develop advanced legal proficiency as a direct consequence

of the extraordinary demands imposed by the prosecution—thereby further evidencing the

punitive, burdensome, and unjust nature of the proceedings.

326. The Justices further and additionally plead that the litigation not only demanded years of

sustained and exhaustive legal effort, but also fundamentally disrupted the course of their lives,

compelling them—under conditions of extraordinary duress—to master complex areas of law

while acting as self-represented litigants. They further plead that their acquisition of advanced

legal competencies—undertaken not by choice, but out of necessity to defend against an

improperly prolonged prosecution—constitutes further compelling evidence of the unwarranted,

punitive, and oppressive nature of the proceedings maintained against them.

V. CAUSES OF ACTION AND LIABILITY OF DEFENDANTS

Negligent Investigation

327. S/Sgt. Desjourdy, Det. White, Cst. Tessier, and Cst. Nizman engaged in negligent

investigation.

Duty of Care

328. S/Sgt. Desjourdy, Det. White, and Cst. Tessier owed a duty of care to the Plaintiffs when

engaging in the active investigation of alleged criminal and quasi-criminal offenses against them.

Cst. Nizman owed a duty of care to Mr. Justice when engaging in the active investigation of

alleged criminal and quasi-criminal offenses against him.

117

Standard of Care

- 329. The standard of care required that S/Sgt. Desjourdy, Det. White, Cst. Tessier, and Cst. Nizman carry out their investigative duties as a reasonable and competent police officer would in similar circumstances. This includes, but is not limited to:
 - (a) conducting an investigation fairly, objectively, and without bias;
 - (b) ensuring that reasonable and probable grounds exist before laying charges;
 - (c) considering both inculpatory and exculpatory evidence in a neutral manner;
 - (d) following proper procedures for interviewing witnesses and collecting evidence;
 - (e) avoiding tunnel vision, bias, or acting on improper motives; and
 - (f) ensuring that investigative steps are based on lawful authority and reasonable discretion.

Breach of the Standard of Care

- 330. S/Sgt. Desjourdy breached the standard of care in the course of his participation in the active investigation of alleged criminal and quasi-criminal offenses against the Plaintiffs, including but not limited to:
 - (a) failing to assess evidence objectively, disregarding material inconsistencies, and adopting a biased, one-sided approach that lacked investigative integrity;

- (b) knowingly misrepresenting, altering, or distorting evidence to justify criminal charges;
- (c) proceeding with criminal charges despite the absence of reasonable and probable grounds or credible evidence, including disregarding proper police discretion and investigative standards;
- (d) using the investigative process for an improper purpose, including harassment, intimidation, or retaliation through police investigative powers that had no legitimate law enforcement purpose;
- (e) neglecting to verify key facts before concluding the investigation, including failing to ensure investigative steps complied with proper police protocols for assessing evidence sufficiency;
- (f) exerting improper influence over subordinate officers to ensure a pre-determined outcome, rather than allowing a fair and impartial investigation to take place;
- (g) misusing his supervisory position to encourage or approve unlawful investigative actions taken by officers under his command;
- (h) overseeing or approving the suppression of exculpatory evidence or complaints by the Plaintiffs regarding investigative misconduct, violating the duty to ensure fairness, transparency, and full disclosure;

- (i) knowingly proceeding with criminal charges despite personal bias, animus, and clear indications that the legal threshold for charges was not met;
- (j) disregarding proper internal police procedures and oversight mechanisms to push forward an investigation that lacked any lawful foundation;
- (k) failing to prevent, correct, or intervene in known errors or unlawful investigative conduct by officers under his command, despite having direct knowledge and a supervisory duty to ensure professional and legal standards were upheld;
- (l) engaging in selective enforcement by deliberately pursuing baseless charges against the Plaintiffs while disregarding alternative investigative avenues that would have demonstrated their innocence;
- (m) mischaracterizing facts in official police reports or investigative summaries to create a misleading narrative that justified unlawful charges;
- (n) allowing or encouraging reliance on unreliable witnesses or evidence while ignoring established investigative standards for verifying credibility;
- (o) failing to consult or seek legal guidance on the sufficiency of evidence before laying charges, despite clear warning signs that the case lacked merit;
- (p) conspiring with other officers to ensure that the Plaintiffs were charged and prosecuted despite the absence of lawful grounds;

- (q) directing a subordinate officer to obtain a production order for Scotiabank to unlawfully replicate evidence from an existing prosecution for the purpose of initiating parallel proceedings, and to obtain a production order for the Bank of Montreal based on a factual impossibility, thereby misleading the court and abusing judicial authorization processes;
- (r) using his position as a senior officer to shield or cover up investigative misconduct committed by officers under his command;
- (s) endorsing or authorizing the continued pursuit of criminal charges despite procedural irregularities, improper investigative motives, or known deficiencies in the case;
- (t) failing to conduct a post-investigation review or reassessment of the decision to lay charges, despite clear evidence that the charges were unfounded;
- (u) failing to document key investigative steps, leading to an incomplete or misleading record of events;
- (v) knowingly allowing officers under his command to deviate from standard investigative procedures without justification;
- (w) failing to ensure that investigative timelines and procedural safeguards were followed, leading to undue delays or procedural errors that harmed the Plaintiffs;

- (x) using his seniority to suppress internal concerns or dissent regarding the investigation's legitimacy;
- encouraging a culture of targeting specific individuals without lawful justification,
 contributing to systemic investigative failures;
- (z) knowingly instructing or pressuring officers to proceed with a flawed investigation despite clear deficiencies;
- (aa) failing to maintain neutrality and fairness in the investigation, instead operating with bias or a pre-determined objective to charge the Plaintiffs;
- (ab) unlawfully seizing Mr. Justice's mobile phone without judicial authorization or lawful grounds, in violation of search and seizure protections, thereby exceeding lawful investigative powers and violating established legal standards for evidence collection;
- (ac) improperly pressuring a medical professional to provide evidence in support of charges against Mr. Justice, despite the witness's refusal and lack of independent evidentiary basis, thereby compromising investigative integrity and violating professional independence; and
- (ad) expanding the investigation to target Mrs. Justice without an evidentiary foundation, despite knowing that no reasonable or probable grounds existed to justify her involvement, thereby abusing investigative discretion and misusing police authority.

- 331. Det. White breached the standard of care in the course of his participation in the active investigation of alleged criminal and quasi-criminal offenses against the Plaintiffs, including but not limited to:
 - (a) failing to assess evidence objectively, disregarding material inconsistencies, and adopting a biased, one-sided approach that lacked investigative integrity;
 - (b) knowingly pursuing criminal allegations despite the absence of reasonable and probable grounds, contrary to fundamental policing standards;
 - (c) attempting to escalate an alleged *RTA* violation into a *Criminal Code* offence, despite knowing the conduct did not meet the legal threshold for criminality;
 - (d) conducting an investigation with a pre-determined objective to find a way to charge Mr. Justice criminally, rather than conducting an impartial inquiry based on available evidence;
 - (e) misrepresenting or distorting the nature of the allegations to justify investigative steps that lacked legal and factual foundation;
 - (f) abusing investigative powers by using his position to target Mr. Justice for reasons unrelated to legitimate law enforcement objectives;
 - (g) failing to ensure investigative steps complied with established policing protocols, leading to procedural errors that undermined the integrity of the investigation;

- (h) engaging in an improper collaboration with S/Sgt. Desjourdy to pursue a pre-determined criminal prosecution despite knowing that no legal grounds existed;
- (i) making explicit threats to continue pursuing Mr. Justice without any lawful justification, demonstrating a malicious and retaliatory intent;
- (j) failing to act independently, instead allowing personal bias or external pressures to dictate the investigative outcome; and
- (k) knowingly participating in an investigation tainted by bad faith, including suppressing exculpatory evidence, fabricating grounds for criminal charges, and disregarding professional obligations.
- 332. Cst. Tessier breached the standard of care in the course of his participation in the active investigation of alleged criminal and quasi-criminal offenses against the Plaintiffs, including but not limited to:
 - (a) detaining Mr. Justice without reasonable and probable grounds, engaging in an unlawful arbitrary detention that lacked any lawful justification;
 - (b) engaging in improper investigative tactics to unlawfully coerce compliance, including using physical and psychological intimidation to pressure Mr. Justice into signing a police undertaking;

- (c) attempting to impose extrajudicial undertakings on the Plaintiffs without the legal precondition of an arrest, circumventing standard legal procedures and judicial oversight;
- (d) acting beyond his lawful jurisdiction by seeking to impose constraints on liberty without following proper legal procedures, thereby violating established policing and constitutional safeguards;
- (e) participating in a pattern of oppressive conduct by repeatedly attempting to secure compliance through intimidation rather than lawful authority, including surrounding Mr. Justice's vehicle with multiple police cruisers;
- (f) failing to properly document or justify the investigative actions taken against the Plaintiffs, contributing to an arbitrary and unaccountable police process;
- (g) engaging in investigative actions designed to circumvent judicial oversight by coercing extrajudicial undertakings instead of following proper legal procedures for obtaining a warrant or laying charges;
- (h) knowingly escalating a minor investigative matter into an unjustified criminal enforcement action despite the absence of evidence warranting such escalation;
- (i) facilitating an improper investigative agenda directed by S/Sgt. Desjourdy, despite the absence of legal justification for the actions taken;

- (j) knowingly participating in an investigation that lacked reasonable and probable grounds, rather than ensuring proper legal safeguards were followed;
- (k) using his authority as a police officer to exert undue influence over the Plaintiffs, despite lacking any lawful basis to demand compliance with the proposed undertakings;
- (l) misrepresenting the nature of his authority by giving the impression that compliance with the undertakings was mandatory, when in fact no lawful grounds existed to compel them;
- (m) disregarding the Plaintiffs' explicit statements that they were not legally obligated to sign the undertakings and failing to follow due process when they declined to do so;
- (n) escalating the encounter with Mr. Justice by deliberately blocking his vehicle, calling for backup, and creating a show of force with multiple police officers to exert pressure;
- (o) failing to release Mr. Justice when it became clear that there were no legal grounds to detain him, instead prolonging the detention at the direction of S/Sgt.

 Desjourdy;
- (p) engaging in a coordinated effort with Cst. Nizman and other officers to apply psychological coercion through an overwhelming police presence without any lawful basis;

- (q) failing to recognize and respect the Plaintiffs' constitutional rights under the *Charter*, including their rights against arbitrary detention and coercive police conduct; and
- (r) failing to independently assess the lawfulness of his actions and instead deferring to improper directives that violated police training and procedural safeguards.
- 333. Cst. Nizman breached the standard of care in the course of his participation in the active investigation of alleged criminal and quasi-criminal offenses against Mr. Justice, including but not limited to:
 - (a) knowingly misrepresenting new allegations against Mr. Justice during the parking lot encounter in order to fabricate justification for his warrantless arrest under section 495 of the *Criminal Code*, despite knowing these allegations had no legal merit;
 - (b) initiating an unlawful escalation by introducing new allegations after Mr. Justice declined to comply with the undertaking, demonstrating an improper retaliatory motive rather than investigative necessity;
 - (c) knowingly participating in an investigation that lacked reasonable and probable grounds, rather than ensuring proper legal safeguards were followed;
 - (d) engaging in improper investigative tactics to unlawfully coerce compliance, including using psychological intimidation and misrepresenting the legal consequences of refusing to sign an undertaking;

- (e) acting beyond his lawful jurisdiction by seeking to impose constraints on liberty without following proper legal procedures, thereby violating established policing and constitutional safeguards;
- (f) using his authority as a police officer to exert undue influence over Mr. Justice, despite lacking any lawful basis to demand compliance with the proposed undertaking;
- (g) misrepresenting the nature of his authority, giving the impression that compliance with the undertaking was mandatory when, in fact, no lawful grounds existed to compel it;
- (h) engaging in a coordinated effort with other officers to apply psychological coercion through an overwhelming police presence without any lawful basis;
- (i) disregarding Mr. Justices' explicit statements that he was not legally obligated to sign the undertaking and failing to follow due process when he declined to do so;
- (j) failing to assess the credibility of the allegations he made against Mr. Justice, including neglecting to scrutinize their factual and legal foundation before asserting them as a basis for further police action;
- (k) facilitating an improper investigative agenda directed by S/Sgt. Desjourdy, despite the absence of legal justification for the actions taken;

- (l) failing to recognize and respect Mr. Justices' constitutional rights under the *Charter*, including his rights against arbitrary detention and coercive police conduct; and
- (m) failing to independently assess the lawfulness of his actions and instead deferring to improper directives that violated police training and procedural safeguards.

Causation and Harm Suffered

- 334. As a direct and reasonably foreseeable consequence of the breaches of the duty of care by S/Sgt. Desjourdy, Det. White, Cst. Tessier, and Cst. Nizman, the Plaintiffs suffered significant harm, including but not limited to:
 - (a) deprivation of liberty due to wrongful charges or detentions;
 - (b) psychological distress and emotional trauma, including anxiety, depression, and fear of further police misconduct;
 - (c) reputational damage arising from unfounded allegations, public humiliation, and loss of standing within their personal and professional communities;
 - (d) financial harm, including legal costs, lost income, and other monetary losses directly attributable to the negligent investigations;
 - (e) disruption of personal and professional life, including lost opportunities and severe career consequences;

- (f) deterioration of physical health due to stress-related conditions, sleep disturbances, and other medical issues exacerbated by police misconduct;
- (g) strain on familial and social relationships, including emotional hardship inflicted upon immediate family members as a result of the wrongful investigations;
- (h) prolonged legal entanglement, including wrongful prosecutions, unnecessary and burdensome court proceedings, procedural unfairness, and an ongoing struggle to clear their names, causing prolonged uncertainty and legal hardship;
- (i) loss of trust in law enforcement, the justice system, and institutional safeguards, leading to a permanent sense of insecurity and fear of future injustice; and
- (j) violation of their *Charter* rights, including breaches of:
 - (i) section 2(b) (freedom of expression) through suppression of expressive activity, caused by retaliatory investigative conduct aimed at deterring public criticism of law enforcement;
 - (ii) section 7 (life, liberty, and security of the person) through psychological harm, loss of liberty, and personal insecurity caused by wrongful and negligent investigative conduct;
 - (iii) section 8 (unreasonable search or seizure) through unjustified and intrusive interference with privacy interests, resulting from investigative practices conducted without proper basis or restraint;

- (iv) section 9 (arbitrary detention) through unjustified restraint and deprivation of liberty resulting from negligent investigative conclusions or omissions;
- (v) section 10 (rights on arrest or detention) through impaired access to counsel and inadequate communication of detention reasons, flowing from negligent investigation and procedural mishandling;
- (vi) section 11 (rights of persons charged) through procedural unfairness, including delay and prejudice, caused by negligent investigative failures that undermined the integrity of the prosecution;
- (vii) section 12 (cruel and unusual treatment or punishment) through serious psychological harm and humiliation, caused by sustained investigative negligence that foreseeably subjected them to unjustified legal jeopardy and distress; and
- (viii) section 15 (equality rights) through differential and adverse treatment arising from their identity as whistleblowers and civilian oversight actors, flowing from biased or improperly motivated investigations.

Damages

335. As a direct and reasonably foreseeable consequence of the breaches of the standard of care by S/Sgt. Desjourdy, Det. White, Cst. Tessier, and Cst. Nizman, the Plaintiffs suffered the harm described above and claim damages.

Negligence

336. S/Sgt. Desjourdy, Cst. Tessier, and Cst. Nizman were negligent in the execution of their duties as police officers.

Duty of Care

- 337. S/Sgt. Desjourdy, Cst. Tessier, and Cst. Nizman owed a duty of care to Mr. Justice in the exercise of their police powers.
- 338. The duty of care arises from:
 - (a) the general duty of police officers to exercise reasonable care in the performance of their duties;
 - (b) the proximity between S/Sgt. Desjourdy, Cst. Tessier, and Cst. Nizman and Mr. Justice in the context of their exercise of police powers, including detention and coercive police conduct;
 - (c) the fact that it was reasonably foreseeable that the actions or omissions of S/Sgt.

 Desjourdy, Cst. Tessier, and Cst. Nizman would cause harm to Mr. Justice; and

(d) the statutory and common law duty of police officers to act in a manner that does not unreasonably endanger or harm individuals in their custody or control.

Standard of Care

- 339. The standard of care required that S/Sgt. Desjourdy, Cst. Tessier, and Cst. Nizman act as reasonable and competent police officers would in similar circumstances.
- 340. The standard of care includes, but is not limited to:
 - (a) acting with reasonable care to avoid causing foreseeable harm;
 - (b) complying with police training, policies, and procedures applicable to the situation;
 - (c) exercising professional judgment and discretion in a manner that does not expose individuals to unnecessary risk or harm;
 - (d) ensuring that police authority is exercised within the bounds of law and not in a manner that negligently inflicts harm; and
 - (e) preventing unlawful or unjustified interference with individual liberty and personal security.

Breach of the Standard of Care

341. S/Sgt. Desjourdy, Cst. Tessier, and Cst. Nizman breached the standard of care by failing to exercise reasonable care in the circumstances, including but not limited to:

- (a) failing to operate and position a police vehicle safely, including obstructing Mr.

 Justice's vehicle without lawful justification, escalating the encounter in a confined parking lot, and creating a foreseeable risk of harm;
- (b) failing to de-escalate the encounter despite no lawful basis to detain Mr. Justice, and instead using police presence as a coercive show of force;
- (c) unlawfully detaining and prolonging Mr. Justice's detention despite knowing there were no reasonable or probable grounds, including continuing the detention beyond any reasonable time frame after it was clear no legal grounds existed;
- (d) using coercive and intimidating police tactics, including surrounding Mr. Justice's vehicle to unlawfully pressure him into compliance;
- (e) failing to intervene, prevent, or correct unlawful police actions, despite having the duty and opportunity to do so;
- (f) misrepresenting a medical emergency by calling multiple ambulances and falsely claiming medical intervention was necessary, despite Mr. Justice's repeated confirmation that he was not in medical distress, thereby escalating the situation, prolonging his detention without justification, and facilitating his forcible removal and arrest without lawful basis;
- (g) forcibly extracting Mr. Justice from his vehicle without issuing a lawful command or allowing him to surrender voluntarily, causing him to be thrown face-first onto the pavement, resulting in bruising and physical trauma;

134 228

- (h) failing to assess reasonable and probable grounds before arrest, including falsely asserting that Mr. Justice posed a risk of fleeing or ramming officers, despite their own reports contradicting such claims;
- (i) coordinating an unnecessary and excessive show of force by deploying multiple officers and police vehicles to surround Mr. Justice's vehicle, despite the absence of any legitimate safety threat;
- (j) failing to respect Mr. Justice's repeated assertions of his *Charter* rights and his lawful refusal to sign an undertaking, instead continuing to coerce compliance without legal justification;
- (k) misrepresenting the presence of an immediate safety threat by falsely asserting that Mr. Justice posed a risk of fleeing, ramming officers, or striking civilians with his vehicle, despite police reports contradicting such claims;
- (l) coordinating an excessive and unnecessary police response by deploying multiple officers and vehicles to encircle and intimidate Mr. Justice without any lawful justification; and
- (m) using police presence and maneuvering tactics to create a psychological barrier that unlawfully pressured Mr. Justice into compliance with the unlawful undertaking.

Causation and Foreseeability

342. As a direct and reasonably foreseeable consequence of the breaches of the standard of

care by S/Sgt. Desjourdy, Cst. Tessier, and Cst. Nizman, Mr. Justice suffered harm.

343. The harm suffered by Mr. Justice was a direct result of the negligence of S/Sgt. Desjourdy, Cst. Tessier, and Cst. Nizman and was reasonably foreseeable in the circumstances.

Harm and Damages

- 344. As a result of the negligence of S/Sgt. Desjourdy, Cst. Tessier, and Cst. Nizman, Mr. Justice suffered harm, including but not limited to:
 - (a) deprivation of liberty due to wrongful and unlawful detention;
 - (b) psychological harm, including anxiety, emotional distress, and mental anguish resulting from coercive police conduct;
 - (c) reputational damage arising from being subjected to unlawful detention and police coercion;
 - (d) financial losses, including legal costs and expenses incurred in seeking to remedy the unlawful actions of S/Sgt. Desjourdy, Cst. Tessier, and Cst. Nizman;
 - (e) physical harm, bodily injuries, pain, and suffering arising from the use of excessive force, including his violent extraction from the vehicle and being thrown onto the pavement; and
 - (f) violation of his rights under the *Charter*, including breaches of:

- (i) section 7 (life, liberty, and security of the person) through unlawful detention and coercion;
- (ii) section 8 (unreasonable search or seizure) through unjustified intrusions upon reasonable expectations of privacy resulting from negligent failure to prevent or limit excessive state interference;
- (iii) section 9 (arbitrary detention) through the continued unlawful restriction of liberty resulting from negligent custodial handling;
- (iv) section 10 (rights on arrest or detention) through delayed access to legal counsel and inadequate communication of detention reasons arising from negligent custodial handling;
- (v) section 12 (cruel and unusual treatment or punishment) through
 physical and psychological harm caused by negligent disregard for
 basic needs and human dignity; and
- (vi) section 15 (equality rights) through unequal treatment on the basis of *Charter*-protected grounds, perpetuated or left unaddressed due to negligent inaction or oversight.
- 345. Mr. Justice claims damages for the harm suffered as a result of the negligence of S/Sgt. Desjourdy, Cst. Tessier, and Cst. Nizman.

Malicious Prosecution

Initiation of the Prosecutions

346. S/Sgt. Desjourdy, Det. White, A.C.A. Farrell, D.C.A. Holmes, A.C.A. Rodgers, A.C.A. Karimjee, and A.C.A. Savage initiated and pursued criminal and quasi-criminal prosecutions against the Plaintiffs.

347. S/Sgt. Desjourdy, Det. White, A.C.A. Farrell, D.C.A. Holmes, A.C.A. Rodgers, A.C.A. Karimjee, and A.C.A. Savage were actively involved in laying charges and ensuring the prosecutions proceeded, including but not limited to:

- (a) participating in the drafting and swearing of an information;
- (b) providing evidence or materials relied upon to justify the prosecutions;
- (c) advising, directing, or consenting to the laying of charges;
- (d) reviewing and assessing evidence in relation to the decision to proceed with prosecutions;
- (e) managing disclosure and related prosecutorial obligations;
- (f) making decisions related to the continuation or termination of proceedings;
- (g) appearing before the court and making submissions in furtherance of the prosecutions; and

(h) any other acts demonstrating their direct involvement.

Termination of the Prosecutions in the Plaintiffs' Favour

- 348. The prosecutions against the Plaintiffs were terminated in their favour, including but not limited to:
 - (a) a stay of proceedings for the 2021 charges of fraud exceeding \$5,000, laundering proceeds of crime, and possession of property obtained by crime, entered on September 24, 2021;
 - (b) a stay of proceedings for the 2019 charge against Mr. Justice of furnishing false or misleading information under the *RTA*, entered on October 3, 2022;
 - (c) a stay of proceedings for the 2023 charges of obstructing justice and use of a forged document, entered on May 22, 2024;
 - (d) a stay of proceedings for the 2023 charge of perjury against Mr. Justice, entered on May 22, 2024;
 - (e) a stay of proceedings for the 2021 charges of obstructing justice and use of a forged document, entered on May 28, 2024; and
 - (f) any other final disposition confirming that none of the prosecutions resulted in a conviction.

Prosecutions Instituted Without Reasonable and Probable Grounds

- 349. S/Sgt. Desjourdy, Det. White, A.C.A. Farrell, D.C.A. Holmes, A.C.A. Rodgers, A.C.A. Karimjee, and A.C.A. Savage initiated and maintained the prosecutions against the Plaintiffs without reasonable and probable grounds.
- 350. S/Sgt. Desjourdy, Det. White, A.C.A. Farrell, D.C.A. Holmes, A.C.A. Rodgers, A.C.A. Karimjee, and A.C.A. Savage lacked an honest belief, based on objectively sufficient evidence, that the Plaintiffs had committed an offence.
- 351. The absence of reasonable and probable grounds is demonstrated by:
 - (a) failing to consider or disregarding exculpatory evidence;
 - (b) relying on false, misleading, or unreliable evidence;
 - (c) acting with tunnel vision, bias, or reckless disregard for the truth;
 - (d) failing to conduct an independent and objective assessment of the available evidence before proceeding with or continuing the prosecution;
 - (e) misapplying or disregarding established legal and procedural safeguards;
 - (f) proceeding with charges despite material inconsistencies or contradictions in the evidence;

- (g) sustaining the prosecution without re-evaluating reasonable and probable grounds as new evidence emerged;
- (h) continuing the prosecution despite judicial findings, legal deficiencies, or procedural irregularities that undermined the legitimacy of the case; and
- (i) any other relevant facts showing a lack of proper investigative and prosecutorial assessment.

Malice or an Improper Purpose

- 352. S/Sgt. Desjourdy, Det. White, A.C.A. Farrell, D.C.A. Holmes, A.C.A. Rodgers, A.C.A. Karimjee, and A.C.A. Savage acted with malice or for an improper purpose.
- 353. Their malice and improper purpose are demonstrated by:
 - (a) a personal vendetta or animus against the Plaintiffs;
 - (b) a reckless disregard for the administration of justice;
 - (c) an improper motive, such as retaliation, discrimination, reputational harm, or political pressure;
 - (d) knowingly relying on false or misleading evidence;
 - (e) suppressing exculpatory evidence or misleading the court;

- (f) abusing prosecutorial or investigative powers to achieve a collateral or extraneous purpose;
- (g) pursuing charges despite knowing or recklessly disregarding the absence of any lawful foundation;
- (h) deliberately inflating or exaggerating charges beyond what was legally justifiable;
- (i) using the prosecution as a means to intimidate, silence, or punish the Plaintiffs beyond legitimate law enforcement objectives; and
- (j) any other relevant factors demonstrating bad faith, dishonesty, or an abuse of process.

Causation and Foreseeability

- 354. As a direct and reasonably foreseeable consequence of the malicious prosecutions initiated and pursued by S/Sgt. Desjourdy, Det. White, A.C.A. Farrell, D.C.A. Holmes, A.C.A. Rodgers, A.C.A. Karimjee, and A.C.A. Savage, the Plaintiffs suffered harm, including but not limited to:
 - (a) deprivation of liberty due to arrest, detention, or bail conditions;
 - (b) significant reputational harm, including public disgrace and damage to career or relationships;
 - (c) severe psychological harm, including anxiety, emotional distress, and trauma;

- (d) substantial financial harm, including legal fees, lost income, and other economic losses;
- (e) intrusion upon the Plaintiffs' privacy and dignity through unwarranted legal scrutiny and coercive prosecution tactics;
- (f) undue strain on family relationships, social standing, and professional reputation, resulting in broader consequences beyond immediate reputational harm; and
- (g) violations of their rights under the *Charter*, including breaches of:
 - (i) section 2(b) (freedom of expression) through the suppression of their freedom to speak on matters of public concern and retaliatory punishment for expressive activity, resulting from prosecutions initiated and sustained in response to their public criticism of police and prosecutorial misconduct;
 - (ii) section 7 (life, liberty, and security of the person) through the infringement of their liberty, personal security, and psychological integrity caused by prolonged, coercive, and baseless criminal proceedings contrary to the principles of fundamental justice;
 - (iii) section 8 (unreasonable search or seizure) through unjustified intrusions into their privacy interests carried out in furtherance of proceedings known to lack any lawful foundation;

- (iv) section 9 (arbitrary detention) through deprivation of liberty, including both physical and psychological detention, resulting from prosecutions maintained without lawful justification;
- (v) section 10 (rights on arrest or detention) through delayed access to legal counsel and impaired understanding of the reasons for arrest, arising from prosecutions knowingly pursued despite an absence of merit;
- (vi) section 11 (rights of persons charged) through procedural unfairness, including undue delay, denial of full disclosure, and violations of the right to a fair trial, flowing from meritless and improperly maintained criminal proceedings;
- (vii) section 12 (cruel and unusual treatment or punishment) through serious psychological harm and unlawful pressure caused by punitive prosecutions devoid of any legitimate prosecutorial objective; and
- (viii) section 15 (equality rights) through unequal and retaliatory treatment based on their identity as civilian oversight actors and vocal critics of state misconduct, resulting in a denial of equal protection and benefit of the law.

Court File No./N° du dossier du greffe : CV-25-00099658-0000

Electronically filed / Déposé par voie électronique : 28-Nov-2025 Ottawa Superior Court of Justice / Cour supérieure de justice

Damages

355. The Plaintiffs claim damages for the harm suffered as a result of the malicious

prosecutions initiated and pursued by S/Sgt. Desjourdy, Det. White, A.C.A. Farrell, D.C.A.

Holmes, A.C.A. Rodgers, A.C.A. Karimjee, and A.C.A. Savage.

Misfeasance in Public Office

Public Office and Duty

356. S/Sgt. Desjourdy, Det. White, Cst. Tessier, Cst. Nizman, D.C.A. Holmes, A.C.A.

Rodgers, A.C.A. Karimjee, and A.C.A. Savage held public office and, at all material times,

exercised powers and authority as police officers and Crown prosecutors under the colour of

their official duties.

357. As public officials, S/Sgt. Desjourdy, Det. White, Cst. Tessier, Cst. Nizman, D.C.A.

Holmes, A.C.A. Rodgers, A.C.A. Karimjee, and A.C.A. Savage owed duties to act lawfully, in

good faith, and within the scope of their lawful authority. They were prohibited from abusing,

exceeding, or misusing their authority and were required to exercise their powers without malice,

improper motive, or disregard for legal constraints.

358. The legal duties owed by public officials include but are not limited to:

(a) exercising discretion and authority in a manner that is fair, impartial, and

consistent with the rule of law;

145

- (b) ensuring that their public office is not used for an improper, ulterior, or malicious purpose;
- (c) refraining from knowingly unlawful, reckless, or ultra vires conduct that exceeds their jurisdiction;
- (d) ensuring their actions do not willfully or recklessly cause harm to individuals affected by their decisions; and
- (e) complying with all statutory, common law, and constitutional obligations governing the exercise of public authority.

Unlawful Conduct Committed in Public Office

- 359. S/Sgt. Desjourdy, Det. White, Cst. Tessier, Cst. Nizman, D.C.A. Holmes, A.C.A. Rodgers, A.C.A. Karimjee, and A.C.A. Savage, in the course of their public office, engaged in deliberate and unlawful acts, including but not limited to:
 - (a) knowingly exceeding their lawful authority in initiating, directing, or continuing legal proceedings against the Plaintiffs despite the absence of reasonable and probable grounds;
 - (b) abusing legal and judicial processes to achieve improper, collateral, or retaliatory objectives rather than a legitimate law enforcement or prosecutorial function;
 - (c) knowingly violating the Plaintiffs' *Charter* rights, including through unlawful detention, coercion, fabrication of grounds for arrest, or prosecutorial misconduct;

- (d) deliberately presenting false, misleading, or incomplete evidence, or withholding material information that was legally required to be disclosed;
- (e) suppressing, concealing, or disregarding exculpatory evidence to manipulate or distort the legal process;
- (f) escalating, inflating, or exaggerating charges with the knowledge that they were legally baseless, unjustified, or pursued for an ulterior motive;
- (g) engaging in coercive, retaliatory, or oppressive tactics to intimidate or unlawfully pressure the Plaintiffs into compliance or submission;
- (h) failing to prevent, correct, or intervene in known unlawful conduct despite possessing supervisory authority and a duty to act;
- (i) advancing or maintaining charges for an improper, punitive, or retaliatory purpose, including to shield institutional actors from accountability or to suppress legitimate complaints;
- engaging in arbitrary and unlawful detention, in violation of established legal and constitutional safeguards;
- (k) willfully disregarding procedural safeguards, legal standards, and due process protections, knowing that such actions would result in harm to the Plaintiffs;

- (l) acting with reckless indifference to the Plaintiffs' rights, liberty, and the fairness of judicial proceedings, despite knowing the likely consequences of their misconduct;
- (m) knowingly initiating or sustaining legal proceedings for an extraneous or improper purpose, including where no legal basis existed to justify prosecution;
- (n) deliberately misrepresenting or misstating legal authority to justify unlawful actions, including detentions, arrests, or prosecutorial decisions; and
- (o) any other acts demonstrating an abuse of public office for purposes beyond legitimate law enforcement or prosecutorial discretion, including to secure personal, political, or institutional advantage.

Knowledge or Recklessness as to the Unlawfulness of Conduct

- 360. S/Sgt. Desjourdy, Det. White, Cst. Tessier, Cst. Nizman, D.C.A. Holmes, A.C.A. Rodgers, A.C.A. Karimjee, and A.C.A. Savage knew or were recklessly indifferent to the fact that their conduct was unlawful, exceeded their lawful authority, or constituted an abuse of public office.
- 361. Their knowledge or reckless indifference is demonstrated by, but not limited to:
 - (a) deliberately disregarding legal limits, procedural safeguards, or statutory obligations despite a duty to uphold them;

- (b) persisting in wrongful conduct despite judicial findings, legal warnings, or clear prohibitions indicating that their actions were unlawful;
- (c) knowingly exceeding their authority or acting without any lawful basis, demonstrating a conscious disregard for their legal and ethical obligations;
- (d) engaging in conduct so egregious that no reasonable public official could believe it was lawful or justified; and
- (e) any other conduct demonstrating knowledge or reckless indifference to the unlawfulness of their actions.

Intent to Injure or Reckless Disregard for Consequences

- 362. S/Sgt. Desjourdy, Det. White, Cst. Tessier, Cst. Nizman, D.C.A. Holmes, A.C.A. Rodgers, A.C.A. Karimjee, and A.C.A. Savage acted with intent to injure the Plaintiffs or others, or with reckless disregard for the foreseeable harm their conduct would cause.
- 363. Their improper intent is demonstrated by, but not limited to:
 - (a) acting out of personal animus, spite, or retaliation, including using legal processes as a means of reprisal;
 - (b) misusing public office to punish, intimidate, or coerce the Plaintiffs beyond lawful enforcement or prosecutorial discretion;

- (c) knowingly engaging in conduct that caused harm, suffering, or violations of constitutional and legal rights, despite their professional obligations;
- (d) targeting the Plaintiffs without lawful justification or for an improper purpose, including the deliberate pursuit of charges despite the absence of reasonable and probable grounds; and
- (e) any other deliberate misuse of public office that resulted in harm, including actions taken for personal, institutional, or political gain at the expense of justice.

Causation and Foreseeability

- 364. As a direct and reasonably foreseeable consequence of the misfeasance in public office by S/Sgt. Desjourdy, Det. White, Cst. Tessier, Cst. Nizman, D.C.A. Holmes, A.C.A. Rodgers, A.C.A. Karimjee, and A.C.A. Savage, the Plaintiffs suffered harm, including but not limited to:
 - (a) deprivation of liberty due to wrongful arrest, arbitrary detention, or prosecution pursued in bad faith;
 - (b) severe psychological harm, including anxiety, emotional distress, and trauma;
 - (c) significant reputational harm, including public disgrace, damage to career, and lasting stigma arising from wrongful prosecution;
 - (d) substantial financial harm, including excessive legal fees, lost income, and other economic losses arising directly from wrongful state actions;

- (e) intrusion upon privacy and dignity through coercive, unlawful, and retaliatory state conduct;
- (f) irreparable strain on family relationships, social standing, and professional reputation, resulting in pervasive and long-term consequences beyond immediate reputational harm; and
- (g) violations of their rights under the *Charter*, including breaches of:
 - (i) section 2(b) (freedom of expression) through suppression of the Plaintiffs' expressive activity and retaliatory punishment for lawful speech on matters of public interest, caused by public officials knowingly misusing the powers of office to pursue baseless prosecutions in response to public criticism of police and prosecutorial misconduct;
 - (ii) section 7 (life, liberty, and security of the person) through psychological harm, prolonged legal coercion, and unjustified intrusions upon liberty and personal security, resulting from deliberate and unlawful exercises of public authority contrary to the principles of fundamental justice;
 - (iii) section 8 (unreasonable search or seizure) through unlawful, excessive, or unsupported searches, seizures, and compelled disclosures carried out or condoned by public officials acting beyond the scope of their lawful authority;

- (iv) section 9 (arbitrary detention) through deprivation of liberty, including both physical and psychological detention, resulting from prosecutions knowingly initiated or maintained without evidentiary foundation or lawful justification;
- (v) section 10 (rights on arrest or detention) through impaired access to legal counsel and delayed or unclear communication of the reasons for detention, caused by the intentional frustration of procedural safeguards by public officials;
- (vi) section 11 (rights of persons charged) through procedural unfairness, including undue delay, denial of disclosure, and abuse of prosecutorial discretion, knowingly orchestrated to deprive the Plaintiffs of a fair trial;
- (vii) section 12 (cruel and unusual treatment or punishment) through prolonged psychological suffering and coercive pressure caused by retaliatory and oppressive state conduct that exceeded lawful bounds and was intended or known to cause harm; and
- (viii) section 15 (equality rights) through unequal and retaliatory treatment based on the Plaintiffs' identity as civilian oversight actors and critics of state misconduct, resulting in a denial of the equal protection and benefit of the law.

Damages

365. The Plaintiffs claim damages for the harm suffered as a result of the misfeasance in public office by S/Sgt. Desjourdy, Det. White, Cst. Tessier, Cst. Nizman, D.C.A. Holmes, A.C.A. Rodgers, A.C.A. Karimjee, and A.C.A. Savage.

Abuse of Process

Improper Use of Legal Proceedings

366. S/Sgt. Desjourdy, Det. White, Cst. Tessier, and Cst. Nizman directed, caused, or carried out the misuse of legal and judicial processes against the Plaintiffs for a purpose inconsistent with the proper administration of justice.

- 367. The improper use of legal and judicial processes included, but was not limited to:
 - (a) initiating, directing, causing, or maintaining legal proceedings despite knowing they were legally baseless, unwarranted, or pursued for an improper purpose;
 - (b) manipulating procedural mechanisms—including adjournments, evidentiary rulings, disclosure obligations, and arrest procedures—to obstruct or interfere with the Plaintiffs' legal rights and access to justice;
 - (c) deliberately escalating, inflating, or layering additional charges to exert pressure, intimidate, or cause reputational harm, rather than for any legitimate law enforcement objective;

- (d) withholding, suppressing, distorting, or misrepresenting material evidence in a manner that impaired the fairness of proceedings and the Plaintiffs' ability to mount a proper defence;
- (e) continuing or sustaining legal action despite judicial findings, procedural rulings, or evidentiary deficiencies that undermined the legitimacy of the case, thereby subjecting the Plaintiffs to prolonged and unjustified legal jeopardy;
- (f) using the threat of legal consequences as leverage to extract compliance, deter complaints, or obstruct the Plaintiffs from exercising their legal rights and seeking remedies;
- (g) exploiting legal proceedings as a tool of coercion, retribution, or personal retaliation, rather than for a bona fide prosecutorial or law enforcement function;
- (h) directing, sustaining, or manipulating legal action to shield their own misconduct—or that of other institutional actors—from exposure, scrutiny, or accountability;
- (i) engaging in oppressive or abusive litigation tactics designed to exhaust, intimidate, or improperly burden the Plaintiffs with unnecessary legal proceedings;
- (j) deliberately obstructing or delaying exculpatory proceedings, including improperly resisting withdrawals, stays, or disclosure obligations that would have resolved the matter in the Plaintiffs' favour;

- (k) misusing warrantless arrest powers by deliberately bypassing judicial oversight, knowing that no lawful basis existed for detention, and exploiting procedural loopholes to justify continued legal jeopardy; and
- (l) any other conduct demonstrating an intentional and systemic misuse of legal and judicial processes beyond a legitimate prosecutorial or law enforcement function.

Improper Purpose and Collateral Motives

368. The abuse of legal and judicial processes was directed, caused, and carried out for collateral, punitive, or improper motives, rather than to fairly administer justice. These motives included but were not limited to:

- (a) retaliating against the Plaintiffs for asserting legal rights, filing complaints, or exposing misconduct;
- (b) shielding institutional actors from accountability by continuing baseless prosecutions to divert attention from internal failures, errors, or misconduct;
- (c) inflicting financial, reputational, psychological, or emotional harm on the Plaintiffs as a means of extrajudicial punishment, rather than pursuing any legitimate enforcement objective;
- (d) exerting undue pressure, coercion, or intimidation by placing the Plaintiffs in a state of prolonged legal uncertainty, hardship, and distress;

- (e) deliberately misusing legal processes to fabricate, inflate, or prolong unfounded legal jeopardy; and
- (f) pursuing any other improper, collateral, or ulterior objective beyond the lawful and legitimate administration of justice.

Procedural and Evidentiary Manipulation

- 369. The abuse of legal and judicial processes was further demonstrated by procedural and evidentiary misconduct, including but not limited to:
 - (a) deliberately misusing judicial processes to secure an unfair procedural advantage, including improper applications, motions, or procedural tactics intended to obstruct or delay fair proceedings;
 - (b) advancing false, misleading, or unreliable evidence in furtherance of an improper objective, despite knowing or recklessly disregarding its inaccuracy or legal insufficiency;
 - (c) suppressing, concealing, or delaying exculpatory evidence to manipulate the outcome of legal proceedings, obstruct disclosure obligations, or deprive the Plaintiffs of a fair opportunity to respond;
 - (d) engaging in procedural obstruction, including the misuse of adjournments, delays, or improper applications, designed to frustrate the Plaintiffs' ability to defend themselves and interfere with the timely administration of justice;

250

- (e) knowingly advancing charges, allegations, or procedural applications contrary to established legal safeguards and precedents, despite knowing that such actions lacked legal merit or contravened due process principles; and
- (f) any other misuse of legal and judicial processes intended to circumvent fairness, procedural integrity, or the Plaintiffs' legal rights, including any act that subverts due process, obstructs accountability, or undermines the administration of justice.

Causation and Foreseeability

- 370. As a direct and reasonably foreseeable consequence of the abuse of legal and judicial processes directed, caused, or carried out by S/Sgt. Desjourdy, Det. White, Cst. Tessier, and Cst. Nizman, the Plaintiffs suffered harm, including but not limited to:
 - (a) prolonged deprivation of liberty, legal uncertainty, and procedural disadvantage arising from the improper use of legal mechanisms;
 - (b) severe psychological harm, including chronic stress, anxiety, emotional distress, and trauma, directly caused by the wrongful use of legal and judicial processes;
 - (c) substantial financial harm, including excessive legal expenses, lost income, and other economic losses arising directly from the wrongful and improper use of legal and judicial processes;
 - (d) irreparable reputational harm, including professional, personal, and social damage resulting from prolonged, baseless, or improperly motivated legal proceedings;

- (e) intrusion upon privacy and dignity through coercive, unlawful, or retaliatory actions carried out under the guise of legal authority;
- (f) severe and unwarranted strain on family relationships, professional standing, and social reputation, leading to long-term and far-reaching consequences beyond immediate reputational harm; and
- (g) any other foreseeable consequences of the abuse of legal and judicial processes, as will be further particularized in this proceeding.

Violation of *Charter* Rights

- 371. The abuse of legal and judicial processes directed, caused, or carried out by S/Sgt. Desjourdy, Det. White, Cst. Tessier, and Cst. Nizman resulted in violations of the Plaintiffs' rights under the *Charter*, including but not limited to:
 - (a) section 2(b) (freedom of expression) through suppression of the Plaintiffs' expressive activity on matters of public interest and accountability, caused by the initiation and maintenance of legal proceedings for the improper and ulterior purpose of silencing their public criticisms of law enforcement and prosecutorial misconduct;
 - (b) section 7 (life, liberty, and security of the person) through deprivation of fair process, personal liberty, and psychological security, resulting from retaliatory legal tactics and the deliberate misuse of state power in a manner contrary to the principles of fundamental justice;

- (c) section 8 (unreasonable search or seizure) through violation of the Plaintiffs' reasonable expectation of privacy, caused by the improper collection, use, or disclosure of personal information in support of proceedings pursued for retaliatory or collateral purposes, including reliance on unlawfully obtained evidence;
- (d) section 9 (arbitrary detention) through psychological and procedural restraint amounting to actual and constructive detention, arising from the coercive and unjustified initiation and continuation of legal proceedings without lawful justification;
- (e) section 10 (rights on arrest or detention) through impaired access to legal counsel and delayed or inadequate communication of the reasons for arrest or detention, resulting from the misuse of legal processes for retaliatory and improper purposes;
- (f) section 11 (rights of persons charged) through procedural unfairness, including denial of full disclosure, delay, and lack of impartial adjudication, caused by the pursuit of meritless proceedings for ulterior objectives;
- (g) section 12 (cruel and unusual treatment or punishment) through disproportionate psychological harm and legal oppression, inflicted by legal processes knowingly used to cause hardship beyond any legitimate prosecutorial purpose; and
- (h) section 15 (equality rights) through unequal, discriminatory, and retaliatory application of legal processes, resulting from targeting the Plaintiffs based on

their identity as whistleblowers and civilian critics of police and prosecutorial misconduct.

Damages

372. The Plaintiffs claim damages for the harm suffered as a result of the abuse of legal and

judicial processes that were directed, caused, or carried out by S/Sgt. Desjourdy, Det. White, Cst.

Tessier, and Cst. Nizman.

Abuse of Process (Prosecutorial)

373. The Plaintiffs plead that D.C.A. Holmes, A.C.A. Rodgers, A.C.A. Karimjee, and A.C.A.

Savage directed, authorized, caused, or carried out a sustained misuse of prosecutorial authority

against them by initiating, maintaining, and manipulating legal proceedings for purposes that

were contrary to the proper administration of justice. Their conduct exceeded the limits of lawful

discretion, weaponized the machinery of prosecution for ulterior ends, and inflicted

process-based harms that warrant civil accountability. The Plaintiffs plead that the tort of abuse

of process should be expressly extended to recognize a distinct cause of action for prosecutorial

abuse of process, grounded in established legal principles and reflective of the unique

responsibilities borne by Crown prosecutors.

Improper Use of Legal Proceedings

374. The Plaintiffs plead that the Crown prosecutors used their authority to initiate or continue

criminal proceedings in circumstances that lacked a proper foundation in evidence, fairness, or

Court File No./N° du dossier du greffe : CV-25-00099658-0000

Electronically filed / Déposé par voie électronique : 28-Nov-2025 Ottawa Superior Court of Justice / Cour supérieure de justice

public interest. These proceedings included prosecutions that were duplicative, unfounded, or

strategically layered to circumvent judicial scrutiny and undermine the Plaintiffs' ability to

access fair process. The prosecutors authorized or maintained proceedings despite known defects

in disclosure, factual reliability, and legal viability, including circumstances where the

evidentiary basis was stale, immaterial, or unsupported by reasonable and probable grounds. In

doing so, they converted the process of prosecution into a tool of strategic harassment and

institutional reprisal.

Improper Purpose and Collateral Motives

375. The Plaintiffs plead that these proceedings were pursued, in whole or in part, for

improper purposes, including retaliation for the Plaintiffs' public criticism of police and

prosecutorial misconduct, the suppression of public accountability, and institutional self-interest.

The prosecutors acted, not out of a duty to pursue justice, but to protect institutional reputations,

insulate the OCAO from scrutiny, and justify the continuation of resource-intensive

investigations already under criticism. The pursuit of charges became untethered from legal merit

and instead aligned with collateral motives aimed at punishing dissent and neutralizing civilian

oversight efforts.

Procedural and Evidentiary Manipulation

376. The Plaintiffs plead that the prosecutors engaged in deliberate manipulation of legal and

evidentiary processes. This included: the suppression or non-disclosure of exculpatory evidence;

the use of procedural mechanisms to delay adjudication or derail Charter litigation; strategic

scheduling decisions intended to exhaust the Plaintiffs' resources; and continued reliance on

investigative materials known to be unreliable or incomplete. In doing so, the prosecutors undermined the integrity of the proceedings and frustrated the Plaintiffs' rights to a fair and timely resolution. These actions were neither accidental nor the result of complexity, but formed part of a pattern of deliberate state conduct calculated to weaponize the legal process itself.

Causation and Foreseeability

377. The Plaintiffs plead that the harm they suffered was directly caused by the prosecutors' misuse of the criminal justice process and was reasonably foreseeable. The conduct alleged foreseeably resulted in prolonged psychological distress, reputational damage, disruption of livelihood, and deprivation of liberty and security, independent of any conviction or acquittal. The misuse of prosecutorial powers created systemic disadvantage and legal coercion that could not have resulted from a fair and impartial exercise of discretion.

Violation of Charter Rights

- 378. The Plaintiffs plead that the prosecutors' conduct gave rise to multiple violations of their rights under the *Charter*, including breaches of:
 - (a) section 2(b) (freedom of expression) through suppression of the Plaintiffs' expressive activity and retaliation for their public criticism of state actors, resulting from the improper use of prosecutorial authority to silence oversight efforts;
 - (b) section 7 (life, liberty, and security of the person) through legal jeopardy, psychological distress, and loss of personal security, caused by the pursuit of

proceedings devoid of lawful justification and animated by improper prosecutorial motives;

- (c) section 8 (unreasonable search or seizure) through unjustified intrusion into private medical information, caused by the unauthorized and strategic use of prosecutorial authority to obtain, exploit, or misrepresent personal health data without lawful basis, in furtherance of proceedings pursued for retaliatory or collateral objectives;
- (d) section 9 (arbitrary detention) through psychological detention and liberty restriction, caused by the coercive use of legal proceedings to compel compliance, control movement, and maintain state authority absent lawful justification, in furtherance of retaliatory or collateral prosecutorial objectives;
- (e) section 11(d) (right to a fair trial) through deprivation of trial fairness, resulting from evidentiary manipulation, procedural delay, and strategic obstruction of defence rights carried out to advance ulterior prosecutorial objectives;
- (f) section 12 (cruel and unusual treatment or punishment) through gratuitous psychological suffering and institutional harm, inflicted by prosecutorial conduct known or intended to cause hardship beyond any lawful purpose; and
- (g) section 15 (equality rights) through differential and retaliatory treatment in the application of prosecutorial discretion, targeting the Plaintiffs on the basis of their role as public critics and civilian oversight actors.

Court File No./N° du dossier du greffe : CV-25-00099658-0000

Electronically filed / Déposé par voie électronique : 28-Nov-2025 Ottawa Superior Court of Justice / Cour supérieure de justice

Damages

379. The Plaintiffs plead that they suffered serious and lasting harm as a result of the

prosecutors' abuse of process, including prolonged psychological distress, reputational injury,

legal expense, and deprivation of constitutional rights. The harm flowed not from the outcome of

the proceedings, but from the deliberate misuse of the process itself. The Plaintiffs seek

non-pecuniary, aggravated, and Charter damages arising from this abuse of prosecutorial

authority, including public law damages pursuant to section 24(1) of the *Charter*.

Recognition of the Tort

380. The Plaintiffs plead that the recognition of prosecutorial abuse of process as a distinct

cause of action is a natural and necessary extension of existing Canadian law. The Supreme

Court of Canada has long affirmed that abuse of process is a fundamental principle of justice,

capable of grounding both procedural remedies and public law damages. In Henry v. British

Columbia (Attorney General), Miazga v. Kvello Estate, and Vancouver (City) v. Ward, the Court

confirmed that prosecutors may be held accountable for conduct that violates constitutional

rights or misuses state power. Where that conduct causes harm through the process

itself—independent of malicious intent or conviction—the law must provide a remedy. This

cause of action is consistent with the courts' constitutional obligation to ensure that state power

is exercised lawfully, and that public actors, including prosecutors, remain accountable for

deliberate misuse of legal proceedings.

381. The Plaintiffs plead that the proposed tort of prosecutorial abuse of process should be

recognized where the following elements are established:

- (a) the prosecutor initiated or continued legal proceedings against the plaintiff;
- (b) the proceedings were pursued, in whole or in part, for a collateral or improper purpose unrelated to the fair administration of justice;
- (c) the prosecutor engaged in conduct—whether procedural, strategic, or evidentiary—that manipulated or distorted the legal process to achieve that improper purpose; and
- (d) the plaintiff suffered harm as a result of the process itself, independent of conviction, acquittal, or malicious intent.
- 382. This proposed test ensures that the cause of action remains narrowly tailored, consistent with the integrity of prosecutorial discretion, and focused on egregious process-based misconduct that has no other adequate remedy under existing law.

Unlawful Means Conspiracy

Agreement and Common Design

383. S/Sgt. Desjourdy and Det. White acted in concert, reaching a mutual understanding—express or implied—to engage in unlawful conduct through coordinated actions, communications, and decision-making, with the intent to harm Mr. Justice.

- 384. The conspiracy was formed through coordinated actions, communications, and mutual understanding, wherein S/Sgt. Desjourdy and Det. White knowingly collaborated to further their unlawful scheme. Their agreement was evidenced by, but not limited to:
 - (a) deliberate coordination in directing, causing, and carrying out legal actions against Mr. Justice without reasonable and probable grounds;
 - (b) exchanging information, directives, or instructions to facilitate unlawful measures that advanced their common objective;
 - (c) acting in concert to suppress, misrepresent, or manipulate evidence in a manner designed to disadvantage Mr. Justice;
 - (d) taking coordinated steps that demonstrated a shared intent to pursue unlawful means to achieve their objective; and
 - (e) any other conduct establishing their mutual agreement and coordinated execution of unlawful actions.

Unlawful Conduct in Furtherance of the Conspiracy

- 385. The conspiracy was directed, caused, and carried out through unlawful, wrongful, and unjustified means, including but not limited to:
 - (a) fabrication and manipulation of evidence knowingly falsifying, distorting, or misrepresenting evidence to support unfounded allegations against Mr. Justice,

including making misleading statements, suppressing exculpatory evidence, and deliberately mischaracterizing material facts;

- (b) obstruction of justice and abuse of process intentionally interfering with the administration of justice by suppressing material disclosure, engaging in improper prosecutorial tactics, and initiating legal proceedings for ulterior, retaliatory, or punitive motives;
- (c) unlawful *Charter* violations knowingly engaging in unlawful arrests, arbitrary detentions, coercive prosecutorial tactics, and other violations of sections 2, 7, 8,
 9, 11, 12, and 15 of the *Charter*, thereby infringing Mr. Justice's liberty and security;
- (d) malicious prosecution and bad-faith prosecutions advancing criminal and quasi-criminal charges despite the absence of reasonable and probable grounds, with the intent of harming, silencing, or exerting unlawful pressure on Mr. Justice, to achieve objectives unrelated to the proper administration of justice;
- (e) coordinated suppression of evidence withholding, concealing, or failing to disclose exculpatory material, including evidence that undermined the justification for charges or supported Mr. Justice's innocence;
- (f) retaliatory and collusive conduct misusing the criminal justice system to shield institutional actors from accountability, retaliate against Mr. Justice for asserting his rights, or otherwise engage in conduct motivated by personal animus, professional reputation management, or institutional self-preservation; and

(g) any other acts furthering the conspiracy – as will be further particularized in this proceeding, including additional unlawful, deceptive, or wrongful conduct carried out in furtherance of the conspiracy.

Knowledge and Intention to Injure Mr. Justice

386. S/Sgt. Desjourdy and Det. White directed, caused, and carried out actions that they knew or ought to have known were unlawful, exceeded their lawful authority, and would foreseeably cause harm to Mr. Justice.

387. The conspiracy was undertaken with malice, bad faith, and an intent to injure Mr. Justice—whether as a primary objective or as a foreseeable consequence of their deliberate or reckless disregard for his rights, liberty, and legal interests.

Causation and Foreseeability

388. As a direct and reasonably foreseeable consequence of the conspiracy between S/Sgt. Desjourdy and Det. White, and their deliberate use of unlawful means to carry out their common purpose, Mr. Justice suffered harm, including but not limited to:

- (a) deprivation of liberty the conspiracy resulted in Mr. Justice being unlawfully arrested, detained, and subjected to a wrongful prosecution without reasonable and probable grounds or legal justification;
- (b) psychological and emotional harm the conspiracy and its resulting unlawful conduct caused severe psychological distress, anxiety, and trauma, as Mr. Justice was subjected to persistent, coercive, and retaliatory legal processes;

- (c) reputational harm the conspiracy resulted in public disgrace, reputational damage, loss of professional standing, and irreparable harm to Mr. Justice's career, business, and personal relationships;
- (d) financial harm as a direct and foreseeable consequence of the conspiracy, Mr.
 Justice suffered substantial financial losses, including legal expenses, lost income, business disruptions, and other economic damages;
- (e) foreseeability of harm the harm suffered was the natural and probable result of the conspiracy, which was orchestrated with the intent to cause harm, to deter Mr.

 Justice from exposing police misconduct, and to suppress his legal rights through intimidation, wrongful prosecution, and abuse of state power; and
- (f) violation of *Charter* rights the acts of conspiracy directly led to breaches of Mr.Justice's rights under the *Charter*, including:
 - (i) section 2(b) (freedom of expression) through suppression of expressive freedoms, caused by the conspiratorial use of prosecutorial mechanisms as unlawful means to punish or silence
 Mr. Justice for publicly criticizing state misconduct;
 - (ii) section 7 (life, liberty, and security of the person) through deprivation of liberty, psychological harm, and infringement of personal security, resulting from coordinated state conduct intended to inflict harm through abuse of legal process;

- (iii) section 8 (unreasonable search or seizure) through unjustified and coordinated intrusions into privacy interests, caused by conspiratorial use of state mechanisms to seize or access personal information, devices, or records without lawful authority or justification;
- (iv) section 9 (arbitrary detention) through unlawful restrictions on liberty and psychological detention, caused by the conspiratorial use of prosecutions or court process without legal justification;
- (v) section 11(d) (right to a fair trial) through denial of procedural fairness, caused by coordinated efforts to obstruct disclosure, delay proceedings, or distort the adjudicative process in furtherance of unlawful conspiratorial objectives;
- (vi) section 12 (cruel and unusual treatment or punishment) through prolonged psychological suffering and punitive legal pressure, inflicted by oppressive and coordinated state actions pursued beyond any lawful authority or purpose; and
- (vii) section 15 (equality rights) through discriminatory and retaliatory treatment, caused by coordinated actions targeting Mr. Justice based on his identity as a public critic and civilian oversight actor, resulting in a denial of equal protection and benefit of the law.

Court File No./N° du dossier du greffe : CV-25-00099658-0000

Electronically filed / Déposé par voie électronique : 28-Nov-2025 Ottawa Superior Court of Justice / Cour supérieure de justice

Damages

389. Mr. Justice claims damages for the harm suffered as a result of the unlawful means

conspiracy directed, caused, or carried out by S/Sgt. Desjourdy and Det. White.

Intimidation

Unlawful Threats, Pressure, or Coercion

390. S/Sgt. Desjourdy, Det. White, Cst. Tessier, and Cst. Nizman directed, caused, or carried

out unlawful threats, undue pressure, or coercion against the Plaintiffs, leveraging their positions

of power within law enforcement to intimidate, compel compliance, or silence lawful actions

through improper means.

391. The intimidation consisted of one or more of the following:

(a) threatening the Plaintiffs with unlawful consequences, including arrest, detention,

prosecution, or legal sanction, unless they complied with demands that lacked

legal basis or exceeded lawful authority;

(b) exerting undue pressure or leveraging their public office to coerce the Plaintiffs

into actions they were not legally obligated to take, including the misuse or abuse

of legal authority to manufacture compliance;

- (c) issuing unlawful threats of legal sanction to force compliance, including pressuring Mr. Justice to sign an unlawful undertaking and prolonging his detention to exert psychological coercion;
- (d) engaging in coercion, intimidation, or retaliatory tactics beyond lawful authority, including conduct intended to instill fear of harm, retaliation, or punitive legal action without reasonable and probable grounds;
- (e) deliberately misusing legal processes or discretionary powers to intimidate, silence, or exert unlawful pressure, including manipulating legal procedures to achieve an improper advantage; and
- (f) any other acts or conduct demonstrating the use of intimidation to achieve an improper, collateral, or retaliatory purpose beyond legitimate law enforcement functions.

Intent to Intimidate and Improper Purpose

- 392. S/Sgt. Desjourdy, Det. White, Cst. Tessier, and Cst. Nizman directed, caused, and carried out acts intended to intimidate the Plaintiffs into compliance or submission through improper and unlawful means.
- 393. Their improper intent is demonstrated by, but not limited to:
 - (a) deliberately creating, fostering, or exploiting fear of harm, reprisal, or adverse legal consequences in a manner that exceeded lawful authority;

- (b) targeting the Plaintiffs with threats, coercion, or undue pressure beyond the scope of legitimate law enforcement or prosecutorial discretion;
- (c) acting with the intent to compel the Plaintiffs to act against their will, abandon their legal rights, or refrain from pursuing lawful recourse through intimidation or abuse of authority;
- (d) misusing their authority or public office to instill fear of consequences that were extraneous to any lawful or proper exercise of police discretion; and
- (e) any other acts demonstrating the deliberate use of intimidation for an improper, collateral, punitive, or retaliatory purpose.

Unlawful Means and Absence of Legal Justification

394. S/Sgt. Desjourdy, Det. White, Cst. Tessier, and Cst. Nizman directed, caused, or carried out acts of intimidation against the Plaintiffs through unlawful means and without legal justification, including but not limited to:

- (a) threatening or undertaking actions known to be unlawful to compel compliance or deter the Plaintiffs from exercising legal rights;
- (b) using intimidation to interfere with the Plaintiffs' access to justice or due process, including obstructing proceedings, suppressing evidence, or applying undue pressure to achieve an improper outcome;

- (c) exceeding lawful authority by engaging in coercion, threats, or retaliatory measures that served no legitimate law enforcement or prosecutorial purpose;
- (d) knowingly misrepresenting legal authority, the consequences of noncompliance, or the legality of state actions to instill fear, induce submission, or suppress lawful opposition; and
- (e) engaging in any other acts of abuse of power, coercion, or unlawful intimidation that exceeded lawful authority and served an improper, punitive, or retaliatory purpose.

Causation and Foreseeability

- 395. As a direct and reasonably foreseeable consequence of the intimidation, coercion, and retaliatory acts directed, caused, or carried out by S/Sgt. Desjourdy, Det. White, Cst. Tessier, and Cst. Nizman, the Plaintiffs suffered severe and lasting harm, including but not limited to:
 - (a) psychological and emotional trauma, including distress, fear, anxiety, and mental anguish resulting from sustained intimidation, threats of retaliation, and coercive tactics;
 - (b) economic losses, including legal costs, lost income, and financial instability directly caused by intimidation tactics that interfered with the Plaintiffs' legal rights, professional standing, and financial security;

- (c) coerced actions against free will, where intimidation and coercion forced the Plaintiffs into decisions or conduct they would not have undertaken voluntarily, resulting in prejudice to their legal, financial, and personal interests;
- (d) reputational damage, including deliberate efforts to discredit, undermine credibility, and inflict reputational harm through threats, misinformation, and retaliatory accusations;
- (e) severe strain on personal, familial, and professional relationships, where sustained intimidation and coercion caused undue hardship, fear of further retaliation, and instability in personal and business affairs; and
- (f) violations of their rights under the *Charter*, including breaches of:
 - (i) section 2(b) (freedom of expression) through suppression of expressive activity on matters of public interest, caused by threats of prosecution, surveillance, and personal reprisal intended to silence public criticism of police and prosecutorial misconduct;
 - (ii) section 7 (life, liberty, and security of the person) through psychological harm and erosion of liberty and personal security, caused by coercive and retaliatory tactics intended to instill fear and control behaviour in a manner contrary to the principles of fundamental justice;

- (iii) section 9 (arbitrary detention) through psychological restraint and loss of perceived liberty, caused by threats of arrest, detention, or surveillance issued without lawful justification;
- (iv) section 12 (cruel and unusual treatment or punishment) through serious psychological suffering and coercive pressure, caused by threats and intimidation deployed without lawful purpose and intended to inflict fear, distress, or submission through abuse of state authority; and
- (v) section 15 (equality rights) through discriminatory and retaliatory treatment, caused by intimidation targeting the Plaintiffs' role as civilian oversight actors and public critics of law enforcement, resulting in a denial of equal protection and benefit of the law.

Damages

396. The Plaintiffs claim damages for the harm suffered as a direct and reasonably foreseeable consequence of intimidation, coercion, and retaliation, directed, caused, or carried out through threats of unlawful action made by S/Sgt. Desjourdy, Det. White, Cst. Tessier, and Cst. Nizman with the intent to instill fear, punish or silence dissent, suppress expression, interfere with lawful action, or compel compliance.

Intentional Infliction of Emotional Distress

Extreme and Outrageous Conduct

397. S/Sgt. Desjourdy, Det. White, Cst. Tessier, and Cst. Nizman engaged in extreme, flagrant, and outrageous conduct, either intentionally or with reckless indifference to the severe emotional harm it would cause the Plaintiffs.

398. Their conduct exceeded all bounds of decency tolerated in a civilized society and included, but was not limited to:

- (a) deliberately engaging in coercive, degrading, or oppressive acts with the intent or reckless disregard that such conduct would cause severe emotional distress;
- (b) abusing their positions of authority to instill fear, intimidation, and humiliation in the Plaintiffs, despite lacking lawful justification for their actions;
- (c) directing, causing, or carrying out a sustained pattern of malicious, retaliatory, and punitive conduct designed to exert psychological control and inflict emotional suffering;
- (d) engaging in deception, misrepresentation, or manipulation to intensify the Plaintiffs' distress, fear, and emotional torment;
- (e) exploiting the Plaintiffs' vulnerable circumstances, including Mrs. Justice's high-risk pregnancy, with deliberate or reckless disregard for the serious risk of harm;

- (f) subjecting the Plaintiffs to persistent, unjustified, and excessive law enforcement scrutiny, including prolonged surveillance, baseless legal actions, and public humiliation, despite lacking any lawful foundation; and
- (g) any other deliberate, abusive, or oppressive actions calculated to cause or prolong emotional distress and inflict lasting psychological harm.

Intent or Reckless Disregard for Emotional Harm

- 399. S/Sgt. Desjourdy, Det. White, Cst. Tessier, and Cst. Nizman engaged in conduct with knowledge or reckless disregard that it would cause the Plaintiffs severe emotional and psychological distress.
- 400. Their intent or reckless disregard is demonstrated by, but not limited to:
 - (a) engaging in a sustained pattern of intimidation, coercion, and abuse of power, knowing or being willfully blind to the Plaintiffs' psychological suffering;
 - (b) deliberately misusing their positions of authority to instill fear, uncertainty, and prolonged distress, exploiting the Plaintiffs' vulnerability and lack of meaningful recourse;
 - (c) persisting in wrongful conduct despite knowledge of the Plaintiffs' deteriorating mental health and the foreseeable harm their actions were inflicting;

- (d) targeting the Plaintiffs with fabricated allegations, baseless prosecutions, and oppressive state actions, intending to maximize psychological distress and emotional harm;
- (e) misusing legal and judicial processes to prolong the Plaintiffs' suffering, with knowledge that the Plaintiffs were being subjected to unjust proceedings without adequate recourse; and
- (f) engaging in any other deliberate or reckless conduct that foreseeably resulted in severe emotional and psychological harm.

Severe Emotional Distress Suffered by the Plaintiffs

- 401. As a direct and reasonably foreseeable consequence of the unlawful, egregious, and oppressive conduct of S/Sgt. Desjourdy, Det. White, Cst. Tessier, and Cst. Nizman, the Plaintiffs suffered severe and enduring emotional distress, including but not limited to:
 - (a) persistent and debilitating psychological trauma, including chronic anxiety, severe emotional suffering, and profound distress caused by targeted acts of oppression, intimidation, and abuse of authority;
 - (b) sustained psychological and physiological harm, manifesting as severe depression, insomnia, panic attacks, and physical symptoms, arising from prolonged exposure to coercive, retaliatory, and malicious conduct;
 - (c) irreparable reputational and social harm, including public disgrace, professional hardship, and lasting damage to credibility, resulting from publicized allegations

that tarnished the Plaintiffs' standing in their community and professional reputation, despite lacking any legitimate basis;

- (d) substantial financial and career consequences, including loss of business opportunities, irreversible career damage, and prolonged financial instability, directly attributable to the mental and emotional toll of the wrongful actions;
- (e) severe disruption to personal security and well-being, resulting in persistent distress, hypervigilance, and an ongoing fear of further unwarranted state interference; and
- (f) violations of their rights under the *Charter*, including breaches of:
 - (i) section 2(b) (freedom of expression) through suppression of expressive freedoms, caused by degrading or retaliatory conduct intended to punish the Plaintiffs for publicly criticizing police and prosecutorial misconduct;
 - (ii) section 7 (life, liberty, and security of the person) through serious psychological harm intentionally or recklessly inflicted by state actors in a manner inconsistent with the principles of fundamental justice;
 - (iii) section 12 (cruel and unusual treatment or punishment) through emotional suffering inflicted by abusive and oppressive conduct, known or intended to cause pain without any lawful purpose; and

(iv) section 15 (equality rights) – through discriminatory and retaliatory treatment, caused by state conduct targeting the Plaintiffs based on their identity as whistleblowers and public critics, resulting in a denial of equal protection and benefit of the law.

Causation and Foreseeability

- 402. The severe emotional and psychological harm suffered by the Plaintiffs was a direct and proximate result of the extreme, flagrant, and outrageous conduct of S/Sgt. Desjourdy, Det. White, Cst. Tessier, and Cst. Nizman.
- 403. The distress suffered by the Plaintiffs was neither incidental nor trivial; rather, it was a foreseeable and inevitable consequence of conduct that was either:
 - (a) intentionally directed at causing severe emotional distress, or
 - (b) carried out with reckless indifference to the certainty that such harm would occur.
- 404. The wrongful conduct inflicted prolonged and extreme emotional distress of such intensity that no reasonable person could be expected to endure it.

Damages

405. The Plaintiffs claim damages for the severe emotional, psychological, and dignitary harm suffered as a direct and foreseeable consequence of the extreme, flagrant, and outrageous conduct of S/Sgt. Desjourdy, Det. White, Cst. Tessier, and Cst. Nizman.

Intrusion Upon Seclusion

Unjustified Intrusion into Private Affairs

406. S/Sgt. Desjourdy, intentionally or recklessly, engaged in or facilitated an unauthorized intrusion into the Plaintiffs' private affairs, seclusion, and confidential information, without lawful justification. The intrusion was deliberate, highly offensive to a reasonable person, and constituted a flagrant violation of the Plaintiffs' reasonable expectation of privacy.

407. The unlawful intrusion occurred through various means, including but not limited to:

- (a) directing, causing, or personally engaging in the unauthorized access, collection, review, or use of the Plaintiffs' private, confidential, or legally privileged information, absent lawful authority or a legitimate investigative purpose;
- (b) directing, instructing, causing, or facilitating surveillance, monitoring, or tracking of the Plaintiffs' movements, communications, or personal affairs beyond any lawful scope of police or prosecutorial authority;
- (c) interfering with the Plaintiffs' reasonable expectation of privacy in personal, financial, medical, or legally privileged matters, absent statutory, judicial, or common law authorization;
- (d) unlawfully searching, seizing, or directing the examination of the Plaintiffs' private communications, financial records, or other personal data for an improper, extraneous, or unauthorized purpose; and

(e) engaging in any other deliberate, unjustified, and unauthorized invasion of privacy, contrary to statutory, common law, and constitutional protections governing the security of private information and personal autonomy.

Highly Offensive Nature of the Intrusion

408. The intrusion was deliberate, unauthorized, and egregiously invasive, constituting a serious and unwarranted violation of the Plaintiffs' privacy, dignity, and personal autonomy. The manner, scope, and circumstances of the intrusion exceeded any reasonable bounds of lawful or justifiable conduct, causing significant humiliation, emotional distress, and a profound loss of security and trust in public officials.

- 409. The gravity and offensiveness of the intrusion are demonstrated by, but not limited to:
 - (a) the deeply personal, private, or sensitive nature of the information that was unlawfully accessed, used, or disclosed;
 - (b) the breadth, scope, and duration of the intrusion, including any repeated, prolonged, or systematic violations;
 - (c) the intentional, reckless, or high-handed manner in which the intrusion was directed, caused, or facilitated, including any abuse of authority, coercion, or retaliatory intent;
 - (d) the absence of lawful authority, reasonable justification, or procedural safeguards to prevent or mitigate the intrusion;

- (e) the coercive, retaliatory, or punitive context of the intrusion, where state power was weaponized to intimidate, silence, or gain an improper advantage over the Plaintiffs, in direct violation of their fundamental rights;
- (f) the misuse of public office, law enforcement powers, or prosecutorial discretion to facilitate, enable, or justify the intrusion, undermining the rule of law and public trust; and
- (g) any other factors demonstrating a flagrant disregard for the Plaintiffs' fundamental rights, privacy, and dignity.

Causation and Foreseeability

- 410. As a direct and reasonably foreseeable consequence of the unlawful intrusion upon the Plaintiffs' privacy, the Plaintiffs suffered harm, including but not limited to:
 - (a) severe psychological harm including anxiety, emotional distress, and trauma caused by the unauthorized access, disclosure, and misuse of private information;
 - (b) reputational damage including harm to personal and professional relationships resulting from the unauthorized intrusion into their private affairs and the improper use or misrepresentation of such information in legal proceedings;
 - (c) loss of dignity, autonomy, and privacy—causing profound humiliation, mental anguish, and an enduring fear of future surveillance, state intrusion, or misuse of personal information, creating a chilling effect on their personal and professional lives;

- (d) economic harm including legal costs, expenses, and other financial losses incurred as a direct result of challenging the unlawful intrusion and seeking remedies for the breach of privacy;
- (e) compounding of harm the unlawful intrusion and misuse of private information aggravated and prolonged the Plaintiffs' psychological distress, reputational damage, and financial burden, exacerbating the malicious prosecution, wrongful detention, and reputational harm they suffered; and
- (f) violations of their rights under the *Charter*, including breaches of:
 - (i) section 2(b) (freedom of expression) through suppression of expressive activity on matters of public interest, caused by retaliatory intrusions into private affairs and monitoring of personal communications intended to punish or deter criticism of police misconduct;
 - (ii) section 7 (life, liberty, and security of the person) through psychological harm and erosion of autonomy, caused by deliberate and unjustified privacy violations that undermined personal security, dignity, and mental integrity;
 - (iii) section 8 (unreasonable search or seizure) through violation of reasonable expectations of privacy, caused by unauthorized access to personal information and private activity without lawful basis or judicial authorization;

Court File No./N° du dossier du greffe : CV-25-00099658-0000

Electronically filed / Déposé par voie électronique : 28-Nov-2025 Ottawa Superior Court of Justice / Cour supérieure de justice

(iv) section 12 (cruel and unusual treatment or punishment) – through

serious psychological suffering and humiliation, caused by abusive

and retaliatory privacy intrusions carried out without lawful

justification, with the purpose or effect of inflicting emotional

harm through misuse of state power; and

(v) section 15 (equality rights) – through discriminatory and retaliatory

privacy intrusions, caused by targeting the Plaintiffs based on their

identity as civilian oversight actors and public critics of law

enforcement, resulting in a denial of equal protection and benefit

of the law.

Damages

411. The Plaintiffs claim damages for the harm suffered as a direct and reasonably foreseeable

consequence of the unlawful intrusion upon their privacy, which was engaged in or facilitated by

S/Sgt. Desjourdy in the course of his public office and under the colour of his authority.

False Arrest and False Imprisonment

Unlawful Arrest and Detention

412. S/Sgt. Desjourdy, Cst. Tessier, and Cst. Nizman directed, caused, or carried out the

unlawful arrest and detention of the Plaintiffs without lawful authority, reasonable and probable

grounds, or justification at law.

- 413. False arrest and false imprisonment occurred on two separate occasions:
 - (a) first arrest on January 25, 2021, at 6045 Bank St. in Ottawa, Cst. Tessier and Cst. Nizman carried out the arrest and detention of Mr. Justice under the direction and authority of S/Sgt. Desjourdy; and
 - (b) second arrest on May 10, 2023, Mr. and Mrs. Justice were arrested and detained under the direction and authority of S/Sgt. Desjourdy. Mr. Justice was arrested at 7163 Parkway Rd. in Ottawa, while Mrs. Justice was arrested at 2589.
- 414. An arrest or detention is unlawful where:
 - (a) there is no statutory or common law authority to arrest or detain;
 - (b) there are no reasonable and probable grounds to believe the Plaintiffs committed an offence;
 - (c) discretion is improperly exercised in determining whether arrest or detention was necessary, including where a less intrusive alternative was available or mandated by law;
 - (d) statutory, common law, and constitutional safeguards governing arrest and detention are disregarded, misapplied, or violated;
 - (e) the arrest or detention is carried out for an improper purpose, including as a means of intimidation, reprisal, personal or institutional retaliation, or oppression; and

(f) any other circumstances demonstrating an absence of legal justification, including where the detention is arbitrary, excessive, or otherwise contrary to legal safeguards.

Unlawful Restraint and Deprivation of Liberty

- 415. S/Sgt. Desjourdy, Cst. Tessier, and Cst. Nizman directed, caused, or carried out the unlawful restraint and deprivation of the Plaintiffs' liberty without lawful justification or reasonable and probable grounds, thereby violating their right to be free from arbitrary detention.
- 416. False imprisonment was carried out through, but not limited to:
 - (a) directing, causing, or carrying out the physical restraint and detention of the Plaintiffs without lawful authority or legal justification;
 - (b) detaining the Plaintiffs through the threat of force, coercion, or physical restraint, rendering them unable to leave or challenge their detention in accordance with their legal rights;
 - (c) continuing the detention despite the absence of lawful grounds and despite knowing or recklessly disregarding that no reasonable justification existed for their continued restraint;
 - (d) wrongfully depriving the Plaintiffs of their ability to exercise their legal rights, including access to legal counsel and the ability to challenge their detention in a timely and meaningful manner; and

(e) engaging in any other conduct that resulted in the unjustified deprivation of the Plaintiffs' liberty, contrary to legal and constitutional protections.

Absence of Lawful Justification

- 417. At all material times, S/Sgt. Desjourdy, Cst. Tessier, and Cst. Nizman directed, caused, or carried out the arrests and detentions of the Plaintiffs without lawful justification, as demonstrated by:
 - (a) lack of lawful authority no valid arrest warrant, statutory power, or common law basis existed to justify the arrests or detentions at the time they were carried out;
 - (b) absence of reasonable and probable grounds the arrests and detentions were not based on objectively sufficient evidence and lacked any honest belief grounded in reasonable suspicion or legal justification;
 - (c) use of force, coercion, or intimidation without lawful basis the application of physical force, threats, or coercive tactics to effect an arrest or prolong a detention without lawful necessity;
 - (d) unlawful deprivation of liberty the arrests or detentions were excessive, arbitrary, punitive, or extended beyond what was lawfully permissible; and
 - (e) any other circumstances demonstrating the unlawfulness of the arrests and detentions including where they were unlawful from the outset, became unlawful due to their continuation, or constituted an abuse of state authority.

Causation and Foreseeability

- 418. As a direct and reasonably foreseeable consequence of the false arrests and false imprisonment, the Plaintiffs suffered harm, including but not limited to:
 - (a) deprivation of liberty due to wrongful arrest, unlawful detention, and restriction of movement;
 - (b) psychological harm, including anxiety, emotional distress, and trauma;
 - (c) reputational harm, including damage to personal and professional reputation, loss of standing, and public disgrace;
 - (d) financial harm, including legal fees, lost income, and other economic losses arising directly from the unlawful conduct;
 - (e) intrusion upon privacy and dignity, including humiliation, loss of autonomy, and the distress of being subjected to unlawful state control; and
 - (f) any other foreseeable consequences of the wrongful arrests and detentions, as will be further particularized in this proceeding.

Violation of *Charter* Rights

419. The unlawful arrests and detentions directed, caused, and carried out by S/Sgt. Desjourdy, Cst. Tessier, and Cst. Nizman violated the Plaintiffs' rights under the *Charter*, including but not limited to:

- (a) section 2(b) (freedom of expression) through suppression of expressive activity on matters of public interest, caused by retaliatory arrests and detentions intended to silence or punish public criticism of police and prosecutorial misconduct;
- (b) section 7 (life, liberty, and security of the person) through deprivation of liberty, personal security, and psychological integrity, caused by unlawful arrests and detentions carried out without justification and in breach of the principles of fundamental justice;
- (c) section 9 (arbitrary detention) through unjustified and unlawful restraint, caused by detentions imposed without legal authority, reasonable grounds, or procedural safeguards;
- (d) section 10 (rights on arrest or detention) through infringement of procedural protections, including:
 - (i) deprivation of the right to be promptly informed of the reasons for detention in a comprehensible manner; and
 - (ii) denial of the right to retain and instruct counsel without delay and to be provided a meaningful opportunity to do so;
- (e) section 12 (cruel and unusual treatment or punishment) through serious psychological harm, coercive restraint, and degrading physical treatment inflicted in the course of unlawful arrests and detentions, without lawful justification or necessity; and

Court File No./N° du dossier du greffe : CV-25-00099658-0000

Electronically filed / Déposé par voie électronique : 28-Nov-2025 Ottawa Superior Court of Justice / Cour supérieure de justice

(f) section 15 (equality rights) – through discriminatory and retaliatory treatment, caused by arrests and detentions targeting the Plaintiffs based on their identity as whistleblowers and civilian oversight actors, resulting in a denial of equal

protection and benefit of the law.

Damages

420. The Plaintiffs claim damages for the harm suffered as a result of the false arrests and

false imprisonment directed, caused, and carried out by S/Sgt. Desjourdy, Cst. Tessier, and Cst.

Nizman.

Trespass to Chattels

Ownership or Possessory Interest

421. Mr. Justice was the lawful owner, possessor, or had an immediate and enforceable right to

possession of the property that was unlawfully interfered with, including but not limited to:

(a) a mobile device assigned the phone number ending in 6996, which was

exclusively owned, possessed, and used by Mr. Justice for personal, professional,

and legal purposes;

(b) the digital data, business records, and confidential information stored within the

seized device, including security keys and highly sensitive operational data

essential to the ongoing operation of the Plaintiffs' business; and

(c) any other personal property, digital records, or electronically stored data that was unlawfully accessed, copied, retained, or seized without lawful authority or justification.

Intentional Interference with Chattels

- 422. S/Sgt. Desjourdy directed, facilitated, or engaged in intentional interference with, unauthorized control over, and deprivation of Mr. Justice's lawful use and possession of his chattels, without consent, legal authority, statutory basis, or any legitimate exercise of police discretion.
- 423. The unlawful interference with chattels included, but was not limited to:
 - (a) seizing, taking, or retaining possession of Mr. Justice's property in circumstances where no lawful authority, judicial authorization, or statutory basis existed, and where such conduct exceeded any lawful exercise of police discretion;
 - (b) damaging, altering, tampering with, or otherwise exercising unauthorized control over Mr. Justice's chattels deliberately, recklessly, or without legal justification;
 - (c) interfering with, obstructing, or preventing Mr. Justice from accessing, using, or enjoying his personal property, in the absence of any lawful justification or legal authority; and
 - (d) engaging in any other direct or indirect interference that resulted in harm, deprivation, or unlawful disruption of Mr. Justice's lawful possession of his property.

Electronically filed / Déposé par voie électronique : 28-Nov-2025 Ottawa Superior Court of Justice / Cour supérieure de justice

Unlawful Seizure of Mr. Justice's Mobile Device

424. S/Sgt. Desjourdy directed, facilitated, or engaged in the warrantless and unlawful seizure

of Mr. Justice's mobile device, without judicial authorization, statutory authority, or lawful

justification under the Criminal Code or the Charter.

425. Despite knowing or having reason to know that the seizure was unlawful, S/Sgt.

Desjourdy ordered and carried it out, including but not limited to the following:

(a) the device allegedly subject to seizure did not belong to Mr. Justice but rather to

Mrs. Justice, whose mobile device was associated with a phone number ending in

9669;

(b) instead of seizing the correct device, he wrongfully directed, caused, and

facilitated the seizure of Mr. Justice's personal mobile device, which had a distinct

phone number ending in 6996, was not connected to any lawful criminal

investigation, and had no lawful basis for seizure; and

(c) having been involved in prolonged legal proceedings against the Justices, he knew

or ought to have known the distinction between the devices and that the seizure

lacked any lawful foundation, amounting to an abuse of authority.

426. The warrantless and unlawful seizure constituted an unreasonable search and seizure, in

violation of section 8 of the *Charter*, depriving Mr. Justice of his constitutional rights to privacy,

security of property, and procedural fairness under the rule of law.

Electronically filed / Déposé par voie électronique : 28-Nov-2025 Ottawa Superior Court of Justice / Cour supérieure de justice

Harm, Loss, or Deprivation

427. As a direct and reasonably foreseeable consequence of the wrongful interference with Mr.

Justice's chattels, the Plaintiffs suffered harm, including but not limited to:

(a) deprivation of use or temporary loss of access to the property, directly interfering

with their personal lives, business continuity, and legal affairs, including the

operation of their jointly managed enterprise;

(b) physical damage to the chattels, necessitating repair, restoration, or replacement;

(c) economic losses, including verifiable out-of-pocket expenses directly arising from

the deprivation of access to the chattels and resulting operational disruptions

affecting their business, legal, and financial transactions;

(d) diminished value of the chattels due to unauthorized interference, tampering, or

compromise of security and integrity;

(e) compromised security systems, loss of access to critical business tools, and

deprivation of essential legal and financial documents, directly impairing

commercial operations and legal preparedness;

Mrs. Justice's inability to access business-critical assets, proprietary data, and

operational tools essential to the management of their business, household, and

professional affairs, materially obstructing her ability to fulfill essential

responsibilities; and

(f)

(g) any additional losses suffered by the Plaintiffs as a direct and foreseeable result of the interference, as will be further particularized in this proceeding.

Causation and Foreseeability

- 428. The wrongful seizure, deprivation, and unauthorized interference with Mr. Justice's chattels directly and foreseeably caused harm to the Plaintiffs, including but not limited to:
 - (a) actual or constructive loss of property, preventing the Plaintiffs from possessing,
 controlling, or using the chattels for their intended purposes;
 - (b) disruption of business, legal, and personal affairs, including loss of access to security credentials, essential legal materials, proprietary data, or critical communications vital to daily operations;
 - (c) Mrs. Justice's inability to access business-critical property, security infrastructure, and proprietary data, resulting in financial hardship, economic loss, and operational inefficiencies;
 - (d) financial burdens associated with repairing, replacing, or securing alternative solutions due to the interference, including heightened security costs, contractual penalties, and revenue disruptions; and
 - (e) violations of their rights under the *Charter*, including breaches of:
 - (i) section 2(b) (freedom of expression) through suppression of expressive activity on matters of public interest, caused by

interference with personal property used for oversight, documentation, and dissemination of speech critical of law enforcement conduct;

- (ii) section 7 (life, liberty, and security of the person) through psychological harm, loss of autonomy, and coercive pressure, caused by unauthorized and retaliatory interference with personal effects in violation of the principles of fundamental justice;
- (iii) section 8 (unreasonable search or seizure) through breach of reasonable expectations of privacy, caused by the unlawful seizure, access, or control of personal belongings without warrant, legal authority, or lawful justification;
- (iv) section 12 (cruel and unusual treatment or punishment) through serious psychological harm, humiliation, and emotional coercion, caused by retaliatory and excessive interference with personal property carried out without lawful justification and for the purpose of inflicting hardship through abuse of state authority; and
- (v) section 15 (equality rights) through discriminatory and retaliatory interference with property, caused by targeting the Plaintiffs based on their identity as whistleblowers and civilian oversight actors, resulting in a denial of equal protection and benefit of the law.

Electronically filed / Déposé par voie électronique : 28-Nov-2025 Ottawa Superior Court of Justice / Cour supérieure de justice

Damages

429. The Plaintiffs claim damages for the wrongful interference with, unauthorized use of, and

unlawful trespass upon Mr. Justice's chattels, caused by and directly resulting from S/Sgt.

Desjourdy's unauthorized and wrongful actions.

Charter Violations and Liability

Charter Violations as Independent and Compensable Wrongs

430. The conduct of S/Sgt. Desjourdy, Det. White, Cst. Tessier, Cst. Nizman, A.C.A. Farrell,

D.C.A. Holmes, A.C.A. Rodgers, A.C.A. Karimjee, and A.C.A. Savage resulted in direct

breaches of the Charter, constituting independent and compensable constitutional wrongs under

established public law principles.

431. These *Charter* breaches give rise to distinct, enforceable violations warranting damages

under section 24(1) of the *Charter*, separate from and in addition to the damages claimed for

common law torts.

Charter Rights Violated

432. The actions and decisions of S/Sgt. Desjourdy, Det. White, Cst. Tessier, Cst. Nizman,

A.C.A. Farrell, D.C.A. Holmes, A.C.A. Rodgers, A.C.A. Karimjee, and A.C.A. Savage directly

caused and constituted breaches of the Plaintiffs' rights under the Charter, including but not

limited to:

(a) Section 2(b) — Freedom of Expression

S/Sgt. Desjourdy, Det. White, Cst. Tessier, Cst. Nizman, D.C.A. Holmes, A.C.A. Rodgers, A.C.A. Karimjee, and A.C.A. Savage directed, authorized, caused, or carried out retaliatory conduct against the Plaintiffs by using the machinery of criminal prosecution, investigative authority, and judicial process to suppress their public criticism of police and prosecutorial misconduct, thereby infringing their expressive activity on matters of public accountability and violating their right to speak, advocate, and engage in civilian oversight without state reprisal;

(b) Section 7 – Life, Liberty, and Security of the Person

S/Sgt. Desjourdy, Det. White, Cst. Tessier, Cst. Nizman, A.C.A. Farrell, D.C.A. Holmes, A.C.A. Rodgers, A.C.A. Karimjee, and A.C.A. Savage directed, caused, or carried out unlawful prosecutions, wrongful arrests, abusive legal tactics, and coercive state actions, directly and foreseeably depriving the Plaintiffs of their liberty and security of the person in a manner contrary to the principles of fundamental justice. These unjustified and oppressive state actions resulted in prolonged legal jeopardy, harm, and distress, infringing the Plaintiffs' *Charter*-protected rights;

(c) Section 8 – Protection Against Unreasonable Search and Seizure

S/Sgt. Desjourdy and A.C.A. Karimjee directed, authorized, or caused searches, seizures, or the acquisition of evidence that were unauthorized, warrantless, or otherwise unlawful, infringing upon the Plaintiffs' reasonable expectation of

privacy in their person, property, and effects. These actions exceeded lawful investigative powers and constituted an arbitrary state intrusion, contrary to section 8 of the *Charter*;

(d) Section 9 – Arbitrary Detention or Imprisonment

S/Sgt. Desjourdy, Cst. Tessier, Cst. Nizman, D.C.A. Holmes, A.C.A. Rodgers, A.C.A. Karimjee, and A.C.A. Savage directed, authorized, or carried out arbitrary arrests and detentions without lawful justification. The Plaintiffs were unlawfully restrained, both physically and psychologically, in violation of their constitutional right to be free from unjustified state detention. These arrests and detentions lacked reasonable and probable grounds and were undertaken for improper, punitive, or retaliatory purposes;

(e) Section 10 – Rights Upon Arrest or Detention

S/Sgt. Desjourdy, Cst. Tessier, and Cst. Nizman directed, caused, or carried out the unlawful arrest and detention of Mr. Justice while failing to promptly inform him of the reasons for his detention, his right to counsel, and his right to retain and instruct counsel without delay. They further failed to facilitate meaningful access to legal representation, depriving Mr. Justice of his ability to exercise his constitutional rights. These violations of section 10 of the *Charter* denied Mr. Justice the procedural protections necessary to make informed legal choices and effectively respond to state action;

(f) Section 11 – Legal Rights in Criminal and Quasi-Criminal Proceedings

S/Sgt. Desjourdy, Det. White, A.C.A. Farrell, D.C.A. Holmes, A.C.A. Rodgers, A.C.A. Karimjee, and A.C.A. Savage directed, caused, and carried out unjustified prosecutions, engaged in bad faith litigation tactics, and engaged in legal misconduct that violated the Plaintiffs' rights under section 11 of the *Charter*. These breaches deprived the Plaintiffs of fundamental procedural protections, including: denying the right to a fair trial, engaging in prosecutions that contravened due process, causing undue delay in the administration of justice, and pursuing charges without lawful basis for improper purposes. These actions subverted the rule of law, obstructed the Plaintiffs' ability to receive a fair hearing, and constituted a misuse of state power contrary to section 11 of the *Charter*;

(g) Section 12 – Cruel and Unusual Treatment or Punishment

S/Sgt. Desjourdy, Det. White, Cst. Tessier, Cst. Nizman, D.C.A. Holmes, A.C.A. Rodgers, A.C.A. Karimjee, and A.C.A. Savage directed, caused, or carried out coercive legal tactics, prolonged wrongful detention, and prosecutorial abuse, subjecting the Plaintiffs to cruel and unusual treatment in violation of section 12 of the *Charter*. Their conduct far exceeded any lawful authority and was grossly disproportionate to any legitimate law enforcement or prosecutorial objective. The prolonged psychological harm, undue suffering, and inhumane state-imposed distress inflicted upon the Plaintiffs was foreseeable, deliberate, and incompatible with the fundamental principles of justice; and

(h) Section 15 – Equality Before and Under the Law

S/Sgt. Desjourdy, Det. White, Cst. Tessier, Cst. Nizman, D.C.A. Holmes, A.C.A. Rodgers, A.C.A. Karimjee, and A.C.A. Savage directed, caused, or carried out selective enforcement, differential treatment, and improper legal targeting, depriving the Plaintiffs of equal protection and benefit of the law. The state actions taken against the Plaintiffs were arbitrary, lacked a lawful foundation, and resulted in a discriminatory impact, thereby contravening section 15 of the *Charter* and denying the Plaintiffs substantive equality before and under the law.

Public Law Damages Under Section 24(1) of the Charter

433. The Plaintiffs seek constitutional damages pursuant to section 24(1) of the *Charter* as a just and appropriate remedy for the state misconduct and constitutional violations that directly resulted in their harm.

- 434. *Charter* damages serve fundamental public law objectives, including:
 - (a) compensation to redress both tangible and intangible harm suffered as a direct result of the constitutional breaches, including deprivation of liberty, psychological harm, and reputational damage;
 - (b) vindication to reinforce the primacy of constitutional rights, ensuring that state actors are held accountable and that serious rights violations do not go without redress; and

- (c) deterrence to discourage future violations by imposing financial consequences on state actors who engage in unlawful and unconstitutional conduct.
- 435. The quantum of *Charter* damages should be assessed based on the following factors:
 - (a) the severity of the constitutional violations, including the number of breaches and their cumulative effect;
 - (b) the gravity of the state misconduct, including whether the violations were deliberate, reckless, or systemic;
 - (c) the harm suffered by the Plaintiffs, including the psychological, financial, and personal consequences resulting from the breaches; and
 - (d) the broader public interest, including the need to deter future state misconduct and reinforce the rule of law.

Causation and Foreseeability

- 436. The deliberate and unlawful conduct, including arbitrary detention, wrongful arrest, and bad faith prosecution, directly and foreseeably caused harm to the Plaintiffs, including but not limited to:
 - (a) deprivation of liberty through unlawful detention, wrongful arrest, and prosecution pursued in bad faith, violating the right to liberty under section 7 of the *Charter*;

- (b) severe psychological harm, including anxiety, emotional distress, and trauma, caused by prolonged, unjust, and coercive legal proceedings, violating security of the person under section 7 and amounting to cruel and unusual treatment under section 12;
- (c) infringement of the Plaintiffs' procedural and constitutional rights, violating fundamental justice and causing direct harm, including:
 - (i) freedom from unlawful search and seizure (section 8);
 - (ii) the right to be free from arbitrary detention (section 9);
 - (iii) the right to know the reasons for arrest and to retain and instruct counsel (section 10); and
 - (iv) the right to be tried within a reasonable time (section 11);
- (d) severe reputational harm, including public disgrace, damage to career, and loss of standing, directly resulting from wrongful state action, abuse of legal processes, and prosecutorial misconduct, violating principles of fundamental justice under section 7;
- (e) significant financial harm, including excessive legal fees, lost income, and economic losses, directly caused by the Plaintiffs' forced involvement in abusive legal proceedings and state misconduct;

- (f) intrusion upon privacy and dignity, including unlawful searches, improper seizure of personal records, and coercive investigatory tactics, violating section 8 of the *Charter*;
- (g) targeted and discriminatory treatment, subjecting the Plaintiffs to differential and unjust treatment under the law, violating their right to equality before and under the law under section 15 of the *Charter*;
- (h) irreparable strain on family relationships, social standing, and professional reputation, resulting in pervasive and long-term consequences beyond immediate reputational harm, exacerbating the psychological and economic consequences of the state's misconduct; and
- (i) any other harms or *Charter* breaches reasonably foreseeable as a consequence of the state's unlawful and unconstitutional conduct, as will be further particularized in this proceeding.

Damages

437. The Plaintiffs claim constitutional damages pursuant to section 24(1) of the *Charter* as a direct and reasonably foreseeable consequence of the unlawful and unconstitutional violations of their *Charter* rights by S/Sgt. Desjourdy, Det. White, Cst. Tessier, Cst. Nizman, A.C.A. Farrell, D.C.A. Holmes, A.C.A. Rodgers, A.C.A. Karimjee, and A.C.A. Savage.

Vicarious Liability

438. OPSB is vicariously liable for the unlawful acts and omissions of its officers, including but not limited to S/Sgt. Desjourdy, Det. White, Cst. Tessier, and Cst. Nizman, who engaged in wrongful conduct in the course of their employment as sworn members of the Ottawa Police Service.

439. OPSB bears vicarious liability for the tortious conduct of its officers, as their wrongful acts and omissions were:

- (a) directed, authorized, or enabled within the scope of their employment, authority, and operational duties as police officers;
- (b) sufficiently connected to their assigned law enforcement functions, such that the risk of the wrongful acts was a foreseeable consequence of the duties, authority, and discretion conferred upon them in their employment;
- (c) carried out under the ostensible authority of OPSB's policing mandate, even if executed in an unauthorized, improper, or unlawful manner;
- (d) enabled, facilitated, or failed to prevent due to OPSB's operational control, systemic deficiencies, policy failures, or lack of adequate oversight, such that its omissions directly contributed to the wrongful conduct and harm suffered by the Plaintiffs; and

(e) otherwise sufficient to establish vicarious liability at law, as will be further particularized in these proceedings.

440. OPSB is vicariously liable for all tortious conduct committed by sworn members of the Ottawa Police Service set out in this claim, including but not limited to:

- (a) malicious prosecution;
- (b) misfeasance in public office;
- (c) abuse of process;
- (d) intimidation;
- (e) unlawful means conspiracy;
- (f) negligent investigation;
- (g) negligence;
- (h) intentional infliction of emotional distress;
- (i) intrusion upon seclusion;
- (j) false arrest;
- (k) false imprisonment;
- (1) trespass to chattels;
- (m) any additional or related wrongful acts or omissions, whether pleaded explicitly or arising from the factual matrix of this claim, committed by members of the Ottawa Police Service in the execution of their duties.

Statutory Liability

Liability of the Attorney General

441. The Attorney General is statutorily liable for the unlawful acts, omissions, and breaches of duty committed by its Crown prosecutors, including but not limited to A.C.A. Farrell, D.C.A. Holmes, A.C.A. Rodgers, A.C.A. Karimjee, and A.C.A. Savage, who engaged in wrongful conduct in the course of their prosecutorial duties and under the delegated authority of the Attorney General.

Liability of the Crown

442. The Crown is directly liable for the unlawful conduct of the Attorney General and its Crown prosecutors, including A.C.A. Farrell, D.C.A. Holmes, A.C.A. Rodgers, A.C.A. Karimjee, and A.C.A. Savage, arising from their tortious conduct in the course of their prosecutorial duties and pursuant to the *Crown Liability and Proceedings Act*.

443. The Crown is both statutorily and vicariously liable for the tortious acts and omissions of its Crown prosecutors as pleaded in this claim, including but not limited to:

- (a) malicious prosecution;
- (b) misfeasance in public office;
- (c) abuse of process (prosecutorial);
- (d) all wrongful acts, omissions, or breaches of duty by prosecutors, including negligent or reckless conduct coupled with bad faith, malice, or improper purpose.

Joint and Several Liability

444. The Plaintiffs claim damages against all named parties, jointly and severally, or against any one of them individually, for the full extent of the harm suffered as set out in this claim.

VI. DISCOVERABILITY

Discovery of the Causes of Action

445. The Plaintiffs did not discover and could not have discovered, through the exercise of reasonable diligence, the existence of their claims until May 28, 2024, when the underlying criminal proceedings were terminated in their favour.

446. Until May 28, 2024, the Plaintiffs were legally precluded from fully pursuing their civil claims due to ongoing criminal proceedings, where the lawfulness of police and prosecutorial conduct remained a live and unresolved issue. The facts necessary to ground the Plaintiffs' causes of action were not fully known nor reasonably discoverable until the conclusion of those proceedings.

Discoverability and the *Limitations Act*, 2002

447. Pursuant to section 5(1) of the *Limitations Act*, 2002, S.O. 2002, c. 24, Sched. B ("*Limitations Act*"), a claim is discovered when the claimant knew or ought to have known that:

(a) the injury, loss, or damage had occurred;

- (b) the injury, loss, or damage was caused by the act or omission of the party being sued; and
- (c) a proceeding was legally appropriate to seek a remedy.

448. Section 5(2) of the *Limitations Act* presumes that a claim is discovered on the date of the act or omission giving rise to the cause of action, unless the claimant rebuts this presumption by demonstrating that discovery occurred at a later date.

Rebutting the Presumption of Discoverability for False Arrest and False Imprisonment

- 449. The presumption under section 5(2) is rebutted for false arrest and false imprisonment, as common law recognizes earlier presumptive crystallization dates. Nonetheless, the Plaintiffs could not have reasonably discovered their claims before May 28, 2024, when the Crown stayed proceedings.
- 450. The following legally recognized factors establish delayed discoverability:
 - (a) The Existence of a Live Legal Dispute

at the time of Mr. Justice's arrest and detention on January 25, 2021, and at the time of both Plaintiffs' arrests on May 10, 2023, the lawfulness of police conduct was a live issue in ongoing criminal proceedings. Asserting a civil claim before the conclusion of the criminal process would have been premature, as the factual and legal foundation of the claim had not yet been established;

(b) The Pending *Charter* Challenge

the Plaintiffs had scheduled a *Charter* challenge from August 26–30, 2024, in which officers involved in the arrests and detentions were subpoenaed to testify. The challenge sought a judicial determination that the arrests were unlawful. A ruling in the Plaintiffs' favour would have been determinative of the elements of false arrest and false imprisonment;

(c) The Crown's Termination of the Prosecution Crystallized the Claim

on May 28, 2024, the Crown entered a stay of proceedings under section 579 of the *Criminal Code*, preventing adjudication of the *Charter* challenge. This stay of proceedings marked the first moment the Plaintiffs could reasonably conclude that a complete and actionable civil claim had crystallized, as the criminal process had previously foreclosed full discovery of their legal rights;

(d) Discoverability Delayed by the Interplay Between Criminal and Civil Proceedings the Supreme Court of Canada has held that where the viability of a civil cause of action is contingent on the resolution of related criminal proceedings, the limitation period may not commence until those proceedings are concluded. Here, the Plaintiffs' ability to assert their civil claim was directly linked to the pending *Charter* challenge and its potential findings;

(e) The Crown's Position Reinforced the Delayed Discoverability

the Crown reviewed the arrests and detentions and deemed them justified, requiring the Plaintiffs to challenge their lawfulness through *Charter* applications and testimony from police officers. The Plaintiffs could not have reasonably known they had a complete cause of action until the proceedings ended, and the anticipated judicial determinations were preempted by the stay of proceedings;

(f) The Crown's Use of Section 579 to Shield Police Liability

the Crown's unilateral decision to stay proceedings under section 579 should not be permitted to artificially accelerate the limitation period. The lawfulness of the Plaintiffs' arrest and detention was actively contested, and the termination of proceedings was the first moment the Plaintiffs could reasonably conclude that they had a complete and actionable claim;

(g) False Arrest and False Imprisonment Are Inextricably Linked to Other Claims

false arrest and false imprisonment formed the foundation of related claims, including malicious prosecution, misfeasance in public office, abuse of process, and intimidation. Courts have held that where multiple causes of action arise from a shared factual matrix, the limitation period should not be artificially fragmented. Given that the other causes of action were not discoverable until the termination of the charges on May 28, 2024, and these claims are factually and legally intertwined, the same limitation period applies; and

- (h) Concealment and Systemic Hindrance of the Plaintiffs' Ability to Bring a Claim the claims for malicious prosecution, misfeasance in public office, abuse of process, and abuse of process (prosecutorial) include allegations that active steps were taken to prevent the Plaintiffs from asserting a cause of action. These actions included:
 - (i) concealing exculpatory material;
 - (ii) hindering disclosure of key evidence; and
 - (iii) engaging in tactics that obstructed the Plaintiffs' ability to form the basis of a civil claim.

Rebuttal of Presumptive Discovery Date for First Arrest

- 451. The presumptive discovery date for Mr. Justice's first arrest on January 25, 2021, does not apply, as it is rebutted on the following legal grounds:
 - (a) the lawfulness of his arrest and detention remained a live issue throughout the criminal process;
 - (b) the pending *Charter* challenge was an essential step in establishing the claim; and
 - (c) the Crown's use of section 579 to stay proceedings does not bar or artificially accelerate the limitation period for false arrest and false imprisonment, as those claims were legally and factually bound to the ongoing criminal litigation.

Electronically filed / Déposé par voie électronique : 28-Nov-2025 Ottawa Superior Court of Justice / Cour supérieure de justice

Timeliness of the Second Arrest and All Other Claims

452. The presumptive date for the second arrest and detention is May 12, 2023, and this claim

is therefore timely under section 4 of the *Limitations Act*.

453. For greater certainty, the Plaintiffs plead that all other causes of action—including but not

limited to malicious prosecution, misfeasance in public office, abuse of process, abuse of process

(prosecutorial), intimidation, unlawful means conspiracy, negligent investigation, negligence,

intentional infliction of emotional distress, intrusion upon seclusion, and trespass to

chattels—were commenced within the applicable two-year limitation period of the presumptive

date of discovery.

454. Accordingly, the Plaintiffs' entire claim, including all tort and *Charter* causes of action, is

properly commenced within the applicable two-year limitation period under section 4 of the

Limitations Act. No portion of the claim is time-barred, and the limitation period was not

engaged until May 28, 2024.

VII. HARM AND DAMAGES

455. As a direct, foreseeable, and legally compensable consequence of the wrongful acts,

omissions, breaches of duty, and abuses of authority that were committed, directed, caused, or

facilitated by S/Sgt. Desjourdy, Det. White, Cst. Tessier, Cst. Nizman, A.C.A. Farrell, D.C.A.

Holmes, A.C.A. Rodgers, A.C.A. Karimjee, and A.C.A. Savage—each acting under colour of

authority and in their official capacities—the Plaintiffs have suffered, and will continue to suffer,

severe, enduring, and irreparable harm, including but not limited to:

214

Psychological and Emotional Harm

- (a) profound psychological distress, including shock, trauma, and emotional instability;
- (b) persistent depression, anxiety, and post-traumatic stress symptoms, resulting in severe impairment;
- (c) acute and chronic emotional suffering, including suicidal ideation, panic attacks, and intrusive thoughts;
- (d) worsening of pre-existing psychiatric conditions or development of new, clinically diagnosed psychiatric disorders;
- (e) necessity for prolonged or indefinite psychiatric and psychological intervention, including medical treatment, therapy, and counselling;

Interference with Personal and Family Life

- (f) impaired ability to engage in family affairs and maintain relationships;
- (g) alienation from family, friends, and social networks;
- (h) loss of companionship, affection, and emotional support;
- (i) diminished capacity to engage in recreational, cultural, and social activities;
- (j) loss of trust in others and impaired ability to sustain personal relationships;

,	(1)	1 001.1	•		•	• . •		
1	k`	loss of faith	111	nergong 1	n 1	ancitione	Λt	authority
١	17	i loss of faith	111	persons i	ш	onsinons	$\mathbf{o}_{\mathbf{I}}$	aumonty,

Reputational and Professional Harm

- (l) severe reputational harm, including irreparable damage to professional standing and public perception;
- (m) destruction of career trajectory, including job loss, missed promotions, and diminished earning potential;
- (n) loss of business, clients, and professional licensing risks;
- (o) permanent stigma, rendering the Plaintiffs unemployable or damaging their ability to rebuild their career;
- (p) sustained harm to credibility, integrity, and professional reputation in their field or community;

Financial and Economic Losses

- (q) loss of income, wages, and career earnings due to wrongful conduct;
- (r) permanent or long-term impairment of earning capacity and professional opportunities;
- (s) destruction of business revenue, contracts, and investment potential;

- (t) excessive legal costs, debt accumulation, and severe financial hardship;
- (u) ongoing medical, psychiatric, and therapy expenses, including costs of prescription medications, treatments, and rehabilitation;
 - Physical and Personal Harm
- (v) physical pain, suffering, or injury;
- (w) inability or failure to access medical care or delay in treatment;
- (x) severe pain, suffering, and physical symptoms arising from psychological distress, including insomnia, chronic fatigue, and panic-induced somatic symptoms;
- (y) loss of liberty, personal security, and bodily integrity due to wrongful arrest, unlawful detention, and coercive state action;
- (z) systematic dehumanization, including humiliation, strip searches, or unnecessary force;
- (aa) destruction of self-worth, dignity, and ability to function in daily life;
- (ab) permanent or long-term impairment to personal autonomy, well-being, and mental health recovery; and
- (ac) loss of enjoyment of life or physical function.

Electronically filed / Déposé par voie électronique : 28-Nov-2025 Ottawa Superior Court of Justice / Cour supérieure de justice

Non-Pecuniary Damages

The Permanent Consequences of the Prolonged State-Orchestrated Persecution

456. The Plaintiffs endured a prolonged state-orchestrated persecution, spanning years of

baseless and oppressive criminal litigation. They were compelled to abandon their identities, live

under constant fear for their lives, and endure total isolation from family, friends, and their

community, all while defending themselves against a calculated misuse of the criminal justice

system. The wrongful conduct inflicted severe, irreparable harm, violating their fundamental

rights, eroding their sense of self, and dismantling their personal, professional, and emotional

stability.

457. The relentless criminal proceedings irreversibly altered the Plaintiffs' identities. They

were not merely forced to adapt to adversity—they were compelled to reconstruct their entire

existence, developing new identities and skill sets, not as a choice, but as an absolute necessity

for survival. Even with the termination of the criminal proceedings, they remain irrevocably

changed. The individuals they were before these unlawful acts no longer exist, having been

permanently replaced by individuals conditioned to anticipate threats, distrust institutions, and

endure the lasting stigma of their unwarranted ordeal.

Psychological Trauma and Constant Fear

458. The psychological damage inflicted upon the Plaintiffs is severe, enduring, and

permanent. The profound trauma of being subjected to a sustained campaign of legal

persecution, carried out by state actors entrusted with upholding the rule of law, has resulted in

incalculable emotional and psychological injuries. The Plaintiffs continue to bear the deep

psychological scars of years of unjustified scrutiny, public vilification, and calculated efforts to discredit and destroy their lives. They live with chronic hypervigilance, pervasive anxiety, and an enduring distrust of institutions—consequences that cannot be undone by the mere conclusion of the proceedings.

The Plaintiffs spent years under the reasonable and justifiable belief that their lives were in imminent danger—a belief grounded in real threats, intimidation, and legal persecution at the hands of S/Sgt. Desjourdy, Det. White, Cst. Tessier, Cst. Nizman, A.C.A. Farrell, D.C.A. Holmes, A.C.A. Rodgers, A.C.A. Karimjee, and A.C.A. Savage. Their fears were not speculative; they were borne out of sustained, calculated, and demonstrable acts of reprisal. The gravity of this fear was so overwhelming that the Plaintiffs were forced to make contingency arrangements for their children in the event of their premature deaths—an unimaginable burden that no individual should ever be forced to bear, particularly at the hands of those sworn to protect the public.

Real-World Impact on Daily Life

460. The psychological torment inflicted upon the Plaintiffs extended into every aspect of their lives. When Mr. Justice sustained a serious arm fracture, his overpowering fear of seeking medical treatment—concerned that he might be exposed to individuals seeking to do him harm—outweighed even his immediate need for urgent medical care. Rather than risk his safety, he treated the injury himself at home, enduring immense pain and the risk of permanent complications. This act was not an overreaction or paranoia; it was the tragic and extraordinary consequence of the systemic abuse he endured—a testament to the profound and lasting harm inflicted upon him.

Electronically filed / Déposé par voie électronique : 28-Nov-2025 Ottawa Superior Court of Justice / Cour supérieure de justice

461. The state-orchestrated persecution and its associated stigma forced the Plaintiffs into total

social isolation. For years, they were unable to see family or friends, severing the most

fundamental relationships that define human existence. The constant legal battles consumed

every moment of their time, every ounce of their energy, and every facet of their lives, leaving no

room for personal connections, normalcy, or healing. Even after their exoneration, the damage

cannot be undone—their relationships remain fractured, and the social exile imposed upon them

has permanently severed ties that once provided essential emotional support.

Extreme Measures Taken to Avoid Retaliation

462. In a desperate attempt to protect himself and Mrs. Justice from further reprisal, Mr.

Justice was compelled to establish connections with hundreds of past and present members of the

Ottawa Police Service. These connections were not pursued voluntarily, but under duress—borne

of an ongoing and well-founded fear that animosity from key actors in the prosecution could

incite retaliatory conduct by others within the service. The fact that such measures became

necessary to mitigate the risk of continued misconduct stands as a profound indictment of the

hostile and coercive environment in which the Plaintiffs were forced to exist. No individual

should ever be placed in a position where their safety depends on appearing those once

responsible for their persecution.

Irreparable Professional Harm

463. The wrongful prosecution and its surrounding misconduct devastated the Plaintiffs'

professional reputations, irreversibly tarnishing the trust, integrity, and credibility they spent

years cultivating. As successful entrepreneurs, their livelihoods depended on public confidence,

220

Electronically filed / Déposé par voie électronique : 28-Nov-2025 Ottawa Superior Court of Justice / Cour supérieure de justice

industry relationships, and an unblemished reputation. The mere fact of being criminally

charged—even when baseless—left an indelible stain on their credibility, one that cannot be

easily erased. In today's interconnected world, reputational damage is permanent, and the

Plaintiffs continue to face skepticism, professional isolation, and economic harm long after the

wrongful proceedings ended.

Forced Legal Expertise as a Survival Mechanism

464. The prolonged state-orchestrated persecution forced the Plaintiffs into an involuntary

transformation, compelling them to become experts in criminal, constitutional, and procedural

law—not as an academic pursuit, but as a desperate means of self-preservation. The

extraordinary self-education they underwent—so remarkable that judicial officials themselves

acknowledged and commended their expertise, even offering a law school referral—is a damning

testament to the grotesque injustice they endured. This was not an opportunity but an

obligation—an insurmountable burden thrust upon them by state misconduct, consuming years

of their lives, shattering their financial security, and extracting an immense psychological toll.

A Life Permanently Changed

465. Despite the formal termination of the proceedings, the Plaintiffs remain trapped in the

enduring aftermath of this profound injustice. They cannot return to their former lives, nor can

they reclaim what was unjustly taken from them. Their relationships remain irreparably

damaged, their reputations forever altered, and their sense of personal security irrevocably

destroyed. What was taken from them can never be fully restored.

221

Electronically filed / Déposé par voie électronique : 28-Nov-2025 Ottawa Superior Court of Justice / Cour supérieure de justice

Pecuniary Damages

466. The Plaintiffs have suffered and will continue to suffer significant pecuniary losses, the

full particulars of which will be provided prior to trial. These financial damages stem directly

from their forced withdrawal from business operations, lost income, lost investment

opportunities, home devaluation, legal and medical expenses, and other quantifiable financial

harm.

Loss of Income and Business Disruption

467. The prolonged state-orchestrated persecution forced the Plaintiffs to step away from their

obligations with CEPC for 40 months, requiring them to devote their full time and energy to

defending against wrongful criminal proceedings. This disruption resulted in a combined loss of

dividend income totaling \$1,694,000.00 (one million six hundred ninety-four thousand dollars).

468. Before the unlawful investigation and ensuing criminal litigation, the Plaintiffs were

highly successful entrepreneurs who relied on substantial dividend income to sustain their

standard of living, support their family, and maintain their business investments. The prolonged

legal battle robbed them of this financial stability, inflicting devastating economic harm that

extends far beyond the initial 40-month period.

Property Devaluation and Financial Strain

469. As a direct result of being forced to divert their time, energy, and resources toward

defending themselves, the Plaintiffs were unable to maintain their high-value home, leading to

significant physical deterioration and devaluation of the property. The inability to afford

necessary repairs and upkeep led to a state of disrepair, representing both a substantial financial loss and an emotional toll. The estimated cost to restore the property now stands at \$444,950.00 (four hundred forty-four thousand nine hundred fifty dollars).

Loss of Business Expansion Opportunity – The P.E.O. Acquisition

470. The Plaintiffs also suffered a catastrophic loss of a once-in-a-lifetime business opportunity as a direct result of their wrongful prosecution.

471. During the course of the wrongful proceedings, the Plaintiffs, through CEPC, were in the process of acquiring P.E.O., a key competitor, which had been placed into interim receivership. At that time, Mr. Justice was the only serious and qualified purchaser, possessing the necessary licences, expertise, and financial capability to secure the acquisition.

472. However, as the wrongful prosecution continued to unfold, the ongoing criminal proceedings directly interfered with Mr. Justice's ability to complete the transaction. The uncertainty and reputational damage resulting from the prosecution deterred investors and financial partners, preventing Mr. Justice from securing the necessary capital in time to finalize the purchase.

473. With no other viable buyers, P.E.O. ultimately went bankrupt, eliminating a rare and irreplaceable opportunity for CEPC to expand its operations and secure an additional \$13,900,000.00 (thirteen million nine hundred thousand dollars) in gross profit. This financial devastation underscores the extensive business harm inflicted upon the Plaintiffs, depriving them of a major competitive advantage in their industry and significantly impairing their professional trajectory.

Electronically filed / Déposé par voie électronique : 28-Nov-2025 Ottawa Superior Court of Justice / Cour supérieure de justice

Additional Economic Losses and Expenses

474. As self-employed business owners, the Plaintiffs have suffered significant lost revenue,

bad debt accumulation, and long-term financial instability due to their forced withdrawal from

CEPC operations. The full particulars of these ongoing and future economic losses will be

provided prior to trial.

475. The Plaintiffs have incurred and will continue to incur substantial legal disbursements,

medical expenses, and other out-of-pocket costs resulting directly from the state-orchestrated

persecution against them. The full particulars of these financial burdens will be provided prior to

trial.

Punitive Damages

476. The conduct of S/Sgt. Desjourdy, Det. White, Cst. Tessier, Cst. Nizman, A.C.A. Farrell,

D.C.A. Holmes, A.C.A. Rodgers, A.C.A. Karimjee, and A.C.A. Savage, as particularized

throughout this claim, was highly reprehensible, malicious, oppressive, callous, flagrant, and

high-handed. Their actions constituted a marked and deliberate departure from the fundamental

principles of justice, fairness, and the rule of law.

477. Punitive damages are warranted where a defendant's conduct is so egregious that it

offends the court's sense of decency and is deserving of retribution, denunciation, and

deterrence. The actions of the individuals named above meet and exceed this standard. Their

conduct:

- (a) demonstrated a reckless disregard for the Plaintiffs' rights, liberty, and dignity;
- (b) involved the abuse of state power to target and destroy the Plaintiffs' reputations, livelihoods, and well-being;
- (c) included acts that were calculated, systemic, and motivated by improper purposes; and
- (d) was carried out with full knowledge of the harm it would inflict, without justification or lawful authority.

The Court's Role in Denunciation and Deterrence

- 478. This Honourable Court has a duty to uphold the fundamental principles of justice and affirm that the weaponization of state power against innocent individuals will not be tolerated in a free and democratic society. The Supreme Court of Canada has consistently affirmed that punitive damages serve the dual purpose of deterrence and denunciation where compensatory damages alone are insufficient to express society's condemnation of such misconduct.
- 479. The conduct at issue in this case represents a gross abuse of prosecutorial and police authority that must be met with a clear and unequivocal judicial response. To allow such misconduct to go unchecked would undermine public confidence in the administration of justice and signal to future bad actors that such abuses may be carried out with impunity.
- 480. Justice demands that those responsible be held fully accountable for the irreparable harm they have caused. The malice and egregiousness of their actions warrant the imposition of

punitive damages, not only to punish past misconduct but to ensure that such flagrant abuses of power are never repeated.

Quantum of Punitive Damages

481. The Plaintiffs plead that punitive damages in the amount of \$1,000,000.00 (one million dollars) are warranted in this case. This amount is:

- (a) proportionate to the gravity of the misconduct and its devastating impact on the Plaintiffs;
- (b) necessary to achieve the objectives of deterrence and denunciation; and
- (c) consistent with the well-established principles set out in the jurisprudence governing punitive damages in Canada.
- 482. The imposition of punitive damages will send a clear and unequivocal message: abuses of power that violate the fundamental rights of individuals will not be tolerated, excused, or ignored.

Aggravated Damages

483. The conduct of S/Sgt. Desjourdy, Det. White, Cst. Tessier, Cst. Nizman, A.C.A. Farrell, D.C.A. Holmes, A.C.A. Rodgers, A.C.A. Karimjee, and A.C.A. Savage, as particularized throughout this claim, was egregious, malicious, and oppressive. Their actions were carried out with deliberate intent to cause harm to the Plaintiffs and with reckless disregard for their dignity,

mental well-being, and emotional security. This conduct exacerbated the impact of the unlawful actions, warranting recognition through an award of aggravated damages.

- 484. Aggravated damages are warranted where the nature of the misconduct amplifies the harm suffered by a plaintiff, particularly where the defendant's actions were high-handed, motivated by malice, or involved an abuse of power. The misconduct in this case meets and exceeds this standard.
- 485. The Plaintiffs suffered severe and prolonged emotional, psychological, and reputational harm due to the calculated, oppressive, and abusive conduct of S/Sgt. Desjourdy, Det. White, Cst. Tessier, Cst. Nizman, A.C.A. Farrell, D.C.A. Holmes, A.C.A. Rodgers, A.C.A. Karimjee, and A.C.A. Savage. This included:
 - (a) humiliation and degradation—being falsely portrayed as criminals and enduring public vilification;
 - (b) prolonged emotional distress—experiencing constant fear, uncertainty, and reputational harm due to malicious prosecution and deliberate state-inflicted hardship; and
 - (c) breach of trust and abuse of power—suffering harm at the hands of state actors entrusted with enforcing the law, who instead weaponized their authority.

Exacerbation of Harm Through Abuse of Power

486. The courts have consistently recognized that where an abuse of power or breach of trust intensifies the harm suffered, aggravated damages are appropriate. The misconduct in this case

was not only unlawful but calculated, intentional, and aimed at inflicting maximum harm on the Plaintiffs.

487. The worsened suffering of the Plaintiffs arose directly from the misuse of state power, making this case an exemplar of the circumstances in which aggravated damages must be awarded. The emotional and psychological injuries they suffered were not the ordinary consequences of legal misconduct but were heightened by the deliberate and oppressive actions of S/Sgt. Desjourdy, Det. White, Cst. Tessier, Cst. Nizman, A.C.A. Farrell, D.C.A. Holmes, A.C.A. Rodgers, A.C.A. Karimjee, and A.C.A. Savage.

Quantum of Aggravated Damages

- 488. The Plaintiffs plead that aggravated damages in the amount of \$1,000,000.00 (one million dollars) are warranted in this case. This amount is:
 - (a) proportionate to the gravity of the misconduct and the amplified harm suffered by the Plaintiffs;
 - (b) necessary to recognize the additional emotional and psychological harm that exceeds ordinary compensatory damages; and
 - (c) consistent with the well-established legal principles governing aggravated damages in Canada.
- 489. The imposition of aggravated damages will affirm that state actors who weaponize their authority to inflict harm will be held to the highest standard of accountability. The law must

recognize and redress the additional harm caused when individuals in positions of trust use their power to intentionally inflict suffering on those they are sworn to protect.

VIII. OTHER

- 490. Unless the context clearly indicates otherwise, the words "including" and "included," as used in this Statement of Claim, shall be interpreted to mean "including, but not limited to" and "included, but not limited to," respectively.
- 491. Headings in this Statement of Claim are provided solely for ease of reference and readability. The material facts supporting a cause of action or issue are pleaded throughout the document, and their relevance is not confined to the headings under which they may appear.

IX. RELEVANT STATUTES

- 492. The Plaintiffs plead and rely upon the provisions of the following statutes, regulations, and legal instruments:
 - (a) *Courts of Justice Act*, R.S.O. 1990, c. C.43;
 - (b) *Crown Liability and Proceedings Act*, 2019, S.O. 2019, c. 7, Sched. 17;
 - (c) *Limitations Act*, 2002, S.O. 2002, c. 24, Sched. B;
 - (d) *Ministry of the Attorney General Act*, R.S.O. 1990, c. M.17;
 - (e) *Crown Attorneys Act*, R.S.O. 1990, c. C.49;
 - (f) *Negligence Act*, R.S.O. 1990, c. N.1;

- (g) *Criminal Code* (R.S.C., 1985, c. C-46);
- (h) Provincial Offences Act, R.S.O. 1990, c. P.33;
- (i) Residential Tenancies Act, 2006, S.O. 2006, c. 17;
- (i) Statutory Powers Procedure Act, R.S.O. 1990, c. S.22;
- (k) Canadian Charter of Rights and Freedoms, Part 1 of the Constitution Act 1982;
- (1) Community Safety and Policing Act, 2019, S.O. 2019, c. 1, Sched. 1;
- (m) O. Reg. 407/23: CODE OF CONDUCT FOR POLICE OFFICERS;
- (n) Law Society Act, R.S.O. 1990, c. L.8;
- (o) *Change of Name Act*, R.S.O. 1990, c. C.7;
- (p) Personal Health Information Protection Act, 2004, S.O. 2004, c. 3, Sched. A;
- (q) Ontario Energy Board Act, 1998, S.O. 1998, c. 15, Sched. B;
- (r) such further and other legislation as it may apply.

X. PLACE OF TRIAL

493. This proceeding is commenced in Ottawa, where numerous Ottawa-based Crown Attorneys, judges, and police officials were involved in the underlying proceedings. The Plaintiffs propose that this action be tried in Toronto to ensure impartiality and avoid any reasonable apprehension of bias. In the alternative, the Plaintiffs propose that this action be tried in Ottawa with an out-of-town judge assigned to mitigate concerns regarding judicial familiarity with the parties involved. In the further alternative, the Plaintiffs propose that this action be tried in Ottawa.

DATED at Ottawa, Ontario, this 17th day of April, 2025

Mark Justice 104-2706 Alta Vista Dr. Ottawa, ON, K1V 7T4 justice@maliciousprosecution.ca

Tel: (613) 293-3204 Fax: (613) 702-4639

Self-Represented

Izabelle Justice 104-2706 Alta Vista Dr. Ottawa, ON, K1V 7T4 justice@maliciousprosecution.ca

Tel: (613) 293-3204 Fax: (613) 702-4639

Self-Represented

ے
\subseteq
<u>()</u>
Ξ
П
E E I AL AND
➤
Г
⊅
\mathbf{Z}
C
\subseteq
$\overline{}$
3
⋗
τ
Č
Ξ
\subseteq
П
П
났
2
\overline{c}
Ü
U.
ᅜ
$\stackrel{\leftarrow}{\sim}$
Í
Ĉ
П
TOLICE SERVICES BOARD ET AL
≥
Г

Defendants

ONTARIO SUPERIOR COURT OF JUSTICE

Proceeding commenced at OTTAWA

STATEMENT OF CLAIM

Mark Justice 104-2706 Alta Vista Dr.

Ottawa, ON, K1V 7T4

<u>ustice@maliciousprosecution.ca</u>

Tel: (613) 293-3204 Self-Represented

Izabelle Justice
104-2706 Alta Vista Dr.
Ottawa, ON, K1V 7T4
justice@maliciousprosecution.ca
Tel: (613) 293-3204

Court File No

Self-Represented

CERTIFICATE of SIGNATURE

 $\forall X X X X Y$

NHPEQ-PABNU-P66CS-8YAXB

DOCUMENT COMPLETED BY ALL PARTIES ON

02 MAY 2025 18:03:08 UTC

SIGNER

TIMESTAMP

MARK JUSTICE

JUSTICE@MALICIOUSPROSECUTION.CA

02 MAY 2025 01:36:21 UTC

02 MAY 2025 17:07:33 UTC

SIGNED

02 MAY 2025 18:03:06 UTC

Mark Justice

IP ADDRESS

161.216.164.1

SIGNATURE

LOCATION

OTTAWA, CANADA

RECIPIENT VERIFICATION

EMAIL VERIFIED

02 MAY 2025 17:07:33 UTC

IZABELLE JUSTICE

EMAIL

IZJUSTICECANADA@GMAIL.COM

02 MAY 2025 01:36:21 UTC

02 MAY 2025 17:37:14 UTC

SIGNED

02 MAY 2025 18:03:07 UTC

Izabelle Justice

IP ADDRESS 135.23.119.226

LOCATION

OTTAWA, CANADA

RECIPIENT VERIFICATION

EMAIL VERIFIED

02 MAY 2025 17:37:14 UTC



CERTIFICATE of **SIGNATURE**

MXXXX

NHPEQ-PABNU-P66CS-8YAXB

DOCUMENT COMPLETED BY ALL PARTIES ON

02 MAY 2025 18:03:08 UTC

SIGNER

TIMESTAMP

NITASHA MALIK

ADMIN@ONLINECOMMISSIONER.CA

02 MAY 2025 01:36:21 UTC

02 MAY 2025 18:02:13 UTC

SIGNED

02 MAY 2025 18:03:08 UTC

Nitasha Malik

SIGNATURE

174.90.223.209

LOCATION

EDMONTON, CANADA

RECIPIENT VERIFICATION

EMAIL VERIFIED

02 MAY 2025 18:02:13 UTC



Court File No. CV-25-00099658-0000

ONTARIO SUPERIOR COURT OF JUSTICE

BETWEEN:

IZABELLE JUSTICE and MARK JUSTICE

Plaintiffs

- and -

OTTAWA POLICE SERVICES BOARD, STEVEN DESJOURDY, MELBURN WHITE, CHRISTOPHER TESSIER, CEDRIC NIZMAN, HIS MAJESTY THE KING IN RIGHT OF ONTARIO, AND ATTORNEY GENERAL OF ONTARIO

Defendants

JOINT AFFIDAVIT OF DOCUMENTS

In Support of Motion for Leave to Proceed under s. 17(2) of the *Crown Liability* and *Proceedings Act*, 2019, S.O. 2019, c. 7, Sched. 17

We, Mark Justice and Izabelle Justice, both of the City of Ottawa in the Province of Ontario, the Plaintiffs in this action, MAKE OATH AND SAY AS FOLLOWS:

- 1. We have conducted a diligent search of our records and have made appropriate enquiries of others to inform ourselves in order to make this affidavit. This affidavit discloses, to the full extent of our knowledge, information, and belief, all documents relevant to any matter in issue in this action that are or have been in our possession, control, or power.
- 2. We have listed in Schedule A those documents that are in our possession, control, or power and that we do not object to producing for inspection.

- 3 We have listed in Schedule B those documents that are or were in our possession, control, or power and that we object to producing because we claim they are privileged, and we have stated in Schedule B the grounds for each such claim.
- 4. We have listed in Schedule C those documents that were formerly in our possession, control, or power but are no longer in our possession, control, or power, and we have stated in Schedule C when and how we lost possession, control, or power over them, and their present location.
- 5. We have never had in our possession, control, or power any document relevant to any matter in issue in this action other than those listed in Schedules A, B, and C.
- 6 We have listed in Schedule D the names and addresses of persons who might reasonably be expected to have knowledge of transactions or occurrences in issue.

SWORN by Mark Justice and Izabelle Justice, stated as being currently located in the City of Ottawa, in the Province of Ontario, before me at Carstairs, AB in accordance with O.REG 431/20, administering Oath or Declaration remotely on this 26, day of November, 2025.

A Commissioner for Taking Affidavits Nitasha Malik

LSO# P14355

Mark Justice

Mark Justice

Izabelle Justice

Izabelle Justice



Schedule A

Documents in our possession, control or power that we do not object to producing for inspection.

TRANSCRIPTS

- Certified Transcript May 20, 2021 Ontario Court of Justice Justice Webber –
 Assistant Crown Attorney Emilie Farrell JPT
 Relevant to the issue of the Crown's alleged admission that the allegations were overstated.
- Certified Transcript June 29, 2021 Ontario Court of Justice Justice Webber –
 Assistant Crown Attorney Emilie Farrell JPT
 Relevant to the issue of the Crown proceeding to trial on allegations alleged to be physically impossible.
- Certified Transcript August 19, 2021 Ontario Court of Justice Justice Loignon –
 Assistant Crown Attorney R. Siefried JPT
 Relevant to the issue of prosecutors allegedly obstructing access to a virtual hearing.
- 4. Certified Transcript September 3, 2021 Ontario Court of Justice Justice Wadden Deputy Crown Attorney Mark Holmes Appearance Relevant to the issue of prosecutors allegedly seeking retaliatory bench warrants without legal justification.
- Certified Transcript September 24, 2021 Ontario Court of Justice Justice Wadden –
 Deputy Crown Attorney Mark Holmes JPT
 Relevant to the issue of prosecutors allegedly layering proceedings in a strategic manner to obstruct access to justice.
- Certified Transcript October 22, 2021 Ontario Court of Justice Justice Wadden –
 Deputy Crown Attorney Mark Holmes JPT
 Relevant to the issue of prosecutors allegedly duplicating ongoing proceedings without lawful justification.
- Certified Transcript October 29, 2021 Superior Court of Justice Justice Aiken –
 Deputy Crown Attorney Mark Holmes JPT
 Relevant to the issue of prosecutorial powers allegedly being used to avoid accountability for prior misconduct.

- 8. Certified Transcript November 26, 2021 Superior Court of Justice Justice Aiken Deputy Crown Attorney Mark Holmes JPT Relevant to the issue of alleged unlawful surveillance.
- Certified Transcript October 3, 2022 Provincial Offences Court Provincial
 Prosecutor Oliveira Trial
 Relevant to the issue of prosecutors allegedly layering proceedings in a strategic manner to obstruct access to justice.
- Certified Transcript November 14, 2022 Superior Court of Justice Justice Parfett –
 Assistant Crown Attorney Julian Daller Case Management
 Relevant to the issue of prosecutors allegedly withholding material exculpatory
 disclosure.
- 11. Certified Transcript December 13, 2022 Superior Court of Justice Justice Gomery Assistant Crown Attorney John Ramsay *Charter* Applications Relevant to the issue of the Crown's alleged after-the-fact admission that there was no distinction between the *POA* and criminal proceedings.
- 12. Certified Transcript December 15, 2022 Superior Court of Justice Justice Gomery Assistant Crown Attorney John Ramsay *Charter* Applications
 Relevant to the issue of the Crown's alleged admission that the detention of Mark Justice constituted a technical *Charter* breach.
- Certified Transcript December 20, 2022 Superior Court of Justice Justice Gomery –
 Assistant Crown Attorney John Ramsay Charter Applications

 Relevant to the issue of prosecutors allegedly influencing witness availability improperly.
- 14. Certified Transcript January 3, 2023 Superior Court of Justice Justice Gomery Assistant Crown Attorney David Rodgers Trial Relevant to the issue of the alleged rotation of prosecutors to obscure decision-making from accountability.
- 15. Certified Transcript January 4, 2023 Superior Court of Justice Justice Gomery Assistant Crown Attorney David Rodgers Trial Relevant to the issue of prosecutors allegedly concealing the duplicative nature of the *POA* and criminal proceedings from the Court.

- 16. Certified Transcript January 5, 2023 Superior Court of Justice Justice Gomery Assistant Crown Attorney David Rodgers Trial Relevant to the issue of prosecutors allegedly concealing the duplicative nature of the *POA* and criminal proceedings from the Court.
- 17. Certified Transcript January 6, 2023 Superior Court of Justice Justice Gomery Assistant Crown Attorney David Rodgers Trial Relevant to the issue of the prosecution allegedly insisting that trial proceed despite the Court's findings of procedural irregularities compromising its integrity.
- 18. Certified Transcript January 9, 2023 Superior Court of Justice Justice Gomery Assistant Crown Attorney David Rodgers Trial Management Relevant to the issue of the prosecution allegedly insisting that trial proceed despite the Court's findings of procedural irregularities compromising its integrity.
- 19. Certified Transcript January 10, 2023 Superior Court of Justice Justice Gomery Assistant Crown Attorney David Rodgers Trial Management Relevant to the issue of the prosecution allegedly insisting that trial proceed despite the Court's findings of procedural irregularities compromising its integrity.
- 20. Certified Transcript January 16, 2023 Superior Court of Justice Justice Gomery Assistant Crown Attorney David Rodgers Trial Management Relevant to the issue of the prosecution allegedly insisting that trial proceed despite the Court's findings of procedural irregularities compromising its integrity.
- 21. Certified Transcript January 17, 2023 Superior Court of Justice Justice Gomery Assistant Crown Attorney David Rodgers Trial Management Relevant to the issue of the alleged obstruction of necessary medical treatment.
- 22. Certified Transcript January 18, 2023 Superior Court of Justice Justice Gomery Assistant Crown Attorney David Rodgers Trial Management Relevant to the issue of the alleged obstruction of necessary medical treatment.
- 23. Certified Transcript January 20, 2023 Superior Court of Justice Justice Gomery Assistant Crown Attorney David Rodgers Trial Management Relevant to the issue of prosecutors allegedly seeking to obstruct civil liability by preventing the criminal proceedings from being terminated in the Plaintiffs' favor.

- 24. Certified Transcript January 30, 2023 Superior Court of Justice Justice Gomery Assistant Crown Attorney David Rodgers Mistrial Relevant to the issue of prosecutors allegedly seeking to obstruct civil liability by preventing the criminal proceedings from being terminated in the Plaintiffs' favor.
- 25. Certified Transcript March 3, 2023 Superior Court of Justice Justice Parfett Assistant Crown Attorney Moiz Karimjee Assignment Court Relevant to the issue of the alleged unlawful intrusion upon medical privacy.
- 26. Certified Transcript March 27, 2023 Superior Court of Justice Justice Parfett Assistant Crown Attorney Moiz Karimjee Assignment Court Relevant to the issue of prosecutorial reliance on investigative conduct alleged to be reckless and biased.
- 27. Certified Transcript May 11, 2023 Ontario Court of Justice Justice Moore Assistant Crown Attorney Moiz Karimjee Bail Hearing Relevant to the issue of law enforcement and prosecutorial actors allegedly disregarding judicial authority.
- 28. Certified Transcript May 12, 2023 Ontario Court of Justice Justice Moore Assistant Crown Attorney Malcolm Savage Bail Hearing Relevant to the issue of prosecutors seeking punitive bail revocation without justification.
- 29. Certified Transcript May 23, 2023 Superior Court of Justice Justice Labrosse Assistant Crown Attorney David Rodgers Case Management Relevant to the issue of prosecutorial powers allegedly being used to avoid accountability for prior misconduct.
- 30. Certified Transcript June 20, 2023 Superior Court of Justice Justice Labrosse Assistant Crown Attorney David Rodgers *Criminal Code* Application Relevant to the issue of the Crown's alleged after-the-fact admission that there was no distinction between the *POA* and criminal proceedings.
- 31. Certified Transcript July 4, 2023 Superior Court of Justice Justice Labrosse Assistant Crown Attorney David Rodgers *Charter* Applications Relevant to the issue of the Crown's alleged after-the-fact admission that Mark Justice's illness was genuine.

- 32. Certified Transcript July 5, 2023 Superior Court of Justice Justice Labrosse Assistant Crown Attorney David Rodgers *Charter* Applications Relevant to the issue of the Crown's alleged after-the-fact admission that Mark Justice's illness was genuine.
- 33. Certified Transcript July 7, 2023 Superior Court of Justice Justice Labrosse Assistant Crown Attorney David Rodgers *Charter* Applications Relevant to the issue of the Crown's alleged after-the-fact admission that Mark Justice's illness was genuine.
- 34. Certified Transcript July 20, 2023 Ontario Court of Justice Justice Perkins-McVey Assistant Crown Attorney Moiz Karimjee JPT Relevant to the issue of the prosecution being advanced for alleged personal or professional advancement.
- 35. Certified Transcript August 11, 2023 Ontario Court of Justice Justice London-Weinstein Assistant Crown Attorney Moiz Karimjee Case Management Relevant to the issue of prosecutorial reliance on investigative conduct alleged to be reckless and biased.
- 36. Certified Transcript August 23, 2023 Ontario Court of Justice Justice Perkins-McVey Assistant Crown Attorney Malcolm Savage JPT Relevant to the issue of prosecutorial powers allegedly being used to avoid accountability for prior misconduct.
- 37. Certified Transcript September 15, 2023 Superior Court of Justice Justice Labrosse Assistant Crown Attorney Malcolm Savage Trial Management Relevant to the issue of the Plaintiffs' allegations against law enforcement and prosecutorial actors having allegedly been properly before the Court at the time the criminal proceedings were terminated.
- 38. Certified Transcript September 20, 2023 Superior Court of Justice Justice Labrosse Assistant Crown Attorney Malcolm Savage Ruling Relevant to the issue of the Plaintiffs' allegations against law enforcement and prosecutorial actors having allegedly been properly before the Court at the time the criminal proceedings were terminated.

- 39. Certified Transcript September 29, 2023 Superior Court of Justice Justice Labrosse Assistant Crown Attorney Malcolm Savage Case Management Relevant to the issue of the Plaintiffs' allegations against law enforcement and prosecutorial actors having allegedly been properly before the Court at the time the criminal proceedings were terminated.
- 40. Certified Transcript October 10, 2023 Superior Court of Justice Justice Labrosse Assistant Crown Attorney Malcolm Savage Case Management Relevant to the issue of the Plaintiffs' allegations against law enforcement and prosecutorial actors having allegedly been properly before the Court at the time the criminal proceedings were terminated.
- 41. Certified Transcript October 17, 2023 Superior Court of Justice Justice Labrosse Assistant Crown Attorney Malcolm Savage JPT Relevant to the issue of the Plaintiffs' allegations against law enforcement and prosecutorial actors having allegedly been properly before the Court at the time the criminal proceedings were terminated.
- 42. Certified Transcript October 31, 2023 Superior Court of Justice Justice Parfett Assistant Crown Attorney Malcolm Savage JPT Relevant to the issue of the Plaintiffs' allegations against law enforcement and prosecutorial actors having allegedly been properly before the Court at the time the criminal proceedings were terminated.
- 43. Certified Transcript November 29, 2023 Superior Court of Justice Justice Labrosse Assistant Crown Attorney Malcolm Savage Ruling Relevant to the issue of the alleged absence of any statutory limitation or issue estoppel barring the Plaintiffs' claims.
- Certified Transcript December 22, 2023 Superior Court of Justice Justice Labrosse
 Assistant Crown Attorney Malcolm Savage Case Management
 Relevant to the issue of the prosecutors' alleged pending recusal at the time proceedings were terminated.
- 45. Certified Transcript January 18, 2024 Superior Court of Justice Justice Labrosse Assistant Crown Attorney Malcolm Savage JPT Relevant to the issue of the Plaintiffs' allegations against law enforcement and prosecutorial actors having allegedly been properly before the Court at the time the criminal proceedings were terminated.

- 46. Certified Transcript March 18, 2024 Superior Court of Justice Justice Parfett Assistant Crown Attorney Malcolm Savage Case Management Relevant to the issue of the Plaintiffs' allegations against law enforcement and prosecutorial actors having allegedly been properly before the Court at the time the criminal proceedings were terminated.
- 47. Certified Transcript May 6, 2024 Superior Court of Justice Justice Labrosse Assistant Crown Attorney Malcolm Savage Recusal Motion Relevant to the issue of the prosecutors' alleged pending recusal at the time proceedings were terminated.
- 48. Certified Transcript May 7, 2024 Superior Court of Justice Justice Labrosse Assistant Crown Attorney Malcolm Savage Recusal Motion Relevant to the issue of the Court's alleged finding that the official judicial record had been altered.
- 49. Certified Transcript May 14, 2024 Superior Court of Justice Justice Labrosse Assistant Crown Attorney Malcolm Savage Recusal Motion Relevant to the issue of the prosecutors' alleged pending recusal at the time proceedings were terminated.
- 50. Certified Transcript May 22, 2024 Superior Court of Justice Justice Carter Assistant Crown Attorney Malcolm Savage Charges Stayed Relevant to the issue of the prosecutors' alleged pending recusal at the time proceedings were terminated.
- 51. Certified Transcript May 28, 2024 Superior Court of Justice Justice Labrosse Assistant Crown Attorney Malcolm Savage Charges Stayed Relevant to the issue of the Plaintiffs' alleged need to develop advanced legal competencies.

RULINGS, ORDERS, AND ENDORSEMENTS

52. Hearing Orders – November 2018 – July 2019 – Landlord and Tenant Board Relevant to the issue of prosecutors allegedly duplicating ongoing proceedings without lawful justification.

- 53. Production Order for Documents November 1, 2019 Justice of the Peace R. Zuliani Scotiabank records Relevant to the issue of the prosecution's alleged reliance on false, misleading, or inadmissible evidence.
- Oral Ruling December 20, 2022 Superior Court of Justice Justice Gomery Charter applications
 Relevant to the issue of the Court's alleged reliance on factual and evidentiary representations by the Crown that were later acknowledged to be inaccurate.
- 55. Oral Ruling January 17, 2023 Superior Court of Justice Justice Gomery Voir Dire Relevant to the issue of the prosecution allegedly insisting that trial proceed despite the Court's findings of procedural irregularities compromising its integrity.
- Order January 18, 2023 Superior Court of Justice Justice Gomery Medical Records
 Relevant to the issue of the alleged obstruction of necessary medical treatment.
- 57. Oral Ruling January 30, 2023 Superior Court of Justice Justice Gomery Mistrial Relevant to the issue of prosecutors allegedly seeking to obstruct civil liability by preventing the criminal proceedings from being terminated in the Plaintiffs' favor.
- 58. Endorsed Warrant for Arrest April 18, 2023 Justice of the Peace Nathalie Breton Relevant to the issue of law enforcement and prosecutorial actors allegedly disregarding judicial authority.
- 59. Ruling August 10, 2023 Superior Court of Justice Justice Labrosse *Charter* Relevant to the issue of the Court's alleged finding that the *POA* and criminal proceedings were one and the same.
- 60. Oral Ruling September 20, 2023 Superior Court of Justice Justice Labrosse *Charter* scheduling

 Relevant to the issue of the Plaintiffs' allegations against law enforcement and prosecutorial actors having allegedly been properly before the Court at the time the criminal proceedings were terminated.
- 61. Ruling November 16, 2023 Superior Court of Justice Justice Labrosse Subpoenas Relevant to the issue of the alleged absence of any statutory limitation or issue estoppel barring the Plaintiffs' claims.

- 62. Endorsement December 22, 2023 Superior Court of Justice Justice Labrosse Application Sequencing
 Relevant to the issue of the Plaintiffs' allegations against law enforcement and prosecutorial actors having allegedly been properly before the Court at the time the criminal proceedings were terminated.
- 63. Endorsement January 18, 2024 Superior Court of Justice Justice Labrosse Motion Sequencing
 Relevant to the issue of the Plaintiffs' allegations against law enforcement and prosecutorial actors having allegedly been properly before the Court at the time the criminal proceedings were terminated.
- 64. Endorsement March 18, 2024 Superior Court of Justice Justice Parfett Motion Sequencing
 Relevant to the issue of the Plaintiffs' allegations against law enforcement and prosecutorial actors having allegedly been properly before the Court at the time the criminal proceedings were terminated.
- Order May 28, 2024 Superior Court of Justice Justice Labrosse Return of Seized Property
 Relevant to the issue of the alleged warrantless seizure of personal property.

INFORMATIONS AND INDICTMENTS/ENDORSEMENTS

- Information May 28, 2019 Provincial Offences Court Detective Melburn White Re: 19-0716
 Relevant to the issue of prosecutors allegedly duplicating ongoing proceedings without lawful justification.
- 67. Indictments and Endorsements September 2021–May 2024 Ontario Court of Justice, Superior Court of Justice Relevant to all issues.
- Information February 23, 2021 Ontario Court of Justice C. Schellenburg Re: 21-A8935
 Relevant to the issue of the Crown proceeding to trial on allegations alleged to be physically impossible.

- Information September 22, 2021 Ontario Court of Justice Sgt. Steven Desjourdy Re: 21-R17543
 Relevant to the issue of prosecutors allegedly duplicating ongoing proceedings without lawful justification.
- 70. Information September 20, 2021 Ontario Court of Justice Benoit Paris Re:
 21-R17551
 Relevant to the issue of prosecutors allegedly duplicating ongoing proceedings without lawful justification.
- Information April 18, 2023 Ontario Court of Justice Cassidy Beers Re: 998 23 11402612
 Relevant to the issue of the complainant's alleged lack of authorization for charges brought against the Plaintiffs.

AFFIDAVITS

- 72. Affidavit January 16, 2023 Superior Court of Justice Mark Cunningham Relevant to the issue of the prosecution allegedly insisting that trial proceed despite the Court's findings of procedural irregularities compromising its integrity.
- 73. Affidavit January 30, 2023 Superior Court of Justice Mark Cunningham Relevant to the issue of the alleged obstruction of necessary medical treatment.
- 74. Affidavit March 3, 2023 Superior Court of Justice Mark Cunningham Relevant to the issue of the complainant's alleged lack of authorization for charges brought against the Plaintiffs.
- 75. Affidavit September 4, 2023 Superior Court of Justice Mark Cunningham Relevant to the issue of the Plaintiffs' allegations against law enforcement and prosecutorial actors having allegedly been properly before the Court at the time the criminal proceedings were terminated.
- 76. Affidavits October 29, 2023 Superior Court of Justice Mark Cunningham Relevant to the issue of the Plaintiffs' allegations against law enforcement and prosecutorial actors having allegedly been properly before the Court at the time the criminal proceedings were terminated.

- 77. Affidavit October 30, 2023 Superior Court of Justice Isabelle Cunningham Relevant to the issue of the Plaintiffs' allegations against law enforcement and prosecutorial actors having allegedly been properly before the Court at the time the criminal proceedings were terminated.
- 78. Affidavit December 4, 2023 Superior Court of Justice Mark Cunningham Relevant to the issue of the Plaintiffs' allegations against law enforcement and prosecutorial actors having allegedly been properly before the Court at the time the criminal proceedings were terminated.
- 79. Affidavit December 21, 2023 Superior Court of Justice Mark Cunningham Relevant to the issue of the prosecutors' alleged pending recusal at the time proceedings were terminated.

SUBPOENAS

- 80. Subpoenas May 23, 2023 Sgt. Steven Desjourdy, Cst. Chris Tessier, Det. Melburn White, Cst. Cedric Nizman, Assistant Crown Attorney Emilie Farrell, Provincial Prosecutor Vinicius Oliviera *Charter* Application Relevant to the issue of prosecutors allegedly seeking retaliatory bench warrants without legal justification.
- 81. Subpoenas August 26, 2024 Sgt. Steven Desjourdy, Cst. Chris Tessier, Det. Melburn White, Cst. Cedric Nizman, Dr. Catherine Gray, Dr. Anmar J Salman, Dawn Dickinson, Transcriptionist Kim Fess, Assistant Crown Attorney Emilie Farrell, Deputy Crown Attorney Mark Holmes, Provincial Prosecutor Vinicius Olivera, Sgt. Sharma, Transcriptionist Liz Logan *Charter* Application Relevant to the issue of the alleged absence of any statutory limitation or issue estoppel barring the Plaintiffs' claims.

APPLICATIONS AND MOTIONS

- 82. Applications November 26, 2022 9, 10(a), 10(c), 11(h), 12 *Charter* Relevant to the issue of the Court's alleged reliance on factual and evidentiary representations by the Crown that were later acknowledged to be inaccurate.
- 83. Application June 1, 2023 653.1 *Criminal Code*Relevant to the issue of prosecutorial reliance on investigative conduct alleged to be reckless and biased.

- 84. Applications June 1, 2023 11(b) *Charter*Relevant to the issue of the Court's alleged finding that the *POA* and criminal proceedings were one and the same.
- 85. Applications September 4, 2023 s. 7 & 11(d) *Charter*Relevant to the issue of the Plaintiffs' allegations against law enforcement and prosecutorial actors having allegedly been properly before the Court at the time the criminal proceedings were terminated.
- 86. Motion April 30, 2024 Subpoenas
 Relevant to the issue of the Plaintiffs' allegations against law enforcement and
 prosecutorial actors having allegedly been properly before the Court at the time the
 criminal proceedings were terminated.
- 87. Motion December 20, 2023 Recusal Relevant to the issue of the prosecutors' alleged pending recusal at the time proceedings were terminated.

AUDIO AND VIDEO RECORDINGS

- 88. Video January 25, 2021 Unlawful Intimidation Mark Cunningham, Cst. Tessier, Cst. Nizman, Sgt. Sharma
 Relevant to the issue of the alleged arbitrary detention of Mark Justice.
- 89. Video November 22–23, 2021 Security Recordings 2589 Mitchell St. Relevant to the issue of alleged unlawful surveillance.
- 90. Video January 17, 2023 Denial of Emergency Medical Care Mark Cunningham,
 Sgt. Desjourdy, Ottawa Paramedic Service
 Relevant to the issue of the alleged obstruction of necessary medical treatment.
- 91. Audio January 30, 2023 Oral ruling of Justice Gomery declaring a mistrial Relevant to the issue of the Court's alleged finding that the official judicial record had been altered.
- 92. Audio January 28, 2025 Recorded discussion between Izabelle Justice and Dr. Salman
 Relevant to the issue of the complainant's alleged lack of authorization for charges brought against the Plaintiffs.

EMAILS AND CORRESPONDENCE

- 93. Emails May 27–June 6, 2019 Between Mark and Isabelle Cunningham and Det. Melburn White Subject: Request for Information Relevant to the issue of prosecutorial reliance on investigative conduct alleged to be reckless and biased.
- 94. Emails June 29–August 20, 2021 Between Emilie Farrell and Mark and Isabelle Cunningham Subject: Proposed Admissions
 Relevant to the issue of the prosecution being allegedly pursued to prevent termination in the Plaintiffs' favour and to obstruct the crystallization of a civil cause of action.
- 95. Emails August 19–20, 2021 Between Emilie Farrell and Mark and Isabelle Cunningham Subject: 3rd Follow Up Relevant to the issue of Crown prosecutor Emilie Farrell's alleged misrepresentation of her employment status.
- 96. Email August 31, 2021 From: Mark and Isabelle Cunningham, To: Virtual Crown Ottawa, Emilie Farrell, Julie Scott, Reem Olleik, Brian Holowka, Mark Holmes, Attorney General, Doug Downey Subject: Evidence to Rescind Warrant / Questions of Malice & Misconduct 19-56539

 Relevant to the issue of the prosecution being allegedly pursued to prevent termination in the Plaintiffs' favour and to obstruct the crystallization of a civil cause of action.
- 97. Email September 1-2, 2021 From: Deputy Crown Attorney Mark Holmes, To: Mark and Isabelle Cunningham Subject: R. v. Cunningham and Cunningham Bench Warrant Issued 19 August 2021

 Relevant to the issue of prosecutors allegedly seeking retaliatory bench warrants without legal justification.
- 98. Email September 2-24, 2021 From: Mark and Isabelle Cunningham, To: Deputy Crown Attorney Mark Holmes Subject: R. v. Cunningham and Cunningham Relevant to the issue of prosecutors allegedly duplicating ongoing proceedings without lawful justification.
- 99. Emails September 23-24, 2021 From: Deputy Crown Attorney Mark Holmes, To: Mark and Isabelle Cunningham – Subject: R. v. Cunningham and Cunningham Self-Rep JPT at 12:10 PM Tomorrow Relevant to the issue of the prosecution being advanced for alleged personal or professional advancement.

- 100. Email November 5, 2021 From: Mark Cunningham, To: Deputy Crown Attorney Mark Holmes, Virtual Crown Ottawa Subject: Clarification Needed Relevant to the issue of prosecutors allegedly layering proceedings in a strategic manner to obstruct access to justice.
- 101. Emails November 9-17, 2021 From: Mark Cunningham, To: Deputy Crown Attorney Mark Holmes, Virtual Crown Ottawa, Brian Holowka, Julie Scott Subject: Additional Clarification Needed Relevant to the issue of prosecutors allegedly layering proceedings in a strategic manner to obstruct access to justice.
- 102. Email November 22, 2021 From: Mark Cunningham, To: Deputy Crown Attorney
 Mark Holmes Subject: Pre-Trial Conference Report
 Relevant to the issue of alleged unlawful surveillance.
- 103. Email November 27, 2021 From: Mark Cunningham, To: Deputy Crown Attorney
 Mark Holmes Subject: Incident Photos
 Relevant to the issue of alleged unlawful surveillance.
- 104. Emails October 1, 2022–November 24, 2022 Between Mark and Isabelle Cunningham and Provincial Prosecutor Heather Woodside, Provincial Prosecutor Vinicius Oliveira Subject: Cunningham #19-0716 Address Follow-Up and Confidential Disclosure to Provincial Prosecutor Relevant to the issue of prosecutors allegedly duplicating ongoing proceedings without lawful justification.
- Emails October 11–December 12, 2022 Between Julian Daller, Dexter Tang, and Mark and Isabelle Cunningham Subject: R. v. Cunningham #21-R17551 Judge and Jury Trial January 3–13, 2023
 Relevant to the issue of the prosecution being allegedly pursued to prevent termination in the Plaintiffs' favour and to obstruct the crystallization of a civil cause of action.
- 106. Emails March 22–27, 2023 Between: Steven Desjourdy, Professional Standards Megan Herasimenko, Supt. Bryant, Supt. D'Aoust and Isabelle Cunningham – Subject: Affidavit follow-up (23-84514) Relevant to the issue of prosecutorial reliance on investigative conduct alleged to be reckless and biased.

- 107. Emails March 23–27, 2023 Between Isabelle Cunningham, Dexter Tang, and law enforcement and prosecutorial offices throughout Ontario Subject: URGENT Call to Investigate the Cover-Up of Offences committed by Sgt. DESJOURDY in Ottawa Fwd. affidavit follow-up (23-84514)
 Relevant to the issue of prosecutorial reliance on investigative conduct alleged to be reckless and biased.
- 108. Emails March 24–27, 2023 Between: Moiz Karimjee, David Rodgers, Steven Desjourdy, Dexter Tang, Supt. Bryant, Supt. D'Aoust, and Isabelle and Mark Cunningham Subject: 21-R17551, R. v Cunningham et al, March 27, 2023 at 9:30 am before Justice Parfett Relevant to the issue of prosecutorial reliance on investigative conduct alleged to be reckless and biased.
- 109. Emails March 24–29, 2023 Between Isabelle Cunningham and law enforcement and prosecutorial offices throughout Ontario Subject: PART 2 CROWN ATTORNEY INVOLVEMENT URGENT Call to Investigate the Cover-Up of Offences committed by Sgt. DESJOURDY in Ottawa Fwd. affidavit follow-up (23-84514) Relevant to the issue of prosecutorial reliance on investigative conduct alleged to be reckless and biased.
- Email April 18, 2023 From: Steven Desjourdy, To: Mark and Isabelle Cunningham Subject: WARRANT FOR ARREST: Date to attend the Ottawa Police Service (23-84514)
 Relevant to the issue of the alleged use of a false *Feeney* warrant to coerce compliance.
- 111. Emails April 18, 2023–May 1, 2023 Between Professional Standards Megan Herasimenko and Isabelle Cunningham Subject: Mixed Messaging Relevant to the issue of the alleged use of a false *Feeney* warrant to coerce compliance.
- Emails May 10, 2023 Between Steven Desjourdy, Professional Standards Coordinator Megan Herasimenko, Supt. Lisa Bryant, Supt. Francois D'Aoust and Isabelle Cunningham Subject: Hello Ms. Cunningham
 Relevant to the issue of the alleged use of a false *Feeney* warrant to coerce compliance.
- 113. Emails May 14, 2023–June 2, 2023 Between Videoplus Transcription and Reporting and Isabelle Cunningham Subject: Project Ticket VPCTOONNPQ ID716695 R.v Cunningham (OTTAWA) –SCJ DATES URGENT PROJECT ID Relevant to the issue of transcriptionists allegedly being directed to make improper alterations to the official judicial record.

- 114. Emails May 9, 2023–May 28,2024 Between Transcriptionist Kim Fess, Jessica Campbell and Isabelle Cunningham Videoplus Transcription and Reporting Relevant to the issue of transcriptionists allegedly being directed to make improper alterations to the official judicial record.
- Emails June 14–19, 2023 From: David Rodgers, To: Mark and Isabelle Cunningham,
 Steven Desjourdy Subject: TikTok Video
 Relevant to the issue of alleged reputational fallout within the Ottawa Police Service
- Emails July 6–August 11, 2023 Between Eli Brenner and Mark Cunningham –
 Subject: Acquisition Opportunity Planet Energy
 Relevant to the issue of the Plaintiffs' alleged loss of income and opportunity.
- 117. Emails July 12–August 10, 2023 From: KSV Advisory (Firmex), To: Mark Cunningham Subject: Planet Energy Sales Process Relevant to the issue of the Plaintiffs' alleged loss of income and opportunity.

OTHER DOCUMENTS

- Business Financial Statements and Transactional Records 2021–2025
 Canadian Energy Protection Corp.
 Relevant to the issue of the alleged collapse of the Plaintiffs' business operations and loss of livelihood.
- 119. Financial Records 2021–2025 Plaintiffs Relevant to the issue of the Plaintiffs' alleged financial ruin.
- 120. Agreement of Purchase and Sale October 2018 2589 Mitchell St. Relevant to the issue of the Crown proceeding to trial on allegations alleged to be physically impossible.
- 121. Mortgage Records October 2018–March 2019 Bank of Montreal Relevant to the issue of the Crown proceeding to trial on allegations alleged to be physically impossible.
- 122. Disbursements April 2021–present Certified transcripts, affidavit commissioning services, process serving fees, and court filing fees

 Relevant to the issue of the alleged accumulation of unnecessary legal expenses.

- 123. Prescription Records May 2021–April 2023 Mark Justice Relevant to the issue of Mark Justice's alleged development of new clinically diagnosed psychiatric disorders.
- 124. Medical Records July 2021 Mark Justice Diagnosis Relevant to the issue of Mark Justice's alleged development of new clinically diagnosed psychiatric disorders.
- 125. Medical Records March 2024 Mark Justice Delayed Diagnosis Relevant to the issue of the alleged delay of necessary medical treatment.
- 126. Restoration Estimates October 2024 2589 Mitchell St. Relevant to the issue of alleged property damage.

Schedule B

Documents that are or were in our possession, control or power that we object to producing on the grounds of privilege.

127. Acquisition Offer – July–August, 2023 – Planet Energy Ontario
 Grounds: Production restricted by third-party confidentiality agreement.
 Relevant to the issue of the Plaintiffs' alleged loss of income and opportunity.

Schedule C

Documents that were formerly in our possession, control or power but are no longer in our possession, control or power.

None.

Plaintiffs	JUSTICE ET AL AND
Defendants	JUSTICE ET AL AND OTTAWA POLICE SERVICES BOARD ET AL
CV-25-00099658-0000	Court File No.

CV-25-00099658-0000

ONTARIO

SUPERIOR COURT OF JUSTICE

PROCEEDING COMMENCED AT

OTTAWA

AFFIDAVIT OF DOCUMENTS — CLPA s. 17(2)

Mark Justice
104-2706 Alta Vista Dr.
Ottawa, ON, K1V 7T4
justice@maliciousprosecution.ca
Tel: (613) 293-3204

Izabelle Justice
104-2706 Alta Vista Dr.
Ottawa, ON, K1V 7T4
justice@maliciousprosecution.ca
Tel: (613) 293-3204

Acting in Person

Acting in Person

CERTIFICATE of SIGNATURE

 $\forall X X X Y$

PGMAX-60DLR-RW5XW-PPLBQ

DOCUMENT COMPLETED BY ALL PARTIES ON 27 NOV 2025 04:30:23

SIGNER **TIMESTAMP SIGNATURE**

NITASHA MALIK

ADMIN@ONLINECOMMISSIONER.CA

27 NOV 2025 04:23:54

27 NOV 2025 04:28:32

SIGNED

27 NOV 2025 04:28:44

IP ADDRESS 24.64.197.248

LOCATION

CARSTAIRS, CANADA

RECIPIENT VERIFICATION

EMAIL VERIFIED

27 NOV 2025 04:28:32

IZABELLE JUSTICE

IZJUSTICECANADA@GMAIL.COM

27 NOV 2025 04:23:54

VIEWED

27 NOV 2025 04:29:00

SIGNED

27 NOV 2025 04:30:15

Izabelle Justice

IP ADDRESS

135.23.119.241

LOCATION

OTTAWA, CANADA

RECIPIENT VERIFICATION

EMAIL VERIFIED

27 NOV 2025 04:29:00



CERTIFICATE of **SIGNATURE**

 $\forall X X X Y$

PGMAX-60DLR-RW5XW-PPLBQ

DOCUMENT COMPLETED BY ALL PARTIES ON 27 NOV 2025 04:30:23

SIGNER TIMESTAMP SIGNATURE

MARK JUSTICE

JUSTICE@MALICIOUSPROSECUTION.CA

27 NOV 2025 04:23:54 27 NOV 2025 04:29:46

27 NOV 2025 04:30:23

SIGNED

Mark Justice

IP ADDRESS 135.23.119.241

LOCATION OTTAWA, CANADA

RECIPIENT VERIFICATION

EMAIL VERIFIED

27 NOV 2025 04:29:46

Court File No. CV-25-00099658-0000

ONTARIO SUPERIOR COURT OF JUSTICE

BETWEEN:

IZABELLE JUSTICE and MARK JUSTICE

Plaintiffs

- and -

OTTAWA POLICE SERVICES BOARD, STEVEN DESJOURDY, MELBURN WHITE, CHRISTOPHER TESSIER, CEDRIC NIZMAN, HIS MAJESTY THE KING IN RIGHT OF ONTARIO, AND ATTORNEY GENERAL OF ONTARIO

Defendants

FACTUM OF THE PLAINTIFFS

Motion for Leave to Proceed – Section 17(2), *Crown Liability and Proceedings Act*, 2019, S.O. 2019, c. 7, Sched. 17

PART I — OVERVIEW

- 1. This motion is brought pursuant to section 17(2) of the *Crown Liability and Proceedings Act, 2019*, S.O. 2019, c. 7, Sched. 17, which provides that a proceeding against the Crown or its officers or employees, in respect of the tort of misfeasance in public office or a tort based on bad faith, may proceed only with leave of the Court where the alleged conduct arises from acts done or intended to be done in the exercise of official powers or the performance of official duties or functions [*CLPA*] [*Poorkid*].
 - [1] Crown Liability and Proceedings Act, 2019, S.O. 2019, c. 7, Sched. 17, ss 17(1)–(2) [CLPA].
 - [2] Poorkid Investments Inc. v. Ontario (Solicitor General), 2023 ONCA 172 (CanLII) at paras 2, 8–9 [Poorkid].

Court File No./N° du dossier du greffe : CV-25-00099658-0000

Electronically filed / Déposé par voie électronique : 28-Nov-2025 Ottawa Superior Court of Justice / Cour supérieure de justice

2. The Plaintiffs seek leave to proceed with a civil claim for damages against the Crown and the Attorney General of Ontario (collectively, "Ontario"), arising from the conduct of five Crown prosecutors who, in the course of criminal proceedings brought against the Plaintiffs, exercised the powers and duties of Crown attorneys in a manner alleged to constitute bad faith and misfeasance in public office.

- 3. The claim advances serious, detailed, and well-particularized allegations of prosecutorial misconduct that give rise to three independent causes of action:
 - (a) malicious prosecution;
 - (b) misfeasance in public office;
 - (c) abuse of process (prosecutorial), a principled and incremental evolution of the established abuse-of-process doctrine.
- 4. The Plaintiffs further plead breaches of their rights under the *Canadian Charter of Rights* and *Freedoms* [*Charter*], arising from the same course of prosecutorial misconduct underlying the tort claims.
 - [3] Canadian Charter of Rights and Freedoms, ss 2(b), 7, 8, 9, 11(d), 12, 15, Part I of the Constitution Act, 1982, being Schedule B to the Canada Act 1982 (UK), 1982, c 11 [Charter].
- 5. The Attorney General of Ontario is named as a defendant in accordance with sections 8(1) and 8(2) of the *Ministry of the Attorney General Act*, R.S.O. 1990, c. M.17 [*MAGA*], which provide that proceedings for damages arising from acts or omissions of Crown counsel in the course of a prosecution shall be brought against the Attorney General, who stands in the place of the Crown Attorneys that would otherwise have been named. Accordingly, the claim is brought against the Attorney General as the statutory defendant in place of Emilie Farrell, Mark Holmes, David Rodgers, Moiz Karimjee, and Malcolm Savage, each of whom exercised the powers and duties of Crown Attorneys in the criminal proceedings brought against the Plaintiffs.
 - [4] *Ministry of the Attorney General Act*, R.S.O. 1990, c. M.17, ss 8(1)–(2) [MAGA].

6. Pursuant to section 8(1)(a) of the *CLPA*, the Crown is subject to the same liabilities in tort as any natural person in respect of torts committed by its officers, employees, or agents. Accordingly, the Crown bears direct liability for the wrongful acts alleged against its Crown prosecutors in the exercise of their public duties.

```
[5] CLPA, supra note 1, s 8(1)(a).
```

7. The Statement of Claim, issued April 29 2025, spans 236 pages and pleads a comprehensive, meticulously supported account of the relevant facts, supported by transcripts, court filings, correspondence, and contemporaneous documentation [SoC]. It advances well-founded and viable causes of action, is brought in good faith, and demonstrates that the claims present genuine and triable issues with a reasonable possibility of being resolved in the Plaintiffs' favour. On its face, the pleading more than satisfies the statutory threshold for leave under section 17(7) of the CLPA.

```
[6] Justice et al v. Ottawa Police Services Board et al, CV-25-99658 (Statement of Claim, Plaintiffs) [SoC].
```

[7] *CLPA*, supra note 1, s 17(7).

PART II — STATEMENT OF FACTS

- 8. The Plaintiffs, each engaged in civilian-oversight and systemic-advocacy roles, allege that they were subjected to a sustained and retaliatory sequence of criminal proceedings spanning several years. These prosecutions each ultimately terminated in the Plaintiffs' favour are said to have been initiated and maintained without reasonable and probable grounds, marked by escalating conduct indicative of malice and improper purpose, and characterized by disclosure violations, procedural irregularities, and repeated departures from established prosecutorial, constitutional, and statutory obligations.
- 9. Crown prosecutors are pleaded to have continued and expanded the proceedings despite their awareness of material exculpatory evidence that fundamentally undermined the basis for

prosecution. They are further alleged to have delayed or withheld disclosure, opposed meritorious *Charter* applications, and engaged in coordinated efforts with law enforcement to pursue unfounded charges for ulterior and improper purposes. The conduct, as pleaded, was deliberate, sustained, and incompatible with the obligations of a quasi-judicial office.

- 10. As set out in the *SoC*, the conduct of Crown prosecutors included, but was not limited to, the following acts and omissions:
 - (a) initiating and continuing criminal proceedings in the absence of reasonable and probable grounds;
 - (b) withholding, delaying, or mischaracterizing material exculpatory disclosure;
 - (c) advancing procedural and evidentiary positions in bad faith and for retaliatory, punitive, or collateral ends;
 - (d) obstructing *Charter* litigation and subverting the Plaintiffs' ability to make full answer and defence;
 - (e) knowingly perpetuating a misuse of the criminal process contrary to the proper administration of justice;
 - (f) engaging in sustained and coordinated collusion with law-enforcement to mislead the court, falsely imprison the Plaintiffs, and secure a wrongful conviction through a predetermined prosecutorial outcome.
- 11. The factual and legal foundations underpinning these allegations are set out with particularity under the following sections of the *SoC*:
 - (a) The Negligent Investigation (paras 51–70);
 - (b) The First Series of Unfounded Criminal Charges (paras 71–92);
 - (c) The Arbitrary Detention in a Parking Lot (paras 93–121);

- (d) The Crown Pursues Conviction at the Expense of Justice (paras 122–139);
- (e) The Second Series of Unfounded Criminal Charges (paras 140–161);
- (f) The First *Charter* Challenge (paras 162–175);
- (g) The Mistrial and Health Crisis (paras 176–200);
- (h) The Third Series of Unfounded Criminal Charges (paras 201–243);
- (i) The Bail Hearings (paras 244–264);
- (j) The Second *Charter* Challenge and Crown Admissions (paras 265–292);
- (k) The Third *Charter* Challenge (paras 293–310);
- (1) The Recusal Motion (paras 311–317);
- (m) The Proceedings Are Terminated (paras 318–326);
- (n) Malicious Prosecution (paras 346–355);
- (o) Misfeasance in Public Office (paras 356–365);
- (p) Abuse of Process (Prosecutorial) (paras 373–382);
- (q) Charter Violations and Liability (paras 430–437);
- (r) Statutory Liability (paras 441–443);
- (s) Discoverability (paras 445–454);
- (t) Harm and Damages (paras 455–489).
- [8] SoC, supra note 6 at paras 51–326, 346–365, 373–382, 430–437, 441–443, 445–489.

Court File No./N° du dossier du greffe : CV-25-00099658-0000

PART III — ISSUES AND LAW

12. Section 17(2) of the *CLPA* requires that the Plaintiffs obtain leave of the Court before proceeding with their tort claims for malicious prosecution, misfeasance in public office, and prosecutorial abuse of process against Ontario. Each of these causes of action alleges bad faith and the misuse of public power by Crown prosecutors in the exercise of their official functions, and therefore engages the statutory leave requirement.

13. Section 17 of the *CLPA* establishes a statutory screening mechanism that empowers the Superior Courts to prevent unmeritorious proceedings from advancing [*Poorkid*]. Claims alleging misfeasance in public office or bad faith may proceed only with leave of the Court and, unless and until such leave is granted, are deemed to have been stayed in respect of all claims in the proceeding from the time it is brought [*CLPA*] [*Dell*].

```
[9] Poorkid, supra note 2 at para 37.
[10] CLPA, supra note 1, s 17(2).
[11] His Majesty the King in right of Ontario v. Dell, 2024 ONSC 613 (CanLII) at paras 41, 44
[Dell].
```

14. Leave shall be granted where the Court is satisfied that the proceeding is brought in good faith and that there is a reasonable possibility the claim against the Crown or its officers or employees would be resolved in the Plaintiffs' favour [CLPA] [Poorkid].

```
[12] CLPA, supra note 1, s 17(7).
[13] Poorkid, supra note 2 at paras 10, 41.
```

15. On a motion for leave under section 17 of the *CLPA*, the Plaintiffs must serve and file an affidavit setting out the material facts on which they intend to rely, together with an affidavit of documents. The defendant may respond with an affidavit, but is under no obligation to do so, and is not subject to discovery, document inspection, or examination for discovery in relation to the motion [*CLPA*] [*Poorkid*].

```
[14] CLPA, supra note 1, ss 17(3)-(4), 17(6).
[15] Poorkid, supra note 2 at paras 10-11.
```

- 16. The statutory screening mechanism prescribed by section 17 of the *CLPA* is not intended to be onerous. At this preliminary stage, it is not the Plaintiffs' burden to establish bad faith or prove their claim on the merits; they need only demonstrate a reasonable possibility that it will succeed. The leave requirement thus operates as a procedural safeguard, not a substantive barrier, ensuring that only bona fide claims with a sound factual and legal foundation are permitted to proceed [*Poorkid*].
 - [16] *Poorkid*, supra note 2 at paras <u>37</u>, <u>41</u>.
- 17. The Supreme Court has repeatedly affirmed that Crown prosecutors do not enjoy absolute immunity from civil liability. Prosecutorial discretion is protected to preserve the independence and integrity of the criminal justice system, but that protection ends where Crown counsel deliberately misuse the powers of their office. Liability in tort arises where a prosecutor acts with malice, for an improper purpose, or through a wilful and intentional abuse of prosecutorial power that brings the administration of justice into disrepute [Nelles] [Proulx] [Miazga] [Henry].
 - [17] Nelles v. Ontario, [1989] 2 S.C.R. 170 at <u>191–200</u>, <u>218</u> [Nelles].
 - [18] proulx v. quebec (a.g.), [2001] 3 S.C.R. 9, 2001 SCC 66 at paras 4, 7, 9–10, 35, 41, 45 [Proulx].
 - [19] *Miazga v. Kvello Estate*, 2009 SCC 51, [2009] 3 S.C.R. 339 at paras <u>3–5</u>, <u>7–8</u>, <u>42</u>, <u>49</u>, <u>51</u> [*Miazga*].
 - [20] Henry v. British Columbia (Attorney General), 2015 SCC 24, [2015] 2 S.C.R. 214 at paras 26, 45, 49, [Henry].
- 18. In this line of authority, the Court has recognized that a prosecutor may be held liable where a proceeding is initiated or continued without reasonable and probable grounds and for an improper purpose—including where the prosecutor knows there is no evidentiary foundation, yet persists for reasons extraneous to the public interest in fair and impartial justice. The Court has further held that prosecutorial immunity cannot shield deliberate or reckless misconduct that subverts the accused's fair-trial rights or the integrity of the judicial process, including intentional constitutional breaches and the bad-faith exercise of state power [Henry]. Together,

these decisions confirm that prosecutorial immunity is qualified, not absolute, and that civil courts retain jurisdiction to grant remedies where Crown counsel intentionally abuse their role.

```
[21] Henry, supra note 20 at paras 31, 44, 56, 63, 66, 69, 73, 75–76, 84–85, 99, 138.
```

19. Section 8 of the *MAGA* provides a direct statutory vehicle through which prosecutorial liability is addressed. A person who is or was the subject of a prosecution may commence proceedings against the Attorney General in respect of acts or omissions of a Crown prosecutor done in the performance or purported performance of a duty or authority in relation to that prosecution. The Attorney General stands in the place of the prosecutor who would otherwise have been named and may be found liable in his or her stead [*MAGA*].

```
[22] MAGA, supra note 4, ss 8(1)–(2).
```

20. Ontario's pleadings confirm the procedural propriety of this action. At paragraph 5 of its Statement of Defence, the Province acknowledges that the Attorney General is the proper defendant in an action alleging prosecutorial misconduct, pursuant to section 8 of the *MAGA* [SoD]. This acknowledgment affirms that the correct institutional defendant has been joined under the governing statutory scheme, reinforcing that the claim is properly constituted and procedurally sound.

```
[23] Justice et al v Ottawa Police Services Board et al, CV-25-99658 (Statement of Defence, Defendants, Ontario) at para 5 [SoD].
```

21. Malicious prosecution stands as the central tort advanced in this proceeding. At common law, liability arises where a prosecution is (i) initiated or continued by the defendant; (ii) terminated in favour of the plaintiff; (iii) pursued without reasonable and probable cause; and (iv) actuated by malice or a primary purpose other than that of carrying the law into effect [Miazga] [Henry]. Each element is fully pleaded at paragraphs 346–355 of the SoC, supported by over one hundred pages of factual narrative tracing a deliberate and escalating trajectory of state misconduct. The claim engages every doctrinal component of the tort through a cogent and

Court File No./N° du dossier du greffe : CV-25-00099658-0000

Electronically filed / Déposé par voie électronique : 28-Nov-2025 Ottawa Superior Court of Justice / Cour supérieure de justice

cohesive record of prosecutorial conduct that, if proven, represents a profound deviation from the lawful exercise of prosecutorial authority.

[24] Miazga, supra note 19 at para 3

[25] Henry, supra note 20 at para 45

[26] SoC, supra note 6 at paras 346–355.

22. The pleading recounts how the Plaintiffs endured five consecutive years before the courts on the same allegations before all charges were ultimately terminated in their favour. The overwhelming majority of that time was devoted to *Charter* litigation, during which the Court permitted an unprecedented succession of constitutional challenges—each alleged to have uncovered new evidentiary deficiencies, procedural irregularities, and institutional misconduct. The resulting record is a rare and compelling illustration of a prosecution persisting long after it was manifest that the proceeding had no lawful or principled basis ever to have been commenced.

23. The *SoC* pleads extensive facts establishing the absence of reasonable and probable grounds, including that the prosecution relied on investigative conduct that was reckless and biased; advanced physically impossible money-laundering allegations; and was built upon false, misleading, or inadmissible evidence. Crown counsel are said to have disregarded exculpatory material, duplicated ongoing proceedings without justification, subverted established legal and procedural safeguards, and unlawfully intruded upon private medical records which they then mischaracterized to the Court. Throughout, the prosecutors are alleged to have acted with tunnel vision and a reckless disregard for the truth, persisting in a prosecution they knew—or could not reasonably have failed to know—was devoid of any lawful or evidentiary foundation.

24. The *SoC* also pleads an escalating pattern of Crown prosecutors acting with malice and improper purpose, including that they proceeded to trial on allegations known to be physically impossible and wholly without foundation; obstructed the Plaintiffs' participation in a virtual hearing while seeking punitive bench warrants in retaliation for their intent to commence civil proceedings against the Crown; and deliberately maintained an unconstitutional prosecution to

Court File No./N° du dossier du greffe : CV-25-00099658-0000

Electronically filed / Déposé par voie électronique : 28-Nov-2025 Ottawa Superior Court of Justice / Cour supérieure de justice

advance personal and institutional interests while shielding prior misconduct from scrutiny. Prosecutors are alleged to have pursued duplicative proceedings without justification, suppressed or distorted exculpatory evidence, and collaborated with law enforcement in a concerted effort to secure a wrongful conviction and foreclose the Plaintiffs' ability to expose the alleged misconduct now before this Court.

- 25. The conduct is alleged to have continued through deliberate manipulation of trial and evidentiary processes, including deploying an inordinate succession of prosecutors at pivotal stages to obscure accountability, improperly influencing witness availability, and pressing a jury trial to proceed despite the Court's own findings of procedural irregularities compromising its integrity. Prosecutors are said to have obstructed necessary medical care during trial, sought punitive bail revocation without lawful basis, and ultimately stayed the multi-year prosecution on the eve of judicial determination of their own recusal. Collectively, these acts reveal a prosecution animated not by the pursuit of justice, but by personal animus, institutional self-protection, and a deliberate misuse of public power wholly incompatible with the obligations of a quasi-judicial office.
- 26. The Plaintiffs further advance the tort of misfeasance in public office as a consequence of the same course of prosecutorial misconduct. Whereas malicious prosecution addresses proceedings commenced and continued without cause and for an improper purpose, misfeasance targets the deeper institutional wrong—the deliberate, knowing misuse of public authority by those entrusted to exercise it lawfully. It captures conduct in which public officials, acting under colour of their office, knowingly abuse their powers to injure those whom they are sworn to treat with fairness and fidelity to law [Odhavji].

[27] *Odhavji Estate v. Woodhouse*, [2003] 3 S.C.R. 263, 2003 SCC 69 at paras <u>22–23</u>, <u>32</u> [*Odhavji*].

27. At common law, liability for misfeasance in public office arises where a public officer, acting in the course of official duties, (i) engages in deliberate and unlawful conduct in the exercise of public functions, and (ii) is aware that the conduct is unlawful, and aware or

recklessly indifferent that it is likely to injure the plaintiff [Odhavji]. Each element is fully pleaded at paragraphs 356–365 of the SoC and is supported by the same extensive factual record demonstrating that Crown prosecutors, vested with quasi-judicial responsibilities, deliberately exceeded the limits of lawful authority in a sustained campaign of retaliatory prosecution.

```
[28] Odhavji, supra note 27 at paras <u>23</u>, <u>32</u>, <u>38</u>. [29] SoC, supra note 6 at paras 356–365.
```

- 28. The *SoC* pleads that Crown prosecutors engaged in a sustained pattern of knowingly unlawful conduct throughout the proceedings, including maintaining legal actions for years despite their knowledge that no lawful basis existed, concealing that absence from the Court, withholding disclosure they were duty-bound to provide, and presenting false, misleading, or incomplete evidence. They are alleged to have inflated and exaggerated charges to advance collateral or retaliatory objectives, disregarded judicial findings and statutory constraints, and misused prosecutorial powers to obstruct access to justice and suppress the Plaintiffs' lawful efforts to expose institutional misconduct. Taken together, these acts reveal a deliberate and calculated abuse of public authority for improper and extrajudicial ends.
- 29. The pleading further establishes that the prosecutors were subjectively aware their conduct was unlawful, including that they deliberately disregarded legal limits, procedural safeguards, and statutory obligations, and persisted in wrongful conduct despite judicial findings, legal warnings, and clear prohibitions. They are alleged to have knowingly exceeded their authority, acted without lawful basis, and continued prosecutions in the face of defects they knew rendered them untenable. Their actions, as pleaded, were so egregious and prolonged that no reasonable public official could have believed them lawful or justified. In persisting in the manner alleged, they demonstrated willful blindness to the legal limits of their office and an indifference to the rule of law itself.
- 30. The pleading also establishes that the prosecutors acted with intent to injure or with reckless disregard for the consequences of their misconduct. Over the course of years, they are alleged to have pursued the Plaintiffs in bad faith, including acting out of personal hostility and

reprisal for the exercise of legal and constitutional rights; employing the prosecution itself as a means of punishment, intimidation, and coercion; and misusing public office to suppress lawful challenges and insulate their own misconduct from scrutiny. These acts, as pleaded, were undertaken with conscious awareness or reckless indifference to the harm they would inflict, and reflect a sustained determination to use state power not for justice, but for retribution.

31. While the Supreme Court's most recent articulation of prosecutorial immunity declined to extend civil liability to misfeasance claims brought by police officers, it reaffirmed that such immunity remains qualified in respect of accused persons. The Court emphasized that the law must continue to strike a careful balance between preserving prosecutorial independence and vindicating the rights of the accused, who remain uniquely vulnerable to the misuse of prosecutorial power. It reiterated that fairness to the accused constitutes the overriding justification for limiting immunity, and that courts have shown an increasing willingness to scrutinize prosecutorial decisions affecting the rights of the accused. This reasoning reflects an evolving commitment to ensure that prosecutorial authority remains subject to judicial scrutiny where its abuse threatens the integrity of the criminal process and risks grave injustice [Clark].

```
[30] Ontario (Attorney General) v Clark, 2021 SCC 18, [2021] 1 SCR 607 at paras 26, 37–39, 48, 57, 61 [Clark].
```

32. The proposed tort of prosecutorial abuse of process represents an incremental evolution of established jurisprudence on the common law doctrine of abuse of process. In tort, abuse of process arises where: (i) the plaintiff was subjected to legal process initiated by the defendant; (ii) that process was pursued for the predominant purpose of advancing an indirect, collateral, or improper objective; (iii) the defendant took or made a definite act or threat in furtherance of the improper purpose; and (iv) the plaintiff suffered particularized harm as a consequence [Konstan].

```
[31] Konstan v. Berkovits, 2024 ONCA 510 (CanLII) at para 27 [Konstan].
```

33. The proposed tort adopts these settled elements but extends them to the unique context of prosecutorial misconduct—where the coercive machinery of the state is deliberately manipulated to perpetuate proceedings devoid of lawful foundation, fairness, or public interest. Unlike

malicious prosecution, which concerns the continuation of unfounded proceedings, or misfeasance, which targets unlawful exercises of public power, this tort addresses the sustained misuse of legal process itself as an instrument of retaliation and institutional self-protection. Each element is fully pleaded at paragraphs 373–382 of the *SoC*, supported by an extensive factual record demonstrating how prosecutorial powers were systematically weaponized to distort the course of justice and to prolong baseless proceedings that would otherwise have long been brought to an end.

[32] *SoC*, supra note 6 at paras 373–382.

- 34. The *SoC* pleads that Crown prosecutors engaged in the improper use of legal proceedings, exercising their authority to initiate and perpetuate criminal actions in the absence of any lawful, evidentiary, or public-interest foundation. These proceedings included prosecutions that were duplicative, unfounded, or strategically layered to evade judicial scrutiny and to obstruct the Plaintiffs' access to fair adjudication. Prosecutors are said to have continued proceedings despite their awareness of disclosure defects, factual inconsistencies, and legal infirmities, including instances where the evidentiary basis was stale, immaterial, or wholly unreliable. By maintaining such actions, they are alleged to have converted the process of prosecution into an instrument of strategic harassment and institutional reprisal—distorting its purpose from the pursuit of justice to the perpetuation of injustice itself.
- 35. The *SoC* further pleads that these proceedings were pursued, in whole or in part, for collateral and retaliatory purposes, including to punish the Plaintiffs for their public criticism of police and prosecutorial misconduct, to suppress public accountability, and to safeguard institutional reputations within the Ottawa Police Service and the Ottawa Crown Attorney's Office. Crown prosecutors are said to have maintained resource-intensive investigations and prosecutions—even after their legal foundation had eroded—in order to avoid scrutiny of prior misconduct and to obstruct the Plaintiffs from engaging in lawful civilian oversight. Thus, the continued use of legal process is alleged to have become a vehicle for retaliation and institutional self-preservation, rather than a good-faith effort to administer criminal justice.

Court File No./N° du dossier du greffe : CV-25-00099658-0000

Electronically filed / Déposé par voie électronique : 28-Nov-2025 Ottawa Superior Court of Justice / Cour supérieure de justice

36. The *SoC* further pleads that Crown prosecutors engaged in deliberate manipulation of legal and evidentiary processes, including the suppression and non-disclosure of exculpatory material, the distortion of evidentiary records, the strategic use of procedural mechanisms to subvert adjudication or derail *Charter* litigation, and the continuation of proceedings despite known defects in disclosure, factual reliability, and legal viability. These measures are alleged to have been undertaken to exhaust the Plaintiffs' resources, frustrate judicial scrutiny, and preserve a façade of legitimacy—weaponizing the machinery of justice into an instrument of coercion to perpetuate their unlawful campaign and shield prosecutorial misconduct from liability.

- 37. Neither malicious prosecution nor misfeasance in public office fully captures the process-based harms inflicted in this case. Those torts address the wrongful initiation of proceedings and the unlawful exercise of public power, but not the deliberate corruption of the procedural machinery through which justice itself is administered. Here, the Plaintiffs assert that their sustained diligence in challenging misconduct would have brought the wrongful prosecutions to an end years earlier, but for the prosecutors' calculated exploitation of the very mechanisms of accountability that should have exposed it. It is this sustained distortion of legal process—by which unlawful conduct is said to have been concealed, accountability evaded, and harm compounded—that warrants recognition of prosecutorial abuse of process as an incremental and necessary evolution of the common law.
- 38. Such recognition accords with the settled role of the courts in shaping the common law. Appellate authority confirms that where a proposed cause of action constitutes a principled extension of existing doctrine, responsive to demonstrable gaps in legal protection, it may properly be recognized as an incremental evolution rather than a radical departure. Such extension reflects the judiciary's role of ensuring that the common law continues to evolve in step with the changing needs of society [*Jones*].

[33] Jones v Tsige, 2012 ONCA 32 (CanLII) at para 65 [Jones].

39. The proposed tort fits squarely within that framework. It does not seek to displace or dilute the established limits on prosecutorial immunity, but to give effect to the very principles

that already ground liability where Crown counsel act with malice, pursue an improper purpose, or deliberately distort their quasi-judicial role. Prosecutorial abuse of process captures a distinct dimension of that misconduct—namely, the conscious weaponization of procedural and evidentiary mechanisms to perpetuate baseless proceedings and to defeat the accountability that malicious prosecution and misfeasance in public office are intended to safeguard.

40. Courts have consistently cautioned against striking novel causes of action at a preliminary stage where the pleadings disclose a coherent legal theory and a concrete factual foundation. The governing test remains whether it is plain and obvious that the statement of claim discloses no reasonable cause of action. Neither the complexity of the issues, the novelty of the proposition, nor the prospect of a vigorous defence justifies driving a plaintiff "from the judgment seat" before evidence is heard. Where a pleading advances an arguable, difficult, or important question of law, appellate authority confirms that it may be critical that the action be allowed to proceed to ensure that the common law continues to evolve to meet modern legal challenges [Hunt].

[34] *Hunt v Carey Canada Inc.*, 1990 CanLII 90 (SCC), [1990] 2 S.C.R. 959 at <u>972–73</u>, <u>977</u>, <u>978–80</u>, <u>990–91</u> [*Hunt*].

41. If this is the standard on a motion to strike, it follows a fortiori that a carefully pleaded and incrementally framed tort should not be foreclosed at the leave stage under section 17 of the *CLPA*. The claim for prosecutorial abuse of process rests on the same doctrinal foundations that already impose liability for malicious prosecution and intentional *Charter* breaches, and is supported by an extensive factual and evidentiary record set out in the *SoC* and the Plaintiffs' joint affidavits. In these circumstances, it cannot be said that there is no reasonable prospect the common law would recognize such a claim—nor that the Plaintiffs' theory is frivolous, speculative, or abusive. To deny leave on the basis of novelty alone would invert the principles articulated in *Hunt* and *Jones* by pre-empting judicial consideration, on a full evidentiary record, of whether a principled and necessary evolution of the law is warranted.

- [35] Justice et al v Ottawa Police Services Board et al, CV-25-99658 (Joint Affidavit of Mark Justice and Izabelle Justice, sworn May 2, 2025).
- [36] Justice et al v Ottawa Police Services Board et al, CV-25-99658 (Supplementary Joint Affidavit of Mark Justice and Izabelle Justice, sworn November 26, 2025).
- [37] Justice et al v Ottawa Police Services Board et al, CV-25-99658 (Joint Affidavit of Documents, Plaintiffs, sworn/affirmed November 26, 2025).
- [38] *Hunt*, supra note 34 at <u>972–73</u>, <u>977</u>, <u>978–80</u>, <u>990–91</u>
- [39] Jones, supra note 33 at para 65.
- 42. The *SoC* squarely pleads causation and foreseeability for each of the three prosecutorial torts. Under malicious prosecution, misfeasance in public office, and prosecutorial abuse of process, the Plaintiffs allege that the harms they suffered were the direct and reasonably foreseeable consequence of the Crown's wrongful conduct—flowing not merely from the fact of being wrongfully prosecuted, but from the deliberate manner in which those proceedings were initiated, sustained, and distorted. The pleading links the prosecutors' decisions and tactics to specific injuries, including prolonged psychological distress, reputational ruin, loss of liberty and security, deprivation of *Charter*-protected rights, and the collapse of the Plaintiffs' economic and personal stability. In each case, the pleaded narrative traces a clear causal chain from the deliberate misuse of prosecutorial authority to concrete, foreseeable harm that any reasonable public official would have anticipated as the inevitable result of such conduct.
 - [40] SoC, supra note 6 at paras 354–355, 364–365, 377–379, 455–489.
- 43. Damages are pleaded with equal particularity. For each tort, the *SoC* claims non-pecuniary, pecuniary, aggravated, punitive, and *Charter* damages, and then elaborates—across the dedicated Harm and Damages section—how years of baseless proceedings destroyed the Plaintiffs' business, livelihood, and relationships, among other profound personal and financial losses. The Plaintiffs detail the loss of income and opportunity, the depletion of savings and accumulation of legal expense, and the severe, enduring emotional and psychological injury caused by being treated as targets rather than rights-holders. They describe how they were forced to abandon their prior identities and careers, develop advanced legal competencies, and live for years in a posture of chronic hypervigilance—compelled to

reorient their entire existence around resisting, withstanding, and ultimately dismantling a campaign of unlawful state-driven persecution that consumed every facet of their lives. The damages pleaded thus reflect not abstract grievance, but the lived and foreseeable consequences of public officials repeatedly turning the instruments of justice against the Plaintiffs in an effort to secure wrongful conviction and forestall the very claims now brought before this Court.

[41] SoC, supra note 6 at paras 354–355, 364–365, 377–379, 455–489.

44. The Ottawa Police Services Board and the individual officers named as Ontario's co-defendants (collectively, the "OPS Defendants") have, in their own pleadings, confirmed that the Province's potential liability for the events in issue is not conjectural but a live and triable question. In their Statement of Defence and Crossclaim, they plead that if they are found liable to the Plaintiffs for any damages, interest, or costs, they are entitled to full indemnity, contribution, and related relief over from Ontario, and they expressly seek that this crossclaim be tried together with the main action [Crossclaim]. By advancing a claim for indemnity and contribution on the same factual matrix, a separately represented public institution has itself recognized an arguable and substantial basis for apportioning responsibility between the policing and prosecutorial branches of the state. The existence of this crossclaim is therefore incompatible with any suggestion—particularly at this preliminary leave stage under section 17 of the CLPA—that Ontario's potential liability is speculative or that there is no reasonable possibility the claim against Ontario will be resolved in the Plaintiffs' favour. It affirms instead that the question of Ontario's responsibility must properly proceed to trial, where the full interrelationship between police and prosecutorial misconduct can be adjudicated on a complete evidentiary record.

[42] *Justice et al v Ottawa Police Services Board et al*, CV-25-99658 (Statement of Defence and Crossclaim, Defendants, Ottawa Police Services Board, Desjourdy, White, Tessier, Nizman) at paras 93–96 [*Crossclaim*].

45. Ontario's own pleading posture underscores that this case warrants adjudication on the merits. The *SoD* does not contend that the action is frivolous, vexatious, or an abuse of process; it joins issue and advances affirmative defences—including a limitations defence directed at

Crown counsel Emilie Farrell on the theory that the withdrawal of the initial three counts started the clock nearly four years before issuance of the Claim [SoD]. That position cannot be reconciled with the pleaded procedural reality: the prosecution did not conclude at that juncture; the Plaintiffs remained before the criminal courts for nearly three further years on the same allegations, with the same evidentiary substratum and witnesses simply carried forward to newly framed counts elected by the Crown. On any principled view of malicious prosecution, accrual turns on ultimate termination of the prosecution in the Plaintiffs' favour—not on an interim strategic reformulation by the Crown. To accept Ontario's contrary approach would require redefining the tort and would immunize process-manipulation from civil accountability. At minimum, these features present an important question of law on which the Plaintiffs have a reasonable possibility of succeeding, and they further confirm that the issues raised are substantial, justiciable, and deserving of determination on a full evidentiary record.

[43] *SoD* supra note 23 at paras 45–49 [SoD].

46. The *SoC* has already withstood judicial scrutiny under a threshold test functionally analogous to the statutory leave analysis now before this Court. The OPS Defendants sought to have the entire action summarily dismissed under Rule 2.1 of the *Rules of Civil Procedure*—an exceptional mechanism reserved for only the clearest of cases that are plainly frivolous, vexatious, or abusive [*Rules 2.1*] [*Scaduto*]. Despite Ontario not participating, the Court assessed the action in its entirety, including the claims against the Crown, and—after reviewing the Plaintiffs' submissions and the OPS Defendants' responding materials—concluded that the proceeding raised issues of arguable merit such that it would not be appropriate for the Court to invoke its summary gatekeeping authority to dispose of the claims. The Court further held that the OPS Defendants' limitation position—that significant portions of the *SoC* are statute-barred—will have to be advanced on a more fulsome evidentiary record to determine whether any claims are, in fact, out of time [*Plaintiffs' Submission*] [*OPS' Submission*] [*Endorsement September 26*].

```
[44] Rules of Civil Procedure, R.R.O. 1990, Reg. 194, r. 2.1 [Rules 2.1].
```

^[45] Scaduto v Law Society of Upper Canada, 2015 ONCA 733 at paras 8–9 [Scaduto].

- [46] Justice et al v Ottawa Police Services Board et al, CV-25-99658 (Submission of the Plaintiffs) [Plaintiffs' Submission].
- [47] Justice et al v Ottawa Police Services Board et al, CV-25-99658 (Submission of the Defendants Ottawa Police Services Board, Desjourdy, White, Tessier, Nizman) [OPS' Submission].
- [48] Justice et al v Ottawa Police Services Board et al, CV-25-99658 (Endorsement of Justice Smith, September 22, 2025) [Endorsement September 22].
- [49] Justice et al v Ottawa Police Services Board et al, CV-25-99658 (Endorsement of Justice Smith, September 26, 2025) [Endorsement September 26].
- 47. That determination aligns directly with the principles governing section 17 of the *CLPA*: both Rule 2.1 and section 17 impose good-faith and arguable-merit thresholds designed to filter out frivolity and abuse, not to shield public authorities from accountability where serious, fact-dependent allegations are properly pleaded. Having already found that the Plaintiffs' claims—including those against Ontario—warrant adjudication on a developed record, it would be inconsistent with the logic of that ruling to now conclude that the very same claims fail to meet the substantially similar threshold under section 17.
- 48. Each of the pleaded theories of liability engages conduct for which Ontario is already capable of being held accountable at common law, and each invokes the same principles by which prosecutorial immunity gives way to judicial scrutiny to safeguard the rights of the accused. The Plaintiffs do not advance a speculative or collateral grievance; they seek genuine redress for years of state-inflicted harm documented with exceptional precision through transcripts, court filings, contemporaneous records, and sworn evidence. The issues raised—prolonged misuse of prosecutorial authority, distortion of adjudicative safeguards, and sustained interference with constitutional rights—are matters of systemic importance that warrant adjudication on a full record. The Plaintiffs have approached this litigation in good faith and with an honest belief, grounded in material facts, that Ontario's civil liability presents a genuine question requiring a trial.
- 49. Malicious prosecution is a long-settled avenue of prosecutorial liability at common law, and the Plaintiffs' inclusion of prosecutorial abuse of process and misfeasance in public office does not dilute their reasonable prospect of success—it reinforces it by situating the Crown's

Electronically filed / Déposé par voie électronique : 28-Nov-2025 Ottawa Superior Court of Justice / Cour supérieure de justice

conduct within multiple, independently cognizable frameworks of liability. Each cause of action engages principles through which courts have long pierced prosecutorial immunity where Crown conduct descends into malice, bad faith, or the deliberate misuse of state power. If Ontario seeks to contest the viability of any individual tort, section 17 of the *CLPA* is not the forum for that determination. Such challenges must be decided on a full factual and evidentiary record, where the Court can properly assess whether it is plain and obvious that any claim is not fit to be tried. At this preliminary stage, the Plaintiffs have more than satisfied the statutory threshold of good faith and a reasonable possibility of success.

PART IV — ORDER REQUESTED

50. The Plaintiffs respectfully request an order pursuant to section 17(2) of the *Crown Liability and Proceedings Act, 2019*, granting leave to proceed with their claim against Ontario for malicious prosecution, misfeasance in public office, prosecutorial abuse of process, and

damages under the Canadian Charter of Rights and Freedoms.

ALL OF WHICH IS RESPECTFULLY SUBMITTED.

DATED at Ottawa, this 26th day of November, 2025.

Mark Justice

104-2706 Alta Vista Dr.

Ottawa, ON, K1V 7T4

justice@maliciousprosecution.ca

Tel: 613-293-3204 Acting in Person Izabelle Justice

104-2706 Alta Vista Dr.

Ottawa, ON, K1V 7T4

justice@maliciousprosecution.ca

Tel: 613-293-3204 Acting in Person

TABLE OF AUTHORITIES

AUTHORITY	PARAGRAPH(S) IN ARGUMENT
Legislation	
Canadian Charter of Rights and Freedoms, Part I of the Constitution Act, 1982, being Schedule B to the Canada Act 1982 (UK), 1982, c 11	4
Rules of Civil Procedure, R.R.O. 1990, Reg. 194	46
Crown Liability and Proceedings Act, 2019, S.O. 2019, c. 7, Sched. 17	1, 6–7, 13–15
Ministry of the Attorney General Act, R.S.O. 1990, c. M.17	5, 19
Jurisprudence	
Nelles v. Ontario, [1989] 2 S.C.R. 170	17
Proulx v. Quebec (A.G.), [2001] 3 S.C.R. 9, 2001 SCC 66	17
Miazga v. Kvello Estate, 2009 SCC 51, [2009] 3 S.C.R. 339	17, 21
Henry v. British Columbia (Attorney General), 2015 SCC 24, [2015] 2 S.C.R. 214	17–18, 21
Ontario (Attorney General) v. Clark, 2021 SCC 18, [2021] 1 S.C.R. 607	31
Odhavji Estate v. Woodhouse, [2003] 3 S.C.R. 263, 2003 SCC 69	26–27
Hunt v. Carey Canada Inc., 1990 CanLII 90 (SCC), [1990] 2 S.C.R. 959	40–41
Jones v. Tsige, 2012 ONCA 32 (CanLII)	38, 41
Konstan v. Berkovits, 2024 ONCA 510 (CanLII)	32
Scaduto v. Law Society of Upper Canada, 2015 ONCA 733	46
Poorkid Investments Inc. v. Ontario (Solicitor General), 2023 ONCA 172 (CanLII)	1, 13–16
His Majesty the King in right of Ontario v. Dell, 2024 ONSC 613 (CanLII)	13

CERTIFICATE OF AUTHENTICITY OF AUTHORITIES

(Rule 4.06.1(2.1))

We, the Plaintiffs, acting in person, certify that we are satisfied as to the authenticity of every authority cited in the accompanying factum, in accordance with rule 4.06.1(2.1) of the *Rules of Civil Procedure*.

Every authority cited in the factum is hyperlinked to an official source, including government websites and CanLII, and is presumed authentic under rule 4.06.1(2.2).

Dated at Ottawa, Ontario, this 26th day of November, 2025.

Mark Justice 104-2706 Alta Vista Dr.

Ottawa, ON, K1V 7T4

justice@maliciousprosecution.ca

Tel: 613-293-3204 Acting in Person della motice

Izabelle Justice 104-2706 Alta Vista Dr. Ottawa, ON, K1V 7T4 justice@maliciousprosecution.ca

Tel: 613-293-3204 Acting in Person

				Plaintiffs Defendants	JUSTICE ET AL AND OTTAWA POLICE SERVICES BOARD ET AL
Izabelle Justice 104-2706 Alta Vista Dr. Ottawa, ON, K1V 7T4 justice@maliciousprosecution.ca Tel: (613) 293-3204 Acting in Person	Mark Justice 104-2706 Alta Vista Dr. Ottawa, ON, K1V 7T4 justice@maliciousprosecution.ca Tel: (613) 293-3204 Acting in Person	FACTUM OF THE PLAINTIFFS — <i>CLPA</i> s. 17(2)	ONTARIO SUPERIOR COURT OF JUSTICE PROCEEDING COMMENCED AT OTTAWA	CV-25-00099658-0000	Court File No.

SCHEDULE "A" – RELEVANT LEGISLATIVE PROVISIONS

Crown Liability and Proceedings Act, 2019, S.O. 2019, c. 7, Sched. 17

Section 8 (1)(a) Crown Liability

Except as otherwise provided under this Act or any other Act, the Crown is subject to all the liabilities in tort to which it would be liable if it were a person,

- (a) in respect of a tort committed by an officer, employee or agent of the Crown;
- (b) in respect of a breach of duty attaching to the ownership, occupation, possession or control of property;
- (c) in respect of a breach of an employment-related obligation owed to an officer or employee of the Crown; and
- (d) under any Act, or under any regulation or by-law made or passed under any Act.

Section 17(1): Proceedings Re Misfeasance, Bad Faith

This section applies to proceedings brought against the Crown or an officer or employee of the Crown that include a claim in respect of a tort of misfeasance in public office or a tort based on bad faith respecting anything done in the exercise or intended exercise of the officer or employee's powers or the performance or intended performance of the officer or employee's duties or functions. 2020, c. 11, Sched. 7, s. 1.

Section 17(2): Leave to Proceed Required, Automatic Stay

A proceeding to which this section applies that is brought on or after the day section 1 of Schedule 7 to the *Smarter and Stronger Justice Act*, 2020 comes into force may proceed only with leave of the court and, unless and until leave is granted, is deemed to have been stayed in respect of all claims in that proceeding from the time that it is brought. 2020, c. 11, Sched. 7, s. 1.

Section 17(3): Documents on motion for leave

On a motion for leave under subsection (2), the claimant shall, in accordance with section 15 if applicable, serve on the defendant and file with the court,

- (a) an affidavit, or such other document as may be prescribed, setting out a concise statement of the material facts on which the claimant intends to rely; and
- (b) an affidavit of documents, or such other document as may be prescribed, disclosing, to the full extent of the claimant's knowledge, information and belief, all documents relevant to any matter in issue in the proceeding that are or have been in the claimant's possession, control or power. 2020, c. 11, Sched. 7, s. 1.

Section 17(4): Response by defendant

On a motion for leave under subsection (2), the defendant may serve on the claimant and file an affidavit, or such other document as may be prescribed, setting out a concise statement of the material facts on which the defendant intends to rely for the defence, but is not required to do so. 2020, c. 11, Sched. 7, s. 1.

Section 17(6): No discovery of defendant

The defendant shall not be subject to discovery or the inspection of documents, or to examination for discovery, in relation to the motion for leave. 2020, c. 11, Sched. 7, s. 1.

Section 17(7): Requirements for Leave

The court shall not grant leave unless it is satisfied that,

- (a) the proceeding is being brought in good faith; and
- (b) there is a reasonable possibility that the claim described in subsection (1) would be resolved in the claimant's favour. 2020, c. 11, Sched. 7, s. 1.

Section 17(8): Costs

Each party to the motion for leave shall bear its own costs of the motion. 2020, c. 11, Sched. 7, s. 1.

Ministry of the Attorney General Act, R.S.O. 1990, c. M.17

Section 8(1): Limit on Proceedings Against Crown Attorneys, etc.

No action or other proceeding for damages shall be commenced by a person who is or was the subject of a prosecution, in respect of any act done or omitted to be done in the performance or purported performance of a duty or authority in relation to the prosecution, against any of the following:

- 1. A Crown Attorney, Deputy Crown Attorney or assistant Crown Attorney appointed under the Crown Attorneys Act.
- 2. A person authorized under section 6 of the Crown Attorneys Act to be a provincial prosecutor.
- 3. Any other employee appointed for the purposes of section 4.
- 4. A person who was, but no longer is, a person described in paragraph 1, 2 or 3. 2009, c. 33, Sched. 2, s. 46.

Section 8(2): Proceedings against Attorney General

An action or other proceeding described in subsection (1) may be commenced against the Attorney General by a person who is or was the subject of a prosecution and, for the purpose, the Attorney General stands in the place of the person against whom the action or other proceeding would have been brought but for that subsection, and may be found liable in his or her stead. 2009, c. 33, Sched. 2, s. 46.

Canadian Charter of Rights and Freedoms, Part I of the Constitution Act, 1982

Section 2(b): Freedom of Expression

Everyone has the following fundamental freedoms: freedom of thought, belief, opinion and expression, including freedom of the press and other media of communication.

Electronically filed / Déposé par voie électronique : 28-Nov-2025 Ottawa Superior Court of Justice / Cour supérieure de justice

Section 7: Life, Liberty and Security of the Person

Everyone has the right to life, liberty and security of the person and the right not to be deprived thereof except in accordance with the principles of fundamental justice.

Section 8: Search and Seizure

Everyone has the right to be secure against unreasonable search or seizure.

Section 9: Arbitrary Detention

Everyone has the right not to be arbitrarily detained or imprisoned.

Section 11(d): Presumption of Innocence

Any person charged with an offence has the right to be presumed innocent until proven guilty according to law in a fair and public hearing by an independent and impartial tribunal.

Section 12: Cruel and Unusual Treatment or Punishment

Everyone has the right not to be subjected to any cruel and unusual treatment or punishment.

Section 15(1): Equality Rights

Every individual is equal before and under the law and has the right to the equal protection and equal benefit of the law without discrimination.

R.R.O. 1990, Reg. 194: RULES OF CIVIL PROCEDURE

Rule 21: Determination of an Issue Before Trial

Rule 25: Pleadings in Action

Rule 37: Motions — Jurisdiction and Procedure

Rule 38: Applications — Jurisdiction and Procedure

Rule 2.1: Frivolous, Vexatious or Abusive Proceedings — Stay or Dismissal of Proceedings

SCHEDULE "B" – RELEVANT PLEADINGS FROM THE STATEMENT OF CLAIM

Relief Claimed (paras. 1–5)

Seeks damages from the Crown for torts and *Charter* breaches arising from prosecutorial conduct.

Nature of the Action (paras. 6–19)

Describes systemic abuse by Crown prosecutors as central to the action.

Facts Supporting the Claim (paras. 44–326)

Factual foundation for malicious prosecution, misfeasance, abuse of process, and *Charter* claims.

Malicious Prosecution (paras. 346–355)

All four elements of the tort are specifically pleaded, including the absence of reasonable and probable grounds and conduct actuated by malice or improper purpose.

Misfeasance in Public Office (paras. 356–365)

Alleges bad faith and knowing abuse of prosecutorial power.

Abuse of Process (Prosecutorial) (paras. 373–382)

Advances a novel but grounded tort addressing deliberate misuse of criminal process by Crown prosecutors.

Charter Violations and Liability (paras. 430–437)

Specifies violations under ss. 2(b), 7, 8, 9, 11(d), 12, and 15 of the *Charter*.

Statutory Liability (paras. 441–443)

Pleads liability of the Crown and Attorney General under the *CLPA* and *MAGA*.

Discoverability (paras. 445–454)

Explains why the causes of action could not be discovered until proceedings were stayed.

Harm and Damages (para 455)

Introduces the overarching categories of harm pleaded as a function of sustained, state-inflicted injustice.

Non-Pecuniary Damages (paras. 456-465)

Pleads emotional, psychological, and reputational harm flowing from prosecutorial misconduct.

Pecuniary Damages (paras. 466-475)

Pleads economic loss, including lost income, legal expenses, and future disadvantage.

Punitive Damages (paras. 476–482)

Seeks exemplary damages to denounce and deter egregious state misconduct.

Aggravated Damages (paras. 483-489)

Pleads heightened harm to dignity and autonomy arising from prosecutorial misconduct.

SCHEDULE "C" – PUBLIC INTEREST AND SYSTEMIC IMPORTANCE SUMMARY

This action raises issues of public importance concerning the constitutional limits of prosecutorial discretion, the duties of Crown attorneys in the exercise of quasi-judicial power, and the safeguards necessary to protect civilians who engage in oversight, legal advocacy, or institutional criticism.

The Plaintiffs are not only individual complainants, but also public interest actors who participated in oversight processes, legal reform initiatives, and accountability-based litigation. The pleadings allege that the criminal process was employed in part to silence, punish, or intimidate them, thereby impairing the integrity of democratic oversight mechanisms.

The Statement of Claim pleads a sustained course of deliberate misconduct by multiple Crown prosecutors over a multi-year period. The systemic nature of this misconduct—tied to disclosure violations, improper litigation tactics, and apparent coordination with law enforcement—raises broader questions about the structural accountability of prosecutorial offices and their resistance to public scrutiny.

These allegations engage not only the legal rights of the Plaintiffs, but also the rights of others who rely on the proper and impartial functioning of the criminal justice system. The claim therefore implicates institutional safeguards, access to justice, and public confidence in prosecutorial independence and fairness.

In this context, the granting of leave under section 17(2) of the *Crown Liability and Proceedings Act*, 2019, S.O. 2019, c. 7, Sched. 17 would allow the Court to assess the serious legal and constitutional dimensions of prosecutorial conduct that may otherwise escape judicial scrutiny.

Court File No. CV-25-00099658-0000

ONTARIO SUPERIOR COURT OF JUSTICE

BETWEEN:

IZABELLE JUSTICE and MARK JUSTICE

Plaintiffs

- and -

OTTAWA POLICE SERVICES BOARD, STEVEN DESJOURDY, MELBURN WHITE, CHRISTOPHER TESSIER, CEDRIC NIZMAN, HIS MAJESTY THE KING IN RIGHT OF ONTARIO, AND ATTORNEY GENERAL OF ONTARIO

Defendants

DRAFT ORDER

Order Granting Leave to Proceed – Section 17(2), *Crown Liability and Proceedings Act*, 2019, S.O. 2019, c. 7, Sched. 17

THIS MOTION, made by the Plaintiffs, Mark Justice and Izabelle Justice, for an Order granting leave to proceed with their claim for damages against His Majesty the King in Right of Ontario and the Attorney General of Ontario, pursuant to section 17(2) of the *Crown Liability and Proceedings Act*, 2019, S.O. 2019, c. 7, Sched. 17, was heard this day at the courthouse located at the Superior Court of Justice, 161 Elgin Street, Ottawa, Ontario.

AND UPON READING the Amended Notice of Motion, the Plaintiffs' Motion Record (including the Joint Affidavit of Mark Justice and Izabelle Justice, the Supplementary Joint Affidavit, and the Affidavit of Documents), the Plaintiffs' Factum, and the Statement of Claim issued April 29, 2025, AND UPON HEARING the submissions of the Plaintiffs and of counsel for the Defendants [if any];

Court File No./N° du dossier du greffe: CV-25-00099658-0000

Electronically filed / Déposé par voie électronique : 28-Nov-2025 Ottawa Superior Court of Justice / Cour supérieure de justice

AND ON BEING SATISFIED that the Plaintiffs' Statement of Claim pleads reasonable

grounds to believe that one or more individuals who exercised the powers and duties of Crown

prosecutors, in the course of their official functions, engaged in conduct carried out in bad faith

or that was clearly wrong, and that such conduct provides a proper basis for a civil claim for

damages arising from the exercise of prosecutorial discretion;

THIS COURT ORDERS that the Plaintiffs, Mark Justice and Izabelle Justice, are 1.

granted leave pursuant to section 17(2) of the Crown Liability and Proceedings Act, 2019, S.O.

2019, c. 7, Sched. 17, to proceed with their civil claim for damages against His Majesty the King

in Right of Ontario and the Attorney General of Ontario, as pleaded in the Statement of Claim

issued April 29, 2025.

2. THIS COURT ORDERS that, pursuant to section 17(8) of the Crown Liability and

Proceedings Act, 2019, S.O. 2019, c. 7, Sched. 17, each party shall bear its own costs of this

motion.

3. THIS COURT ORDERS that all other relief sought on this motion and not expressly

granted herein is denied.

Date:

Location: Ottawa, Ontario, Canada

A Judge of the Superior Court of Justice

384

					Plaintiffs Defendants	JUSTICE ET AL AND OTTAWA POLICE SERVICES BOARD ET AL
Izabelle Justice 104-2706 Alta Vista Dr. Ottawa, ON, K1V 7T4 justice@maliciousprosecution.ca Tel: (613) 293-3204 Acting in Person	Mark Justice 104-2706 Alta Vista Dr. Ottawa, ON, K1V 7T4 justice@maliciousprosecution.ca Tel: (613) 293-3204 Acting in Person	DRAFT ORDER — <i>CLPA</i> s. 17(2)	PROCEEDING COMMENCED AT OTTAWA	ONTARIO SUPERIOR COURT OF JUSTICE	CV-25-00099658-0000	Court File No.

Court File No. CV-25-00099658-0000

ONTARIO SUPERIOR COURT OF JUSTICE

BETWEEN:

IZABELLE JUSTICE and MARK JUSTICE

Plaintiffs

- and -

OTTAWA POLICE SERVICES BOARD, STEVEN DESJOURDY, MELBURN WHITE, CHRISTOPHER TESSIER, CEDRIC NIZMAN, HIS MAJESTY THE KING IN RIGHT OF ONTARIO, AND ATTORNEY GENERAL OF ONTARIO

Defendants

AFFIDAVIT OF SERVICE

(Rule 16.09)

I, Izabelle Justice, of the City of Ottawa, in the Province of Ontario, MAKE OATH AND SAY:

- 1. On May 8, 2025, I served the Motion Record in the above-noted proceeding on counsel of record for the following parties:
 - (a) His Majesty the King in Right of Ontario,
 c/o Ministry of the Attorney General Civil Law Division
 720 Bay Street, 8th Floor
 Toronto, ON M7A 2S9

- (b) Attorney General of Ontario,c/o Ministry of the Attorney General720 Bay Street, 11th FloorToronto, ON M7A 2S9
- 2. Service was effected by email to Ram Rammaya at Ram.Rammaya@ontario.ca in accordance with Rule 16.01(4)(a) of the *Rules of Civil Procedure*.
- 3. Attached to this affidavit and marked as "Exhibit A" is a true copy of the cover page of the Motion Record so served.
- 4. I make this affidavit in support of proof of service, in accordance with Rule 16.09 of the *Rules of Civil Procedure*, and for no improper purpose.

SWORN by Izabelle Justice, stated as being currently located in the City of Ottawa, Province of Ontario before me at Carstairs, AB in accordance with O.REG 431/20 administering Oath or Declaration remotely on this 28th day of November, 2025.

Nitasha Malik

Izabelle Justice

A Commissioner for Taking Affidavits Nitasha Malik LSO# P14355 **Izabelle Justice**



This is "Exhibit A", as stated in the Affidavit of Izabelle Justice, sworn remotely before me on November 28, 2025

Nitasha Malik

A Commissioner for Taking Affidavits Nitasha Malik LSO# P14355



Court File No.

ONTARIO SUPERIOR COURT OF JUSTICE

BETWEEN:

IZABELLE JUSTICE and MARK JUSTICE

Plaintiffs

- and -

OTTAWA POLICE SERVICES BOARD, STEVEN DESJOURDY, MELBURN WHITE, CHRISTOPHER TESSIER, CEDRIC NIZMAN, HIS MAJESTY THE KING IN RIGHT OF ONTARIO, AND ATTORNEY GENERAL OF ONTARIO

Defendants

MOTION RECORD

Motion for Leave to Proceed – Section 17(2) of the *Crown Liability and Proceedings Act*, 2019, S.O. 2019, c. 7, Sched. 17

Returnable at: 161 Elgin Street, Ottawa, Ontario

On a date to be scheduled in consultation with counsel and the Court

Filed by:

Mark Justice Izabelle Justice

104–2706 Alta Vista Dr. 104–2706 Alta Vista Dr. Ottawa, ON K1V 7T4 Ottawa, ON K1V 7T4

justice@maliciousprosecution.ca justice@maliciousprosecution.ca

Tel: 613-293-3204 Tel: 613-293-3204

Self-Represented Self-Represented

CERTIFICATE of SIGNATURE

 $\forall X X X Y$

PZSME-9DAZF-C7OKA-USCC7

DOCUMENT COMPLETED BY ALL PARTIES ON 28 NOV 2025 18:27:04

TIMESTAMP SIGNER **SIGNATURE**

NITASHA MALIK

ADMIN@ONLINECOMMISSIONER.CA

28 NOV 2025 17:51:42

28 NOV 2025 17:52:33

SIGNED

28 NOV 2025 17:52:41

Nitasha Malik

IP ADDRESS

24.64.197.248

CARSTAIRS, CANADA

RECIPIENT VERIFICATION

EMAIL VERIFIED

28 NOV 2025 17:52:33

IZABELLE JUSTICE

IZJUSTICECANADA@GMAIL.COM

SHARED VIA

LINK

SENT

28 NOV 2025 17:51:42

28 NOV 2025 17:52:08

28 NOV 2025 18:27:04

Izabelle Justice

IP ADDRESS 135.23.119.241

OTTAWA, CANADA

RECIPIENT VERIFICATION

EMAIL VERIFIED

28 NOV 2025 17:52:08



				Plaintiffs Defendants	JUSTICE ET AL AND OTTAWA POLICE SERVICES BOARD ET AL
Izabelle Justice 104-2706 Alta Vista Dr. Ottawa, ON, K1V 7T4 justice@maliciousprosecution.ca Tel: (613) 293-3204 Acting in Person	Mark Justice 104-2706 Alta Vista Dr. Ottawa, ON, K1V 7T4 justice@maliciousprosecution.ca Tel: (613) 293-3204 Acting in Person	AFFIDAVIT OF SERVICE MOTION RECORD — CLPA s. 17(2)	ONTARIO SUPERIOR COURT OF JUSTICE PROCEEDING COMMENCED AT OTTAWA	CV-25-00099658-0000	Court File No.

Court File No. CV-25-00099658-0000

ONTARIO SUPERIOR COURT OF JUSTICE

BETWEEN:

IZABELLE JUSTICE and MARK JUSTICE

Plaintiffs

- and -

OTTAWA POLICE SERVICES BOARD, STEVEN DESJOURDY, MELBURN WHITE, CHRISTOPHER TESSIER, CEDRIC NIZMAN, HIS MAJESTY THE KING IN RIGHT OF ONTARIO, AND ATTORNEY GENERAL OF ONTARIO

Defendants

AFFIDAVIT OF SERVICE

(Rule 16.09)

I, Izabelle Justice, of the City of Ottawa, in the Province of Ontario, MAKE OATH AND SAY:

- 1. On November 20, 2025, I served the Amended Notice of Motion, returnable December 11, 2025 at 10:00 AM, in the above-noted proceeding, on the following parties:
 - (a) His Majesty the King in Right of Ontario,
 c/o Ministry of the Attorney General Civil Law Division
 720 Bay Street, 8th Floor
 Toronto, ON M7A 2S9

- (b) Attorney General of Ontario,c/o Ministry of the Attorney General720 Bay Street, 11th FloorToronto, ON M7A 2S9
- 2. Service was effected by email to Hailey Ji (Counsel for His Majesty the King in Right of Ontario and the Attorney General of Ontario) at Hailey.Ji@ontario.ca and <a
- 3. Attached to this affidavit and marked as "Exhibit A" is a true copy of the cover page of the Amended Notice of Motion so served.
- 4. I make this affidavit in support of proof of service, in accordance with Rule 16.09 of the *Rules of Civil Procedure*, and for no improper purpose.

SWORN (or AFFIRMED) by Izabelle Justice, stated as being currently located in the City of Ottawa, Province of Ontario before me at Carstairs, AB in accordance with O.REG 431/20 administering Oath or Declaration remotely on this 20th day of November, 2025.

Nitasha Malik

Izabelle Justice

A Commissioner for Taking Affidavits Nitasha Malik LSO# P14355 **Izabelle Justice**



This is "Exhibit A", as stated in the Affidavit of Izabelle Justice, sworn remotely before me on November 20, 2025

Nitasha Malik

A Commissioner for Taking Affidavits Nitasha Malik LSO# P14355



Court File No. CV-25-000-99658-0000

ONTARIO SUPERIOR COURT OF JUSTICE

R		т	W			N	
\mathbf{D}	_		vv	_	_	1 1	

IZABELLE JUSTICE and MARK JUSTICE

Plaintiffs

- and -

OTTAWA POLICE SERVICES BOARD, STEVEN DESJOURDY, MELBURN WHITE, CHRISTOPHER TESSIER, CEDRIC NIZMAN, HIS MAJESTY THE KING IN RIGHT OF ONTARIO, AND ATTORNEY GENERAL OF ONTARIO

Defendants

AMENDED NOTICE OF MOTION

Motion for Leave to Proceed – Section 17(2) of the *Crown Liability and Proceedings Act*, 2019, S.O. 2019, c. 7, Sched. 17

THE PLAINTIFFS, Mark Justice and Izabelle Justice, will make a motion to a judge of the Superior Court of Justice at 161 Elgin Street, Ottawa, Ontario, on December 11, 2025, at 10:00 a.m., or as soon after that date as the motion may be heard.

PROPOSED METHOD OF HEARING:

	in writing under Rule 37.12.1;
	in person;
\square	by video conference;
	by teleconference.

The motion is to be heard:

					Plaintiffs Defendants	JUSTICE ET AL AND OTTAWA POLICE SERVICES BOARD ET AL
Izabelle Justice 104-2706 Alta Vista Dr. Ottawa, ON, K1V 7T4 justice@maliciousprosecution.ca Tel: (613) 293-3204 Acting in Person	Mark Justice 104-2706 Alta Vista Dr. Ottawa, ON, K1V 7T4 justice@maliciousprosecution.ca Tel: (613) 293-3204 Acting in Person	AFFIDAVIT OF SERVICE —CLPA s. 17(2)	PROCEEDING COMMENCED AT OTTAWA	ONTARIO	CV-25-00099658-0000	Court File No.

CERTIFICATE of SIGNATURE

 $\forall X X X Y$

F8NJC-YDLP7-KJUZJ-TCPDT

DOCUMENT COMPLETED BY ALL PARTIES ON 20 NOV 2025 18:54:10

TIMESTAMP SIGNER **SIGNATURE**

NITASHA MALIK

ADMIN@ONLINECOMMISSIONER.CA

20 NOV 2025 18:40:04

20 NOV 2025 18:40:17

SIGNED

20 NOV 2025 18:40:27

Nitasha Malik

IP ADDRESS

24.64.197.248

CARSTAIRS, CANADA

RECIPIENT VERIFICATION

EMAIL VERIFIED

20 NOV 2025 18:40:17

IZABELLE JUSTICE

IZJUSTICECANADA@GMAIL.COM

SENT

20 NOV 2025 18:40:04

20 NOV 2025 18:47:19

20 NOV 2025 18:54:10

Izabelle Justice

IP ADDRESS

135.23.119.241

OTTAWA, CANADA

RECIPIENT VERIFICATION

EMAIL VERIFIED

20 NOV 2025 18:47:19



Court File No. CV-25-00099658-0000

ONTARIO SUPERIOR COURT OF JUSTICE

BETWEEN:

IZABELLE JUSTICE and MARK JUSTICE

Plaintiffs

- and -

OTTAWA POLICE SERVICES BOARD, STEVEN DESJOURDY, MELBURN WHITE, CHRISTOPHER TESSIER, CEDRIC NIZMAN, HIS MAJESTY THE KING IN RIGHT OF ONTARIO, AND ATTORNEY GENERAL OF ONTARIO

Defendants

AFFIDAVIT OF SERVICE

(Rule 16.09)

I, Izabelle Justice, of the City of Ottawa, in the Province of Ontario, MAKE OATH AND SAY:

- 1. On November 27, 2025, I served the updated Motion Record, returnable December 11, 2025, in the above-noted proceeding on counsel of record for the following parties:
 - (a) His Majesty the King in Right of Ontario,
 c/o Ministry of the Attorney General Civil Law Division
 720 Bay Street, 8th Floor
 Toronto, ON M7A 2S9

- (b) Attorney General of Ontario,c/o Ministry of the Attorney General720 Bay Street, 11th FloorToronto, ON M7A 2S9
- 2. Service was effected by email to Hailey Ji at <u>Hailey.Ji@ontario.ca</u> and <u>Hailey.Ji2@ontario.ca</u> in accordance with Rule 16.01(4)(a) of the *Rules of Civil Procedure*.
- 3. Attached to this affidavit and marked as "Exhibit A" is a true copy of the cover page of the updated Motion Record so served.
- 4. I make this affidavit in support of proof of service, in accordance with Rule 16.09 of the *Rules of Civil Procedure*, and for no improper purpose.

SWORN by Izabelle Justice, stated as being currently located in the City of Ottawa, Province of Ontario before me at Carstairs, AB in accordance with O.REG 431/20 administering Oath or Declaration remotely on this 28th day of November, 2025.

Nitasha Malik

Izabelle Justice

A Commissioner for Taking Affidavits Nitasha Malik LSO# P14355 **Izabelle Justice**



This is "Exhibit A", as stated in the Affidavit of Izabelle Justice, sworn remotely before me on November 28, 2025

Nitasha Malik

A Commissioner for Taking Affidavits Nitasha Malik LSO# P14355



Court File No. CV-25-00099658-0000

ONTARIO SUPERIOR COURT OF JUSTICE

BETWEEN:

IZABELLE JUSTICE and MARK JUSTICE

Plaintiffs/Moving Party

- and -

OTTAWA POLICE SERVICES BOARD, STEVEN DESJOURDY, MELBURN WHITE, CHRISTOPHER TESSIER, CEDRIC NIZMAN, HIS MAJESTY THE KING IN RIGHT OF ONTARIO, AND ATTORNEY GENERAL OF ONTARIO

Defendants/Responding Party

MOTION RECORD OF THE MOVING PARTY, IZABELLE JUSTICE AND MARK JUSTICE

Motion for Leave to Proceed – Section 17(2) of the *Crown Liability and Proceedings Act*, 2019, S.O. 2019, c. 7, Sched. 17

Returnable on December 11, 2025, at 10:00 AM, at 161 Elgin Street, Ottawa, Ontario.

Dated: May 8, 2025 | Updated: November 26, 2025

Mark Justice
Izabelle Justice
104–2706 Alta Vista Dr.
Ottawa, ON, K1V 7T4
justice@maliciousprosecution.ca
T: 613-293-3204
Acting in Person

CERTIFICATE of SIGNATURE

 $\forall X X X Y$

REF. NUMBER

KL8EE-X7QRC-LN2YG-FV5ZX

DOCUMENT COMPLETED BY ALL PARTIES ON 28 NOV 2025 18:11:49

TIMESTAMP SIGNER **SIGNATURE**

NITASHA MALIK

ADMIN@ONLINECOMMISSIONER.CA

28 NOV 2025 17:50:45

28 NOV 2025 17:52:00

SIGNED

28 NOV 2025 17:52:24

Nitasha Malik

IP ADDRESS

24.64.197.248

CARSTAIRS, CANADA

RECIPIENT VERIFICATION

EMAIL VERIFIED

28 NOV 2025 17:52:00

IZABELLE JUSTICE

IZJUSTICECANADA@GMAIL.COM

SENT

28 NOV 2025 17:50:45

28 NOV 2025 17:50:59

28 NOV 2025 18:11:49

Izabelle Justice

IP ADDRESS

135.23.119.241

OTTAWA, CANADA

RECIPIENT VERIFICATION

EMAIL VERIFIED

28 NOV 2025 17:50:59



Acting in Person

Tel: (613) 293-3204

ustice@maliciousprosecution.ca

104-2706 Alta Vista Dr. Ottawa, ON, K1V 7T4

			JUSTICE ET AL AND OTTAWA POLICE SERVICES BOARD ET AL Plaintiffs Defendants
Mark Justice 104-2706 Alta Vista Dr. Ottawa, ON, K1V 7T4 justice@maliciousprosecution.ca Tel: (613) 293-3204 Acting in Person	AFFIDAVIT OF SERVICE MOTION RECORD — CLPA s. 17(2)	SUPERIOR COURT OF JUSTICE PROCEEDING COMMENCED AT OTTAWA	Court File No. CV-25-00099658-0000

				Plaintiffs Defendants	JUSTICE ET AL AND OTTAWA POLICE SERVICES BOARD ET AL
Izabelle Justice 104-2706 Alta Vista Dr. Ottawa, ON, K1V 7T4 justice@maliciousprosecution.ca Tel: (613) 293-3204 Acting in Person	Mark Justice 104-2706 Alta Vista Dr. Ottawa, ON, K1V 7T4 justice@maliciousprosecution.ca Tel: (613) 293-3204 Acting in Person	MOTION RECORD — CLPA s. 17(2)	ONTARIO SUPERIOR COURT OF JUSTICE PROCEEDING COMMENCED AT OTTAWA	CV-25-00099658-0000	Court File No.